AGENDA
MAYOR AND CABINET
Date: WEDNESDAY, 29 JUNE 2016 at 6.00 pm, or
upon the rising of Mayor & Cabinet Contracts,
whichever is the later.
Committee Rooms 1 & 2
Civic Suite
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU
Enquiries to:
Telephone:
Email:

Kevin Flaherty 0208 3149327
0208 314 9327 (direct line)
kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk

MEMBERS
Sir Steve Bullock
Councillor Alan Smith
Councillor Chris Best
Councillor Kevin Bonavia
Councillor Janet Daby
Councillor Joe Dromey
Councillor Damien Egan
Councillor Paul Maslin
Councillor Joan Millbank
Councillor Rachel Onikosi

Mayor
Deputy Mayor - Growth & Regeneration
Health, Well-Being & Older People
Resources
Community Safety
Policy and Performance
Housing
Children & Young People
Third Sector and Community
Public Realm

L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L

Members are summoned to attend this meeting
Barry Quirk
Chief Executive
Lewisham Town Hall
Catford
London SE6 4RU
Date: Wednesday, 22 June 2016

The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to consider some
business in private. Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request.

ORDER OF BUSINESS – PART 1 AGENDA
Item
No

Page
No.s

1.

Declaration of Interests

1-4

2.

Minutes

5 - 10

3.

Matters Raised by Scrutiny and other Constitutional Bodies

11 - 12

4.

Outstanding Scrutiny Matters

13 - 14

5.

Lewisham Education Commission

15 - 123

6.

Street Naming and Numbering Charging

124 - 132

7.

Talkback Action Plan

133 - 144

8.

2016 SoP and Adoption Children's Guides

145 - 188

9.

SOP Fostering Report 2016-17

189 - 223

10.

St Saviours Catholic Primary School Instrument of Government

224 - 231

11.

Launcelot Primary School Instrument of Government

232 - 238

12.

Local Authority Governor Nominations

239 - 246

13.

Response SDSC Biodiversity Action Plan

247 - 252

14.

IAG Review

253 - 288

15.

Disposal of Land at Creekside Part 1

289 - 295

16.

Exclusion of Press and Public

17.

Disposal of Land at Creekside Part 2

296
297 - 308

RECORDING AND USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA
You are welcome to record any part of any Council meeting that is open to the public.
The Council cannot guarantee that anyone present at a meeting will not be filmed or
recorded by anyone who may then use your image or sound recording.
If you are intending to audio record or film this meeting, you must:


tell the clerk to the meeting before the meeting starts;

 only focus cameras/recordings on councillors, Council officers, and those members
of the public who are participating in the conduct of the meeting and avoid other
areas of the room, particularly where non-participating members of the public may
be sitting; and
 ensure that you never leave your recording equipment unattended in the meeting
room.
If recording causes a disturbance or undermines the proper conduct of the meeting, then
the Chair of the meeting may decide to stop the recording. In such circumstances, the
decision of the Chair shall be final

The public are welcome to attend our Committee meetings, however, occasionally,
committees may have to consider some business in private. Copies of reports can be
made available in additional formats on request.

MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title

Declarations of Interests

Key Decision

No

Ward

n/a

Contributors

Chief Executive

Class

Part 1

Item No. 1

Date: June 29 2016

Declaration of interests
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on
the agenda.
1

Personal interests
There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member
Code of Conduct :(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests
(2) Other registerable interests
(3) Non-registerable interests

2

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:-

(a)

Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or
gain

(b)

Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than
by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial
benefit from a Trade Union).

(c)

Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they
are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods,
services or works.

(d)

Beneficial interests in land in the borough.
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\3\0\4\ai00014403\$ondspbss.doc

(e)

Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f)

Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of
which they have a beneficial interest.

(g)

Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:(a)

that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land
in the borough; and

(b)

either
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued
share capital of that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.
(3)

Other registerable interests
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register
the following interests:-

(4)

(a)

Membership or position of control or management in a body to which
you were appointed or nominated by the Council

(b)

Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to
charitable purposes , or whose principal purposes include the influence
of public opinion or policy, including any political party

(c)

Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £25

Non registerable interests
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be
likely to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close
associate more than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area
generally, but which is not required to be registered in the Register of
Members’ Interests (for example a matter concerning the closure of a school
at which a Member’s child attends).

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\3\0\4\ai00014403\$ondspbss.doc

(5)

(6)

Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation
(a)

Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded
in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary
interest the member must take not part in consideration of the matter
and withdraw from the room before it is considered. They must not
seek improperly to influence the decision in any way. Failure to
declare such an interest which has not already been entered in the
Register of Members’ Interests, or participation where such an
interest exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a
fine of up to £5000

(b)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event
before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room,
participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless
paragraph (c) below applies.

(c)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to
influence the outcome improperly.

(d)

If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a
member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would
affect those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to
the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a
registerable interest.

(e)

Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s
personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek
the advice of the Monitoring Officer.

Sensitive information
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are
interests the disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk
of violence or intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such
interest need not be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to
the Code and advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

(7)

Exempt categories

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\3\0\4\ai00014403\$ondspbss.doc

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing
so. These include:(a)
(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the
matter relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears
exception)
School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor
unless the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or
of which you are a governor;
Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
Allowances, payment or indemnity for members
Ceremonial honours for members
Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\3\0\4\ai00014403\$ondspbss.doc

MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title

Minutes

Key Decision

Item No.2

Ward
Contributors

Chief Executive

Class

Part 1

Date: June 29 2016

Recommendation
It is recommended that the minutes of that part of the meeting of the Mayor and Cabinet
which were open to the press and public, held on June 1 2016 (copy attached) be
confirmed and signed as a correct record.

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\0\4\ai00014404\$3kucbn2v.doc

MINUTES OF THE MAYOR AND CABINET
Wednesday, 1 June 2016 at 6.00 pm
PRESENT: Sir Steve Bullock (Mayor), Chris Best, Kevin Bonavia, Janet Daby,
Joe Dromey, Damien Egan, Paul Maslin, Joan Millbank and Rachel Onikosi.
ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Alan Hall.
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Alan Smith.
415.

Declaration of Interests
None were made.

416.

Minutes
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on May 18 2016 be
confirmed and signed as a correct record.

417.

Matters Raised by Scrutiny and other Constitutional Bodies
Decision made at Mayor and Cabinet on 18 June 2016 – PLACE
Ladywell Lease Award
A short referral report was presented by Councillor Alan Hall who
confirmed the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel fully supported
the Mayor’s decision relating to the short term housing use of part of
the site. He added that the Business Panel also wished to see
proposals for the future long term use of the Ladywell site as soon as
possible.
The Mayor stated he accepted the Business Panel’s request in
principle but that defining the site would be less straightforward than
possibly assumed. He believed a Masterplan should be prepared but
before that exercise could be undertaken, clarity on what could be
included was required. The Executive Director for Resources and
Regeneration added that initial work on viability had commenced and
options were being examined and members would be involved on any
emergent plans. She confirmed to the Mayor that City Hall would also
be involved in relevant conversations.
The Mayor pledged that the Business Panel would be updated as soon
as possible but advised that he was currently unable to provide a
definitive timetable as to when that might be.
RESOLVED that officers put forward proposals for the future long term
use of the Ladywell site as soon as possible.

418.

Outstanding Scrutiny Matters

RESOLVED that the report be noted.
419.

Saville Centre Part 1
Councillor Millbank reported the proposals had been brought forward following
extensive consultation and that the Centre’s user groups had proved
amenable to change.
Councillor Best said she understood there was still an active petition against
the scheme but Councillor Millbank said she believed the petition had been
set aside. The Executive Director for Community Services said she would
investigate and seek clarification.
Having considered open and confidential officer reports, the Mayor for the
reasons set out in the report:
RESOLVED that:
(1) the Saville Centre, 436-438 Lewisham High Street, be declared surplus to
the Council’s requirements;
(2) proposals should be progressed to dispose of the site and that as the
property is an Asset of Community Value this will start the moratorium period
in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Localism Act 2011.
(3) the Regeneration & Asset Management team explore options to bring the
site forward for disposal for residential use.

420.

New Homes Better Places Update
Councillor Millbank stated Appendix A of the programme might prove
misleading as some of the schemes were still under consideration rather than
being delivered and that greater clarity should be offered. The Executive
Director for Customer Services said he appreciated the concern expressed
and would ensure future documents were appropriately reviewed.
Having considered open and confidential officer reports, and a presentation
by the Cabinet Member for Housing, Councillor Damien Egan, the Mayor, for
the reasons set out in the report:
RESOLVED that:
(1) the progress made in delivering new Council homes in the borough be
noted;
(2) the progress made in reviewing sites for their potential for new build
housing be noted and the previously agreed tenure split of 80% rented and
20% sale be maintained;
(3) current proposals for the former Silverdale Hall site, proceed with more
detailed design work and a planning application be submitted, progressing the
development of the scheme to the point that it constitutes a formal part of the

2

New Homes, Better Places programme;
(4) the rationale for the demolition of the former Silverdale Hall be accepted
and that the property be demolished in order to enable the development of
new homes on the site;
(5) Having considered the responses to the statutory Section 105
consultation, Lewisham Homes proceed with further detailed design work for
Grace Path;
(6) Lewisham Homes prepare and submit a planning application for Grace
Path.
(7) the demolition of the former Home Park housing office on the basis of the
rationale set out be approved;
(8) officers investigate the feasibility of installing a short-term development on
the site;
(9) Having considered the business case set out in part 2, the disposal of the
vacant high value three bedroom property referred to be approved and
authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Resources and
Regeneration, in consultation with the Head of Strategic Housing and the
Head of Law, to dispose of the property with a view to achieving the best
consideration reasonably obtainable and to finalise and agree the disposal
terms.
421.

Financial Results 2015-16
The report was comprehensively presented by Councillor Kevin Bonavia. The
Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration’s representative added
that the Statement of Accounts would be considered by the Audit Panel in the
following week.
Councillor Joe Dromey suggested that as several of the most significant
budget pressures were centrally driven, they could be raised with Sadiq Khan,
the new Mayor of London and joint representtaions could be made.
Having considered an officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Resources, Councillor Kevin Bonavia, the Mayor:
RESOLVED that the current financial results for the year ending 31 March
2016 be noted.

422.

Management Report
Having considered an officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Policy and Performance, Councillor Joe Dromey, the Mayor:
RESOLVED that the report be noted.

423.

Response to CYP Select Committee Ofsted Action Plan

3

Having considered an officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Children & Young People, Councillor Paul Maslin, the Mayor:
RESOLVED that the proposed response to the comments and views of the
Sustainable Development Select Committee as set out be approved and
reported to the Select Committee.
424.

Response to SDSC Future of Suburban Railways
Having considered an officer report, the Mayor:
RESOLVED that the proposed response to the comments and views of the
Overview & Scrutiny Committee as set out be approved and reported to the
Select Committee.

425.

SSCSC Poverty Review
Having considered an officer report, the Mayor:
RESOLVED that the comments and views of the Safer Stronger Communities
Select Committee be received, and the Executive Director for Resources and
Regeneration be asked to prepare a response.

426.

SSCSC Referral on Council's Employee Survey
Having considered an officer report, the Mayor:
RESOLVED that the comments and views of the Safer Stronger Communities
Select Committee be received, and the Executive Director for Resources and
Regeneration be asked to prepare a response.

427.

SDSC Referral Use of s106 and CILl
Having considered an officer report, the Mayor:
RESOLVED that the comments and views of the Sustainable Development
Select Committee be received, and the Executive Director for Resources and
Regeneration be asked to prepare a response.

428.

SDSC Referral -Street lighting variable lighting policy
Having considered an officer report, the Mayor:
RESOLVED that the comments and views of the Sustainable Development
Select Committee be received, and the Executive Director for Resources and
Regeneration be asked to prepare a response.

429.

SDSC Referral Catford Regeneration
Having considered an officer report, the Mayor:

4

RESOLVED that the comments and views of the Sustainable Development
Select Committee be received, and the Executive Director for Resources and
Regeneration be asked to prepare a response.
430.

Exclusion of Press and Public
RESOLVED that in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to
Information)(England) Regulations 2012 and under Section 100(A)(4) of the
Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the
meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs [3, 4 and
5] of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Act, and the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information

431.

17.

New Homes Better Places Programme Update part 2

18.

Saville Centre part 2

New Homes Better Places Part 2
This was considered with the Part 1 report on the same issue.

432.

Saville Centre
This was considered with the Part 1 report on the same issue.
The meeting closed at 6.56pm

5

MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title

Report Back on Matters Raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Business
Panel or other Constitutional Bodies

Key Decision

No

Item No.

Ward
Contributors

Senior Committee Manager

Class

Part 1

1.

Date: 29 June 2016

Purpose of Report
To report back on any matters raised by the Overview & Scrutiny Business
Panel following their consideration of decisions made at Mayor and Cabinet
on 1 June 2016.

2.

Decision made at Mayor and Cabinet on 1 June 2016 – Saville
Centre

2.1

Following the discussion at the confidential part of the Overview and
Scrutiny Business Panel meeting, Business Panel noted the Mayor’s
decision and agreed to request that the Mayor:
i.
ii.
iii.

3.

instruct officers to put to put a strategy in place that will see the
Council retain the freehold of its disposed properties going
forward.
instruct officers to sensitively consider the use of the Saville
Centre site given its proximity to the hospital and other public
services to ensure optimum community use.
Instruct officers to investigate the feasibility of jointly developing
the British Legion Site.

Decision made at Mayor and Cabinet on 1 June 2016 – New
Homes Better Places
Following the discussion at the confidential part of the Overview and
Scrutiny Business Panel meeting, Business Panel noted the Mayor’s
decision.
Business Panel noted that the Ladywell Pools development had been
under consideration for over a decade and would like to reiterate a
request that the Mayor instruct officers to bring forward plans as soon
as possible to ensure adequate progress is made on this site.

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\0\4\ai00014405\$rs0m4brn.doc

Business panel also noted that the planning process had identified
issues and recommended that ward members be consulted at an early
stage when Lewisham Homes had new building developments in mind
as this could jeopardise the Council’s new homes targets.

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\0\4\ai00014405\$rs0m4brn.doc

MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title

Outstanding Scrutiny Matters

Key Decision

No

Ward

n/a

Contributors

Head of Business and Committee

Class

Part 1

1.

Item No.

Date: 29 June 2016

Purpose of Report
To report on items previously reported to the Mayor for response by
directorates and to indicate the likely future reporting date.

2.

Recommendation
That the reporting date of the items shown in the table below be noted.

Report Title

Responding
Author

Date
Considered
by Mayor &
Cabinet

Scheduled
Reporting
Date

Slippage
since last
report

Sustainable
Development
Select Committee
– Biodiversity
Action Plan

ED Customer

23 March
2016

29 June 2016

Yes

Safer, Stronger,
Communities
Select Committee
- Crime
Enforcement and
Regulatory
Service

ED
Community

18 May
2016

13 July 2016

No

Safer, Stronger,
Communities
Select Committee
- Poverty Review

ED
Resources &
Regeneration

1 June 2016

7 September
2016

No

Safer, Stronger,
Communities
Select Committee

ED
Resources &
Regeneration

1 June 2016

7 September
2016

No

Council’s
Employee Survey
Sustainable
Developement
Select Committee
– Street Lighting
Variable Lighting
Policy

ED
Resources &
Regeneration

1 June 2016

7 September
2016

No

Sustainable
Developement
Select Committee
– Catford
Regeneration

ED
Resources &
Regeneration

1 June 2016

7 September
2016

No

BACKGROUND PAPERS and AUTHOR
Mayor & Cabinet minutes 23 March, 18 May and 1 June 2016 available from
Kevin Flaherty 0208 3149327.
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=139&Year=
0

Mayor and Cabinet
Report Title

Lewisham Education Commission Progress Report

Key Decision

No

Ward

All

Contributors

Executive Director for Children and Young People

Class

Part 1

Item No.

Date: 29 June 2016

1

Summary

1.1.

A proposal for the establishment of an Education Commission was agreed at
Mayor and Cabinet on 9th December 2015.

1.2.

This paper accompanies the Lewisham Education Commission Report which
details the findings of the Commission and makes recommendations for the
future of education in the London Borough of Lewisham and is attached as
Appendix A.

2

Recommendations

2.1.

It is recommended that the Mayor:




welcomes the challenge and insight provided by the Commission, their
endorsement of Lewisham’s collaborative approach to schools, their
focus on strategic school place planning and on school-led school
improvement.
asks officers to develop a detailed response to the findings and
recommendations alongside an action plan which would first be
considered by CYP Select Committee.

3

Policy Context

3.1.

Lewisham’s Corporate Priorities include:
 Young people’s achievements and involvement; raising educational
attainment and improving facilities for young people through
partnership working.

3.2.

As set out in Lewisham Council’s Sustainable Community Strategy 20082020, there is a Borough-wide commitment to “make Lewisham the best
place in London to live, work and learn”. To support this priority the Council is
committed to working with partners to:
1

3.3.



Inspire young people to achieve their full potential by removing the
barriers to learning.



Encourage and facilitate access to education, training and employment
opportunities for all our citizens.



Celebrate local achievements so people feel proud of their area and
eager to be a part of its success.

A key priority within the Children and Young People’s Plan 2015 – 2018 is
“Raising the attainment of all Lewisham children and young people” and this
has a number of specific outcome areas:


AA1: Ensuring there are sufficient good quality school places for every
Lewisham child.



AA2: Ensuring all our children are ready to participate fully in school.



AA3: Improving and maintaining attendance and engagement in school
at all key stages, including at transition points.



AA4: Raising participation in education and training, reducing the
number of young people who are not in education, employment or
training (NEET) at 16-19.



AA5: Raising achievement and progress for all our children at Key
Stages 1 – 4 and closing the gaps between underachieving groups at
primary and secondary school.



AA6: Raising achievement and progress for all our children and closing
the gaps between under-achieving groups at Key Stage 5 and Post 16
so that all our young people are well prepared to access the best
education and employment opportunities for them.



AA7: Raising achievement and attainment for our Looked After
Children at all Key Stages and Post 16.

3.4.

In March 2016, the Secretary of State for Education published the White
Paper, Educational Excellence Everywhere. The White Paper signalled the
Government’s intentions relating to academisation and a drive towards a
school-led system which would mean that local authorities would step back
from running school improvement from the end of the 2016/17 academic
year.

3.5.

After the Lewisham Education Commission report was drafted, in May 2016
the government decided, while reaffirming a continued determination to see
all schools to become academies in the next six years, that it is not
necessary to bring legislation to bring about blanket conversion of all schools.
2

“Good” and “Outstanding” schools in many areas will be permitted to stay as
local authority maintained schools.
4

Background

4.1.

At the Mayor and Cabinet meeting on 9th December 2015, it was resolved
that:


Having considered an officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Children & Young People, Councillor Paul Maslin, the
Mayor agreed that the establishment of an education commission to
support the development of a future vision for education in Lewisham
to report in April 2016 as set out be approved.

5

Key Questions

5.1.

The Lewisham Education Commission has considered the following key
questions:


Given the national and regional context, what is the best form of
organisation for Lewisham’s schools going forward?



Is there a school-led model of school improvement which would put
Lewisham’s work on a more sustainable footing, given the council’s
financial constraints?



Lewisham needs additional secondary and SEND places. What are the
best means to achieve this, alongside ensuring all our existing schools
are schools of choice?



Given Lewisham’s strong commitment to improving outcomes at KS4
and KS5, are any more radical or leading edge models or approaches
that Lewisham could adopt at borough level?



Underpinning all these questions is the central theme of how
Lewisham’s
system serves the most vulnerable.


6

Process

6.1.

A team of three national experts was established to support the work of the
Education Commission in Lewisham, supported by a fourth member to
provide operational support. A biography for each member of the team is set
out below:
3



Christine Gilbert is chair of the Commission. She is currently visiting
professor at the Institute of Education, UCL. Christine was previously a
head teacher, director of education, local authority chief executive and
Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector at Ofsted.



Robert Hill, a visiting senior research fellow at King's College London,
is an educational consultant, researcher and writer. He was a senior
policy adviser to the Labour government.



David Woods is a visiting professor at Warwick University and chair of
the London Leadership Strategy. Formerly, David was a senior
education adviser at the Department for Education and chief adviser for
London Schools and the London Challenge.



Michael Pain is Director of Forum Education. He was previously at the
National College and supported the work of the Commission.

6.2.

Particularly over the first two weeks of the Commission, significant desktop
analysis was undertaken. Commissioners conducted an analysis of recent
school Ofsted reports, with particular focus on the secondary sector, in order
to identify strengths and weaknesses, themes and issues.

6.3.

Throughout the course of the Education Commission, Commissioners
attended a number of existing fora and hosted a number of bespoke events
as part of a comprehensive programme of stakeholder engagement.

6.4.

Commissioners attended a number of existing meetings, including Children
and Young People Select Committee, the System Leaders’ Breakfast and
meetings of primary, secondary and special school head teachers.

6.5.

Christine Gilbert met with the Mayor and the Cabinet Member for Children and
Young People to ascertain their vision for Education for Lewisham.
Additionally, Commissioners met with a number of other Councillors, including
the Chair and Vice-Chair of Children and Young People Select Committee
and the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

6.6.

Two bespoke evening governors’ events took place, led by Christine Gilbert;
these sessions provided an outline of the work of the Education Commission
followed by discussion around the key questions for Commission.

6.7.

Children and Young People were given the opportunity to present their
thoughts to the Commission through the Young Advisers group in addition to
a separate meeting of a smaller focus group of students who are educated
within the Borough.

6.8.

Residents and other stakeholders were offered the opportunity to meet with
Christine Gilbert for a bespoke 30 minute meeting as part of the ‘open
sessions’; these sessions consisted of 24 separate meetings including a
number of sessions held on a Saturday. The sessions were advertised on the
4

Lewisham Council website, through the Headteachers’ Weekly Bulletin, to all
Councillors, and directly to other stakeholders. During the ‘open sessions’,
Christine Gilbert met with, among others, residents groups, voluntary and
community sector representatives, union representatives and individual
parents.
6.9.

Throughout the course of the Education Commission, visits were made to 17
schools (1 nursery school, 6 maintained primary schools, 5 maintained
secondary schools, 2 maintained ‘all-through’ schools, 1 academy, 1 special
school and 1 pupil referral unit).

7

Summary of Findings and Recommendations

7.1.

The Commission recognises that there is much good collaborative working
and urges the local authority to extend this good work, making the most of the
Heads’ Leadership Forum and other local initiatives.

7.2.

The Commission has identified that there is local interest in multi-academy
trusts (MATS) and recommends that the local authority supports the
establishment of ‘home-grown’ MATs where schools decide they want to set
one up. It should use these to support weaker schools and address the need
for school places.

7.3.

The Education Commission recommends that a ‘Lewisham Secondary
Challenge’ is established to give a boost to performance at Key stages 4 and
5. This will need financial support for three years.

7.4.

The Commission found that the local authority, schools and stakeholders had
great pride in Lewisham as a place and a commitment to the community, and
suggests that this should be used to articulate a shared local vision and a
shared plan for success.
The local authority will continue to have an important role in education
matters, regardless of the statutory position. As part of this role, the local
authority should hold schools to account, help make connections and act as
guardians of the most vulnerable.
Commissioners recommend that the local authority review planning (for place
numbers and new schools) and develop and consult on a clear School Place
Planning Strategy for the next 5 years. The Commission noted that Lewisham
is reliant on secondary places within other boroughs, and suggested that
these arrangements should be formalised.

7.5.

7.6.

7.7.

The Commission recommends that an agreement between the local authority,
headteachers and governors to set up a partnership to establish a school-led
system of school improvement. In September, a Partnership Steering Group,
with an independent chair, should be established to produce a detailed set of
proposals with a view to beginning consultation in October 2016.

5

7.8.

In order to ensure sufficient place planning, the Commission recommends that
the local authority has close contact with the Education Funding Agency
(EFA) about potential free school proposals encourage the best schools to
lead trusts to set up new schools and seek out school providers with similar
values.

7.9.

The Education Commission recommends that the London Borough of
Lewisham set itself the following objectives to be achieved by 2020:








All schools will be judged good or better by Ofsted.
Performance at 16+ and 18+ will be at least the London average.
The most vulnerable will be served better than most other LAs.
The vast majority of parents have confidence in their choice of school.
Young people will have huge pride in their school.
Teachers will be proud to work in an ambitious and successful system.
The council will be considered to have done a good job.

8

Financial Implications

8.1

There are no immediate financial implications which arise from agreeing the
recommendations to this report as any initial funding will be found from the
School Improvement budget. However, there will be a cost to developing any
future partnership arrangement and as part of the early stages of that process,
an initial financial business case will need to be undertaken. This business
case will be used to consider the future financial viability of such a partnership
organisation being established. Officers will update members in due course of
how available resources will be deployed to fund the establishment of the
partnership organisation.

9

Legal Implications

9.1

Additional to those set out elsewhere in the report local authorities are
required to provide primary, secondary and further education for 16 to 18 year
and for people aged 19 or over who have an Education Health and Care Plan
(EHC Plan).

9.2

Section 13A of the Education Act 1996 specifically requires local authorities to
exercise their education and training functions in relation to those young
people for whom that have assumed responsibility so as to promote high
standards, fulfilment of potential and fair access to opportunity for education
and training. It applies in relation to persons aged 20 or over for whom an
EHC Plan is maintained.

9.3

Section 14 of the Education Act 1996 requires local authorities to secure the
provision of 'sufficient' schools (as amplified in sub-ss (2), (3) and (4)) for their
areas. This function must be exercised with a view to securing diversity and
parental choice. Local authorities must have regard to the need to secure
6

primary and secondary education in separate schools, provision for children
with special educational needs and boarding provision for those for whom it is
desirable. The local authority is not itself obliged to provide all the schools
required, but to secure that they are available. Section 18 enables an LEA to
make arrangements for the provision of education at non-maintained schools.
9.4

The findings and recommendations of the Education Commission will assist
the local authority in complying with its general statutory responsibilities
especially so in the light of the changes to school improvement and education
provision proposed in the Education and Adoption Act 2016 and to the
proposals in the recent White Paper Education Excellence Everywhere.

10

Equalities Implications

10.1

The Commission has made every effort to draw views and ideas from across
the community, including black and ethnic minority groups and parents of
children with disabilities. The Commission has visited many different schools
throughout the course of their work, including a special schools and specialist
resource provision.

10.2

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty
(the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation.

10.3

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:




eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.
foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

10.4

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached
to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

10.5

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical
Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled
“Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code
of Practice”. The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it
relates to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals
7

particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not
have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to
do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory
code and the technical guidance can be found at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-actcodes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
10.6

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued
five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality
duty:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

10.7

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to.
It covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps
that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four
documents provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good
practice. Further information and resources are available at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sectorequality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

11

Environmental Implications

11.1

No specific environmental implications have been identified as arising from
this report.

12

Crime and Disorder Implications

12.1

No specific crime and disorder implications have been identified as arising
from this report.

13

Background Documents and Report Author

13.1

Appendix A: Lewisham Education Commission Report (April 2016).

If you require further information about this report please contact Sara Williams
(sara.williams@lewisham.gov.uk).
8

Lewisham
Education Commission
Report April 2016

Commissioners
Christine Gilbert (chair) l Robert Hill l David Woods

Lewisham Education Commission Report

Contents
Chapter 1

Introduction and overview

Chapter 2

Establishing a new approach to school organisation

Chapter 3

Developing a school-led model of improvement

Chapter 4

Achieving more school places

Chapter 5

Creating Lewisham Secondary Challenge

Appendix 1

Education Commission members, remit, process and acknowledgements

Appendix 2

Lewisham in context: data analysis

Appendix 3

Summary review of secondary school Ofsted inspection reports

Appendix 4

Distribution of additional primary places in Lewisham since 2008/9

Appendix 5

Forecast of school places in Lewisham

2

Chapter 1: Introduction and overview
Background
Education is important to Lewisham. It is important to the life of its residents and to the
development of Lewisham as a strong and vibrant place to live and work. The council recognises
this and in establishing this Education Commission was seeking to ensure that the significant
advances so evident in primary schools over recent years were consolidated and extended to the
secondary sector.
It is clear from all we have done in undertaking this Commission that school improvement and
raising educational outcomes, most particularly for young people in the secondary sector, are
top priorities for the council, as indeed they must be for Lewisham itself. The establishment of
an Education Commission underlines their importance to the council and seeks to accelerate
change by bringing in an external team to work collaboratively with local stakeholders to
shape a vision for education in Lewisham and make recommendations to the Mayor and to the
community of schools in Lewisham for future development.
If the council’s ambitions are to be realised, we believe there will need to be a widespread and
working commitment to making more of a difference. This requires the emergence of a driving
coalition for change from both within and beyond the council which not only increases pride
in what is being achieved but also ambition for achieving more in the future. There also needs
to be a proactive approach to the national change agenda. Both of these key aspects have
influenced our approach in undertaking the work of the Commission.
The council set a very ambitious and challenging time frame - 11 weeks - for the work of the
Commission. We understand the rationale for this speed. However, not only did it mean that
we had to maintain a very disciplined and strategic approach to our work but also that some
of our recommendations would inevitably point to the need for more detailed work or follow
up in certain areas. Within the constraints of the timeframe, we sought to make the process of
stakeholder engagement as inclusive as possible and we have gained a great deal of insight from
having done so. The details of our visits and meetings are set out in Appendix 1.
The council’s specification for the work of the Commission pointed to five key lines of enquiry
that provided the strategic focus for our work, namely:
school organisation, given the national and regional context
l sustainable, school-led model of improvement for Lewisham
l the best means of providing additional secondary and SEND places in Lewisham and
of ensuring existing schools are schools of choice
l leading edge practice at Key Stages 4 and 5 that could benefit Lewisham
l improving how Lewisham’s system serves the most vulnerable.
l

3

As expected, there was considerable overlap in undertaking these five key areas of investigation.
Nevertheless, we have provided separate chapters on the first four areas and ensured that the
fifth is addressed within each of those.

The White Paper and role of the local authority in education
During the sixth week of the Commission’s work, the Secretary of State for Education published
the White Paper, Educational Excellence Everywhere, which has been taken into account in
making our recommendations. As was signalled by the recent consultation document on school
funding, the government is:
“…..reforming school improvement policy in the context of the overall drive towards a school-led
system. This means that we expect LAs to step back from running school improvement from the
end of the 2016/17 academic year and therefore they will not require funding for this function.”1
The White Paper makes clear that the local authority’s education duties will focus on three areas:
ensuring every child has a school place
l ensuring the needs of vulnerable pupils are met
l acting as champions for all parents and families.
l

Whatever the statutory definition of its role, the local authority’s democratic base gives it
leverage locally and local people will continue to look to local councillors to ensure education
is of good quality.
As community leaders, Lewisham councillors recognise the importance of education to their
local communities, especially to parents of children at local schools and to prospective parents.
They share strong moral purpose in wanting to raise aspirations for educational outcomes locally
so the achievements of those leaving schools and colleges improve. They will continue to listen
hard to the needs of children and their parents and help them navigate the system. Certainly,
councillors will expect to play a key role in shaping provision in the area, particularly given the
emphasis in the White Paper on their role in securing a school place for every child.
As guardians of children in the area, Lewisham councillors are already vigilant about the needs
of the most vulnerable, such as looked after children or those with special educational needs
and disabilities (SEND). As they do now with health, councillors may want to continue to
scrutinise how the needs and interest of young people are being served and seek to improve this
by pressure and influence even if their statutory role is reduced. They may well want to promote
the interests and needs of children in Lewisham by reporting on local quality and provision and
by engaging with those providing it. Many local authorities will want to scrutinise too what
happens to young people when they leave school and to find active ways of supporting young
people’s transition into the world of work.

1 Department for Education, 2016, Educational Excellence Everywhere, Cm 9230, Her Majesty’s Stationery Office

4

Local authorities already see themselves as champions for parents and families and for children
too. The councillors we spoke to certainly understand the importance of education as a powerful
force for regenerating and sustaining the life of the local area as well as the main driver of social
mobility. The Commission believes that many councils will continue to see themselves having
a role in stimulating and articulating a local and ambitious vision for education locally, tied in
perhaps to a borough or community plan. This should give active support to schools in their
drive for improvement. Finally, as champions, Lewisham council will continue to be keen to make
connections across people, services and places in the area that could benefit young people.

The performance of pupils in Lewisham schools
The context for Lewisham’s education system is aptly described as a tale of two halves.
Standards and pupil outcomes in early years and primary are amongst the very best in the
country and Inner London. No school performs below the national floor standards and the vast
majority of groups achieve well above average outcomes. The borough’s secondary system sits in
stark contrast, with average pupil outcomes being far below those for Inner London and London
as a whole. Indeed, performance tables for London show the borough’s schools as having the
worst GCSE results in London. A much lower than average percentage of Lewisham’s Key Stage
5 students go on to higher education study.
Many people spoke to the Commission about the poverty and deprivation in Lewisham. Without
doubt, this affects a significant proportion of Lewisham’s children; in 12 of Lewisham’s 18 wards,
22 per cent or more children live in poverty. At least one quarter of the borough’s 0-19 year olds
live in workless households: the same as the Inner London average. As shown in Appendix 2,
the proportion of low income households is reflected in the number of children in receipt of free
school meals (FSM) but here the figures are more positive than for Inner London. So, although
the challenges of poverty are great in Lewisham, they are no harder than for most other Inner
London boroughs. Poverty therefore cannot be offered as a reason for Lewisham’s poor average
performance in the secondary sector.
As shown an Appendix 2, it is clear that children of all backgrounds generally perform far below
both the Inner London and the national average for their groups. The significantly below- average
performance of black and mixed heritage pupils reflects a long-term trend of below-average
outcomes amongst these groups. Lewisham’s white pupils have also underperformed in comparison
to their national counterparts over a number of years – although the discrepancies in performance
are generally less marked for this group than for those pupils of black and mixed heritage.
The performance tables also reveal an issue relating to the attainment of pupils with higher prior
attainment. The national proportion of these pupils gaining at least 5 A*- C (including English
and maths) has been declining slightly over the last three years. In Lewisham, this proportion
has also been declining, but at a faster rate than found nationally.
The picture is a little brighter in terms of disadvantaged pupils and those pupils with SEND. In
terms of achieving 5 A* - C (including English and maths), disadvantaged pupils, using those in

5

receipt of free school meals as a proxy, perform significantly above the national average for these
groups. However, the gap between disadvantaged pupils and their peers from more advantaged
backgrounds has remained static over the last three years. Only 39 per cent of pupils receiving free
school meals achieved 5 A* - C (including English and maths) at GCSE, compared to 59 per cent of
pupils not receiving free school meals. In contrast, in the top performing local authorities (Newham
and Tower Hamlets), the gap between the numbers of receiving free school meals and those pupils
not receiving free school meals is under 10 per cent.
There was little discussion of absence from school as an issue during the work of the
Commission but persistent absence remains a serious issue for the borough’s secondary sector.
Worryingly, the primary sector has recently also seen an increase in persistent absence. This has
been picked up as a priority by the Executive Director in the Children and Young People Plan
and the new school improvement strategy.
Lewisham’s primary sector has experienced no permanent exclusions within the last few years.
Unfortunately, this is in notable contrast to the secondary sector, where permanent exclusions
are almost at the national average and far higher than Inner London.
Ofsted judgements on schools in Lewisham reflect the same disparity between primary and
secondary that we see in test and examination results. HMCI’s Annual Report for 2014/152
shows Lewisham as fifth in the national primary school league table with 95 per cent of pupils in
good or outstanding schools. This represents an increase of seven percentage points from 2014.
In the secondary school league table, Lewisham languishes in the bottom quarter of the table
with only 65 per cent of pupils in good or outstanding schools, a slippage of two percentage
points from 2014.
The desire to tackle poor average performance at secondary level was a major driver behind the
establishment of the Education Commission. All stakeholders have engaged constructively in
discussion about how to work together to improve the quality of education and performance
so that more children and young people have the qualifications, skills and confidence in their
ability to learn that they will need when they leave school. As pointed out by the council’s chief
executive, London is increasingly one of the world’s most competitive labour markets with many
jobs in inner London at graduate level and above.

A school-led system for improvement
Developments over the last 10 years or so mean that we have already reached a tipping point
in England in favour of schools themselves as the primary drivers of systemic improvement.
The days of local authorities vigorously leading and managing school improvement have long
since gone, although many, as in Lewisham’s case, have continued to take their statutory
responsibilities seriously, especially for schools causing concern. This is evidenced by Lewisham’s
recently introduced improvement strategy and its organisation of school improvement adviser
visits. Even without the publication of a White Paper3 that signals the removal of councils’
2 Ofsted, 2015, The Annual Report of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education, Children’s Services and Skills 2014/15,
Her Majesty’s Stationery Office
3 Ibid

6

statutory school improvement responsibilities, it is clear there can be no turning back from
a school-led model of improvement. The logic of a self-improving system is that schools
themselves take on responsibility, and even accountability, for ensuring that every individual
school has the support they need to improve. The system is driven by schools with school
leaders, teachers and governors playing key roles.
Teaching schools are outstanding schools which are intended to provide a major strand of the
support for a school-led system. This is explored more fully in chapters 2 and 5. Each teaching
school establishes a broader group called a teaching school alliance which then provides
school-based initial teacher training, school to school support to improve practice, and a range
of professional development opportunities for teachers and leaders. Later chapters provide
more detail of their activities and potential. Although the borough has four teaching schools,
all with linked alliances, only one of these has a secondary dimension and the work of that
school is focused primarily on its own multi-academy trust (MAT). Some secondary schools
work with teaching school alliances in other boroughs but the majority do not. It is important
that secondary schools and more all-through schools find ways of accessing the opportunities
offered by teaching school alliances not least because school improvement funding is likely to
be increasingly routed through teaching schools from September 2017.
Beyond teaching schools, we have seen many excellent examples of schools in Lewisham, both
primary and secondary, working in active partnerships to effect improvement. This has been at
a range of levels. Examples have included improvement through:
shared headship for an interim period
l time-limited ‘soft’ federations or collaborative partnerships, often with interim or
executive headteachers generally sourced by the local authority
l seven ‘hard’ federations with executive leadership
l high quality professional development across schools or groups of schools, including
some innovative programmes operating across a MAT.
l

In addition, headteachers across the borough have themselves put in place arrangements at
primary and secondary level for meeting together to share thinking and commission some joint
professional development activity.
The positive impact of collaboration is clear in Lewisham and offers a good foundation on
which to build a more systematic and consistent approach to school partnerships. A number of
heads reported that they see becoming a MAT as the next logical step in their development and
even those more hesitant about this have been spurred on to discuss their future options by
the publication of the recent White Paper4. This would have the advantage for the borough of
enabling some local schools to become ‘home-grown’ MATs. If accredited as sponsors, ‘homegrown MATs’ could not only step in and give support to schools experiencing difficulties but
also promote and run free schools to help meet the demand for additional pupil places. This is
explored more fully in Chapter 2.
4 Ibid

7

Many schools are still not interested in becoming or joining a MAT but the Commission
recommends that they all work more systematically as part of some collaborative group, be that
small or large. Such groups might be the basis for sharing practice and expert practitioners,
for undertaking peer review, and for organising professional development – including forensic,
classroom-based development of practice in teaching and reviewing its impact on learning.
Developing real depth to collaborative working would help prepare schools for forming sound
MATs in the event that the government’s proposals are enacted in legislation. However, we also
recommend that Lewisham should form an overarching partnership that encompasses individual
schools, informal groups of schools, federations, MATs and teaching schools. This partnership
would enable schools to work together across the borough, to draw on each other’s strengths
and thus complement improvement efforts within local groups of schools.
We have been impressed by the strength of the Heads’ Leadership Forum in supporting
headteachers, both operationally and strategically. The Forum gives all schools in Lewisham access
to a professional learning partnership and this is much appreciated by the primary heads with
whom we spoke. Although open to all headteachers, the Forum is run by primary heads and its
most active participants are from the primary sector. It is unusual to have primary schools so much
more engaged in collaborative activity than secondary schools. The Forum offers a potential base
for taking on greater responsibility for school-led improvement across Lewisham and developing an
ambitious programme designed by the schools themselves for Lewisham schools.
In our discussions with headteachers, parents and governors, we have found pride and a sense
of belonging to Lewisham as a place, as well as a strong and shared moral purpose to do the
best for all Lewisham’s children and young people. We found a working commitment to the
principles of public service, collaboration and integrity. An overarching schools’ partnership,
rooted in these principles, with its focus on securing the best possible outcomes for Lewisham
children and young people could lessen the potential for local fragmentation and the risk of
vulnerable children and young people not being well served in a diverse and more independent
system. We recommend that headteachers, governors and the local authority should establish a
steering group to do the detailed planning to set up such a partnership.
As part of their deliberations, they should investigate the benefits and feasibility of establishing
an independent company through which the partnership would work. Such a company would be
owned by the schools themselves and all surplus funds would be used for investment in further
development. It would provide or broker a range of services to support the improvement of
schools in Lewisham. As with the Wigan model described in Chapter 3, it might work in depth in
separate primary and secondary groupings, coming together to address shared issues, such as
Year 6 and 7 transfer and transition, at regular intervals. The partnership would also liaise with
the local authority on those issues for which it remains responsible:
l admissions
l special

educational needs
l champion for children

8

We recommend too that Lewisham Governors’ Association (LGA) should be a key part of this
company. The role of governors is critical in supporting and challenging schools. This has
been recognised in the local authority’s new school improvement strategy which has a strong
emphasis on governance and working with governors. Indeed, in an academised system,
governance is more important than ever and it is crucial that experience and practice is shared
and the skills of governors are developed well. Governance in MATs is different from that in
individual schools or academies and will require appropriate support and training too.
Lewisham’s partnership would use the schools themselves, including teaching school alliances
and MATs, to ensure that it was able to:
l develop

a good working knowledge of all Lewisham schools
l establish effective and energising approaches to monitoring, challenge and support
le
 nsure underperforming schools, or schools in need for a particular reason, receive
targeted support
l l iaise with external bodies, such as the DfE or the Regional Schools Commissioner, about
performance issues
lo
 ffer all schools access to a professional learning partnership rooted in peer learning
and development of classroom practice, giving a range of opportunities to work
across schools
lb
 uild skills, knowledge and practice across Lewisham making effective use of increasingly
scarce resources and key partnerships, such as nearby universities and the world of work
le
 nsure training is available as needed, particularly for more school-to-school work, for
school staff and for governors
lb
 roker partnerships for peer review, for support in particular areas and for development
of best practice
l t rial new approaches
lb
 e confident that schools in Lewisham improve well
l i nput to the development of strategies, policies and practice that impact on children
and schools
It might also offer a wider range of highly rated traded services.
To ensure the company is given a strong start, we recommend that Lewisham council should
allocate the money needed to pump prime this initiative. Such support would be essential in
helping it become established and sustainable.

Lewisham Secondary Challenge
A major focus of the Commission’s work has been on the relatively poor performance of
the secondary sector. Chapter 5 sets out a number of very practical suggestions to support
improvement. Chaired for the second year running by a system leader with experience of
successful school-to-school support, and by September comprising a large number of new
headteachers, the Secondary Heads’ Group offers the potential for steering the intensive

9

development programme described in Chapter 5. However, the programme itself would best be
managed by an external director with the expertise and time to ensure effective implementation,
including ongoing support and challenge.
The suggestions in Chapter 5 emphasise the establishment of a Lewisham Secondary Challenge,
based loosely on the model of the London Challenge. There is a need to lift aspiration across
the secondary sector and to persuade young people, their teachers and key stakeholders not
only that they can achieve more but that they can acquire the sorts of skills, knowledge and
confidence in learning to make more of the opportunities open to them in London. The aim
of this initiative would be, within four years, to lift Lewisham to at least average performance
in London with some of its individual schools competing with the very best performers across
London. It would require commitment from all secondary schools, be they maintained schools,
academies, faith schools, in federations or MATs.
Lewisham’s Secondary Challenge would focus specifically on improving progress, raising
standards and closing gaps, and ensuring that all schools become good or better, as designated
by Ofsted. It would require some resourcing and a part-time director to ensure pace and external
challenge. We see the Challenge as owned by the Lewisham secondary heads, but operating
best as a sub-group, and in time becoming part of the wider borough partnership.

Meeting the demand for school places
Lewisham’s population has been growing faster than either nationally or the London average,
with one in four people being under the age of 19. The need for more pupil places in Lewisham
schools has therefore been huge with an increase of over 20 per cent in places provided in
reception in the eight years between 2008/9 and 2016/17. The Commission was asked to focus
on the best means of achieving additional secondary places as these children move through
the system. Although we have done that, we need to report the dissatisfaction of parents in
some areas of the borough with plans and provision in the primary sector. This dissatisfaction
is reflected more generally in DfE statistics which show the proportion of Lewisham parents
offered primary schools at any of their preferences is lower than both the national and Inner
London averages5.
One strategy that the local authority has adopted to provide extra places – namely the
expansion of individual year groups through ‘bulge classes’ – has resulted in unintended
consequences in small primary schools. Allocating priority places to siblings means that the
brothers and sisters of children in bulge year groups, who live slightly further away, have taken
places in reception that would previously have gone to pupils living near the schools.
Given the White Paper has now made clear its intentions about academisation, and many
schools in Lewisham are actively considering establishing a MAT, the Commission would urge the
council to make greater use of academies or free schools to secure extra provision – in addition
to considering the locations of schools where extra forms of entry are feasible. The example
already given of an existing high performing primary school or federation establishing a ‘home5 Department for Education, Statistical First Release 17/2015 Secondary and primary school applications and offers: 2015

10

grown MAT’, would not only better meet the demand for places but also parental preferences.
It would also be more cost effective for the local authority.
This issue is explored further in Chapter 2 and Chapter 4.
Expansion in the secondary sector is inevitably linked to pupil achievement, particularly at 16,
and Ofsted designation. Parents want good schools where their children thrive, are safe and
achieve well. The places in Lewisham’s least popular schools will only be filled when parents are
confident that improvement is clearly underway.
Nevertheless, the Commission is concerned that even if all the current surplus places were filled,
the council’s place planning strategy relies not only on neighbouring boroughs accommodating
Lewisham pupils at the current rate but increasing that outflow. However, if, as we believe,
performance in secondary schools improves over the next few years, fewer parents would be
inclined to opt for a school preference out of the borough. Secondly, even if performance does
not improve significantly, we do not see the incentive for neighbouring boroughs to create
places for Lewisham pupils.
As with the primary sector, there is a need for the borough to find high quality sponsors and
providers when seeking to establish one or more new schools. If the authority is proactive about
this, it could select sponsors and providers whose values and beliefs accord well with those of
Lewisham. We do recognise, however, the relative lack of sites for new schools in Lewisham.
In terms of special school places, the Commission recommends that the council considers these
further in developing its SEND strategy for 2016-2019. This is explored more fully in Chapter 4.
The borough is projecting a minimum 7.7 per cent increase in the number of children with SEND
over the next 10 years. As part of planning for this, it is forecasting the need for an additional
120 special school places by 2020. There seems to be general agreement that expansion on two
of the existing special school sites is appropriate but some concern too that establishing a new
special school is, on its own, not necessarily the right answer. We are concerned not only by
the size of the projected rise but also by the lack of emphasis on appropriate provision within
mainstream schools – particularly secondary schools – for many of these pupils. We agree with
the points made to us by a number of teachers and governors that the skills and expertise
needed to teach pupils with SEND yield benefits for the teaching and learning of all the children
in mainstream schools.
A particular concern is the large number of children assessed as having autistic spectrum
disorder (ASD), particularly as the figures are so disproportionate to either the national picture
or that of Inner London. We heard anecdotes of how parents had manipulated the system to get
the special school of their choice by emphasising the ASD elements of their children’s needs. The
authority is aware of this issue and needs to undertake an in-depth scrutiny of its assessment
practice. It also needs to be rigorous in the annual review process for each child with a statement

11

of special educational needs or an education, health and care (EHC) plan, particularly in
considering integrated pathways for support.

Engaging parents and the local community
A number of parents used the opportunity afforded by the Commission to express their concerns
about practice in individual schools. At the same time, we had representations from parents
concerned about the council’s approach to place planning in primary schools. Some third sector
groups also emphasised the need for the council to engage with them better.
We recognise that numerically these voices are relatively small and that parents rarely make the
effort to comment when they are content. Nevertheless, we believe that their points raised more
general issues which both schools and council should consider. As the White Paper6 stresses,
‘The role of parents is crucial; from supporting their child to holding schools to account’.
Research has consistently shown that parental involvement in children’s education has a positive
impact on pupils’ achievement. Parents told us they feel very involved in their children’s primary
schools but far less so at secondary level. At secondary level, schools are larger; the links between
individual teachers and parents are generally less close; and, as they get older, children themselves
are more reluctant for parents to be closely involved in school life. Nevertheless, the best schools
find ways of involving parents and making communication an effective two-way tool.
All schools should help parents to be involved with their children’s learning. They should also
encourage parents to express their views on the education provided by the school. We heard
too many examples where parents could not make their views heard, responsiveness was
insufficient or where communication was very poor. The complaints we heard came from a range
of schools, including those designated as outstanding by Ofsted. We would urge all secondary
schools to involve parents in reviewing their current engagement and communication strategies.
In particular, those schools with federated arrangements and executive headteachers need to
clarify to parents exactly how these arrangements add value to the life of the school and their
children’s education. Too many parents drew unfair connections between the cost of executive
arrangements and the cuts on books and equipment.
The White Paper points to a number of innovations that will be introduced over the next few
years to “help parents to support their child’s education, making it easier for them to understand
and navigate the schools’ system”. This includes a new, online Parent Portal intended to clarify
in some detail the key things a parent needs to know about schools, including how they can
support their child’s development and achievement. Sitting alongside the portal will be a new
performance table website, ‘where it will be easier for parents to find out how well their child’s
school is performing and to compare schools across a range of key measures’7 .
The best schools already know themselves well and so these promised innovations are unlikely to
provide much greater insight. They use what Ofsted gives them now in terms of the dashboard
6  Op.cit
7  Ibid

12

and inspection reports as well as the information provided in league tables. Many also use the
views of pupils, parents and the community to inform planning and action for improvement.
The Commission urges all secondary schools to review their processes for self-evaluation and
development planning to improve involvement of key stakeholders. Such feedback will bring
the quantitative data to life. Indeed, it will often highlight emerging problems or dissatisfaction
before these have a chance to translate into poor test results or inspection findings. More
positively, engaging parents and key stakeholders in this way also creates a powerful sense of
common purpose and urgency in the drive for improvement.

Key messages
We have made a number of detailed recommendations as set out below which are repeated at
the end of each of the chapters to which they relate most closely. However, we want to reinforce
our 5 key messages.
First, we would urge Lewisham to build on its strengths in collaborative working
across schools.
The borough should extend the good collaborative work we have seen working well between
schools be that in time-limited projects, clusters, federations or in multi-academy trusts. We
think there are dangers in isolation and that every school would benefit from being part of a
collaborative group. Much of the effective work we have seen has been in the primary sector but
we know also about plans for greater collaboration between secondary schools. The latter hold
considerable promise.
The Heads’ Leadership Forum, run expertly by primary headteachers but open to all heads, is
highly valued and a much respected part of the education service in Lewisham. Primary heads
in particular use it to develop their collective, professional knowledge and skills as well as to
give active support to each other. Although still relatively young, it offers a potential base for
building the cross borough partnership we think will be a powerful way of keeping the Lewisham
family of schools together and focused keenly on the needs of the community.
The Secondary Heads Group is collegial and supportive and will be enriched from the freshness and
expertise brought by many new headteachers joining it this year. The latter come with an ambition
and determination to improve their schools that should bring a new energy to the Group.
We think establishing a school-led, borough wide partnership for improvement will build on
existing strengths, avoid fragmentation and provide a comprehensive programme to meet needs
and interests. Governors are key players in the drive for improvement and more important than
ever with increasing academisation. They should work with the heads and the local authority in
designing the partnership. This would be an inclusive partnership that would include individual
schools and groups of schools, be they federations, MATs or teaching schools.

13

Second, the local authority should be more vigorous about shaping the government’s
academisation policy to the needs of Lewisham. A number of heads and governors are
actively planning to establish MATs. We think the council should support these ‘home-grown
MATs’ and use them as potential academy sponsors for schools in difficulties and even as
promoters of free schools, which is the only way new schools can now be opened.
Third, there needs to be an intensive boost to improve Lewisham’s secondary sector.
Headteachers in these schools want to succeed and should be supported in doing so. We believe
Lewisham’s secondary and all-through schools have within them much of the capacity needed to
improve and the heads themselves must drive this change. But they need some extra, well targeted
support, most particularly from experienced system leaders to build both greater capability and
skills. A customised programme of intensive support, based loosely on the successful model of the
London Challenge should be introduced. This programme would be enriched by looking at practice
and initiatives beyond Lewisham and engaging with external organisations to lift aspirations and
expectations. A three year Secondary Lewisham Challenge programme will need external support
to ensure it proceeds with speed and makes progress at pace.
Fourth, all those involved in education should nurture the collective pride in Lewisham
as a place and the passionate commitment to the local community that was evident
from headteachers, governors, third sector groups and the council. We think this
shared moral purpose could be channelled more profitably into an ambitious and shared vision
for education locally that engages key stakeholders, lifts aspirations and is supported by an
inclusive plan for success.
Finally, we believe that whatever change comes about in its legal responsibilities, the
council should maintain an important role in the future development of education
in Lewisham. Education remains of fundamental importance to local people particularly
those with children. It remains a powerful force for regenerating and sustaining the quality of
life in Lewisham and for promoting social mobility. Local people will continue to look to local
councillors to ensure education is of good quality. Lewisham council will want to support its
schools, even work in active partnership with them, but it will also want to hold an increasingly
autonomous system to account on behalf of the local community. There will be a number of
ways in which that can be done.

14

Recommendations
Establishing a new approach to school organisation
lS
 chool

federations in Lewisham should be supported if their governors decide that they
wish to convert to academy status, with these ‘home-grown’ MATs being seen as
potential academy sponsors for schools experiencing difficulties and as promoters of free
schools where these are required across the borough in the next few years.

lT
 he

local authority, headteachers and governors should work together to ensure that
every school in Lewisham is part of a formal and effective school collaborative
group – whether as part of a MAT or through developing and deepening the work of a
local cluster, collaborative or federation.

lT
 he

development of MATs and local clusters of schools should be seen alongside
– and not as a substitute for – a borough-wide school-improvement partnership.
The borough-wide partnership that we propose should be tasked with identifying those
heads that have the potential and interest in moving into executive leadership and
providing them with the development and support to take on this role as more
schools move to working through federations, MATs or other school groups.

Developing a school-led model of improvement
lB
 y

July, 2016, an agreement should be established between headteachers, Lewisham
Governors’ Association and the local authority to set up an overarching
partnership that establishes a school-led system of improvement for Lewisham,
where schools themselves increasingly take on the primary responsibility, collectively, for
supporting improvement and standards.

lF
 rom

September, a Partnership Steering Group, with an independent chair
but involving headteachers, governors and the local authority should be set
up to work out exactly how the partnership would work, and how it might be resourced.
It should also devise appropriate arrangements for governance and accountability.
This Group should reproduce a set of proposals for consultation by October
half-term 2016.

lT
o

ensure momentum, while the Partnership is being developed, the Leadership Forum
should liaise with the London Leadership Strategy to develop Lewisham’s
system leadership and school-to-school support.

15

Achieving more school places
lT
 he

local authority should review whether sufficient additional primary places
are being planned for the next five years bearing in mind the relatively low
proportion of parents obtaining their first preference in 2015. This review should include
consideration of whether additional places will come on stream quickly enough in
those primary planning localities facing the greatest pressure and the option of seeking
promoters for a primary free school to help address this challenge.

lT
 he

local authority should set out a clear and comprehensive School Place
Planning Strategy which sets out plans for the next five years as well as criteria for
expanding schools, seeking to promote new free schools and addressing the relevant
recommendations in this document. This will also enable the local authority to be more
open and consultative about its strategy and plans for providing additional places than it
has been in the past.

lT
 he

local authority should work closely with governors, headteachers and the Regional
Schools Commissioner to ensure that those schools in the secondary sector with
low numbers of first parental preferences and unfilled places urgently address
the school improvement challenges and the associated reputational issues facing
these schools.

lT
 he

local authority should consider seeking the provision of a further secondary
free school, run by a proven education provider (in addition to the Citizen
Free School and the free school that is already under discussion with the EFA), with
a view to increasing options for parents and the proportion of pupils educated
within the borough.

lT
 he

local authority should formalise both the process for cross-borough
discussions on pupil place-planning and any resulting agreements, if there is
to be an increased reliance on neighbouring boroughs providing additional secondary
school places to meet the growth in numbers of secondary school-age Lewisham pupils.

lT
 he

local authority should investigate the underlying reasons for the high incidence
of ASD among its school population and review whether the annual assessments
and reviews of pupils with Statements or EHC Plans are sufficiently rigorous and
precise in identifying and specifying the needs of each pupil.

lT
 he

local authority should satisfy itself that there are clear integrated pathways
across the mainstream and special school sectors so that children are educated
and supported in the setting best suited to their needs. In particular, the authority
should ensure that pressure on special school places – particularly in the secondary
sector – is not increasing because of a lack of appropriate support and/or patterns of
provision in mainstream settings.

16

lT
 he

local authority should seek to mitigate its funding shortfall in planning for
school places by maximising the use of centrally-approved free schools that
share Lewisham’s values. It can do this by:
➤ c ontinuing

to keep in close contact with the EFA so that central free school proposals
are matched to the borough’s place-planning needs;

➤e
 xploring the White Paper proposal to provide funding, in advance of developers’

contributions, for new free schools linked to housing developments within the borough;
➤e
 ncouraging

some of its best schools to lead academy trusts and become proposers of
free schools in the borough; and

➤ s eeking

school providers with values that are similar to those held by the local
authority and encouraging their interest in providing places within the borough.

Creating Lewisham Secondary Challenge
lW
 orking

with the Secondary Heads’ Group, the local authority should establish and
resource a Lewisham Secondary Challenge (including post 16) to provide intensive
and bespoke support. This initiative should be managed by an experienced, external
adviser working to the Secondary Heads’ Group. It would make use of system leaders,
focused school to school support, intensive programmes and forensic data analysis to
improve progress, raise standards, and close gaps. The aim would be that within 4 years,
all schools in Lewisham would be judged good or better, performance at Key Stage 4 and
Key Stage 5 would be at least at the London average, and the vast majority of parents
would have confidence in their choice of local schools.

lS
 upported

by the local authority, the Leadership Forum should facilitate a small
scale trial of different models of peer review so that the Lewisham Improvement
Partnership could broker such a process across all schools and settings beginning
no later than April 2017.

lS
 upported

by the local authority, and using an external resource, the Heads’ Leadership
Forum should raise Lewisham’s positive profile and agree a process for identifying
and sharing best practice, in both the primary and secondary sectors, including the
publication of a set of Lewisham case studies by January, 2017.

lT
 he

Secondary Heads’ Group should establish strategic groups of senior and middle
leaders to meet to develop collective solutions to particular issues of concern
or requiring development, such as Progress 8 and EBacc performance, improving
‘A’ level performance at the highest grades, behaviour, attendance and exclusions.

17

lT
 he

Secondary Heads Group should work closely with the London Leadership
Strategy which is one of the largest and most effective providers of school-to-school
support in London, enabling access to a wide range of system leaders and teaching
school alliances. Their programmes support schools at every point of development
including specific professional development opportunities and leadership development.

lT
 he

Secondary Heads’ Group, working with the local authority, should also engage
with other organisations outside the borough to help raise aspirations and
build greater capacity for the development of a school-led system of improvement ,
for example, the Education Endowment Foundation, universities, the Innovations Unit
and Office of the Mayor of London.

General
lT
 he

local authority should allocate funding to pump prime the establishment of a
borough-wide, school-led partnership for improvement in Lewisham. We see this
partnership operating as a family, sharing strong roots and commitment to the local
community but with schools sometimes working alone, sometimes in different groups
and sometimes all together, to add value to the whole Lewisham education service.

lT
 he

local authority should stimulate an ambitious vision for education locally
and engage constructively with a range of key stakeholders and third sector
groups who share the council’s ambitions for improvement and will have much to
contribute to the development of a plan for success.

lM
 any

schools use the views of pupils, parents and the community to inform
planning and action for improvement. Secondary and all-through schools should
review their processes to ensure greater involvement, particularly of parents.

18

Chapter 2: Establishing a new approach to school
organisation
Given the national and regional context, what is the best form of
organisation for Lewisham’s schools going forward?

The national context
Three main trends are shaping the work and organisation of the school system in England:

1. Reform of curriculum, assessment and accountability arrangements
Schools are in the midst of coming to terms with a complete overhaul of the curriculum,
assessment and accountability system. The curriculum of each Key Stage (KS) has been reformed
to focus more on knowledge and the mastery of key core skills. In general the bar has been
raised in terms of the standards that children and the young are expected to achieve.
Assessment arrangements have been changed to reflect the curriculum reforms:
lT
 his

summer children are being assessed on the new primary curriculum for the first time
at KS1 and Year 6 pupils will sit revised national curriculum tests. The tests will produce
‘scaled scores’ that will report pupils’ progress relative to a new and higher expected
standard of attainment.

lT
 here

may be further changes at both KS1 and KS2 in 2017 with the government
considering the introduction of more ‘rigorous’ assessment for seven-year-olds and the
inclusion of times-tables at KS2.

lY
 ear

6 pupils not achieving the expected standard at KS2 will have to re-sit the tests in
the first term of their Year 7 secondary schooling.

lY
 ear

11 pupils will sit new GCSE in mathematics and English in 2017 and in other
subjects from 2018 onwards. From 2017 a 1-9 grading system will replace the current
A*-G model.

lS
 ummer

2016 also sees students starting to take new AS level exams and they will sit
new A levels from 2017 onwards.

Schools’ anxieties about these changes were made clear to us in our discussions with
headteachers, particularly primary headteachers.

19

Other changes to the accountability regime are also wide-ranging and demanding. The 2016
performance tables will report for each primary school the percentage of pupils reaching
the ‘expected standard’ and a ‘high standard’ in the national curriculum tests for reading,
writing and mathematics. Average scaled scores and average progress since KS1 will also be
reported across these three subjects. In the secondary sector Progress 8, Attainment 8 and the
percentage of students attaining the EBacc threshold form the new performance framework
from this summer onwards, while 16-19 providers also have new performance metrics based on
student progress, attainment, retention and destination.
The government has also revised the minimum floor standards that primary and secondary
schools are expected to meet and introduced a new category of ‘coasting schools’. Schools
judged inadequate by Ofsted will be compulsorily academised and regional schools
commissioners will have powers to intervene in coasting schools.
Taken together these changes increase the pressure on schools to improve teaching and
learning and they raise the stakes still further in terms of pupil achievement and progress.
They are having to do this while at the same time being expected to practise high standards of
safeguarding, to look after the mental health and wellbeing of their pupils, to support efforts
to reduce obesity, to extend the availability of childcare for working parents and to take action
to prevent extremism. This is a stretching agenda for any school to manage on its own and, and
at a time of declining local authority support, points to a need for schools to come together to
address these challenges jointly.

2. School funding changes
Two separate but important policies will affect schools across England and will have a particular
impact on schools in Lewisham.
First, the government has committed to protecting day-to-day per pupil school spending on a cash
basis during this parliament. As there will be more pupils in the system the actual spend on schools
will rise. However, cash protection means that there is no allowance for inflation from one year
to the next. The Institute for Fiscal Studies calculates that this policy, along with projected wage
rises and increases in National Insurance and pension contributions, is likely to mean that school
spending per pupil will fall by around 8 per cent in real terms between 2014/15 and 2019/208.
Second, the government is proposing to introduce a national funding formula for schools from
2017/189. Funding would be allocated to LAs to distribute for the first two years, and then
allocated directly to schools from 2019/20. At this stage the government has only published
the architecture for the proposed new arrangements rather than projected detailed allocations.
However, Lewisham is the ninth highest per pupil funded authority in the country and so it is
reasonable to assume that most, if not all schools, in Lewisham would be losers rather than
gainers from the new arrangements – although the single funding formula will be phased in over
time and there will be some protection for schools that lose out.

8 See www.ifs.org.uk/publications/8027 as accessed on 11th March 2016. This assessment was made before the Chancellor of the
Exchequer announced further increases in employer pension contributions for school staff in the Budget on March 16th 2016.
9 Department for Education, 2015, Schools national funding formula: Government consultation – stage one
20

The introduction of a single funding formula also has important implications for LAs – which are
discussed below.
The combination of these funding changes again points to the need for schools to work and
join together to share resources, posts, expertise, costs and procurement. The government has
indicated that it will make an ‘invest-to-save’ fund available in 2016/17 to help schools plan
for operating on a lower budget. The Commission recommends that schools in Lewisham should
consider applying for this funding linked to the development of the partnership strategies and
options described in this report.

3 Moving towards a school-led system
The government’s ambition is to move to a system where schools – rather than national
programmes or agencies or local authority officers and consultants – are driving school
improvement. Figure 1 below explains in more detail what a school-led system means. The
government’s vision is based on every school being an academy but a school-led system
has a much wider reach and ambition: it involves schools leading improvement and taking
responsibility for ensuring that all schools receive the challenge and support they need.

Figure 1: What is meant by a school-led system?
lL
 eaders,

teachers and schools are in control of their own
improvement and are responsible for this.

lL
 eaders,

teachers and schools learn from each other so that
effective practice spreads more quickly.

lT
 he

best schools and leaders extend their reach across other
schools so that all schools improve.

lM
 ATs,

federations, clusters and teaching school alliances act as
facilitators, commissioners and brokers in terms of support and
challenge to individual schools and groups of schools.

lW
 ithin

a school led system of ‘supported autonomy’, institutions
can collaborate and access the support that they need.

21

Progress towards this school-led system is being supported by three policies:
school alliances (TSAs). Teaching schools are outstanding schools,
designated by the National College for Teaching and Leadership, to work with other
schools, universities and LAs to provide high quality training and development to new
and experienced school staff. The alliances they form have been focused on six areas
of activity – though, as Figure 2 explains, the government’s recent education White
Paper10 consolidates the six roles into three. There are four TSAs in Lewisham – as well as
a number in neighbouring authorities. This is a rich resource for the borough. The local
authority has started to have a more strategic relationship with the TSAs in the borough
and meets the leaders from the four TSAs on a regular basis. The potential to develop
the impact of TSAs across Lewisham is discussed in Chapter 5

lT
 eaching

Figure 2: Current and future roles of teaching school alliances
Current roles

Future priorities

l school-led


initial teacher training

l continuing


professional development

ls
 upporting

other schools (including
deploying national and local leaders
of education)

l i dentifying

and developing leadership

potential
l r ecruiting,

accrediting and deploying
specialist leaders of education

lu
 ndertaking

lc
 o-ordinating

and delivering high
quality school-based initial teacher
training

lp
 roviding

high quality school-toschool support to spread excellent
practice, particularly to schools that
need it most

lp
 roviding

evidence-based professional
development for teachers and leaders
across their network

research and development

Source: www.gov.uk/guidance/teaching-schools-a-guide-for-potential-applicants and
Department for Education, (2016)

10  Ibid

22

Multi-academy trusts (MATs) – the government’s rationale for academy status is
that it has:
“…freed thousands of headteachers and leaders to drive improvement in their own
schools and across the system. Autonomy and accountability align in academy trusts,
where leaders are free to take decisions they believe will improve standards, and are held
to account for the outcomes they achieve”.11
Originally, the government was happy for schools to convert to academy status on a
stand-alone basis but since then it has shifted its position. Now it encourages schools
– particularly primary schools – to convert as groups of schools working through MATs.
There are over 800 MATs and Figure 3 below shows how at the end of 2015 a far higher
proportion of academies were part of a MAT than in 2011. There are, however, differences
between the primary and secondary sectors. As of March 2016, 18 per cent of primary
schools were academies and around two-thirds of them were in MATs. In contrast 65 per
cent of secondary schools were academies but over half were standalone.

Figure 3: Number of academies, by size of multi-academy trust, in 2015
compared with 2011

Note: The term ‘Group Range’ refers to the number of academies within a MAT
Source: Department for Education

11 Para 4.3. of Educational Excellence Everywhere

23

The move towards MATs is set to accelerate still further as the education White Paper,
Educational Excellence Everywhere, signals a step change in the government’s approach to
academisation. The government now intends that every school will become an academy and that
by the end of 2020 every school will either have gained academy status or be in the process of
acquiring it. The government proposes to achieve this objective in three ways:
First, it will continue to encourage schools to convert to academy status. For example, the DfE
has been incentivising primary schools to move towards becoming an academy within a MAT. A
one-off development grant of between £75,000 and £100,000 has been available to groups of
three or more schools that want to convert to academy status and become a MAT, providing that
the majority of them are primaries12. The government has said that it will continue to provide
capacity-building support and has set up a MAT Growth Fund and expects most schools to
convert as part of a MAT.
Second, it will continue to use compulsion in respect of schools judged ‘inadequate’ by Ofsted.
The Secretary of State for Education, acting through the eight regional school commissioners
(RSCs), will use new powers in the Education and Adoption Act (2016) to automatically place
all ‘inadequate’ schools in trusts run by approved academy sponsors. Some coasting schools
may also be allocated to MATs as a means of supporting their improvement. The free school
presumption (discussed in Chapter 4) that requires all new schools to be free schools13 will also
fuel both academy and MAT expansion.
Third, the government intends to take new powers to direct schools to become academies in
underperforming local authority areas or where the local authority no longer has capacity to
maintain its schools; or where schools have not yet started the process of becoming an academy
by 2020. The requirement for all schools to become academies will include church schools and
they will normally be expected to become part of diocesan MATs or MATs linked to a diocese.
diminution of the LA role in school improvement – Local authorities currently
have a substantial number of statutory duties in respect of the quality of schooling
within their authority. For example, Section 13A of the 1996 Education Act states:

lT
 he

“A local authority in England must ensure that their relevant education functions ... are (so far as
they are capable of being exercised) exercised by the authority with a view to a) promoting high
standards, b) ensuring fair access to opportunity for education and training, and c) promoting
the fulfilment of learning potential by every person to whom this subsection applies”.
Ofsted still inspects local authorities and holds them to account for their effectiveness in
discharging these duties. However, the combination of the move towards a school-led system
combined with budget pressures means that most if not all local authorities are constrained
in the level of staffing and resource they can allocate to their school improvement functions.
In some authorities, the capacity to know or track the performance of schools has all but
12 There is a cut off date for applying for this particular round of grant funding of 30th April 2016.
13 Free schools are legally academies and have the same funding and governance arrangements.

24

disappeared. The schools’ funding settlement for 2016/17 saw a reduction in the Education
Services Grant as a prelude to phasing out the grant entirely. The grant is the principal means of
funding school support and improvement functions.
The proposals contained in the government’s consultation for a national funding formula for
schools, published at the beginning of March 2016 and reinforced in the education White Paper,
make clear the government’s thinking for the future. It is proposed that
lL
 ocal

authority involvement in and funding for running school improvement should
cease from the end of the 2016/17 academic year and local authorities’ statutory
functions should be reviewed and amended accordingly

lL
 ocal

authorities’ statutory role in education should be confined to three areas: school
place planning and ensuring fair access through admissions; ensuring the needs of
vulnerable pupils are met; and acting as champions for all parents and families14

lL
 ocal

authorities should be allowed to retain some of their maintained schools’ grant
funding to cover the statutory duties that they carry out for maintained schools. However,
this would have to be agreed by the maintained school members of the schools forum,
with recourse to the Secretary of State of Education if they are unable to agree. These
changes mean that if schools want their local authority to provide a governor training and
development programme or offer a school improvement adviser to assess their schools’
performance and progress, this will have to be paid for either via a pay-as-you-go traded
service or through top-slicing the money from the schools’ budget.

The implications of the national context
This chapter has described the scale of the curriculum, assessment and accountability challenges
facing schools. With previous reforms, schools were able to look to national agencies (such as
the National College for School Leadership, the Qualifications and Curriculum Authority) or local
authority for support. Most of these national agencies have now been abolished and/or the scope
of their work has been drastically reduced. The ability of local authorities to support schools is
being phased out – or only sanctioned to the point where maintained school agree to fund it.
How should schools and local authorities respond? A school-led system presents many
opportunities for schools to learn and benefit from working with each other. Moreover the scale
and volume of change makes it risky for schools to try and navigate the whole education change
agenda on their own. Funding pressures reinforce the logic of schools collaborating to maximise
economies of scale.

14 There is a fuller description of three roles at Paragraph 4.77 on page 7 of Educational Excellence Everywhere

25

Lewisham has a strong foundation on which to build a more systematic approach to school
partnership. For example, the borough has:
ls
 even
l f our

federations encompassing 16 schools

collaborative partnerships, two of which are led by executive heads15

lo
 ne

multi-academy trust comprising two all-through schools, a primary free school and
one school in another borough

l t wo

academies, one of which is part of a MAT that operates across the country and the
other which is part of the Roman Catholic Diocese

la


network of more informal collaboratives across the borough – though some of these
engender greater commitment and have a greater impact than others

It would seem sensible to build on this foundation in four ways.
First, a number of the federations have told the Commission that they see the shift to becoming
a MAT as a natural and positive move. It would enable them to extend and deepen how they
work together as a group of schools. However, they have hesitated to convert because they
believed the local authority to be opposed to academisation and had not wanted to ‘break
ranks’ with what they understood to be the prevailing view in the borough. However, given the
proposals in the White Paper, the Commission considers that moving to becoming a MAT would
be a logical next step for these federations to extend and deepen their partnership working.
One other advantage of encouraging the development of what might be termed by some
as ‘home-grown’ MATs is that it would enable local schools (if the MATs also applied to be
accredited as sponsors) to promote and run free schools to help meet the demand for additional
pupil places - an issue that is discussed further in Chapter 4.
Second, much of the formal partnership activity in the borough has tended to come about on an
ad hoc or opportunistic basis. For example, a school has faced a major crisis and the local authority
has asked an experienced, effective headteacher to help out. Formal collaboration has been a
response to a problem rather than a strategic policy or goal. The Commission recommends that
the local authority, headteachers and governors should work together to ensure that every school
in Lewisham is part of a formal school collaborative group. In some cases, this might mean some
schools joining an existing federation as they convert to becoming a MAT. Faith schools might seek
to join with other faith schools through, for example, forming a MAT linked to their diocese. Some
schools might feel it right to link up with schools sharing their ethos but based in a neighbouring
borough. For other schools, it might not mean joining or forming a MAT at this stage. Rather
it could involve formalising and deepening the existing work of a local cluster or collaborative
through sharing practice and expert practitioners, committing to peer review and organising
15  There have been a number of other collaborative partnerships led by executive heads that have now ended mostly
because the circumstances that gave rise to the partnership (e.g. school improvement challenges or a failure to recruit
a head) have been addressed.

26

professional development jointly – including classroom-based coaching and teachers working
together to improve their practice through inquiry-led learning. This partnership strategy will also
require discussion and consultation with parents and the trade unions.
Developing a network of school groups across the borough and bringing real depth to
collaborative activity would ensure that schools were in a strong position, whether or not
parliament approves the government’s proposals for every school to become an academy. The
basis for coherently-formed and mostly locally-based MATs would be in place rather than there
being a mad rush to join a MAT or find a partner following enactment of the legislation. This
strategy would also pave the way for implementing the new statutory duty that is being placed
on local authorities to “facilitate the process of all maintained schools becoming academies”16.
As noted above, federations or other school groups planning to join a MAT would be eligible to
apply for funding from the government’s MAT Growth Fund.
The DfE will be providing guidance on becoming a MAT and will be publishing ‘design principles’
for MATs based on the experience of those that are most successful. In the meantime, schools
and school leaders might like to have regard to the advice set out in Figure 4 below as they
consider how to get together in formal collaborative groups and/or MATs. The 10 points are
drawn from research reports on school improvement partnerships and federations17, a tool18
developed by Sir David Carter, the Commissioner for Schools, and the experience of the
Lewisham commissioners in working with federations, school partnerships and MATs.

16 Para 4.7 c. of Educational Excellence Everywhere
17 Muijs, D, & Chapman, C, 2011, A study of the impact of school federation on student outcomes, National College
for School Leadership Christopher Chapman, Daniel Muijs, James MacAllister August 2011
18 DfE, 2015, Characteristics of successful multi-academy trusts: A tool developed by the Regional Schools
Commissioner for the South West for multi-academy trust, their boards and senior leaders

27

Figure 4: Advice on forming and developing formal school partnership
groups and multi-academy trusts
lS
 chools

should look to build in the first instance on existing partnerships such as
federations, collaboratives and teaching school alliances – though in some cases
schools may find that they share the values of a MAT or other school group that
currently operates in a neighbouring or nearby borough.

lS
 chools

coming together to form a MAT or formal collaborative should take time to
consider and agree a shared vision and mission for what they want to achieve together.

lS
 chools

should visit MATs and federations to understand how to develop an effective
school group on sound organisational principles. They should use the DfE capacitybuilding and invest-to-save funding so that they can afford to bring in external
expertise and fund a senior leader to work on a dedicated basis on developing their
culture, organisation and systems.

lT
 he

geographical location of the schools in the proposed MAT or formal collaborative
group should enable and facilitate leaders and staff to easily work with and support
each other.

lS
 chools

should discuss and agree a balance between doing things together and
agreeing shared systems and procedures while still respecting and valuing each
school’s individual identity.

lA
 rrangements

for governance should be defined so that there is clarity about those
issues and policies that will be decided at a MAT or school group level and those that
will be delegated to individual schools.

lS
 chool

groups and MATs should expect to adopt an executive leadership model while
also fostering a culture of distributed leadership, shared leadership roles across schools
in the group and using the group to identify and nurture leadership talent.

lS
 chools

should ensure that, while working together can bring benefits on a number
of fronts (including back office support functions), the main focus of their work should
be on improving teaching and learning.

lS
 chool

groups and MATs should ensure that their membership incorporates
sufficient expertise to address the school improvement challenges facing the
schools in the group.

lS
 chool

groups and MATs should build quality assurance into their joint work and
regularly evaluate the impact the group or MAT is making towards improving pupil
outcomes and school performance.

28

Third, Lewisham has been adept at building a cadre of executive heads – particularly in the
primary sector – to lead federations and wider school improvement work. Research indicates that
formal school groups are more likely to be effective where executive leadership is exercised19.
This does not necessarily mean establishing an additional post. Having an executive head
– which may sometimes start with one of the heads in a group of schools taking on wider
responsibilities for two or three days of the week – can bring a number of benefits. It can
help with leading school improvement in specific areas, deploying expertise across schools,
facilitating joint training, development and coaching between schools, consolidating common
ways of working, realising economies of scale and introducing new models for sharing leadership
across schools. However, taking on an executive role does require new skills and perspective. A
key role for the Lewisham partnership that we propose should be to identify those heads that
have the potential and interest in moving into executive leadership and providing them with the
development support to take on this role as more schools move to working through federations,
MATs or other school groups.
The fourth way that schools in Lewisham could build on the foundations of their current
collaborative activity is by developing and strengthening their borough-wide school
improvement activity through the establishment of a more formal borough partnership. Being
part of a MAT or local group of schools does not mean that schools need to lose their Lewisham
identity or structures. It is clear to the commissioners that there is a strong sense of pride in and
commitment to Lewisham and the achievement, progress and wellbeing of children across the
borough. Many leaders have worked in the borough for a long time. There are good links and
relationships between many schools and school leaders. The development of MATs and other
local school groupings within the borough need not and should not be at the expense of also
working through borough-wide structures, teaching school alliances and other collaborative
activities. MATs should be outward looking as well as inward facing. The shared goal should be
to promote the life chances of all children in Lewisham.
One of the issues raised with commissioners was the possibility of the local authority establishing
its own academy trust to enable it to sponsor academies. Given the white paper’s vision for local
authorities, it is doubtful whether the DfE would determine, as it would have to, that Lewisham
council is an ‘appropriate body’ to become an academy trust. However, this sector-led partnership,
if it were a legal company, could, in time, set up a subsidiary company as an academy sponsor. This
may be something worth investigating further in the future once the partnership has established
its capacity, expertise and credentials in leading and supporting school improvement.
The next chapter will set out the options for working together through a broader borough-wide
Lewisham partnership. It will describe how some other London boroughs and local authorities
outside London are combining cluster work and the development of MATs with a strategic
commitment to work with each other on a range of school improvement functions through a
collaborative system and structure to which all schools in the authority are committed.

19 Muijs, D, & Chapman, C, 2011, Op cit

29

Recommendations
lS
 chool

federations in Lewisham should be supported if their governors decide that
they wish to convert to academy status, with these ‘home-grown’ MATs being seen as
potential academy sponsors for schools experiencing difficulties and as promoters of free
schools where these are required across the borough in the next few years.

lT
 he

local authority, headteachers and governors should work together to ensure that
every school in Lewisham is part of a formal and effective school collaborative group
– whether as part of a MAT or through developing and deepening the work of a local
cluster, collaborative or federation.

lT
 he

development of MATs and local clusters of schools should be seen alongside – and
not as a substitute for – a borough-wide school-improvement partnership. The boroughwide partnership that we propose should be tasked with identifying those heads that
have the potential and interest in moving into executive leadership and providing them
with the development and support to take on this role as more schools move to working
through federations, MATs or other school groups.

30

Chapter 3: Developing a school-led model of
improvement
Is there a school-led model of school improvement which would put Lewisham’s
work on a more sustainable footing, given the council’s financial constraints?
There are a wide range of different models of school-led improvement developing around the
country and later in this section we give a number of specific examples about borough wide
initiatives. Chapter 2 set out the key elements of a school led-system of improvement and in
this chapter, we describe what system leadership can do. We believe that, once established, it
offers a sustainable model of improvement for schools that would not depend on the council for
expertise or resourcing.
Given the right model and infrastructure, system leadership can:
le
 mpower

the real leaders, at all levels within the school, who can make change happen
l fi
 nd time and create the space for innovation
lk
 eep the work where it needs to be: close to the frontline
ls
 ustain a sense of shared endeavour and a climate for improvement
l i nfluence the system at all levels and develop future leaders.
There are many virtues in system leadership and evidence suggests that schools are more
likely to improve if they work collaboratively. The principal benefits of collaboration, including
carefully planned sharing of expertise and resources to develop practice in the classroom, are
better teaching and learning. Disciplined and well-focussed collaboration within and across
schools can also stimulate greater creativity and innovation, leading to better outcomes for
students. The sustainability of a school-led system of improvement is helped by spreading
leadership and teaching expertise among more schools and staff. System leadership offers both
strategic and operational support to school improvement which builds competence and capacity.
We are not defining system leaders just as executive heads, national, local and specialist leaders
of education, or national leaders of governance although they all play a key role, but rather
leaders at all levels. They might be leaders of phase, subject and aspects of the curriculum,
who are prepared to work across a local system. We see governors as having the potential to be
influential system leaders.
It is probably better in some circumstances to use the term ‘systemic leadership’ rather than
system leadership – going system wide and system deep. Systemic leaders at all levels have a
strong professional motivation to collaborate to share and develop common solutions, develop
teacher and leadership capability and raise standards. In providing support and challenge,
they seek reciprocal benefits that lead to self-improvement through observation, reflection,

31

evaluation, the development of better practice together as well as the sharing of best practice.
System leaders take professional responsibility for leading, co-ordinating and delivering
sustainable school improvement across schools to raise standards for students. Peer review,
as described in more detail in Chapter 5, is an essential part of this process.
A key shift within the English school system over the last few years has been the increase in
the number of schools working together in both formal and informal arrangements on a range
of school improvement issues as the role of local authorities change. All schools in Lewisham
should now be involved in focused, productive networks within which leaders, teachers and
students challenge, support, involve and learn from each other with measurable improvement
in outcomes.
The current drive to creating a school-led self-improving system is weighted heavily on the
premise that groups of schools will work with, learn from, and support one another to develop
localised solutions to the problems they face. This includes much better systems of sharing
professional knowledge as described in other chapters. A range of collaborative models have
emerged and the role, size and shape of these school-led systems reflect local contexts. They
include local strategic partnerships with teaching school alliances and MATS as well as free
schools, schools owned and schools led by not for profit companies and school-led research
and development hubs as centres of excellence. Some are legal entities and others are voluntary
with a loose grouping of clusters and networks.
Ever since the White Paper of 201020 signalled the beginning of a school-led system of
improvement, some local authorities, either by choice or necessity, scaled back their involvement
in school improvement to a bare minimum. Other local authorities maintained a reduced but still
effective school improvement service. However, in other areas, local authorities anticipating the
future have worked with schools to maintain a framework for a strong, local school improvement
partnership where individual schools and system leaders play a leading role.
There is no simple recipe for success and empirical evidence of partnership models is sparse but
schools talk with enthusiasm of progress and potential. Typically in these arrangements, schools
own, govern and lead the partnership with the local authority as a minority player. Schools take
responsibility for peer challenge and support and commission individual support packages,
often with some facilitation from the local authority working closely with teaching schools,
federations and national leaders of education. In one sense, these school-led partnerships have
been ‘growing the green’ – building collective leadership and teaching capacity and sharing best
practice across the local area. However, the ‘heavy lifting’ in terms of a range of interventions
in underperforming schools has often been left to the local authority which might, of course,
broker and commission some support from other schools.
Up and down the country there is a range of developing models of school improvement
partnerships with local authorities. Some are very much school-led and some are mainly driven
20 DfE, 2010, The importance of teaching: the schools White Paper, Her Majesty’s Stationery Office

32

by the local authority. To some extent this is determined by where, historically, expertise and
leadership for school improvement has been located in a particular area. In local authorities
with many academies, federations, trusts and teaching schools, school-led systems of school
improvement have emerged quickly but where the reverse is true, the local authority is still
driving school improvement, although often commissioning and brokering work with individual
and groups of schools.
Where schools have a closer history of forms of cluster working, there is more openness in
moving towards a model which is predicated on executive leadership and governance functions
across groups of schools. In such circumstances, the local authority role has already shifted
quite dramatically – towards being a convenor or facilitator of partnerships and a champion for
parents and children – rather than in any real sense a provider of school improvement services.
An interesting example is that of Wigan, which is a metropolitan borough council with some
130 schools

The Wigan model
All Wigan schools, including academies, are in one of nine education improvement consortia
that are organised by phase and locality across the borough. There are five primary and
four secondary consortia. Each consortium is led by an elected headteacher who has to
meet particular criteria such as being an NLE or outstanding in terms of leadership and
management as judged by Ofsted. Each consortium has a constitution which covers
its remit, terms of reference and ways of working. Although there is some variance in
organisation, all the consortia are committed to four basic principles:l f ocusing

primarily on improving standards of teaching and learning and leadership
and management
ls
 upporting the self-improvement of the whole consortium so that all children
achieve their potential
lw
 orking collaboratively to prevent schools falling into requiring improvement
categories as judged by Ofsted or below floor standards
lw
 orking together to pool consortium resources and to share best practice
The local authority and the consortia have an agreed process for identifying schools that
are vulnerable in terms of underperformance, as well as highlighting those with the best
practice, based on evidence and data and of providing the best support for vulnerable
schools. Further, there is a shared agreement on how leadership and teaching and learning
can best be developed and improved. The local authority is also a strategic partner in the
overall teaching school alliance and leaders of teaching schools are represented on the
education improvement boards (EIBs) brokering school-to-school support and providing
CPD and leadership development opportunities.

33

Too often decisions about the form, constitution and governance of a school improvement
partnership become problematic and muddled because the fundamental purpose behind the
partnership has not been agreed sufficiently clearly. It is crucial that this is really clear to all from
the outset. In Lewisham, it would only be worth investing time, energy and resources if the goal
was to be accelerated improvement and higher standards of achievement.
One of the key differences between the various approaches is whether the partnership has
developed in order to promote a successful trading relationship in school support services or
whether the locus for school improvement is in smaller school-based clusters and therefore the
role of the overlaying partnership is more around strategic co-ordination rather than delivery.
Herts for Learning is probably one of the most developed partnerships. It is predicated upon
a strong and well-established trading relationship between the local authority and schools. Its
annual turnover is now over £23 million and after its first year of trading it generated a profit
of £600,000 some of which is distributed to its shareholders (Hertfordshire schools) by way of
funded additional services or benefits. At the other end of the spectrum, the Wigan partnership
encompasses no real trading activity but seeks to generate improvement through cluster working
at school level with some strategic oversight. The Lincolnshire model is another which focuses
on school-led peer review and network development rather than an extensive traded offer in
training, school improvement or consultancy.

Partnerships as a legal entity
Some of the partnerships are seeking to form a hybrid between these two extremes. For
example, the Camden Schools Led Partnership (CSLP) combines a traded model with an
increasingly integrated teaching school offer and school-led research and development hubs.
Harrow and Brent both encompass the notion of schools-based centres of excellence within
what is essentially a traded-service model.
There is quite a clear distinction in partnership arrangements between those which have
opted to establish a legal vehicle in which the partnership is located (Herts for Learning,
Newham, Brent, Harrow, Camden, North Tyneside, Croydon) and those which have opted
for a collaborative arrangement which is not legally binding (Lincolnshire, Wigan, Oldham,
Birmingham).
Some of the advantages that come with establishing the partnership as a separate legal entity
are that it ensures longevity for the governance arrangements, even when individuals move on,
and it creates a form of organisation which is separate from both the authority and individual
schools to trade, employ staff, enter into contracts and so on. Such a body might well be in a
stronger position to attract funding and grants. However, it will only be worth doing this if it
serves the stated purposes of the partnership and may be most relevant to those which envisage
an ongoing trading relationship.

34

One of the areas in which there is less variety is the type of legal vehicle used to support the
partnership arrangement. Although different partnerships have different names (for example,
trust or collaborative), the large majority which have some legal basis, rather than simply being
an informal arrangement, are either companies limited by guarantee or companies limited
by shares. This status imposes certain requirements in terms of the involvement of the local
authority. Some partnerships established as companies have also taken a decision to register as
either a charity or a co-operative.

The Croydon model
An example of a company model is that established by the London Borough of Croydon
which has 115 schools. Working with the headteacher associations, the council has
established a partnership company (Octavo) with schools which became operational in
April 2015. The Croydon Headteacher Association has a 40 per cent stake in the Octavo
partnership with remaining shares owned by Croydon Council and the partnership’s own
employees. Representatives of the headteacher association have been appointed to the
board of directors and have a key role in shaping the strategic direction of the company and
the services offered.
Octavo has two main functions. It delivers ‘statutory services’ on behalf of Croydon Council
such as early years education, assessment and moderation, monitoring school performance
and supporting schools at risk, as well as NQT training and operating a recruitment pool.
Support for vulnerable pupils in local authorities’ maintained schools is funded through
the Direct Schools Grant (DSG). Octavo also sells school improvement services to schools
(including academies and MATs) at reduced rates to members. These include leadership
development, performance management, teaching and learning, primary assessment,
RAISEonline support, subject support networks, pupil premium reviews, and behaviour
and safeguarding support. Croydon also has three teaching school alliances and half
termly meetings are held with Octavo to understand each other’s plans and offers and to
avoid duplication. A wide range of other services are also traded such as human resources,
finance services, governor services, information systems, education welfare and education
psychology.

An interesting example of a school-led system of school improvement is that of the City of
Birmingham which was established as a co-operative model. Birmingham Education Partnership
(BEP) was launched in 2014 as a membership and subscription organisation for Birmingham
schools and by summer 2015, the local authority had contracted responsibility and accountability
for all school improvement services to the partnership, with appropriate delegated funding.

35

The Birmingham model
The Birmingham Education Partnership is governed by a BEP Board with an independent
chair, managing director, director of continuous school improvement, five headteachers and
a post connected to finance and higher education. The partnership is a city-wide strategic
organisation with three main pillars of activity:
lu
 niversal school Improvement
ls
 ystem leadership and innovation
lp
 artnership and engagement
The BEP model puts headteachers firmly in the driving seat with the city being divided
into 10 districts led by part-time, seconded serving headteachers as the more local face of
education backed up by district co-ordinators. They offer ongoing support to schools as well
as ensuring that every school is part of an effective cluster. They also gather information to
be fed back to the school commissioning group. This group consists of successful, recently
serving headteachers with an independent chair and the director of continuous school
improvement (a full-time post). Their role is to commission and broker support for schools
requiring improvement and to intervene where more challenge is required, whilst also
maintaining good links with both Ofsted and the regional schools commissioner. Working
alongside the school improvement commissioning group is the system leadership and
innovation group which is charged with building the capacity for system change and system
leadership, particularly through teaching schools and their alliances. It is chaired by a serving
headteacher and has headteacher representatives from all the districts, plus representatives
from nursery and special schools and a national leader of governance.
A particular aspect of this group’s work is to ensure that peer review is embedded across the
system, working in partnership with the Education Development Trust. The local authority
retains responsibilities for safeguarding, vulnerable pupils, and what are deemed to be
‘cross-cutting issues’ acting as a champion for parents, families and communities as well
as ensuring that every child has a school place. It has also retained responsibilities for data
services, including the performance of schools, in-depth analysis of the performance of
groups of children across the city, and benchmarking comparative data. The BEP is able to
commission performance data and evidence on trends and anomalies, as required.
There is thus an emerging, city-wide schools-led improvement system close to the front line
and fully accountable for the progress of Birmingham’s schools.

The publication of the White Paper21 raised issues about the role of local authorities in the future, not
least the responsibilities of the director of children’s services and the lead member for children. There is
certainly an expectation in terms of school improvement that local authorities will use their democratic
authority to encourage MATs and clusters of schools to take the lead and facilitate an effective
school-led system of improvement. In terms of doing this, the example of Essex is instructive.
21 Ibid

36

The Essex model
In 2015, through a small pump-priming grant, the local authority incentivised the whole
system in Essex to move into formal self-improving school-led clusters. This has required a
cultural shift across the system. Some schools had, through opportunity or need, already
moved into MATs or teaching school alliances. Others were exploring other partnerships.
To support this work, Essex has created a joint partnership agreement between the County
Council, Essex Primary Heads Association, Association of Secondary Heads in Essex, Essex
Special Schools Education Trust and Essex School Governors Association. The joint partners
have developed a strategy for a self-managing, self-improving school system with cooperation and trust at its heart and key components such as shared values and a common
moral purpose, mutual accountability, deep and tight partnerships with high ambition,
strong governance, developing and sharing outstanding practice and a willingness of school
leaders to operate as system leaders.
In parallel to local partnerships, models of ‘peer review’ have been developed across the
county. Leaders at all levels are being trained to review and assess each other within triads
or larger partnerships. It is recognised by all partners that peer review will be crucial to the
success of a self-improving school system providing the key to quality assurance. Further
to this, the partnership is developing a new vehicle for schools to undertake self-evaluation
that embraces the culture of 360 degree feedback. School Effectiveness Plus is an online
tool which schools can either use individually or in trusts and collaborations.
Essex believes that schools can thrive outside the ‘formal’ local authority structure and that
groups of schools can develop and commission collectively the support that is required. They
also provide the necessary accountability. Of course, the role of the local authority remains
strong as the local champion of children and families. As part of this duty, councillors will
always be interested in the quality of schools and if necessary will report concerns to the
regional commissioner.

We see the green shoots in Lewisham of many of the conditions necessary for effective
collaboration in a borough wide partnership at headteacher, governor and local authority levels.
Establishing a borough wide partnership would build on:
la
n

existing culture of schools working together at all levels with positive relationships
and trust

lw
 ell

established structures that can be further developed

ls
 ufficient

outward looking and forward thinking leadership able to organise for systemic
change at a local level

37

la


clearly articulated and shared moral purpose and focus on student outcomes and
the establishment of common improvement agendas, priorities and plans related to all
stakeholders

lh
 eadteachers,

senior leaders and governors who are committed and skilled enough to
drive collaboration forward, take collective responsibilities and deal with uncertainties

le
 xternal

support from credible consultants (from the local authority or elsewhere) who
have the confidence to learn alongside school partners and develop new roles and
relationships where necessary

lc
 reativity

and flexibility to adapt to changing circumstances and new developments.

Lewisham local authority should consider bringing together the main groups representing
headteachers and governors to agree formally to establish an overarching partnership for a
school-led system of improvement. This group might want to look in more detail at particular
elements of systems introduced in other local authorities, including those given here, to develop
this partnership. For example, the partnership would need to decide whether it wanted to
establish a company. This would be owned by the schools themselves and all surplus funds
would be used for investment in further development. It would provide or broker a range
of services to support the improvement of schools in Lewisham. Alternatively, it might wish
to become a trust or co-operative, formalising its partnership arrangements and agreeing a
structure for its governance with all schools becoming members. Whatever the model, it would
need to establish a strategic board and agree representation on this body.
As mentioned in Chapter 1, in our discussions with headteachers, parents and governors, we
have found pride and a sense of belonging to Lewisham as a place as well as a strong and
shared moral purpose to do the best for all Lewisham’s children and young people. This included
a working commitment to the principles of public service, collaboration and integrity. An
overarching schools’ partnership, rooted in these principles, could lessen the potential for local
fragmentation and the risk of vulnerable children and young people not being well served in a
diverse and more independent system. We recommend that headteachers, governors and the
local authority should establish a steering group to do the detailed planning to set up such a
partnership.
The partnership would also liaise with the local authority, both strategically and operationally, on
those issues for which it remains responsible:
la
 dmissions
ls
 pecial

educational needs
lc
 hampion for children.

38

Recommendations
lB
 y

July, 2016, an agreement should be established between headteachers, Lewisham
Governors’ Association and the local authority to set up an overarching
partnership that establishes a school-led system of improvement for Lewisham,
where schools themselves increasingly take on the primary responsibility, collectively, for
supporting improvement and standards.

lF
 rom

September, a Partnership Steering Group, with an independent chair but
involving headteachers, governors and the local authority should be set up to work
out exactly how the partnership would work, and how it might be resourced. It should also
devise appropriate arrangements for governance and accountability. This Group should
reproduce a set of proposals for consultation by October half-term 2016.

lT
o

ensure momentum, while the Partnership is being developed, the Leadership Forum
should liaise with the London Leadership Strategy to develop Lewisham’s
system leadership and school-to-school support.

39

Chapter 4: Achieving more school places
Lewisham needs additional secondary and SEND places. What are the
best means to achieve this, alongside ensuring all existing schools are
schools of choice?
Pupil place expansion to date
Lewisham’s population has been growing at a faster rate than either the national or London
average – in 2014 there was a two per cent increase compared with 1.5 per cent for London and
0.8 per cent nationally. More families with school age children move out of the borough than
move in but since 2008 the overall growth in the school-age population has been such that the
pressure to find additional school places has been acute.
In 2008/09 the number of places in the reception year (Year R) of Lewisham primary schools
was 3,203. In September it is projected to be 3,893 – an increase of 21.5 per cent. The borough
has achieved this through a combination of:
l l owering

the age of entry at two existing secondary schools to enable them to add a
primary phase
l t emporary enlargements (i.e. bulge classes for specific year groups)
lp
 ermanent new provision through the enlargement of existing schools
Appendix 4 summarises the distribution of the extra provision of places since 2008/09 across
the six primary place-planning localities in Lewisham.
The main surge in pupil numbers has yet to reach the secondary phase but four extra forms of
entry have been provided at Prendergast Vale and Prendergast (Hillyfields) is taking a bulge
class in September 2016.
The expansion programme seems to have been well managed with a good level of consultation
between the local authority, headteachers and governors. In our conversations with
headteachers we found that they were generally supportive of the approach and style that the
borough has adopted. A key element in this success has been that in most cases the provision
of extra classroom capacity for the increased number of pupils has been accompanied by
improvements in a school’s buildings and facilities. Commissioners have been impressed with the
quality of the buildings in the schools that we have visited.
However, despite this broadly positive picture there remains pressure on primary places in
general and in certain parts of the borough in particular. The Commission has received wellargued representations from parents living in the Brockley, Lewisham and Telegraph Hill area
regarding their inability to obtain any of their parental preferences for a place. For example, one
parent reported that he had been unable to obtain a place for his child at any of the six schools

40

nearest his home. Statistics published by the Department for Education (DfE) confirm the extent
of this problem. Figure 1 shows that the proportion of parents of primary age children obtaining
their first preference school is significantly lower than both the Inner London and national
averages. Only two other local authorities have a lower proportion of parents obtaining their
first preference primary school.

Figure 1: Proportion of parents in 2015 offered a primary school place at
their first preference, one of their first three preferences and any of their
preferred schools

Source: Department for Education, Statistical First Release 17/2015 Secondary and primary
school applications and offers: 2015

Pupil place projections until 2021/22
Forecasting the demand for places is not straightforward – especially in a London context
where there is a substantial cross-borough flow of pupils. Appendix 5 provides details of the
projections made by the borough for increases in the number of primary and secondary pupils.
Between 2016/17 and 2019/20 the numbers in Year R are projected to rise by another 140
pupils from 3,893 to 4,033. The demand for primary places is concentrated in four of the
six place-planning localities: Forest Hill and Sydenham; Lee Green; Brockley, Lewisham and
Telegraph Hill; and Catford, Bellingham and Grove Park.
In the secondary phase, Year 7 pupil numbers are projected to rise over the same period by
nearly 460 – from 2,672 to 3,130. That is equivalent to 15 forms of entry.

41

In terms of the basis for its projections, the borough draws on statistics for live births from
the Office for National Statistics (ONS), census and mid-year estimate data from ONS and the
Greater London Authority, and actual pupil numbers. There is a perception among some schools
and parents that the local authority has been slow to pick up on the consequences of new
housing in the borough. However, the borough’s pupil places forecasting methodology does
factor in housing developments with planning approval, boundary changes, expected migration
and error margins. The projections also track those schools converting or moving to academy
status – this change can be significant as the local authority is not in a position to direct
an academy to increase its intake. Funding additional places in academies also involves the
Education Funding Agency (EFA).
The local authority currently maintains 1,58222 statements of special educational needs,
education, health and care (EHC) plans and learning difficulty assessments (LDAs). There
are currently 534 places in five special schools23 but around a quarter of the children with
statements/EHC plans are placed in or choose placements out of the borough or in independent
provision. The total spend on SEND provision (covering mainstream, special school and out
of borough placements) is £35 million24. The local authority is forecasting an increase in the
demand for special school places of 120.
The Commission has found no cause to question the basis for the projections, but considers that
there are issues relating to the planning and provision of additional places in primary, secondary
and special schools that require detailed consideration.

Meeting the projected demand for primary school pupil places
The borough’s strategy, as reported to the Children and Young People Strategic Board on
2 February 2016 and the Regeneration Board on 19 February 2016, is to continue using a
combination of bulge classes, expanded provision and new schools. It will not be possible to
recycle all the existing bulge classes when the bulge moves to Year 7 because, for example, they
are in the wrong area. Moreover, bulge classes store up problems in terms of having to earmark
a disproportionately large number of places in future years for siblings of children from both
the permanent provision as well as the bulge provision within a school. The borough is therefore
planning 9.5 extra forms of primary school entry in the four priority place-planning localities
listed above by 2021.
The borough has conducted an exhaustive evaluation of potential sites and has narrowed
down its plans to seven primary schools potentially having the extra forms of entry. Preliminary
discussions have been held with the headteachers and governing bodies concerned. In some
cases headteachers and governors are supportive but in at least one case governors and parents
are resistant to expansion.

22  This total includes post-16 students and was the total reported to the Children and Young People Committee on 12th
January 2016
23  Source: DfE SFS 16/2015, Schools, pupils and their characteristics, January 2015, LA Tables
24  Report to the Regeneration Board on 19th February 2016

42

Of necessity, these plans have to be flexible. There is the possibility, for example, that if a site is
found for the Citizen Free School (whose establishment has been approved in principle by the
DfE), this could provide three additional forms of entry at Year R.
The local authority is also mindful of plans for two substantial housing projects in the borough
and is in discussion with the developers about including appropriate primary school provision in
their plans. Although any provision created on these sites would for the most part only meet the
increased demand arising from the developments, there is still a potential for them to contribute
to the authority’s broader strategy. The recent education White Paper25 contains this sentence:
“DfE will also consider providing funding for schools that are part of housing developments to be
built in advance of contributions from developers being paid, to bridge the gap between places
being required and funding being available.”
It may assist with current place pressures if it is possible for these new schools (which would
have to be free schools) to be, as it were, front-loaded and built in the initial rather than
the later phases of development – particularly where they are in a locality in which there is a
pressing need for primary places.
In summary, therefore, the Commission has three concerns regarding the authority’s overall
strategy on primary places:
a) Are sufficient additional places being planned bearing in mind the relatively low proportion of
parents obtaining their first preference? Should the local authority also be seeking promoters
for a primary free school in at least one of the primary planning localities facing the greatest
pressure on places? Should the authority be seeking to use DfE funding to bring forward the
building of free schools on sites of major housing development?
b) Are the additional places being made available quickly enough? The Brockley, Lewisham and
Telegraph Hill place-planning locality referred to earlier is not, for example, due to receive
additional places until September 2018.
c) Is the authority being open enough about its future plans for primary place provision? While
the borough does discuss plans for expanding individual schools with heads, governors
and parents, is there a case for a more strategic consultation on the local authority’s overall
projections and plans for primary school places over the next five to 10 years? This would
enable parents who want extra places more quickly, as well as those who object to the
expansion of particular schools, to communicate their views and for the authority to listen to
and assess these competing concerns.

25 Ibid

43

Meeting the projected demand for secondary school pupil places
At one level, planning for an increase in pupil provision in the secondary sector is straightforward
as the numbers coming through the school system from the primary phase are very evident.
However, cross-borough flows at the age of transfer complicate the picture considerably.
Lewisham is a major net exporter of pupils at Year 7. Over a quarter of pupils go out of the
borough for their secondary education, as Figure 2 below illustrates. The corresponding figure
for the primary sector is 10 per cent. There are only three other London boroughs – Croydon,
Greenwich and Ealing – that have a net export of more pupils than Lewisham.

Figure 2: Import and export of pupils from London at Year 7 in 2015
Total imports
from all LAs to
Lewisham

Total pupil imports Total exports
from all LAs as
to all LAs from
% of all pupils
Lewisham
going to schools in
Lewisham

Total pupil exports Net Export
from Lewisham
to all LAs as % of
all pupils living in
Lewisham

1,890

14.60%

26.20%

3,923

2,033

Source: London Councils
Figure 3 shows that Lewisham is a net exporter of pupils to all five of its neighbours.

Figure 3: Import and export of pupils to Lewisham from neighbouring
London boroughs
Exports to
Lewisham

Imports from
Lewisham

Net import from
Lewisham

Southwark

799

986

187

Greenwich

470

781

311

Bromley

359

1125

766

Lambeth

78

130

52

Croydon

70

278

208

Total

1524

Source: London Councils
In the primary sector, the level of pupil export seems to be driven by a general insufficiency
of places, whereas in the secondary sector there are enough places but the performance of
secondary schools would appear to be a much more dominant factor in parents opting for out
of borough placements. Put simply, quantity is the issue in the primary sector and quality in
the secondary sector. Figure 4 shows for each secondary school in the borough the number of
first parental preferences in 2015 and 2016 as a percentage of the school’s planned admission
number (PAN). Only three schools are oversubscribed on first parental preference with just two
others close to 100 per cent.

44

Figure 4: Parental first preferences in 2015 and 2016 as a percentage
of each secondary school’s Planned Admission Number (PAN)

Note: In 2016 Prendergast will admit a bulge class raising its intake to 150 but the calculation in
the table above is based on parental first preferences as a proportion of its permanent PAN.
Source: London borough of Lewisham

Most secondary schools were able to fill their PAN in September 2015 when other preferences
and allocations were taken into account but three schools had a total of 195 surplus places
between them: Sedgehill, Prendergast Ladywell and Deptford Green. Data for provisional
secondary school allocations in September 2016 indicate that there may be a reduction in the
number of surplus places at these three schools but this will only be achieved if a significant
number of parents (31 at Deptford Green, 77 at Prendergast Ladywell and 131 at Sedgehill)
accept an allocation to a school that was not one of their six preferences.
As with the primary sector, the government reports the percentage of parents that were offered
a place at their first preference secondary school and at one of their top three preferences.
Figure 5 shows that in 2015, the respective figures for secondary school first preferences in
Lewisham lagged behind the national averages and, more significantly, the Inner London
averages.

45

Figure 5: Proportion of parents in 2015 offered a secondary school place at
their first preference, one of their first three preferences and any of their
preferred schools

Source: Department for Education, Statistical First Release 17/2015 Secondary and primary
school applications and offers: 2015
The combination of the level of pupil export and parental reservations about applying for
Lewisham schools have a number of implications for meeting the demand for secondary school
places in the borough.
First, it reinforces the need to implement the recommendations on school improvement
contained in this report. These should, if enacted, benefit the existing cohort of students.
Securing improved performance is vital because it provides the key to enhancing both the
individual and the collective reputation of the borough’s secondary schools. This in turn would
help to reduce or even eliminate the surplus places in the three schools identified above
that have a level of admissions below their PAN. Filling these surplus places from parental
preferences would, on the 2015 figures, be the equivalent of creating over six forms of entry. A
further two forms of entry are planned for Addey and Stanhope in 2018/19 and they will need
to ensure that their performance is such that they can attract applications to fill those places.
Second, it points to the need to seek proven high quality sponsors and providers when seeking
to establish a new school or encourage a free school to come into the borough. The borough is
in discussion with the EFA over a possible site for a school that would provide an additional six
forms of entry in 2019/20. The borough should be seeking to ensure that the selected school
provider has a strong track record of delivering high quality education that will make it attractive
for parents to want to send their child to the school. A further three forms of entry will also
come on stream in 2017/18 if the EFA finds a site for the Citizen Free School.

46

Third, the level of pupil export at Year 7 poses the issue of whether the 11 extra forms of entry
proposed (even presuming the Citizen Free School comes on stream) are going to be sufficient
to meet the needs of the borough through to 2020 – given the 460 place (15+ forms of entry)
shortfall identified. The local authority’s strategy assumes that the borough’s surplus places
are filled and that post 2020 the surrounding boroughs will be able not only to accommodate
Lewisham pupils at the current rate but increase their level of imports from the borough.
Officers in the school planning team have been liaising with their colleagues in the surrounding
boroughs and consider that this is not an unrealistic assumption. However, there must be
a degree of risk attached to this assumption. Providing extra places is expensive for local
authorities (see below) and it is hard to see what the incentive is for any other authority to build
places for Lewisham pupils.
A more prudent course might be to extend the conversations with the EFA to include discussion
about establishing a further free school run by a proven provider. This would increase options for
parents and also potentially enable the borough to increase the proportion of pupils educated
within the borough. However, the difficulty associated with this proposal is identifying suitable
land and/or buildings for another secondary school. This challenge is not peculiar to Lewisham
and the EFA is becoming increasingly adept at identifying sites and seeing the potential of less
obvious locations. The location issue should not therefore of itself be used as a reason for not
pursuing these discussions.
In addition, if there is to be an increased reliance on secondary school provision in neighbouring
boroughs, the Commission recommends formalising both the process for cross-borough
discussions and also any arrangements agreed as a result of the discussions.

Meeting the projected demand for special educational needs school pupil places
The borough is projecting a minimum 7.7 per cent increase in children with special educational
needs (SEN) over the next 10 years. In particular it is expected that there will be a rise in
the numbers of children diagnosed with severe learning disability and high-function autism
spectrum disorder (ASD) – especially among boys. The combination of these factors means that
the borough is forecasting a requirement for an additional 120 special school places by 2020.
The plans for meeting this demand include expanding provision on two of the existing special
school sites and providing new provision on a fresh site that has potentially been identified.
There are, however, issues concerning the pattern of existing SEND assessment and provision
in Lewisham that need to be considered alongside expansion plans. Lewisham’s profile of
SEND pupils is similar to the national profile except in three categories. Lewisham has a higher
proportion of pupils assessed as having speech, language and communications needs but the
figure for the borough is almost exactly in line with the Inner London average. However, in the
two other categories the Lewisham assessment of need is significantly out of step with both the
national and Inner London averages. As Figure 6 shows, a much smaller proportion of pupils in
both the primary and secondary sectors are assessed as having moderate learning difficulties
(MLD) and a much higher proportion as having ASD.

47

Figure 6: Proportion of special educational needs pupils in primary and
secondary schools assessed as having Moderate Learning Difficulties (MLD)
and Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD)

Source: Department for Education, Statistical First Release 25/2015: Special educational needs
in England, January 2015, LA Tables

This relatively high level of assessment of ASD feeds through into the profile of pupils in the
authority’s special schools. Figure 7 demonstrates that a far higher proportion of these places
are filled by pupils with ASD compared with Inner London and the rest of the country26.
It is not clear what lies behind these disparities – whether it reflects the particular circumstances
and characteristics of young people in Lewisham, differences in assessment practice or a
combination of the two. The Commission understands that the local authority is aware of this
situation but would recommend that the council investigates the underlying reasons for the
high incidence of ASD among its school population. Another area that warrants investigation
is whether the annual assessments and reviews of pupils with statements or EHC plans are
sufficiently rigorous and precise in identifying and specifying the needs of each pupil. For
example, discussions with special educational needs co-ordinators (SENCOs) indicated that their
close observations over several years of some children identified as ASD, might lead to them
being re-assessed as having attachment disorders.

26 The 60 per cent is also a proportion of a relatively high baseline figure. Lewisham has more special school places
than the Inner London average: 534 compared with 402 (excluding the City of London) – see DfE SFR 16/2015,
Schools, pupils and their characteristics: January 2015, Local Authority and Regional Tables.

48

Figure 7: Proportion of pupils in special schools assessed as having
Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD)

Source: Department for Education, Statistical First Release 25/2015: Special educational needs
in England, January 2015, LA Tables

In terms of how this issue relates to planning for additional places, the key issue is whether at
both primary and secondary level there are integrated pathways supported by consistent criteria
that determine whether pupils with a statement or EHC plan are educated in mainstream, in
specialist resource provision, or a special school. Given the overall rise in the pupil population,
an increase in the number of special school places may well be necessary. However, without the
appropriate pathways and support also being in place, all that will happen, as the chair of the
governing body of one of the special schools told the Commission, is that:
“Build a new school and the children will arrive to fill it up.”
The Commission recommends, therefore, that the local authority satisfies itself that there are
clear integrated pathways across the mainstream and special school sectors so that children are
educated and supported in the setting best suited to their needs. In particular, the authority
needs to ensure that pressure on special school places is not increasing because of a lack of
appropriate support or patterns of provision in mainstream settings. The authority has already
started reviewing the pathways for providing support for ASD pupils.
On the face of it the system would seem to be working better in the primary than the secondary
sector. A significantly greater number of ASD pupils are being educated in mainstream provision

49

in Lewisham’s primary schools than in its secondary schools – 488 compared with 27627. The same
applies for all pupils with a statement or EHC plan. As Figure 8 illustrates, proportionately more
primary than secondary pupils with a statement or EHC plan are being educated in mainstream
provision. Secondary pupils aged 11-16 with a statement or EHC plan fill 57 per cent of the places
in special schools and account for three-quarters of the out-of-borough placements.

Figure 8: Education settings for Lewisham pupils aged up to 16 with a
Statement or EHC Plan
Mainstream
(including
Resource Bases
and units attached
to academies)

Special Schools

Out of borough
placements
(including
independent
provision)

Total

Primary

377

189

52

618

Secondary

294

252

153

699

Total

671

441

205

1,317

Source: London borough of Lewisham, as provided at March 2016

School quality may again provide part of the explanation. Mainstream schools that are
performing well with strong leadership, good behaviour systems and high quality teaching and
learning are more likely to be able to manage and provide a good offer for pupils with a range
of special needs. The relative strength of the primary schools in Lewisham is therefore likely to
be contributing to the overall capacity of the sector to manage ASD. Moreover, Commissioners
observed several examples of primary schools where good teaching and learning for children
with SEND was having a positive impact on the teaching in the rest of the school. The fact
that there is also a network of four specialist resource bases for ASD pupils across the borough
also strengthens the capacity of the primary sector. Although the work of these resource bases
is under review, at their best they provide additional excellent expertise to work with pupils
potentially capable of managing in mainstream but needing extra support to prepare them for
teaching and learning in mainstream classrooms.
In the secondary sector, there are proportionately greater problems with both performance
and behaviour. This provides a weaker teaching and learning and pastoral platform for meeting
the needs of pupils with special educational needs in general and ASD pupils in particular. In
addition, the development and impact of a 35-place resource base at Conisborough College has
been affected by a serious lack of clarity about the role and remit of the unit. The pathways for
ASD pupils in secondary schools in Lewisham could, therefore, be strengthened. Significantly
the borough has begun placing some ASD pupils with a small independent mainstream provider
just outside the borough – not only does this indicate the lack of capacity in Lewisham but is
indicative of the type of provision that is needed.
27 The figures are taken from DfE SFS 25/2015, Special educational needs in England, January 2015, LA Tables.

50

Creating extra capacity for special needs pupils in secondary schools through a combination of
better teaching and learning, improved pastoral systems, good leadership, specialist support
and access to effective specialist resource provision in schools could bring a double benefit. It
could relieve pressure on special schools and out of borough placements and result in more of
Lewisham’s high special needs budget being retained and used within the borough.
None of the above necessarily negates the case for the 120 additional special school places
but it would ensure that they were being planned in the context of a more comprehensive and
holistic strategy.

Funding the growth of pupil places
The local authority’s plans for expanding the number of pupil places over the next five years
leave it with a projected shortfall of at least £36 million – though that sum is based on an
estimate of the basic need funding the borough might receive from the government and so the
actual figure might be higher or lower. The authority is planning to reduce that gap by reviewing
the specifications for the various building works, securing efficiencies through improved
procurement and project management and maximising contributions from the community
infrastructure levy. However, that is likely to still leave a funding shortfall.
The borough might be able to reduce the gap by the policy stance it adopts on free schools. As
noted above the borough is planning a number of new schools: two primary schools linked to
housing developments, a special school and at least one new secondary school. All these schools
will by law have to be free schools. However, there are two distinct routes for establishing free
school provision.
The central free school route has been set up to deliver the government’s commitment to open
500 free schools during this parliament. Proposers can apply to the DfE to open a school in a
particular area and, if approved and subject to finding an appropriate site, the EFA will pay for
the capital costs. Free school proposers may enlist the support of a local authority for their bid
and/or local authorities may encourage and support a promoter to make a bid. To date most free
schools have been set up through the central free school route – and increasingly applications
are being made that have the support of the relevant local authority.
The so-called free school presumption route is used where there is no appropriate free school
proposal to meet the demand for local places and the local authority needs to establish a new
school. In these circumstances the local authority is required to run a competition and invite
proposals for opening a free school that meets the authority’s specification. However, under the
presumption route the local authority is responsible for providing the site for the new school and
meeting the associated capital and pre-/post-opening costs. Local authorities are also required
to meet the revenue costs of the new provision. They must make provision in their growth funds
to support increases in pupil numbers relating to basic need. School funding arrangements allow
local authorities to retain funding centrally to cover these costs.

51

There is therefore an incentive on authorities to encourage free schools via the central route
and thus minimise their own capital commitments. Despite this incentive some local authorities
have been reluctant to adopt this approach. They have had concerns about the nature of the
education offer being made by some providers and the new provision has not always supported
a place-planning strategy. However, the borough could address these concerns by:
lc
 ontinuing

to keep in close contact with the EFA so that central free school proposals
are matched to the borough’s place-planning needs

le
 xploring

the DfE proposal to provide funding, in advance of developers’ contributions,
for new free schools linked to housing developments within the borough

le
 ncouraging

some of its best schools to lead academy trusts and become proposers of
free schools in the borough (schools have to have academy status and be approved as a
sponsor in order to be able to propose a free school)

ls
 eeking

out school providers with values that are similar to those held by the local
authority and encouraging their interest in providing places within the borough

This strategy may not entirely resolve the funding shortfall and the government may change the
funding goalposts but the Commission recommends pursuing and testing the feasibility of each
of them.

Recommendations
lT
 he

local authority should review whether sufficient additional primary places are
being planned for the next five years bearing in mind the relatively low proportion of
parents obtaining their first preference in 2015. This review should include consideration
of whether additional places will come on stream quickly enough in those primary planning
localities facing the greatest pressure and the option of seeking promoters for a primary
free school to help address this challenge.

lT
 he

local authority should set out a clear and comprehensive School Place
Planning Strategy which sets out plans for the next five years as well as criteria for
expanding schools, seeking to promote new free schools and addressing the relevant
recommendations in this document. This will also enable the local authority to be more
open and consultative about its strategy and plans for providing additional places than it
has been in the past.

lT
 he

local authority should work closely with governors, headteachers and the Regional
Schools Commissioner to ensure that those schools in the secondary sector with
low numbers of first parental preferences and unfilled places urgently address

52

the school improvement challenges and the associated reputational issues facing
these schools.
lT
 he

local authority should consider seeking the provision of a further
secondary free school, run by a proven education provider (in addition to
the Citizen Free School and the free school that is already under discussion with the
EFA), with a view to increasing options for parents and the proportion of pupils
educated within the borough.

lT
 he

local authority should formalise both the process for cross-borough
discussions on pupil place-planning and any resulting agreements, if there is
to be an increased reliance on neighbouring boroughs providing additional secondary
school places to meet the growth in numbers of secondary school-age Lewisham pupils.

lT
 he

local authority should investigate the underlying reasons for the high incidence
of ASD among its school population and review whether the annual assessments
and reviews of pupils with Statements or EHC Plans are sufficiently rigorous and
precise in identifying and specifying the needs of each pupil.

lT
 he

local authority should satisfy itself that there are clear integrated pathways
across the mainstream and special school sectors so that children are educated
and supported in the setting best suited to their needs. In particular, the authority
should ensure that pressure on special school places – particularly in the secondary
sector – is not increasing because of a lack of appropriate support and/or patterns of
provision in mainstream settings.

lT
 he

local authority should seek to mitigate its funding shortfall in planning for
school places by maximising the use of centrally-approved free schools that
share Lewisham’s values. It can do this by:

➤ c ontinuing

to keep in close contact with the EFA so that central free school proposals
are matched to the borough’s place-planning needs;

➤e
 xploring

the White Paper proposal to provide funding, in advance of developers’
contributions, for new free schools linked to housing developments within the borough;

➤e
 ncouraging

some of its best schools to lead academy trusts and become proposers of
free schools in the borough; and

➤ s eeking

school providers with values that are similar to those held by the local authority
and encouraging their interest in providing places within the borough.

53

Chapter 5: Creating Lewisham Secondary challenge
Given Lewisham’s strong commitment to improving outcomes at Key Stage
4 and Key Stage 5, are there any more radical or leading edge models or
approaches that Lewisham could adopt at borough or school level?
Earlier chapters explained the Commission’s views about the best forms of organisation for
schools in Lewisham and the importance of school-led models of effective collaboration for
school improvement, particularly linked to system leadership. Clearly, improved outcomes
should be facilitated by whatever organisational structures are adopted. However, whatever
the organisational structure, the primary responsibility for improvement rests with schools and
colleges themselves. This chapter sets out a number of very practical suggestions to support
improvement. Better outcomes for students continue to depend upon school leaders and
governors forensically monitoring and evaluating progress and standards, focusing above all on
students’ experiences of teaching and learning and robustly tackling the key issues identified for
improvement. The suggestions outlined in this chapter would need to be built into each school’s
own priorities and development planning.
For all school leaders to get results they need three kinds of focus – ‘inner’ focus attuned to
their own institutions, ‘other’ focus connecting to their local communities and ‘outer’ focus for
navigating in a larger system. Leaders need the full range of inner, other and outer focus for
their schools to improve and excel. As we have indicated in earlier chapters, school leaders need
to work with each other in much better ways to develop localised solutions to the challenges
they face and to share their professional knowledge and skills more effectively. The secondary
sector, in particular, needs to look beyond the borough to widen knowledge and understanding
of effective practice and to use that when developing localised solutions.
Lewisham as a borough, in consultation with its schools, has produced a relatively new school
improvement framework that clearly sets out principles, priorities and performance indicators
together with school categorisation and risk assessments. The local authority support and
challenge to schools is based on the well-established model of ‘intervention in proportion to
success’ with both core and additional offers to schools depending on their circumstances.
For underperforming schools, the framework requires both raising attainment plans and raising
attainment boards which include governors. The framework generally aims to develop capacity
for school-led self-improvement and improved partnership working, with the intention of better
leadership, management and governance. However, the local authority’s School Improvement
Board is made up only of officers although there is now an intention, which we strongly endorse,
to add headteachers and governors to the Board
This chapter sets out a range of school-led, collective solutions to support Lewisham’s school
improvement framework and accelerate progress. The most important proposal is to boost

54

support for secondary education by establishing a Secondary Challenge for Lewisham. This will
need to be owned by the secondary and all-through schools and post 16 institutions themselves
if outcomes are to be transformed.
As Chapter 1 showed, the stark fact is that only 65 per cent of secondary pupils in the borough
are in a good or outstanding school. Lewisham collectively at Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 finds
itself at the bottom, or near the bottom, of most London benchmarked data and also below
national averages, though some institutions are exceptions to this. An intensive programme of
tailored support is therefore both necessary and urgent. However, Lewisham averages will not
improve significantly just by turning around schools requiring improvement. The message of
the London Challenge was that all schools need to improve on their previous best performance.
Lewisham needs to ‘grow the top’ as well as dealing with underperformance.

A Secondary Challenge for Lewisham
We believe there needs to be an intensive boost to improve Lewisham’s secondary provision.
Headteachers in those secondary and all-through schools want to succeed and, collectively, they
need to get behind a focused and energetic project to drive the huge change that is needed.
We believe that Lewisham secondary and all-through schools have within them much of the
capacity needed to improve but need targeted and supportive intervention to bring about the
step change needed. We are recommending that a customised programme of support, based
loosely on the model of the London Challenge, should be introduced. If managed well, this
could bring about a change of culture, most particularly a change in aspiration and expectations
with achievement not far behind.
We believe that the heads themselves should drive the change but they need to work closely
with the local authority over the next 15 months or so in doing that. One of the distinctive
features of the London Challenge was its focus on partnership between schools and local
authorities. It was impressive too in the way it avoided stigmatising schools and this provides an
important and useful precedent. For example, the schools requiring the most intervention were
known as ‘key to success’ schools, as these schools were crucial to success in London overall.
Importantly, and particularly relevant given the current discussions about a school-led system,
was that a series of ‘sector led’ support mechanisms were put in place. School to school support,
for example, was a key feature of the programme. Strong monitoring and evaluation, including
forensic use of individual student data, were central to its success.
We think it would be important to emulate the use by London Challenge of experienced
educational professionals, system leaders who are expert in their fields. London Challenge
Advisers, many of them recently retired headteachers, with strong records of leadership success,
were appointed on a part time basis to support individual schools and they were highly effective
and well regarded. The adviser worked with each school to develop a bespoke and time-limited
support programme, which was then kept under close review and adjusted as necessary to keep
progress on track. Something similar should be developed in Lewisham.

55

Lewisham’s Secondary Challenge would be established and resourced to give intensive support
across the sector for a period of 3 years. It would seek to lift aspirations across the sector and
to persuade young people, their teachers, parents and key stakeholders not only that they can
achieve more but that they can acquire the sorts of skills, knowledge and confidence to make the
most of the opportunities open to them in London. By the end of 4 years, our expectation is that:
la
 ll

schools with secondary provision would be good or better, as judged by Ofsted

lp
 erformance

at Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 would be at least the London average, with
some schools competing with the very best performers in London

l t he

vast majority of parents in Lewisham would have confidence in their choice of local
schools

le
 very

pupil in a Lewisham secondary or all-through school would feel proud of their
school and want to continue learning

l t eachers

would feel proud of an ambitious and successful education system.

To ensure the Lewisham Secondary challenge is managed well, consideration should be given to
establishing a Lewisham Secondary Challenge Board to focus on implementation and outcomes.
If the headteachers are prepared to take ownership of the Secondary Lewisham Challenge,
this Board could be a sub-group of the Secondary Heads Group. It would look specifically at
improving progress, on raising standards, and closing gaps. The Board would include leadership
from within the heads themselves, and perhaps a primary headteacher. The Challenge would
need to be managed, on a part-time basis, by an external expert with experience of such work.
He or she would organise some part-time secondments to ensure co-ordination and detailed
support for schools. The local authority would need to secure funding for the Challenge, initially
perhaps through the DSG or other grants or subscription.
We believe the Challenge would lift aspiration across the secondary sector and energise schools
to develop greater capacity, competence and confidence. It could be used to persuade young
people, their teachers and key stakeholders that improvement can be accelerated and more can
be achieved. Most important of all, it should help young people acquire the knowledge, skills
and commitment to lifelong learning that would enable them to make more of the opportunities
open to them in London and beyond.

56

An example of an improvement programme currently underway in
another London borough
Another borough, which also sits near the bottom of the London league tables, has
established its own intensive programme for change with some funding from the DSG. It
is led by the heads themselves with two project directors, seconded for a day a week, and
an executive group with an independent chair reporting to a wider strategic education
partnership in the local authority. It has some interesting collective programmes which are
worth describing in detail:
InsiInsight Raise: In ‘learning threes’ headteachers / principals and some senior staff team
up to provide peer review of each other’s performance data that is available in September.
The review is based on ‘cold facts’ with an early RAISEonline typed analysis. It is held early
in September, before confirmed data have been published, to allow the maximum time for
action planning.
Subject networks organised in geographical hubs meeting after school – with a published
timetable and a commitment to participate.
Best practice visits and Teachmeets also run after school on a hub basis.
Teacher development programmes: These include the Improving Teaching Programme (ITP)
and the Outstanding Teacher Programme (OTP) delivered through existing teaching school
alliances.
Quality assurance peer reviews managed for the partnership by Challenge Partners,
including training and development.
An Innovation Fund providing for innovation projects with a strong action research
component linked to improved outcomes for students such as closing the gap.

Beyond the Lewisham Secondary Challenge, but complementing it, we would like to see
secondary headteachers focus collectively on both peer and professional development with an
emphasis on issues that are of pressing concern for them all. We outline below a number of
developments that headteachers of secondary and all-through schools should consider. None is
costly to implement but they have the potential for strengthening the work already underway in
their schools as well as helping to create a more positive image about education in Lewisham.

57

Peer review
Increasingly, schools are using peer review as a reciprocal process to help school leaders develop
their evaluation skills, reflect and learn with each other. These are reviews not inspections but
they have the great merit of being undertaken by current leaders and practitioners with the
objective of being solution focused rather than simply judging current performance. They offer
very valuable professional opportunities too. In the interest of rigour, it is important that senior
leaders are trained as reviewers and that there is an agreed formal process. Being prepared
to engage in scrutiny by peers and for peers can help schools improve. Peer review, as ongoing process rather than a one-off event, can be a vital element in transforming practice and
extending knowledge across schools.
There are different models of peer review. Some use pairs or triads of schools which have agreed
to work together. Challenge Partners28 is a charity, owned and led by over 300 schools, who
work together to lead school improvement. Peer review is an essential element of their work.
Training is given to participants on the process and skills needed for review and Challenge
Partners organises quality assurance programmes. Each year, every school has a two day review
resulting in a written report. Reports often look at performance relative to the most recent
Ofsted inspection but they also identify and validate outstanding practice. In undertaking
these professional audits, Challenge Partners balances peer support with peer challenge, which
supports reflection and learning for all involved.
Two Lewisham headteachers talked to us not only about the value of peer review in terms of
school self-evaluation and planning but also for the professional development of staff involved.
There is always a series of actions stemming from the reviews, which might involve constructive
collaboration about school improvement programmes and initiatives, including the Improving
Teaching and Outstanding Teacher programmes (ITP and OTP). Other more general outputs
include the production of a school support directory which identifies good practice across all
schools in Challenge Partners, a ‘closing the gap’ project with the EEF and a range of working
groups on particular issues.
Another national model of peer review is that of the Education Development Trust29 (formerly
CfBT), called the Schools’ Partnership Programme (SPP). This offers a bespoke programme of
review not focused on Ofsted inspection. Schools work in partnerships, their chosen clusters,
and their leaders are trained in the key components of the SPP model. Each cluster must have at
least one good or outstanding school. As part of the SPP, inspirational leaders and future system
leaders known as ‘Improvement Champions’, take on wider responsibilities by becoming experts
in ‘evidence-based improvement strategies’. Headteachers report that professional development
is evident at every level of the peer review process and it builds a culture of coaching and
professional dialogue within and across schools. There is no written report.
A few Lewisham schools already use peer review programmes and secondary schools should
consider collectively whether there is a model they might all use. It is an essential part of strong
28 www.challengepartners.org
29  www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com

58

school self-evaluation and development planning. Peer review should have an enabling impact
on the relationships within and between schools, driving the development of professional
capital and the sharing of excellent practice. It can be a significant catalyst for change and
improvement.

Identifying and sharing good or interesting practice
It is important for any local system of school improvement, whether at school or local authority
level, to challenge itself by seeking evidence about what is working well and what is not
working. Good use of data is not focused just on the quantitative. In discussions with officers,
one commissioner asked: ‘Does Lewisham know what Lewisham knows in terms of the best
practice throughout the borough?’ It is clear it does not and indeed, the local authority no
longer has the resource to be able to answer this question fully.
This question, of course, applies to all schools and institutions but in terms of secondary and
post-16 provision we need to ask more specific questions. For example, where are the best
subject departments in terms of attainment and progress? Where are the best middle leaders
in terms of subjects and aspects of the curriculum and could they lead others? Where are the
outstanding practitioners in terms of teaching and its impact on learning? Where are the best
schools in terms of pupil premium provision planning and the best outcomes in closing gaps?
Where are the best schools for inclusion, attendance and behaviour? Which schools are the most
advanced in terms of action research and evidence based practice?
Working with the local authority, schools themselves should identify their best practice. We
think this should be done in both the primary and secondary sectors as it will showcase the
work of schools and raise the profile of the excellent work that is happening in Lewisham.
Some of this may be identified partly through published data and inspection reports as well as
local authority and other reviews. Some might be validated by internal quality assurance and
external evidence. Some might be validated by peer review. These case studies could be specific
examples of excellence in addressing whole school issues such as behaviour or provision for
vulnerable students, a focus on particular aspects of teaching and learning, or initiatives that
have improved the quality of professional development or leadership development. Once there
is greater collective intelligence of best practice, plans for learning from that practice could be
developed, including the identification of ‘centres of excellence’ in schools across the borough.
Individual schools now often write case studies of their best practice which go beyond mere
description to reflect evidence based practice. Where schools have made this a regular practice,
they tend to publish an annual collection and encourage their staff to contribute as part of their
professional development.
There will be examples of good or interesting practice in all Lewisham’s secondary or all-through
schools. It would be a mark of a thriving school-led system if all schools were able to contribute
at least one best practice case study every year to be shared electronically and published as a
Lewisham collection. Collections of case studies are good evidence of self-evaluation in practice

59

and demonstrate each school’s reflective intelligence. They also increase enquiry and innovation
amongst staff and can create a buzz of excitement around the best practice that can make a real
difference to school improvement. We would recommend that Lewisham publishes a collection
of case studies as soon as possible and propose that this be done by the Leadership Forum,
supported by the local authority. This would help raise the profile of Lewisham’s education
service, promote the image of the borough and, as a consequence, also assist with recruitment.

Excellence visits
The principle behind this activity is that schools and colleges can learn from seeing good
practice in action. This exercise would need to be approached with professional commitment
and appreciative enquiry in order for all participants to get the most learning from each
other. Appreciative enquiry focuses on the best of what is taking place in terms of creativity,
questioning and dialogue to promote further improvement. These visits are often organised
as focused half days, with preparatory briefing papers, and then observations and questioning
sessions, taking care not to disrupt the routine of the host school. They should lead to further
reflection and follow up action plans from the visiting school and further partnership work,
particularly joint practice development where teachers reflect, observe, plan and evaluate their
teaching together.
In Lewisham, these visits could be cross-borough given the size and scale of secondary and
college provision. However, sometimes schools might prefer to work in triads, or geographical
clusters or trusts. The principle is the same and there may be more opportunities for sustained
joint practice development with a smaller group of schools. The effective identification and
sharing of best practice should result in the establishment of ‘leading’ subject departments for
the borough, such as Bonus Pastor School for maths or Prendergast School for English. Staff
in schools and colleges identified as leading on particular aspects of provision, system leaders,
could then be consulted by others for advice and support.

Strategic meetings and workshops for senior and middle leaders on whole
school issues
Some meetings for middle or senior leaders already operate in Lewisham, for example, post-16
summit meetings and raising attainment groups. These are rated positively by schools. A similar
approach that has been used elsewhere is the exchange of policies and programmes (‘swap
shops’) in order to learn from each other.
A good example is an exchange of pupil premium plans and ‘gap busting’ strategies. All schools
are required to have pupil premium plans and yet they usually vary considerably in quality, even
in the same locality. Every institution has a senior leader responsible for the pupil premium
sometimes known as ‘pupil premium champions’. The disadvantage gap is wider in Lewisham
than in both statistical neighbours and Inner London boroughs and so it is right that closing
the attainment gaps of the performance of specific groups of students is a key priority. This
especially applies to the performance of some minority ethnic groups such as Black Caribbean
pupils.

60

Establishing a pupil premium group of senior leaders to meet regularly and exchange practice
should stimulate a better set of pupil premium plans with many practical ideas to close gaps
in performance. Such a group would, for example, use the latest research from the Education
Endowment Foundation, liaise directly with this organisation as it is based in London, and call
on other expertise. The group could produce a Lewisham strategy and toolkit for school leaders
and governors to use in support of their work on the pupil premium, or closing attainment gaps
more generally. Schools requiring improvement are often required by Ofsted to commission an
external pupil premium review and such a group of senior Lewisham leaders could offer this
service. The group might also choose to investigate further the many schools in London which
do exceptionally well in transforming outcomes for these students and make good connections
with them through the London Leadership Strategy, for example.
Another example of specialist strategic meetings might be on whole curriculum and assessment,
particularly related to getting the best outcomes from Attainment 8 and Progress 8 in the future
and also EBacc performance. The latter is of particular concern in Lewisham, with only 18.8 per
cent of students achieving the EBacc, in contrast to 30.2 per cent across Inner London boroughs
and 24 per cent nationally Again, there would be a direct exchange between a specialist group
of senior curriculum leaders of internal curriculum models and some external stimulus of the
best practice elsewhere. This is not to preclude specialist workshops and conferences for a wider
audience or ongoing reviews such as those now taking place in Lewisham on two issues of
concern: maths performance and the performance of the more able students.
The need to tackle both attendance and exclusions in secondary schools are key priorities for
consideration by a specialist group. In a school-led system, groups of senior leaders should
organise and lead on ‘specialist’ issues focused on improvement and outcomes. Although this
chapter focuses on the secondary sector, this sort of approach would bring benefits at primary
too, for instance, in looking at the problem of increasing absence from school that is emerging
in the primary phase.

Subject networks
Subject networks are a fairly traditional way of sharing practice and discussing common issues
such as the subject curriculum and assessment, teaching and learning, and variable student
outcomes. However, in emerging school-led systems, subject leaders themselves are beginning
to step up to lead these groups themselves and meetings are hosted by schools. Of course, their
success depends upon several schools participating and how practical and relevant they are to
subject leaders. In the best examples, these meetings can provide compelling evidence of what
works well and they are extremely practical with ideas to take away and put into practice. The
best are also well linked to research and evidence from subject associations, higher education
and subject web sites. Many of those that work well have a number of subject examiners and
organise additional external inputs from chief examiners. In the worst examples, they are talking
shops, poorly attended, and defensive about why progress cannot made.

61

Teachmeets and forums
Sometimes the work stemming from the meetings and processes already suggested do not reach
classroom teachers. The Secondary Heads Group might therefore want to launch a series of
Teachmeets which teachers often find both useful and energising.
Teachmeet invitations, open to all teachers on a range of topics, have proved very popular in
different parts of the country although more in primary and early years than secondary. They are
usually organised on a ‘hub’ basis often through teaching school alliances, federations, MATs or
other collaboratives and can lead to the very best joint practice development. They are almost
all hosted in schools, taking place after school, and are a good way of informing and energising
practitioners to improve practice with better outcomes for students. A particular feature of
the best examples is the use of electronic communications through blogs and Twitter, creating
virtual communities of interest.

Teaching school alliances
There are now well over 600 teaching school alliances in England (almost 100 in London) and,
according to the recent White Paper30, their numbers are set to increase significantly alongside a
rise in the national leaders of education. As indicated in earlier chapters, their focus is on supporting
school-based initial teacher training, school to school initiatives, leadership development and
continuing professional development within a school-led system of improvement.
Teaching schools and their alliances have a range of national and local leaders of education and
specialist leaders of education to call upon to help them with their school-to-school support
function. Working strategically with a range of partners including local authorities, federations,
MATs and other collaboratives, teaching schools can help all schools, not just those requiring
improvement, to build capacity through coaching and mentoring, modelling best practice and
strengthening teaching and leadership in order to improve outcomes.
Lewisham currently only has one teaching school alliance that encompasses the secondary sector and
that is focused primarily on its own MAT. The majority of Lewisham’s secondary schools are therefore
not part of a teaching school alliance. There seem to be very few specialist leaders of education in the
secondary sector in contrast to primary and the secondary numbers need to be expanded as a priority.
The White Paper refers to a targeted approach focused on areas where teaching schools and national
leaders of education are most needed. Lewisham should take advantage of this.
All Lewisham’s secondary and all-through schools, particularly those requiring improvement,
should be part of a teaching school alliance. It may be there could be some development of the
range of the borough’s current teaching alliances and this option should be explored through
the recently established joint meeting of the 4 teaching schools, which has been brokered by the
local authority. Alternatively, the secondary sector should use the London Leadership Strategy to
access provision outside the borough so that they can take advantage of the resourcing going
into teaching schools for particular school improvement programmes. These programmes cover a
range of opportunities for leadership and teacher development.
30   Ibid

62

Other partnerships
Secondary and all-through schools usually have a range of partnerships helping them to better
serve their students. We heard of several interesting examples of schools working with small
third sector organisations to target underachieving groups, such as the use of a small local
company selling the services of expert mathematicians who had attended Lewisham schools.
These alumni were able to relate well to students and to have an impact not only on their
knowledge and skills in mathematics but on their motivation overall. We also heard from a
number of small third sector organisations who had worked effectively with particular groups in
schools. Such examples of success should be shared across the borough.
If secondary and all-through schools are to accelerate their performance at Key Stages 4 and
5, it is vital that they all have strong transitional arrangements with ‘feeder’ primary schools.
As mentioned earlier, the level of criticism from primary schools underlines the urgency of the
need for headteachers from both the secondary and primary sectors to come together to agree
and implement improvements in transfer and transition. The Commission heard many concerns
from primary headteachers that secondary and all-through schools underestimated the skills
and achievements of transferring pupils who, as a consequence, became bored or slipped back
in both progress and attainment. Many primary heads are eager to work with secondary and allthrough schools to support improvement in the early years of secondary education.
We heard from some parents of children in all-through schools that transitional arrangements
could be more effective between the primary and secondary phases which in some cases were
seen as operating very separately from each other.
Transitional arrangements should be strong too between secondary and all-through schools and
post-16 institutions.
Similarly, for 11-18 and post-16 settings there should be good arrangements with higher
education. Lewisham has established a university challenge and seems to have a good
partnership with Goldsmiths but it should also approach other local higher education (HE)
institutions such as the University of Greenwich and the UCL Institute of Education as well as
the Russell Group universities. All secondary schools with sixth form settings should have a
direct HE – school partnership including HE governors where possible.
Lewisham’s secondary sector also needs to make sure that it is connecting positively with
national agencies and organisations such as Teaching Leaders (programmes for middle leaders),
Future Leaders (programmes for senior leaders), and Teach First. Links with some of these exist
already with individual schools and groups of schools but we believe that there should be a more
strategic partnership with these organisations. They are all London based and offer considerable
opportunities to build teaching and leadership capacity to boost outcomes.
Given Lewisham’s priority of closing gaps in attainment and progress, the Education Endowment
Foundation (EEF) offers a useful strategic resource for the borough giving easy access to

63

evidence based practice. The EEF is a grant-making charity dedicated to breaking the link
between family income and educational achievement. The local authority should explore with
headteachers, and a local university, the potential of preparing a bid to the EEF for funding a
research project in Lewisham.
Other strategic partnerships include the office of the Mayor of London which has an Excellence
Fund and a Gold Club together with some excellent curriculum materials. The London Leadership
Strategy (successor trust body to the London Challenge) also provides access programmes for
schools, such as ‘Securing Good’, and school-to-school support through its NLE and system
leadership networks. Currently, links with Lewisham are limited and there is much to be gained
from greater involvement.

Key Stage 5
Key Stage 5 outcomes across the borough are low in comparison with London and national
measures across all measures. For example, in 2015 the borough ranked 11 out of 13 out of
all inner London boroughs on the average point score per students, 12/13 for grades AAB,
including two facilitating subjects, and 13/13 for average point score for subject entry.
Progress has been made in rationalising post-16 provision into 11 settings with some of these
in consortia but there is considerable variation between settings and little evidence of practice
development initiatives designed to improve the quality to teaching and learning.
Lewisham has sought to address some of these issues and two of the major priorities in the
Raise Achievement and Attainment section of the Children and Young People’s Plan relate to
post 16:
lR
 aise

participation indication and training, reducing the number of young people who
are NEET at 16-19.

lR
 aise

achievement and progress for all our children, closing the gaps between underachieving groups at Key Stage 5 and post-16 so that all young people are well prepared for
adulthood and able to access the best education and employment opportunities for them.

A post-16 summit and a curriculum summit have been held with recommendations although
these remain to be implemented. There are regular meetings of heads of sixth form but no
regular systems of identifying and sharing and developing practice as outlined above.
There is a particular need to address the issue of getting the highest grades, particularly
in facilitating subjects, as this holds the key to entry to the best universities. This could be
facilitated through post-16 specialist subject networks linked to subject examiners and other
Inner London boroughs.

64

In conclusion
If owned by the headteachers and principals themselves, the approaches and models outlined
in this chapter would give Lewisham’s secondary and post-16 institutions opportunities to get
the best out of each other to raise standards. They could harness knowledge, talent, creativity
and energy to raise standards at Key stages 4 and 5 but also to meet the needs of the most
vulnerable students more effectively.
The Secondary Heads’ Group works collegially and supportively but needs to focus more on
professional learning and development. Working collaboratively, the Group needs to develop
interests and expertise across schools. Headteachers also need to be more thoughtfully outward
facing, seeking out best practice in other London boroughs and linking to a range of London
and national school improvement programmes.
Headteachers themselves told us they see the Group as being refreshed and enriched by
the many new heads recently in post or arriving in September. The latter come fresh to new
headships with an ambition and determination to improve their schools that should bring energy
to the Group.

Recommendations
lW
 orking

with the Secondary Heads’ Group, the local authority should establish and
resource a Lewisham Secondary Challenge (including post 16) to provide intensive and
bespoke support. This initiative should be managed by an experienced, external adviser
working to the Secondary Heads’ Group. It would make use of system leaders, focused
school to school support, intensive programmes and forensic data analysis to improve
progress, raise standards, and close gaps. The aim would be that within 4 years, all
schools in Lewisham would be judged good or better, performance at Key Stage 4 and
Key Stage 5 would be at least at the London average, and the vast majority of parents
would have confidence in their choice of local schools.

lS
 upported

by the local authority, the Leadership Forum should facilitate a small scale
trial of different models of peer review so that the Lewisham Improvement Partnership
could broker such a process across all schools and settings beginning no later than April
2017.

lS
 upported

by the local authority, and using an external resource, the Heads’ Leadership
Forum should raise Lewisham’s positive profile and agree a process for identifying
and sharing best practice, in both the primary and secondary sectors, including the
publication of a set of Lewisham case studies by January, 2017.

lT
 he

Secondary Heads’ Group should establish strategic groups of senior and middle
leaders to meet to develop collective solutions to particular issues of concern or
requiring development, such as Progress 8 and EBacc performance, improving ‘A’ level
performance at the highest grades, behaviour, attendance and exclusions.

65

lT
 he

Secondary Heads Group should work closely with the London Leadership Strategy
which is one of the largest and most effective providers of school-to-school support in
London, enabling access to a wide range of system leaders and teaching school alliances.
Their programmes support schools at every point of development including specific
professional development opportunities and leadership development.

lT
 he

Secondary Heads’ Group, working with the local authority, should also engage
with other organisations outside the borough to help raise aspirations and build greater
capacity for the development of a school-led system of improvement , for example, the
Education Endowment Foundation, universities, the Innovations Unit and Office of the
Mayor of London.

66

Appendix 1 Education Commission members, remit,
process and acknowledgements
Education Commission: team members
Christine Gilbert is chair of the Commission. She is currently visiting professor at the Institute
of Education, UCL. Christine was previously a headteacher, director of education, local authority
chief executive and Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector at Ofsted.
Robert Hill, a visiting senior research fellow at King’s College London, is an educational
consultant, researcher and writer. He was a senior policy adviser to the Labour government.
David Woods is a visiting professor at Warwick University and chair of the London Leadership
Strategy. Formerly, David was a senior Education adviser at the Department for Education and
chief adviser for London Schools and the London Challenge.
Michael Pain is Director of Forum Education. He was previously at the National College and is
supporting the work of the Commission.

The remit
In establishing the Education Commission, the council emphasised that school improvement
and raising educational outcomes are top priorities for Lewisham. We were asked to work
collaboratively with key stakeholders to help shape up a vision for education in Lewisham and to
make recommendations to the Mayor and to the community of schools for future development.
The council set an ambitious and challenging timetable of 11 weeks for the work of the
Commission. However, the specification for the Commission’s work helpfully set five questions
that provided strategic focus and directed the key lines of enquiry.
Within the short timeframe, the 5 questions provided a particularly helpful discipline:
lG
 iven

the national and regional context, what is the best form of organisation for
Lewisham’s schools going forward?

l I s

there a school-led model of school improvement which would put Lewisham’s work on
a more sustainable footing, given the council’s financial constraints?

lL
 ewisham

needs additional secondary and SEND places. What are the best means to
achieve this, alongside ensuring all existing schools are schools of choice?

67

lG
 iven

Lewisham’s strong commitment to improving outcomes at Key Stage 4 and Key
Stage 5, are there any more radical or leading edge models or approaches that Lewisham
could adopt at borough level?

lU
 nderpinning

all these questions is the central theme of how Lewisham’s system serves
the most vulnerable.

Education Commission: Process
lS
 ignificant

desktop analysis was undertaken. Commissioners have considered a number
of key strategies, plans, reports and other documentation.

lT
 he

team commissioned an analysis of recent school Ofsted reports with particular focus
on the secondary sector.

lE
 xtensive

data analysis at both school and local authority level has been undertaken and
this was supported by Lewisham’s Policy, Service Design and Analysis hub.

lT
 hroughout

this period, commissioners attended a number of existing fora and have
hosted bespoke sessions as part of a broad programme of stakeholder engagement.

lC
 ommissioners

have attended a number of existing meetings, including the

lC
 hildren

and Young People Select Committee and meetings of primary, secondary and
special school headteachers, including the Heads’ Leadership Forum, and the Special
Educational Needs Co-ordinator (SENCO) Forum.

lT
 he

chair met with the Mayor and the Cabinet Member for Children

lT
 he

chair also met with other councillors, including the Chair and Vice-chair of the
Children and Young People Select Committee, the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, the Cabinet Member for Community Safety (also equalities) and the Chair of
Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee.

lT
 he

chair met with Lewisham’s Young Advisers and attended one of their meetings

lC
 ommissioners

have had discussions with a number of officers, including those
responsible for school improvement and place planning.

l I n

addition to existing fora, headteachers were invited to arrange meetings with
commissioners. Throughout the project, commissioners have met with executive
headteachers, headteachers and chairs of governors of early years settings, primary

68

schools, secondary schools, special schools and academies. The chair also met with the
chief executive of a MAT.
lD
 uring

the Commission, visits have been made to 18 schools (1 nursery school, 7
maintained primary schools, 5 maintained secondary schools, 2 maintained ‘all-through’
schools, 1 academy, 1 special school and 1 pupil referral unit).

lT
 wo

bespoke evening governors’ events have taken place, led by the chair.

lR
 esidents

and other stakeholders were offered the opportunity to meet with the
chair as part of the ‘open sessions’ held by the Commission; these sessions consisted
of 25 separate meetings. During these sessions, Christine Gilbert met with, among
others, residents’ groups, voluntary and community sector representatives, union
representatives, parent groups and individual parents.

lT
 he

chair spoke to the Regional Schools Commissioner.

lS
 he

also spoke with the directors of education at both Dioceses.

lW
 ritten

submissions were received and considered by commissioners from, among
others, individual parents, teachers, residents groups, voluntary and community sector
representatives and providers.

Acknowledgements
We are grateful to everyone who made time to see us and share their views. We would like to
express our sincere thanks to the many council officers who not only provided information but
undertook extra work in response to our queries. We should pay particular tribute to the work of
David Humphreys, Principal Officer: Policy, Service Design and Analysis. David gave outstanding
support to the Commission, always going the extra mile. David’s invaluable contribution made it
possible to complete the report to deadline.

69

Appendix 2 Lewisham in context: data analysis
Overview
Lewisham is one of London’s largest boroughs, being home to approximately 292,000 people –
and it is steadily growing. The borough’s population is relatively young, with one in four people
under the age of 19.
Lewisham is one of the most ethnically diverse local authorities in England, with around 130
languages spoken by its inhabitants31.
The borough is one of the most deprived local authority areas in the UK (48th most deprived
out of 326 local authority districts). 32Indeed, Lewisham ranks as the 19th highest local authority
in the UK for the proportion of children living in income deprived households, although this
proportion is still less than other Inner London boroughs of Tower Hamlets, Islington, Hackney,
Lambeth, and Southwark.33The proportion of 18 to 24 year-olds claiming Jobseekers Allowance
is the highest of any Inner London borough, and is double the UK average.

Population
The population is expected to grow significantly in the next five years. Most of this population
growth will be driven by a significant increase in the number of children between 0–14 years of
age. It is projected that between 2013 and 2018, the number of children under the age of 15
will have increased by almost 5,000 – representing over a third of Lewisham’s population growth
during that period34.

31 http://content.tfl.gov.uk/2015-factsheets-london-borough-of-lewisham.pdf
32  www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/465791/English_Indices_of_
Deprivation_2015_-_Statistical_Release.pdf
33  Lewisham’s joint strategic needs assessment- http://www.lewishamjsna.org.uk/a-profile-of-lewisham/
demography/population
34 Ibid.

70

Figure 1: Lewisham’s Population by Age Group

As highlighted in the report, significant increases in Lewisham’s pupil population are expected
in wards that demonstrate the greatest levels of disadvantage and child poverty (namely Evelyn,
New Cross, Lewisham Central, Rushey Green).35

Income and economy
The government uses the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) to assess relative levels of
deprivation in local authorities – dividing up each local authority into a series of small areas
known as Local Super Output Areas (LSOAs). According to the IMD 2015, Lewisham is the 48th
most deprived of the 326 local authorities in the UK.
Lewisham has higher than average levels of employment than both London and the wider UK.
This may partly be driven by a higher than average economically active population – with almost
three quarters of Lewisham’s residents being aged between 16 and 65.
A higher percentage of Lewisham’s workforce is employed in managerial and/or professional job
roles (Soc 2010 Major Group 1-3) than in both London and the wider UK. However, Lewisham
also has a significantly higher than average number of people working in low grade service
sector roles – such as caring, leisure and customer services. This is reflected in the average level
of gross weekly pay of full-time workers in the borough, with Lewisham’s citizens being paid
just under £63.26 less per week than the average pay for Inner London3637. The service sector
dominates Lewisham’s economy.

35 www.lewishamjsna.org.uk/a-profile-of-lewisham/demography/population
36  www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157254/subreports/asher_compared/report.aspx?
37 LRelates to 12 Inner London Boroughs and excluding City of London.

71

Lewisham’s children
A significant proportion of Lewisham’s children live in economically disadvantaged homes. Whilst
unemployment has declined during the past three years, in twelve of the borough’s eighteen
wards, 22 per cent or more of children live in poverty38. In 6.5 per cent of Lewisham households
with dependent children all adults were unemployed. The borough is the 21st highest-ranking
authority against this measure in the country, however four other Inner London boroughs rank
higher.39. Thirty six per cent of those households with dependent children are lone-parent
households, which is significantly higher than the UK average (24.6 per cent) and the London
average (27.6 per cent) 40 41 42

Figure 2: Percentage of pupils in receipt of free school meals

The number of low income households is reflected in the proportion of pupils that are in receipt
of free school meals. On average, 22.7 per cent of the borough’s primary and nursery pupils
receive free school meals (FSM), compared to 27 per cent of primary and nursery pupils in Inner
London as a whole, and 15.6 per cent of primary and nursery children nationally. Of Lewisham’s
secondary-age pupils, 24 per cent receive free school meals, compared to 28.5 per cent of
secondary pupils in Inner London as a whole, and 13.9 per cent of secondary pupils nationally.
The borough’s children come from a wide range of ethnic backgrounds. The majority of primaryage children are of either white British (23 per cent), African or white African (19 per cent) and
Caribbean or white Caribbean (20 per cent) heritage43. There are a wide range of other minority
ethnic groups represented, including but not limited to children of Chinese, Indian, Pakistani
and Bangladeshi heritage.
38 www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/indicators/topics/income-poverty/child-poverty-by-borough/
39  www.lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/Documents/2011CensusSecondReleaseDec2012.pdf; www.google.
co.uk/#q=No+adults+in+employment+in+household:+With+dependent+children
40 2011 Census - www.lewisham.gov.uk/inmyarea/Documents/2011CensusSecondReleaseDec2012.pdf
41  www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/articles/householdsandhouseholdcompositioninenglandandwales/2014-05-29#dependent-children-in-households
42  www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/KS105EW/view/2013265927?cols=measures
43  LA RAISE Online

72

Approximately one third of primary-age children have a first language other than English,
compared to 19.4 per cent nationally. This figure is slightly less (27.2 per cent) for secondaryage pupils.
In Lewisham 17.3 per cent of children44 are identified as having some form of special educational
needs (which is just above average for Inner London, where the proportion stands at 17%).
Across England, 15.4 per cent of pupils have identified special educational needs.45

Pupil and school performance in Lewisham
The context for Lewisham’s education system is best described as a tale of two halves.
Standards and pupil outcomes in Key Stage 1 and Key stage 2 are amongst the very best in the
country and Inner London, with no primary schools falling below floor standards and the vast
majority of pupil groups achieving well-above average outcomes at the end of their primary
education.
The borough’s secondary system sits in stark contrast, with Lewisham’s pupils generally
achieving outcomes far below those attained by secondary pupils across Inner London and
England as a whole.
Lewisham secondary students perform significantly below the national average and are therefore
placed at a significant disadvantage when looking to apply to higher education or to the jobs
market. A much lower than average percentage of Lewisham’s Key Stage 5 students go on to
further study at higher education institutions.
Lewisham’s early years sector
The performance of Lewisham’s Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) is well above both the
inner London and national average. In 2015, 77.5 per cent of children ‘attained a good level of
development’ compared with 67.7 per cent in Inner London and 66.3 per cent nationally.
This is consistent with a three-year trend between 2013 and 2015 (see Figure 3 below).

44 LA RAISE Online 719/3044 KS2 pupils & 457 / 2124 KS4 pupils.
45  January 2015 School Census (DfE): www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/447917/
SFR25-2015_Text.pdf

73

Figure 3: Percentage of children attaining a good level of development at
EYFS, 2013-2015

The percentage of both Lewisham’s boys and girls attaining a good level of development is far
higher than the Inner London and national average for both groups. As is the case nationally,
Lewisham’s girls outperform boys at EYFS – however the gap between girls and boys in Lewisham
is much smaller than the gap between girls and boys in Inner London and in England as a whole.
Lewisham’s primary sector
Key Stage 1
Performance at Key Stage 1 is also strong – 83 per cent of pupils achieved the expected
level in phonics decoding in Lewisham in 2015, compared to 80.9 per cent in Inner London
and 77 per cent nationally. Of pupils receiving free school meals in Lewisham, 78 per cent
achieved the expected level in phonics decoding in 2015, compared to 72 per cent in London
and 65 per cent nationally.

74

Figure 4: Percentage of Year 1 pupils meeting required standards of phonics
decoding in 2015

Pupils in receipt of free school meals, pupils with identified SEND, and children from most
minority ethnic backgrounds perform – on average - above the national levels for their group
in the Year 1 phonics assessment. This places the majority of the borough’s children on a strong
footing for learning. However, this is not the case for pupils with Pakistani heritage or Gypsy/
Roma pupils.
In terms of average point score for all national curriculum core subjects at Key Stage 1, most
of Lewisham’ s pupils perform above the national average for their cohort. This is not the case
for travellers of Irish heritage or pupils with a statement of special educational needs or an
Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plan.
However, there are no pupil groups that perform statistically significantly below the national
average at Key Stage 1.
Key Stage 2
In 2015, there were no primary schools in Lewisham that did not meet the floor standard of 65
per cent of pupils achieving level 4+ in reading, writing and mathematics. This compares to 1.7
per cent of schools in London and 5 per cent of schools nationally.
The borough sees a significantly high percentage of pupils (84 per cent) achieve level 4+ in
reading, writing and maths combined. This compares with the Inner London average of 84.6 per
cent of pupils and is well above the national average (80 per cent). The number of Lewisham’s
pupils achieving level 5+ in reading, writing and mathematics (29 per cent) is 5 per cent higher
than the national average. This is a crucial statistic, as attainment at Level 5 is a strong predictor
that children will achieve 5 A* – C (including maths and English) at GCSE.

75

Figure 5: Percentage of pupils achieving KS2 level 4+ reading, writing,
and maths.

Disadvantaged pupils also do relatively well when compared with other boroughs. Of those
pupils in Lewisham who are in receipt of free school meals, 75 per cent achieve level 4+ in
reading, writing and mathematics combined. This performance is identical to the rest of London
as whole, but nine percentage points higher than for the whole of England. Despite the good
performance of pupils in receipt of free school meals as a group (when compared to the national
average), in Lewisham the gap between the performance of all pupils and those in receipt of
free schools meals at Key Stage 2 has remained static over the past three years.
The percentage of Lewisham pupils with a statement of SEN achieving a level 4 or above in
reading, writing and maths, has gone down by 7 per cent to 10 per cent in the period 2013-15.
This is the only group in Lewisham whose performance is statistically worse at KS2 than the
national average for the same group.
When considering the attainment of those from different minority ethnic backgrounds, all
groups, aside from Chinese pupils, perform above the national average for each group. Pupils of
Chinese background in Lewisham achieve Key Stage 2 results that are far below the outcomes
achieved by this ethnic group across Inner London and wider England46.
Lewisham’s secondary sector
Secondary pupils in Lewisham achieve GCSE results that are significantly below the national
average. The gap between the percentage of Lewisham pupils achieving 5 or more A* – C
(including maths and English) and both the Inner London and the national average has widened
over the past three years.

46 www.gov.uk/government/statistics/national-curriculum-assessments-at-key-stage-2-2015-revised

76

Figure 6: Percentage of pupils achieving 5 A* – C GCSE, including English
and maths, (or equivalent) 2012 – 1547

In 2014/15 51.9 per cent of Lewisham’s pupils achieved 5 A* – C (including maths and English),
compared to 59.7 per cent across Inner London. Lewisham is the lowest performing of all Inner
London boroughs against this measure for the past three years48. The gap between Lewisham
pupils and secondary pupils in Inner London and England as a whole is widening over time.
The percentage of Lewisham pupils attaining the EBacc stands at 18.8 per cent in 2015,
compared to an average of 30.2 per cent of pupils across Inner London boroughs. Indeed, the
proportion of pupils attaining the EBacc in Lewisham has fallen since 2013 by 0.5 per cent.
Both boys and girls in Lewisham perform significantly below the Inner London and the national
average for their cohorts at GCSE. Whilst girls perform better than boys in Lewisham (as they do
nationally), Lewisham’s girls fall significantly behind their peers across both Inner London and
England as a whole, with 55.5 per cent of Lewisham’s girls achieving 5 A* – C (including maths
and English), compared with 63.7% per cent in Inner London and 58.9 per cent nationally.
In 2015, 69.8 per cent of Lewisham’s secondary pupils made expected progress in English
between Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4, compared with 71.1 per cent nationally, and 61.9 per
cent of pupils made expected progress in maths, compared with 66.9 per cent nationally.
Lewisham falls far behind its statistical neighbours in terms of expected progress in English
and maths between Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4; the percentage of pupils making expected
progress was 76.25 per cent (English) and 70 per cent (maths). There is one outlier group,
however, with Lewisham’s lower attainers making better progress in Maths between Key Stage 2
and Key Stage 4 than the national average for their group.

47  The implementation of the Wolf reforms in 2013/14 led to a general decline in the number of pupils attaining
5 A* – C GCSE, including maths and English
48  www.gov.uk/government/statistics/revised-gcse-and-equivalent-results-in-england-2014-to-2015

77

Figure 7: Percentage of pupils making expected progress, between KS2 and
KS4, in maths by prior attainment (2015)

Figure 8: Percentage of pupils making expected progress in English by prior
attainment (2015)

When considering Lewisham’s performance by minority ethnic groups, it is clear that children of
all backgrounds generally perform far below both the Inner London and the national average for
their groups.
Children of mixed ethnicity, black heritage and Chinese heritage perform significantly below the
average performance of their respective groups across Inner London and England.

78

Figure 9: Pupil performance by ethnicity at GCSE (% of children achieving
5 + A* – C including English and maths)

Whilst the significantly below average performance of children of Chinese heritage reflects
a considerable year on year drop in performance between 2014 and 2015, the significantly
below average performance of black and mixed heritage pupils reflects a long-term trend of
below average outcomes amongst these groups. White pupils in Lewisham schools have also
underperformed in comparison to their national counterparts over a number of years – although
the discrepancies in performance are generally less stark for this group than for those pupils of
black and mixed heritage.
The performance tables also reveal another issue for Lewisham relating to higher attaining
pupils. The national proportion of these pupils gaining at least 5 A*- C (including English
and maths) has been declining slightly over the last three years. In Lewisham, this proportion
has also been declining, but at a faster rate than found nationally. In 2015, 86.8 per cent
of Lewisham’s high attaining pupils reached this benchmark compared with 91.1 per cent
nationally. The gap has widened tenfold since 2013. There are eight schools where higher ability
pupils’ attainment in 2015 fell below the national average and only two where it was higher. This
is a weaker profile than in 2014 or 2013 when six schools had higher attaining pupils achieving
above the equivalent national average.

79

The picture is a little more positive in terms of disadvantaged pupils and those pupils with SEND.
In terms of achieving 5 A* – C (including maths and English), disadvantaged pupils, using those in
receipt of free school meals as a proxy, perform significantly above the national average for these
groups. However, the gap between disadvantaged pupils and their peers from more advantaged
backgrounds has remained static over the last three years. Only 39 per cent of pupils receiving
free school meals achieved 5 A* – C (including maths and English) at GCSE, compared to 59 per
cent of pupils not receiving free school meals. In contrast, in the top performing local authorities
(Newham, Tower Hamlets), the gap in attainment between the proportion receiving free school
meals and those not receiving free school meals is under 10 per cent.
In 2015, the percentage of Lewisham’s pupils with a statement of SEN achieving 5 A* – C
(including maths and English) was 12.3 per cent, which was higher than both the national
average (8.8 per cent) and the borough’s statistical neighbours (10.1 per cent). However, when
one considers the percentage of Lewisham’s pupils with a statement of SEN who are achieving
5 A* – G (including maths and English), the borough’s figure of 32.1 per cent falls some way
below both the national average (36.1 per cent).
Ofsted judgments on Lewisham’s schools
As judged by Ofsted, Lewisham’s performance as a local authority in terms of the number of
pupils attending good or outstanding primary schools is in stark contrast to its performance in
the secondary sector.
Lewisham has a very strong primary and nursery sector. Indeed, it is the fifth highest performing
local authority in the country in terms of the percentage of primary-age pupils attending a good
or outstanding school (95 per cent)49. This is reflected in the performance data at these stages.
Of the 72 schools providing state-funded primary education, 23 are currently judged by Ofsted
to be ‘outstanding’, 42 are ‘good’, and seven are judged as ‘requires improvement’. Four of
those schools that are judged as ‘requires improvement’ are all-through schools. Five of the
borough’s primary schools (including three all-through schools) are academies.

49  Lewisham sits below North Tyneside where 99 per cent of pupils attend a good or outstanding school,
Newcastle upon Tyne (97 per cent), Kingston upon Thames (97 per cent) and Camden (96 per cent).

80

Figure 10: Overall judgment of primary schools’ quality based on most recent
Ofsted inspections (March 2016)

The picture within the secondary sector is less positive. HMCI’s Annual Report for 2014/15
reported that 74 per cent of secondary schools were good or better at their last inspection.
Lewisham’s equivalent proportion is only 57 per cent. This reflects significant variability in
the quality of provision across the borough’s secondary schools. Two of the borough’s eight
secondary schools are currently judged by Ofsted to ‘require improvement’, five are judged to
be ‘good’, and one is judged ‘outstanding’. All are currently community schools. There are six ‘all
through’ schools, of which four are currently judged to ‘require improvement’, one is ‘good’ and
one is ‘outstanding’. Three of the borough’s all-through schools are academies, of which one is
outstanding and two are judged to ‘require improvement’.

81

Figure 11: Secondary providers by most recent overall Ofsted judgment
(national figures taken from Ofsted Annual Report 2015)

Of the schools that are either secondary or all-through, 43 per cent are below good (the
national percentage of secondary schools below good is 26 per cent).
There are five state-funded special schools within the borough, three of which are rated as
‘good’ and two judged as being ‘outstanding’. The borough has one PRU, on two campuses,
which is rated ‘good’ by Ofsted.
The local authority currently maintains 1,58250 statements and EHC plans. There are currently
534 places in five special schools51 but nearly a quarter of the children with statements or EHC
plans are placed in or choose placements out of the borough.
Lewisham’s post-16 sector
Ninety-one per cent of KS4 pupils went on to full-time further education in 2013/14, which is
1 per cent higher than the national average. Most of Lewisham’s KS4 pupils attended either a
sixth form college, school-based provision, or further education college.

50  This total includes post-16 students
51  Source: DfE SFS 16/2015, Schools, pupils and their characteristics, January 2015, LA Tables

82

Figure 12: Destinations of Lewisham’s students at post-16

Of Lewisham’s cohort of disadvantaged pupils, 51 per cent attend a school or college sixth form
compared with 36 per cent nationally.
Eight of Lewisham’s 14 state-funded secondary schools provide Key Stage 5 provision. In
addition, two further education institutions (one sixth form college and one general FE college)
also provide KS5 provision. When translated into student numbers, the non-school FE sector
dominates with 4,654 students attending either the sixth form or general further education
college, compared with 1,986 students attending state-funded school sixth forms.
Performance in Lewisham’s further education sector is very variable. In terms of Ofsted
judgments, three of the 10 institutions providing further education provision are either judged
as ‘requires improvement’ or ‘inadequate’. Of those students attending a further education
institution in Lewisham, 39 per cent attend one that is either judged by Ofsted to ‘require
improvement’ or as ‘inadequate’. Two institutions are judged to be ‘outstanding’ and the
remaining five are currently judged to be ‘good’52.
The two independent sixth forms within Lewisham achieve strong results in comparison with
most state-funded sixth form provision and provide an alternative avenue of provision for some
pupils on completion of Key Stage 4.

52  www.education.gov.uk/schools/performance/download/pdf/32_ks5.pdf

83

The percentage of those students in Lewisham institutions achieving 3 A levels at A* - E grade
is 78.2 per cent, which is 1 per cent above the national average for state-funded institutions.
However, when taking into account those students achieving A-levels qualifications and
equivalent qualifications (at the same level of performance) the figure falls to 77.4 per cent - 1
per cent below the national average.

Figure 13: Achievement of students attending Lewisham’s further education
institutions

Performance on entry to KS5 is below the national average53. More stark, however, is the
average point score attained by students on completion of A levels or equivalent qualifications.
As the table below shows, Lewisham students perform significantly below the national average
and are therefore placed at a significant disadvantage when looking to apply to higher education
or to the jobs market:

53  www.education.gov.uk/schools/performance/download/pdf/32_ks5.pdf

84

Figure 14: Average points achieved by students at A level and/or equivalent
qualifications

Given this performance it is also no surprise that the percentage of students gaining AAB or
higher in at least two facilitating subjects is less than half that of the national average. Just
5.5 per cent of students attained this standard on completion of KS5, compared to a national
average of 11.8 per cent of students in state-funded institutions, and 14.7 per cent of students
in all institutions.
Students of Caribbean heritage perform significantly below their peers at Key Stage 5, with the
average point score per student for this group being 588.5 points (against an LA average of
639.3points54). Pupils of White British and African heritage perform above this and the relevant
national average measure.
In terms of progress to higher education, 49 per cent of Lewisham students who entered an A
level or other level 3 qualification went on to a higher education institution, compared to 62
per cent of such students across Inner London, and 58 per cent nationally. Eleven per cent of
students went on to attend a Russell Group university (including Oxford or Cambridge). This
contrasts with 14 per cent of pupils across Inner London and 17 per cent nationally.

54  N.B. These figures are taken from the Local Authority’s Post 16 LA Profile and include some qualification outcomes
that the DfE methodology for vocational and A-level routes (cited on the previous page and chart) does not include.

85

Absence and exclusions
Absence and persistent absences
Lewisham has experienced a recent increase in levels of persistent absence in the primary sector,
with the borough now being above the national average for this measure. This is particularly
concerning given that persistent absence is a significant issue for the borough’s secondary sector.

Figure 15: Percentage of persistent absences amongst primary-age pupils

At primary phase, Bangladeshi children have over double the level of persistent absence
(7.2 per cent) compared with their national counterparts (3.3 per cent). In addition, white
British, white Irish and mixed white and Caribbean pupils are higher than the national average
for their groups.
The level of unauthorised absences amongst primary age pupils has remained high for a
number of years, and is above the national average.

86

Figure 16: Percentage of unauthorised absences in Lewisham primary schools
2012/13 – 2014/15

Lewisham’s secondary sector experiences very high and growing levels of persistent absence.
Whilst levels of persistent absence have decreased nationally over the past three years,
Lewisham has seen levels increase by 0.3 per cent. The borough is the worst ranking authority in
both Inner London (and London as a whole) in terms of levels of persistent absence amongst its
secondary pupils. The borough also performs worst of all against this measure when compared
with its statistical neighbours.55 In the secondary phase, white British students have almost
double the level of persistent absence (11.3 per cent) as their national counterparts (6 per
cent). In addition, mixed white and black Caribbean students (10.8 per cent) are higher than the
national average for this group (8.3 per cent).
The number of unauthorised absences amongst secondary age pupils has also been significantly
above the national average for the last three years.

55  Autumn 2014/Spring 2015 School Census Data – DfE Statistical Release

87

Figure 17: Percentage of persistent absences amongst secondary age pupils

Persistent absentees are more likely to come from disadvantaged backgrounds. Three in four
persistent absentees reside in super-output areas (SOAs) in the bottom three deciles for
deprivation nationally, and seven in 10 were in receipt of free school meals at some point in the
last six years. Pupils with special educational needs, many of whom are transported to and from
school, were less likely to be persistent absentees than non-SEN pupils. One in two persistent
absentees is in either Year 10 or Year 1156.
White British pupils have almost double the level of persistent absences when compared with
the national average for this group. In addition, white mixed and black Caribbean pupils are
overly represented – with 10.8 per cent being persistent absentees (compared to the 8.3 per
cent national average for this group).
Exclusions
Lewisham’s primary sector has experienced no permanent exclusions within the last few years.
This compares to a national average of 0.02 per cent of the school population having been
permanently excluded within each year for the last three years (2011/12; 2012/13; 2013/14).
This is in stark contrast with Lewisham’s secondary sector, where permanent exclusion rates are
almost treble the national average and are over double the percentage in Lewisham’s statistical
neighbours. Permanent exclusion rates across Lewisham’s secondary sector have been above
average for over six years running.

56   Autumn and spring term 2014/15

88

Appendix 3 Review of secondary school performance in
the London Borough of Lewisham
Michael Chisnall, 11 March 2016
Background to the review
1. This report was commissioned by Christine Gilbert to support the work of the Lewisham
Education Commission. The brief was to analyse the most recent Ofsted inspection
reports, and other key performance data, to identify any trends or issues that might
explain the current performance of Lewisham’s secondary schools.

Context of Lewisham’s secondary schools
2. The 2015 5 A*-C GCSE (including English and maths) performance of secondary schools
in Lewisham (51.9 per cent) is below the national average for all state funded schools
(57.1 per cent) and the lowest of all London boroughs. The gap between Lewisham and
the national picture is widening over time. This is despite the performance of Lewisham
pupils at Key Stage 2 being above the national average for at least the last four years.
3. The majority of the most recent inspection reports for Lewisham’s secondary schools
make reference to attainment on entry to Year 7: four are noted to be around average,
five below average and only one is noted to be slightly above average. Four reports
made no reference to attainment on entry. The earliest inspection reports date from
2012; from this year Lewisham’s primary school outcomes have been above average.
4. There are 14 relevant schools, including academies and free schools, one of which
has not yet generated GCSE results. All of these schools have higher than average
proportions of disadvantaged pupils, those from minority ethic heritages, and those
with English as an additional language. Nine of them have higher proportions of pupils
with disabilities or special educational needs than found nationally.

Summary of main findings
5. Lewisham’s secondary schools do not paint a strong picture in relation to GCSE
attainment and progress. Not only are these below national averages, they are also in
decline. Too many schools require improvement as judged by inspectors, although none
is deemed inadequate.

89

6. In reviewing the most recent inspection reports and performance tables over a number
of years, it is clear that there are several factors that are common to many schools and
may well be having a negative impact on overall attainment. The local authority may
wish to consider the following areas for improvement in its support for schools:
l pupils’ progress in mathematics in KS3 and KS4
l the quality of marking and feedback to pupils
l the promotion of literacy and numeracy across the curriculum
l progress and attainment of higher ability pupils

Analysis of the most recent Ofsted inspection reports
7.	Fourteen reports were analysed, dating from 2012 to late 2015. At their most recent
inspection, two schools were judged to be outstanding overall, six were good and
six required improvement. HMCI’s Annual Report for 2014/15 reported that 74 per
cent of secondary schools were good or better at their last inspection. Lewisham’s
equivalent proportion is only 57 per cent.
8.	Most schools (9) maintained their overall effectiveness grade at their last inspection,
two declined but only three showed an improvement. Of this latter group, two
emerged from serious weakness and special measures.
9.	Pupils’ achievements were judged to be good or better in nine of the schools.
Inspectors raised concerns about the promotion of literacy skills across the
curriculum in three schools; either mathematics progress or numeracy across the
curriculum in another four schools; and concerns about both literacy and numeracy
in one more school.
10.	The quality of teaching was found to require improvement in six of the 14 schools.
It was outstanding in just two schools. The most consistent factor in why teaching
was not of higher quality was that of marking. Inspectors reported that this was a
weakness to a greater or lesser extent in 12 of the 14 schools; two of these references
were linked specifically to marking and feedback in maths.
11.	Behaviour and safety were reported as being good or better in 10 of the schools; in
five of them they were outstanding. In two of these and a further two that required
improvement, low level disruption was noted in some classes. This is clearly not a
major issue for Lewisham where behaviour overall is good.
12.	Leadership and management were judged to be good or better in 12 of the 14
schools. In four of them they were outstanding. Inspectors referred to a variety of
strengths: the most often cited was effective governance (10 schools). Capacity for
improvement was noted to be strong in six schools; in a further five, strong capacity
for improvement was implied. In a minority of schools (mainly those requiring

90

improvement), the monitoring of teaching was noted to be weak; this was sometimes
linked to the development of middle leadership.
13.	In all the inspections, inspectors identified what the schools should do further to
improve their effectiveness. The issues were varied but there was one issue that was
identified in nine schools: that of the quality of marking. Progress or attainment in
mathematics were cited in three schools as an area for development.

Scrutiny of performance tables
14.	Lewisham’s performance using the 5 A*-C (including English and maths) measure
has been below the national average for at least the last three years and the gap
is widening. This is most pronounced when compared with state funded schools
nationally. In 2015, the gap was 5.2 per cent, up from 4.8 per cent the previous year
and 2.5 per cent in 2013. In 2015, five of 13 schools showed a decline in this measure
from 2014.
15.	Low and declining primary school average points score for the relevant years
might explain this position, but this has not been the case. The table below shows
Lewisham’s improving primary performance alongside the equivalent cohort’s GCSE
performance five years on.

Figure 1: Relative performance from Y6 to Y11
Primary APS relative to national average for Secondary % 5 A*-C (E&M) relative to national
state funded schools
average for state funded schools
2008

-0.5

2013

-2.5%

2009

-0.4

2014

-4.8%

2010

+0.1

2015

-5.2%

2011

0.0

2016

2012

+0.6

2017

2013

+0.7

2018

2014

+0.6

2019

2015

+0.5

2020

16.	As primary performance has improved from a below average position, the same
cohort five years later has declined in its performance becoming still further behind
the national average. These figures do not take account of any inward or outward
migration of Lewisham’s pupils in the intervening five years. Just two of the inspection
reports referred to above noted high levels of pupil mobility.

91

17.	Clearly, the upward trend in primary performance should impact positively on GCSE
results five years later. This has not been the case up to 2015.
18.	The performance table figures relating to expected progress in English and maths
point to where there are some significant variations between schools and which might
explain weaker overall attainment.

Figure 2: Expected progress in English and maths in Lewisham’s secondary
schools over three years: relative difference in maths
2015

2014

2013

En

Ma

Diff

En

Ma

Diff

En

Ma

Diff

National average

71

67

-4

72

66

-6

70

71

+1

LA average

70

62

-8

76

62

-14

72

71

-1

Addey &
Stanhope

61

52

-9

85

77

-8

77

74

-3

Bonus Pastor

75

74

-1

94

67

-27

68

72

+4

Conisborough

79

56

-23

80

53

-27

78

74

-4

Deptford Green

76

58

-18

81

67

-14

74

67

-7

Forest Hill

69

64

-5

75

74

-1

69

73

+4

HAHC

65

69

+4

75

74

-1

80

84

+4

HAKA

79

56

-23

80

60

-20

62

74

+12

Prendergast
Ladywell Fields

45

53

+8

77

43

-34

56

59

+3

Prendergast

89

76

-13

88

79

-9

87

79

-8

Sedgehill

74

62

-12

67

57

-10

68

61

-7

St Matthew

61

68

+7

80

59

-21

81

64

-17

Sydenham

81

64

-17

71

65

-6

79

80

+1

Trinity CE

77

68

-9

69

49

-20

83

73

-10

School

Red – where the difference between En and Ma is greater than the national average
Green – where the difference between En and Ma is less than or reversed from average

19.	This table shows some significant issues:
l The

proportion of Lewisham’s pupils that make expected progress in English is
similar to that found nationally

l The

proportion of Lewisham’s pupils that make expected progress in mathematics
is lower than average and the gap between progress in English and mathematics is
wider than average. This has been the case for the last two years.

92

l In

more than half of schools (9), the gap between expected progress in English and
maths is wider than found nationally; in six the gap is in double figures.

l This

maths issue has been the case in eight schools for the last three, or two out of
the last three, years.

20.	The performance tables also reveal another issue for Lewisham; this relates to the
attainment of higher ability pupils. The national proportion of these pupils gaining at
least 5 A*– C (incl En and Ma) has been declining slightly over the last three years.
In Lewisham this proportion has also been declining, but at a faster rate than found
nationally. In 2015, 86.8 per cent of Lewisham’s pupils reached this benchmark against
91.1 per cent nationally. The gap has widened tenfold since 2013. There are eight
schools where higher ability pupils’ attainment in 2015 fell below the national average,
and only two where it was higher. This is a weaker profile than in 2014 or 2103 where
six schools had more able pupils attaining above the equivalent national average.
21.	GCSE attainment (5A*– C EM) has declined in seven schools since their last
inspection year, remained about the same in six. In only one school is attainment
up since its last inspection.
Published inspection reports scrutinised as part of this review
Addey and Stanhope Secondary School (2012)
Bonus Pastor Catholic College (2013)
Conisborough College (2012)
Deptford Green School (2014)
Forest Hill School (2013)
Haberdashers’ Aske’s Hatcham College (2014)
Haberdashers’ Aske’s Knights Academy (2015)
Prendergast Ladywell School (2014)
Prendergast School (2013)
Prendergast Vale College (2015; no GCSE results as yet)
Sedgehill School (2013)
St Matthew Academy (2013)
Sydenham School (2013)
Trinity Church of England School, Lewisham (2014)

93

Appendix 4
Distribution of additional primary school places in Lewisham since 2008/09

School

2008 2009
/09 /10

2010
/11

2011
/12

2012
/13

2013
/14

2014
/15

2015
/16

2016
/17

Primary place-planning locality 1: Forest Hill and Sydenham
Adamsrill

√

√

√

√

Dalmain

√

√

√

Expanded

Eliot Bank

Expanded

√

Fairlawn

√

√

Haseltine

√

Horniman

YR  & Y1

√

√

Kelvin Grove
Kilmorie

√

Perrymount

√

√

√

Expanded

√

√

Expanded

√

Rathfern

√
√

√

St Bartholomews

√
√

St George’s

√

Expanded

√

Expanded

St Michael’s  

√

St William of York

√

Primary place-planning locality 2: Lee Green
All Saints

√

Brindishe Lee

√

John Ball

√

Brindishe Manor

√
√

√

Trinity CE

New
provision

St Winifred’s

√

√

√

√

Primary place-planning locality 3: Brockley, Lewisham and Telegraph Hill
Ashmead
Beecroft Gardens

√

√

√

Expanded

√

Brindishe Green

√

Edmund Waller

√

Gordonbrock
Holbeach
John Stainer

√
√

√

Expanded

√

Expanded

√

√

Lucas Vale

√

Myatt Garden

√

Expanded
√

Prendergast
Primary

New
provision

Prendergast Vale

√

St Stephens CE
Turnham

√

√
√

√

Expanded

94

School

2008 2009
/09 /10

2010
/11

2011
/12

2012
/13

2013
/14

2014
/15

2015
/16

2016
/17

Primary place-planning locality 4: Catford, Bellingham and Grove Park
Athelney

√

Baring

√

Coopers Lane

√
√

Elfrida
Forster Park

√

√
√

Rushey Green
Sandhurst

√

√

Torridon

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

Expanded

√

Expanded
√

√

√

Expanded

Expanded
√

√

√

Primary place-planning locality 5: Deptford and New Cross
Deptford Park

√

√

Grinling Gibbons
Kender

√

St Josephs

√
√

√

√

Expanded

√

√

√
√

√

Primary place-planning locality 6: Downham
Downderry

√

Good Shepherd
Launcelot

√
√

Marvels Lane

√

Haberdashers
Aske’s Knights
Temple Grove
Rangefield

√

Expanded

√

95

Appendix 5 Forecast of school places in Lewisham
Primary places - borough wide
Forecast year

R

1

2

3

4

5

6

2014/15

3865

3708

3747

3545

3391

3231

2993

2015/16

3946

3877

3681

3683

3508

3390

3218

2016/17

3893

3968

3858

3628

3652

3514

3385

2017/18

3898

3921

3956

3807

3605

3667

3516

2018/19

3944

3921

3903

3899

3796

3613

3649

2019/20

4033

3957

3903

3877

3910

3777

3589

Primary places by planning area
Area name:
Forecast year

Primary place-planning locality 1: Forest Hill and Sydenham
R

1

2

3

4

5

6

2014/15

978

1025

1050

936

902

822

739

2015/16

1044

1009

973

950

885

848

761

2016/17

1035

1047

1001

956

939

884

844

2017/18

995

1040

1041

985

947

940

883

2018/19

1014

998

1031

1022

981

946

933

2019/20

1044

1018

998

1025

1026

977

942

Area name:
Forecast year

Primary place-planning locality 2: Lee Green
R

1

2

3

4

5

6

2014/15

390

401

317

345

363

341

309

2015/16

393

411

360

370

367

347

348

2016/17

391

397

411

353

368

370

348

2017/18

423

394

396

406

350

370

371

2018/19

431

427

396

394

408

355

370

2019/20

441

433

431

394

397

405

354

96

Area name:

Primary place-planning locality 3:
Brockley, Central Lewisham and Telegraph Hill

Forecast year

R

1

2

3

4

5

6

2014/15

881

796

846

758

708

741

697

2015/16

943

923

853

830

737

748

714

2016/17

904

946

916

839

821

736

745

2017/18

961

907

940

903

830

822

735

2018/19

979

963

900

925

899

829

816

2019/20

1004

981

959

892

926

894

826

Area name:

Primary place-planning locality 4:
Catford Bellingham and Grove Park

Forecast year

R

1

2

3

4

5

6

2014/15

695

602

669

637

640

575

510

2015/16

702

665

657

695

643

648

652

2016/17

698

705

660

647

688

639

645

2017/18

724

706

705

653

644

692

639

2018/19

710

727

703

694

649

645

689

2019/20

719

711

726

698

693

643

637

Area name:

Primary place-planning locality 5: Deptford and New Cross

Forecast year

R

1

2

3

4

5

6

2014/15

542

530

487

475

444

425

405

2015/16

512

467

479

467

478

419

413

2016/17

499

521

471

477

470

484

425

2017/18

453

508

525

469

480

477

490

2018/19

463

463

510

522

472

486

479

2019/20

477

469

459

509

526

473

485

Area name:

Primary place-planning locality 6: Downham

Forecast year

R

1

2

3

4

5

6

2014/15

379

354

378

394

334

327

333

2015/16

352

402

359

371

398

380

330

2016/17

366

352

399

356

366

401

378

2017/18

342

366

349

391

354

366

398

2018/19

347

343

363

342

387

352

362

2019/20

348

345

330

359

342

385

345

97

Secondary places - borough wide
Forecast year

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

2014/15

2360

2239

2330

2427

2087

1028

804

2015/16

2478

2372

2269

2332

2323

959

791

2016/17

2672

2501

2414

2282

2243

1078

749

2017/18

2816

2705

2554

2436

2204

1050

849

2018/19

2919

2843

2754

2569

2378

1043

821

2019/20

3038

2943

2890

2766

2509

1117

799

2020/21

2992

3063

2991

2903

2657

1167

847

2021/22

3130

3003

3074

3002

2913

1227

887

98

Mayor and Cabinet
Title

Comments of the Children and Young People Select Committee on the
Lewisham Education Commission Report.

Contributor

Children and Young People Select Committee

Class

Part 1 (open)

Item
29 June 2016

1.

Summary

1.1

This report informs the Mayor and Cabinet of the comments and views of the
Children and Young People Select Committee, arising from discussions held on the
Education Commission Report, considered at its meeting on 8 June 2016.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

Mayor and Cabinet is recommended to note the views of the Children and Young
People Select Committee as set out in this report.

3.

Children and Young People Select Committee’s views

3.1

On 8 June 2016, the Children and Young People Select Committee considered a
report entitled Lewisham Education Commission – Progress Report.

3.2

The Committee resolved to recommend the following to Mayor and Cabinet:
That any action plan to take forward the recommendations from the Education
Commission Report be presented to the Children and Young People Select
Committee for consultation.

4.

Financial implications

4.1

There are no financial implications arising out of this report per se; but there may
financial implications arising from carrying out the action proposed by the
Committee.

5.

Legal implications

5.1

The Constitution provides for Select Committees to refer reports to the Mayor and
Cabinet, who are obliged to consider the report and the proposed response from
the relevant Executive Director; and report back to the Committee within two
months (not including recess).

6.

Further implications

6.1

At this stage there are no specific environmental, equalities or crime and disorder
implications to consider. However, there may be implications arising from the
implementation of the Committee’s recommendations.

Background papers
Report to Children and Young People Select Committee, 8 June 2016, Item 4: Lewisham
Education Commission – Progress Report
If you have any queries on this report, please contact Katie Wood, Scrutiny Manager (ext.
49446).

MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title
Key Decision
Ward
Contributors
Class

Introduction of Charges for the Street Naming & Numbering
(SNN) Service
Yes

Item No.

All
Executive Director for Resources & Regeneration
Part 1

Date: 29 June, 2016

1.

Purpose and Summary:

1.1

The purpose of the report is to introduce a charging scheme for the existing
Street Naming & Numbering (SNN) service as allowed under statute. The
report explains the basis on which the charges are calculated and the reasons
why these charges should be adopted.

1.2

The Council’s obligations and powers in relation to the naming and numbering
of streets and buildings are contained within the London Building Acts
(Amendment) Act 1939. This includes the obligation on the part of the Local
Authority to prepare street naming and numbering schemes and to maintain a
good standard of street nameplates.

1.3

The Power to charge falls under Section 93 of the Local Government Act
2003. This sets out that a local authority may charge for discretionary
services. Discretionary services are those services that an authority has the
power but not a duty to provide. An authority may charge where the person
who receives the service has agreed to its provision and the charge must not
exceed the cost of providing the service.

1.4

Therefore the Council can only charge for that element of its street naming
function which is discretionary and not mandatory by virtue of Section 93 of
the 2003 Act.

1.5

The Council has not previously looked to recoup the costs of the discretionary
elements of the SNN but the significant increase in regeneration and development
within the Borough has led to a marked increase in SNN activity. The ability to
recoup these costs will ensure that this activity is not subsidised to the detriment of
other services.

1

2.

Recommendations:
It is recommended that the Mayor:

2.1

approves the introduction of charging for the discretionary elements of the
Street Naming and Numbering function;

2.2

approves the scale of charges as set out in the report in connection with the
Council’s Street Naming and Numbering function; and that

2.3

these charges should take immediate effect;

3.

Policy Context:

3.1 The Council’s vision is to work together to ‘make Lewisham the best place in
London to live, work and learn’. This vision is set out in Shaping our future,
Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy 2008-20. It sets out a framework
for improving the quality of life and life chances for all who live in the borough.
3.2

Lewisham has ten enduring corporate priorities which outline the Council’s
distinctive contribution to the delivery of this strategy, and the contents of this
report are consistent with the Council’s policy framework and works towards
meeting the ‘Clean green and liveable’ priority that enables people to live in high
quality housing and care for and enjoy their environment.

3.3

Lewisham’s core values are to:
• Put service to the public first
• Respect all people and all communities
• Invest in employees
• Be open, honest and fair in all we do.

3.4

The proposed charges will improve transparency and ensure that regeneration and
development within the Borough is delivered in a sustainable and measured fashion
and that Street Naming & Numbering is consistently applied and appropriately
subsidised by users of the service.

4.

Background:

4.1

The appropriate naming of streets, and naming and numbering of buildings is
essential for:
• Way finding by the public.
• Delivery of post by the Royal Mail and courier services.
• Address required by Utility Services.
• Fast responses to emergencies by ambulance, police, and fire services.

2

• Record keeping, e.g. index to the National Land and Property Gazetteer,
legal transactions, taxation, planning permissions.
4.2

It is important that the property names and numbers are appropriate, and are
clearly displayed so that the public and service providers can quickly and
easily locate a property and its entrance.

4.3

The powers and duties in respect of the naming and numbering of streets and
buildings are contained in the London Building Acts (Amendment) Act 1939 .
This requires the Local Authority to prepare street naming and numbering
schemes and to maintain a good standard of street nameplates. This role is
essential for the efficient functioning of postal and emergency services as well
as for the convenience and safety of the general public. This also gives the
Council powers in relation to:
•
•
•
•

Naming new streets and footpaths;
Naming new buildings;
Renaming existing streets and buildings;
Deciding upon numbering and renumbering of buildings.

The SNN process is largely an administrative function, but also requires
intelligent use of geographical systems and the ability to cross check with
other systems e.g. Royal Mail Postal Address File (PAF), London Fire
Services and Valuation Office Agency (VOA). The process includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Telephone enquiries and advising of the application process;
Processing application forms;
Site visits when required;
Hold meetings with residents/Builders to advise on plans
Interrogating current LLPG property systems and identifying
duplicate entries;
Creating new streets and addresses in the LLPG system (Local
Land & property Gazetteer);
Distributing new address information to internal and external
contacts.

4.2

Historically the SNN function sat under Highways for a number of years.
However, it was decided that as the SNN function has a close synergy with
the Local Land & Property Gazetteer (LLPG) which maintains addresses
centrally, a collective decision was made to move this function under the
Asset Management Systems Team in April 2013. It now means that all
address intelligence is managed in one place.

5

The Lewisham SNN Function:

5.1

According to the Planning Service Annual Monitoring Report 2014/15 there is
a resilient supply of housing land for the next 15 years – the housing supply
amounts to 14,883 dwellings over 15 years, with a 25% over supply in the first
five years compared to the London Plan target. The performance in

3

determining planning applications in 2014/15 is good – a total of 2,747
planning applications were lodged with the Council during 2014/15, an 11%
increase from the previous year and the performance for determining major
and minor applications was above the target levels, but slightly below the
target for other applications. With a net 1,468 dwellings completed during
2014/15, completions were double that of the previous year and were the
second highest in the last 11 years. Completions exceeded the current
London Plan target of 1,105 dwellings per annum by 33%. Completions were
concentrated on six major sites (79%) and four large sites (7%). The 450 new
affordable homes completed during 2014/15 is considerably higher than the
previous year. The total new dwellings approved during 2014/15 will create
5,440 new units.
This increase in development activity is reflected in the numbers of Street
Naming and Numbering Applications.
A table showing actual number of applications received and the number of
properties created in the PAF (Royal mail database) and LLPG system since
2014 till date.

Months
Jan
Feb
Mar
Apr
May
Jun
Jul
Aug
Sep
Oct
Nov
Dec
Total
Avg Properties
/ Applications
per month

5.2

No. of
applications
2014
30
8
17
10
9
9
19
7
17
17
19
12
174
15

No. of
Properties
2014
505
33
147
1295
74
17
265
18
115
260
251
69
3049
254

No. of
applications
2015
12
6
14
23
13
21
10
13
9
3
18
12
122
10

No. of
Properties
2015
211
80
55
475
75
250
65
96
20
10
90
175
1256
105

No. of
applications
2016
8
20
25
11
4

No. of
Properties
2016
40
293
364
325
372

68

1394

14

279

As set out above, the Power to charge falls under Section 93 of the Local
Government Act 2003. This sets out that a local authority may charge for
discretionary services, although Lewisham currently does not charge forthis
service. A high proportion of Council’s, including (Greenwich, Bromley,
Bexley, Croydon and Southwark), have utilized this to introduce cost recovery
charges for the SNN function.

4

5.3

A table showing the proposed new charges for Lewisham against comparative
data for some London Boroughs is as set out below:

Local
authority

Lewisham
(PROPOSED)
Greenwich

Southwark

Croydon

New Developments

New
Street
Naming

New
building
naming

New
street/property
numbering e.g.
block of flats

£350.00
£356.00

£350.00
£416.00

£50 plus £10
per unit
£33 per unit

£202.00

£500.00

£136.00

£250.00

Bexley

£180 - if
LA
choose
name
£280 - if
Applicant
choose
name

Westminster

£420.00

£112.00

£112 per unit

£240.00

Tower
Hamlets

£405.00

£405.00

Adding an
alias to a
numbered
property

£ 50.00

£ 50.00

£ 50.00

Change
of bldg
name
/number
e.g. block
of flats
£50 plus
£10 per
unit

Confirmation
of address to
Solicitors,
Agents,
Banks etc
£30.00

£68 to
£105 for
1 to 80
units

£250 + £35 per
unit

£360 - if
LA
choose
name
£550 - if
Applicant
choose
name

£485.00

New
individual
property

Change
of house
name
/number

£68 to £105 for
1 to 80 units

£53/£37/£27
per unit
depending on
number of
units £485
Commercial
estate
£180 - £1000
for less than
100 units when
over 100 plus
units it is
£1000 + £10
per unit
For residential
£180 - if LA
choose name
£280 - if
Applicant
choose name
For commercial
estate £360 - if
LA choose
name £550 - if
Applicant
choose name

Bromley

Existing Developments

£250.00

£28 for
certificate
and £43 for
plans

£250.00

£53.00

£25.00

£112.00

£112.00

£112.00

1st unit £70
Per
additional
unit £45
up to 50
units
Per
additional
unit £35
for over
50 units
£112 per
unit

£70.00
no charges

5

Camden

5.4

£211.00

£211.00

£173 - £231 for
up to 20 units
£33 per
additional unit
over 20

£211.00

£211.00

£211.00

no charge

Based on the types of SNN activities and officer time taken to provide the
discretionary elements of the SNN, it is proposed that the Council looks to
adopt the new charging schedule as set out in the table below.
New Developments:
New Street Naming
New Building Naming
New Street/Property Numbering (e.g. block of flats)
New individual property
Existing Properties:
Change of house name or number;
Adding an alias to a numbered property;
Change of building name (e.g. block of flats);
Confirmation of address to Solicitors, Agents, Banks
etc.

£350 per street
£350 per building
£50 + £10 per unit
£50.00
£50
£50
£50 + £10 per unit
£30

5.5

These proposed charges would fully recover the costs of delivering the
discretionary elements of the SNN. The SNN charges would be reviewed
annually to ensure continued compliance with section 93 of the Local
Government Act 2003 and best value for Lewisham residents.

5.6

In addition to this, there is an intention to review and improve the current
manual administration process by acquiring a SNN system which will be fully
integrate the SNN process on our current website, GIS mapping and LLPG
systems. The concept will be to be able to create on-line intelligent web forms
which applicants can complete online and make on-line payments. The LBL
SNN officer and LLPG Custodian will be notified electronically of all new
applications and will be able to access the content on-line. The information will
be captured directly into a database with links through to the LLPG data. A
discussion with the Digitization team is currently in progress. This will then
enable the SNN Team to maintain a structural database, streamline the
current process to define the exact business process. It will also improve
flexibility and reduce paper records.

6.

Legal Implications:

6.1

The Council’s powers and obligations in respect of Street Naming and
Numbering are contained within theLondon Building Acts (Amendment) Act
1939, Part II as amended
o The Power to charge for discretionary services is contained within
Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003.. Discretionary
services are those services that an authority has the power to but is
not obliged to provide. An authority can only charge for such
6

services, where the person who receives the service has agreed to
its provision. The Act places the Council under a duty to secure
that, taking one year with another, the income from charges for the
services charged for, does not exceed the costs of its provision.
The report sets out those functions which are discretionary and which
therefore may attract a fee. The report also confirms at paragraph 5.5 that the
proposed charges will be reviewed annually to ensure compliance with the
Council’s obligations contained within Section 93.
7.

Financial Implications:

7.1

The Council has the power to charge for discretionary services in accordance
with Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003 which requires that the
income from charges does not exceed the cost of provision of the service.

7.2

The charges as set out above have been determined to ensure cost recovery
of the discretionary elements and will be reviewed annually as appropriate.
The total income generated annually will depend on the volume and type of
applications.

8.

Human Resource Implications:

8.1

There are no direct HR implications arising from this report.

9.

Environmental Implications:

9.1

There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.

10.

Equalities Implications:

10.1

There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report..

11.

Crime and Disorder

11.1

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

12

Conclusion

12.1

The Council has a statutory duty to name and number streets, however it has
the power to recoup the costs associated with the discretionary elements of
the SNN service, which it historically has not done.

7

12.2

Given the significant increase in regeneration and development within the
Borough, and the likely future levels of activity, it is now appropriate to ensure
that the continued provision of this service is not to the detriment of other
Council services.

12.3

The proposed SNN charges have been structured to ensure the recovery of
the current cost of the SNN resources and systems so that we can offer value
for money to residents and prospective developers.

12.4

These charges are to take effect immediately and will be reviewed annually.

13.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Short Title
of Document

Date

File Location

File
Ref.

Contact
Officer

Exempt
Information

If there are any queries on this report, please contact Katharine Nidd on 020 8314
6551.

8

MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title

Talkback 2015 Action Plan

Key Decision Yes

Item Number

Ward

n/a

Contributors

Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration

Class

Open

Date

June 29 2016

1.

Introduction

1.1

The Council’s employee survey, Talkback 2015, was conducted in October 2015. At the
meeting on 11th May 2016 the Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee referred
matters including the request for an action plan in relation to the recent employee survey
to the Mayor and Cabinet.

1.2

This report recommends an action plan to be undertaken based on feedback of the results

2.

Background

2.1

Talkback 2015, the Council's employee survey, was conducted in October 2015
independently by BMG Research. The survey set out to measure progress against the
Council’s People Management Strategy.

2.2

All eligible employees (2,450) within the Council were invited to take part in the survey,
either through an email invitation to complete the survey electronically or via a paper
questionnaire delivered to them at their place of work. All eligible (550) agency staff were
also surveyed separately, the response rate was 20% and was undertaken independently
by BMG Research.

2.3

The Council’s employee survey provides staff with an opportunity to anonymously say
what they thought about working for Lewisham Council. This survey is conducted every
three years.

2.4

The survey asked staff a set of quantitative direct questions, as well as qualitative
suggestions on their perspectives on how they were managed, how budget reductions
were managed, as well as their suggestions for improvements.

2.5

A summary of the findings presented to the Mayor and Cabinet and Safer Stronger
Communities Select Committee is provided in paragraph 4.

3.

Policy Context

3.1

The Council’s Talkback 2015 Survey will be responding to the following priorities within the
Sustainable Community Strategy:
-

Priority 1, Ambitious and Achieving: there will be a strong focus on providing
opportunities to local residents to work.
Priority 3, Empowered and Responsible; where people are actively involved

1

3.2

in their local area and contribute to supportive communities.
Priority 6, Dynamic and Prosperous: by increasing access to the number, quality and
range of employment opportunities for all local citizens.

The employee survey meets the following Corporate priorities:
-

Priority 1, Community leadership and empowerment: the employee survey results will
develop opportunities for the active participation and engagement of people in the life
of the community.
Priority 5, Strengthening the local economy: the results of the employee survey will
assist in strengthening the employment skills of the workforce.
Priority 10, Inspiring efficiency, effectiveness and equity: the employee survey results
will ensure that services meet the needs of the community.

3.3

The employee survey supports the Council’s People Management Strategy in
developing effective leaders and an engaged workforce, fostering a high performance
culture and a flexible organisation that encourages managed risk taking.

4.

Recommendations

4.1

It is recommended that the following actions contained in the attached action plan are
agreed.

4.2

The results of the quantitative questions asked of staff, have led to the recommendations
below:

Career Development
•
Develop manager’s skills and confidence to have the necessary conversations with
employees about their career development.
•
Create an online career development portal for employees to access and utilise.
•
Change employee career expectations – i.e. focus to be about developing
themselves so that they have ‘transferable’ and ‘portable’ skills.
Performance Management
•
Create greater link between corporate and employee performance management
•
Improve appraisal (PES) usage and monitoring
•
Develop managers’ abilities to manage performance
Communication and Engagement
•
Improve exposure to senior management
•
Feedback themes and actions from Talkback
•
Develop regular staff briefings
4.3

The results of the qualitative questions asked of staff, have led to the recommendations
below:

Organisational performance
•
Identify areas where improvements to the working environment may be undertaken
through a more reliable remote desktop environment
•
Improve the ‘back end’ IT infrastructure
•
Link individual performance with organisational performance more explicitly
•
Use data more effectively to manage performance of teams and services.
•
Improve the quality of workforce management, especially absence and performance
management

2

Change
•
•
•

Improve the communication of change throughout the Council, paying particular
attention to groups based away from the Catford complex.
Increase staff involvement in the decision making regarding change across the Council
Communicate change more effectively and transparently

Making savings
•
Improve equipment (e.g. IT), training and other resources / Increasing the use of online
methods
•
Support more collaborative and partnership working with both internal and external
partners to create efficiencies and cost savings
•
Consider suggestions made by staff in the Talkback survey
Senior Management engagement
•
Develop more open channels of communication for employees with senior
management teams including:
o Meetings
o Briefings and information
•
Increase senior manager general presence, visibility and availability
5.

Summary of Findings

5.1

The findings are more or less in line with the previous employee survey and feedback from
employee focus groups. Whilst there were some more positive changes in responses and
some more negative since the last survey, these were not by much, and there was little
differentiation by Directorate.

5.2

The information from this survey and subsequent actions will be essential to ensure that
the Council plans, implements and manages the programme of change as successfully as
possible.

5.3

Areas of strength:
•
•
•

•

5.4

The workforce has been found to be more adaptable than the average, and they are
more likely than in 2012 to feel a responsibility for making change happen. This
suggests there is a positive platform in which to drive forwards change.
Staff feel that the Council provides a good quality service to the public, is a diverse
working environment, with supportive colleagues and flexible arrangements.
There have been notable improvements in attitudes since 2012, particularly in terms of
how change is being managed.
This includes how senior managers have
communicated change due to budget reductions, levels of understanding and support
for change, and how staff are being consulted and involved. More staff also feel the
Council provides value for money.
Positively, the workforce largely understands how their role helps the Council to
achieve its objectives, and this is 10% points higher than the benchmark. This is a key
ingredient of an engaged workforce, and therefore needs to be maintained.
Employees were asked a number of qualitative questions where they were asked to
feedback their ideas on making savings in their area and how change might be better
managed in the Council. Positively, many employees took the opportunity to feedback
and offered plentiful and good ideas, particularly on what senior managers might do to
involve employees more. Whilst, inevitably, some feedback was less positive, there were
a number of employees who were very happy with how their senior managers kept them
informed. The qualitative questions asked were:

3

•
•
•
•
•
•
5.5

What do you think the Council does particularly well?
What ONE thing would you like to see changed at the Council that would have
appositive impact on your job?
How, if at all, do you think change could be more effectively managed at the Council?
Please provide us with any ideas you might have on how the Council could make
savings in your area.
How, if at all, do you think that senior management could better keep staff involved?
Are there any other performance issues that could be better managed in your service
area?
A survey was also conducted with the agency workforce. Agency workers are about
10% more positive than employees of the Council. This was expected as CIPD research
finds that temporary employees have a generally more positive attitude to their jobs than
permanent employees.

5.6
•

•
•

•

•

The Council could enhance the following:
Career development – employees have negative perceptions of opportunities to
develop a career at the Council and it is one of the key measures that are high in
terms of importance as a driver of engagement, but is performing less well relative to
other measures.
Enabling and managing performance – there is particular emphasis on appraisals and
how poor performance is managed.
Appraisals – half of the workforce say they have not had one (23% points below the
benchmark). These sessions are critical in order to begin to address the priority of
developing staff, their careers and their performance, and ultimately building capacity,
particularly as the engagement score increases to 65% amongst staff who have had
an appraisal.
Continuing to explore how engagement, performance and capability can be improved,
the enablement and management of performance indexes found a distinct need for
improved access to training and development (17% points below the benchmark), as
well as appropriate tools/equipment (14% points below the benchmark). Dealing with
poor performance was also identified as a critical factor for improvement for enabling
high performance and innovation.
Another key driver of employee engagement is that of employee perceptions of
openness and honesty and transparency in the communications of senior managers
and these are not performing well relative to other measures.

6.

Action Plan

6.1

A detailed action plan is attached as an Appendix which reflects the range of issues
expressed by staff and the initiatives that are being undertaken to address these.
Quantitative feedback has been referred to lead officers and timescales identified for each
of the actions. In the case of the qualitative feedback they have been referred to the
relevant corporate groups for actions.

7.

Legal Implications

7.1

None applicable

8.

Financial Implications

8.1

None applicable

4

8.

Equality Implications

8.1

The Talkback survey report provided information on responses by the protected
characteristics. The subsequent action plan has taken these into account.

9.

Decision and Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that Mayor and Cabinet note the contents of this report.

10

Background Documents

Short Title of
Document
Full Talkback
Report –
Employees
and Agency
Workers

Date

File Location

2016
http://assets/sites/PeopleManagement/WorkingforLewisha
m/Reference%20Documents/Full%20Talkback%202015%2
0Report%20-%20Employees.pdf
http://assets/sites/PeopleManagement/WorkingforLewisha
m/Reference%20Documents/Full%20Talkback%202015%2
0Report%20-%20Employees.pdf

If there are any queries arising from this report, please contact Andreas Ghosh, Head of
Personnel and Development, 5th Floor, Laurence House, telephone 020 8314 7519.

5

Contact
Officer
Andreas
Ghosh

Talkback 2015 Action Plan
Quantitative Feedback
Key area for improvement: Performance Management
Recommendations for action

Achievements / Planned

Create greater link between corporate and
employee performance management

Planned

Improve appraisal (PES) usage and
monitoring

Lead/s
(Function)

Timescale

A clear set of people management accountabilities to be
developed and communicated to managers to provide
greater clarity on managing performance.

HR/SPIG

September

More specific linkages between service planning, KPIs and
PES.

HR/SPIG

October

New desktop environment to be introduced to enable
Council staff to have access to the new modern and
reliable remote desktop environment through new ‘thin
client’ devices allowing quicker logins.

Transformation
Board

End June

Numbers of staff
who have signed
off the new
environment

Upgrade ‘back end’ IT infrastructure – the upgrade of our
network and servers will deliver better performance and
greater reliability for our key systems.
Planned

Transformation
Board

End
September

Performance of
systems

Regular progress reports to be provided to
EMT/Departments

HR/IMT

July
onwards

Increased
completion of
PES

Further promote PES scheme on intranet at key points
during the year

HR

July
onwards

Briefings to be scheduled on importance of PES

HR

July
onwards

6

How we will
measure /
evaluate
Impact on
performance
Direct feedback
from managers
on usefulness of
approach taken.

Feedback from
managers on
impact on
performance

Incorporate PES process into Transactional Management
and Development Centres activity
Develop managers’ abilities to manage
performance

Planned
Core Management programme for new managers and
Development Centres for Service Managers – selection
process to be undertaken.

HR/SPIG

September

HR/SPIG

September

Direct feedback
from managers
on usefulness of
approach taken.
Initial user
acceptance
evaluation forms
Impact on
performance

Introduction of new remote working solution – all Council
staff will have access to a simplified remote working
solution that will allow them to access their desktop

Transformation
Board

End June

Extensive piloting of mobile working in CYP and ASC –
staff across CYP and ASC are piloting mobile technology
(iPhones and iPads)

Transformation
Board

End
September

7

Measuring
number of remote
logins
Feedback from
pilots

Key area for improvement Communication and Engagement
Recommendations for action

Achievements / Planned

Lead/s
(Function)

Timescale

Improve exposure to senior management
team

Planned
Email briefings by senior management team

Executive
Directors/EMT

October

Feedback themes and actions from
Talkback

Planned
Staff briefings by senior management team

Transformation
Board/EMT

August

‘You asked – we did’ poster campaigns

HR/Communications

October

Achievements
Talkback findings published on staff intranet and
core briefing notes provided to Heads of Service

HR/Communications

March
2016

Cross-council corporate groups to action qualitative
staff feedback
Develop regular staff briefings

EMT

October

Team meetings attended by senior management
team

EMT

November

EMT

December

8

Positive feedback
to approach from
staff

SPIG/Transformation
March
Board/Futures
onwards
Board/EMT

Planned
Staff emails, newsletters and bulletins produced

Yearly manager/staff forum events

How we will
measure /
evaluate
Positive feedback
from staff to
approach

Positive feedback
to approach from
staff

Key area for improvement: Career Development
Recommendations for action

Achievements / Planned

Develop manager’s skills and confidence
to have the necessary conversations with
employees about their career
development

Planned

Lead/s
Timescale
(Function)

Implement Mentoring skills and Career planning
workshops for managers and staff

HR

December

Core Management programme and Development
Centres to be developed.

HR

September

How we will
measure /
evaluate
Through feedback
mechanisms
implemented
Direct feedback
from managers on
usefulness of
approach taken.
Initial user
acceptance
evaluation forms.

Create an online career development
portal for employees to access and utilise

Change employee career expectations i.e.
focus to be about developing themselves
so that they have ‘transferable’ and
‘portable’ skills

Planned
Online career portals to be investigated
Planned
Repositioning offering of Identifying Staff
Development Needs, Being a Great Interviewee and
CV writing courses in timing with PES and other
courses to be considered.
PES guidance notes and support for managers to be
reviewed in assessing development needs and will
include focus on career development.

9

HR

December

HR

September

HR

September

Impact on ability to
identify learning
needs
Further discussions
on career
development by
managers

Qualitative Feedback
Key area for improvement: Organisational Performance
Recommendations for action

Achievements / Planned

Lead/s
(Function)

Organisational Performance

Planned
Identify areas where improvements to the working
environment may be undertaken through a more
reliable remote desktop environment.

Timescale

How we will
measure /
evaluate

Transformation End June
Board

Numbers of staff
who have signed
off the new
environment.

Transformation End September
Board

Performance of
systems

SPIG

January

SPIG

January

Impact on
organisational and
individual
performance. .

SPIG/DMT’s

January

Improve the ‘back end’ IT infrastructure.
Link individual performance with organisational
performance more explicitly.
Use data more effectively to manage performance
of teams and services.
Take an overview of absence and performance
management.
Key area for improvement: Change
Change

Planned
Improve the communication of change throughout
the Council, paying particular attention to groups
based away from the Catford complex.

Transformation January
Board

Increase staff involvement in decision making
Transformation January
regarding change across the Council.
Board/Futures
Board
Communicate change more effectively and
Transformation January
transparently.
Board/Futures

10

Positive feedback
to approach from
staff.

Board

Key area for improvement: Making
savings
Making savings

Planned
Improve equipment (e.g. IT), training and other
resources / Increasing the use of online methods

Futures Board

January

Improvement in
equipment and use
of online methods.

Support more collaborative and partnership
working with both internal and external partners to
create efficiencies and cost savings

Futures Board

January

Increase in cost
savings.

Futures Board

January

EMT

January

EMT

January

Consider suggestions made by staff in the
Talkback survey
Key area for improvement: Senior
Management Engagement
Senior Management Engagement

Planned
Develop more open channels of communication
for employees with senior management teams
including:
•
Meetings
•
Briefings and information
Increase senior manager general presence,
visibility and availability

11

Positive feedback
to approach from
staff.

MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title
Key Decision

Adoption Service Update, Revised Statement of Purpose; Children’s
Guides to Adoption Support Services and Children’s Guides to
Adoption
Item No.

Ward

All.

Contributors

Executive Director for Children and Young People

Class

Part 1

Date: 29 June 2016

1

Purpose

1.1

To provide the Mayor and Cabinet with an overview of the work of the
Adoption Service and the Adoption and Permanence Panel in
compliance with legislation and present the Statement of Purpose and
Children’s Guides.

2

Summary

2.1

This report sets out the work undertaken by the Adoption Service and
presents the Statement of Purpose and the Children’s Guides on
Adoption.

3

Recommendations

3.1

That the Mayor and Cabinet note the report of the work of the Adoption
Service.

3.2

That the Mayor and Cabinet approve the review of the Statement of
Purpose 2016-17 (Appendix 1).

3.3

That the Mayor and Cabinet note the updated Children’s Guides to
Adoption and Adoption Support Services (Appendix 2, 3 and 4).

4

Policy Context

4.1

Lewisham is a registered Adoption Agency. Adoption Agencies are
subject to the Adoption Agency Regulations (AAR) 2005 and 2011 and
The Adoption Agencies (Panel and Consequential Amendments)
Regulations 2012; Adoption Agencies (Miscellaneous Amendments)
Regulations 2013; Children and Families Act 2014 and are subject to the
National Minimum Standards 2014 (NMS) which accompany the
Regulations. Standard 25.6 of the National Minimum Standards
requires the Adoption Agency to produce a six monthly report to be
received by the Council Executive.

4.2

Standard 18.3 of the National Minimum Standards requires that the
Adoption Agency approves and annually reviews the Statement of
Purpose and the Children’s Guides.

4.3

The Statement of Purpose contributes to five of the key priority
outcomes of Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy 2008-2020:
Ambitious and achieving – where people are inspired and
supported to fulfil their potential
 Safer – where people feel safe and live free from crime, antisocial
behaviour and abuse
 Empowered and responsible – where people are actively involved
in their local area and contribute to supportive communities
 Healthy, active and enjoyable – where people can actively
participate in maintaining and improving their health and well-being
 Dynamic and prosperous – where people are part of vibrant
communities and town centres, well connected to London and
beyond.
The Statement of Purpose also contributes to the delivery of the
Children and Young Peoples Plan 20151-18 with 4 priority outcome
areas:


4.4





4.5

Build child and family resilience
Be healthy and active
Raise achievement and attainment
Stay safe.

This statement also contributes to the Council priorities specifically
those relating to:



Young Peoples Achievement and Involvement – raising
educational attainment and improving facilities for young people
through partnership working
Protection of Children – better safeguarding and joined up
services for children at risk

It has been an eventful period for the last 12 months for the Adoption
Service; Central Government has introduced ‘Regionalising Adoption’
and the Adoption Service was also inspected as part of the Single
Inspection by Ofsted. The activities of the adoption service reflect the
above agenda and event.
4.6

Regionalising Adoption:

4.6.1 The government’s plan to regionalise adoption agencies was
introduced in July 2015. It encourages councils to join forces and work
together as regional adoption agencies by the end of this parliament
and is introducing legislation in the Education and Adoption Bill for
those Local Authorities that are unwilling to rise to the challenge. At
the moment, adoption services are provided at a localised scale. It is
the expectation of the government that by joining forces, the regional
adoption agencies will:

•
•
•
•
•

speed up matching for children,
improve adopter recruitment and adoption support,
reduce costs,
improve the life chances of the most vulnerable children and
provide more opportunity for these children to receive
consistently excellent outcomes.

4.6.2 On behalf of the London Local Authorities and Voluntary Adoption
Agencies, the London Adoption Board (a sub group of Adoption
Leadership Board) submitted an expression of interest to the DfE and
has commissioned a consultancy team to work on the proposal.
Currently it is working on ‘Scope and Define’. It is the plan of the
London Adoption Board to put forward options to the DfE for
consideration in April 2016.
4.6.3 The Lewisham Adoption Team has been actively involved in the
‘regionalising’ agenda and has participated in various consultation and
development meetings.
4.7

Ofsted Inspection

4.7.1 The Adoption Service was inspected as part of the Single Inspection
which took place from 26th October 2015 to 20th November 2015.
4.7.2 The judgment for Adoption is good, in the full Ofsted report published in
January 2016, it highlighted that ‘Adoption performance remains a
strength and permanency planning is progressed with appropriate
urgency and thoughtfulness. Children with a plan for adoption are well
supported, as are prospective adopters and this promotes effective
placement matching’.
4.7.3 ‘Post-adoption support is effectively provided to children, adopters and
birth parents’.
4.7.4 ‘The adoption panel reaches robust decisions for children.’
Assessments for children and their families recorded within child
placement reports (CPRs) are thorough, with all information being
carefully considered and analysed by the children’s social worker. This
includes careful consideration of family history, culture, ethnicity and
religion, as well children’s developmental needs. These detailed
assessments support robust matching processes and feed into highquality adoption placement reports (APRs)’.
4.7.5 ‘The adoption service successfully uses a range of options for
attracting and recruiting potential adopters, the local authority
appropriately identifies that its priorities are to recruit adopters for
children of all ages of African and African Caribbean ethnicities, and
children of dual heritage; sibling groups where the youngest child is
over three years old; children over five years old; and children with
disabilities’.

4.7.6 ‘The local authority is diligent in exploring the possibility of dual
registration, as concurrent carers or foster to adopt, with all potential
adopters during their assessment and preparation phase’.
4.7.7 ‘Careful planning for introductions ensures that children move into their
new home at a pace that meets their needs. There is flexibility within
adoption services to ensure that the number of placement moves is
minimised for children, for example with panel and placement dates
being brought forward to prevent the need for respite placements.
Adopters speak highly of the service’.
4.7.8 For access to the full report, please use the link below:
http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/lewisham
5

Background

5.1

The Adoption Service is primarily a service for looked after children. It
is committed to finding and supporting stable and secure adoption
placements for children when adoption is the identified plan for that
child. The majority of children placed for adoption have been removed
from their parents through the court system. All of these children have
had their plan for adoption approved by the court.

6

New Development and Performance

6.1

Family and Friends group

6.1.1 We recognise that for adoption to be successful, adopters need a good
support network, hence this year we have developed a new service for
family and friends of the prospective adopters. The ‘Family and Friends
Day’ is an event run by the Adoption Team and Adoption Support
Team; it is an event for members of the adopters’ support network to
learn a little about adoption and the needs of children who are placed
for adoption.
6.1.2 We provide a forum for friends and family to ask questions about the
adoption process, to learn something about attachment, and to
understand further the rationale of the methods that the adopters use to
parent their children.
6.1.3 This event is open to family and friends where the adopters are
matched with a child, approved but awaiting a match, or in the final
stages of their assessment. Two meetings had been held in the last 12
months and they were well attended. We plan to continue to run this
event at least once a year.
6.2

Supporting approved adopters who are waiting

6.2.1 Due to the significant decrease in the number of children approved for
adoption (52% decrease in 2015-6 Q 1 & 2; source: ALB Data return),
over 100 approved adoptive families across London are still waiting to
be matched to a child. This is an unprecedented phenomenon and we

acknowledge the anxiety of adopters having to endure the uncertainty
of waiting, together with the Consortia across London, we jointly ran
workshops for approved adoptive families who are waiting for children.
The workshops covered the following topics:
1) Families who are waiting in October 2015,
2) Considering sibling groups in February 2016,
3) Considering trans-racial placement in March 2016.
6.2.2 All the above workshops were well attended. The Consortia will review
the situation and consider further workshops if required.
Performance
6. 3

Concurrent Care Programme

6.3.1 The programme has now been fully implemented. Since January 2015,
three families have been approved as concurrent carers. One child was
placed at 5 days old and subsequently adopted by the same family
without needing to endure the repeated moves while the Local
Authority was assessing the birth parents and extended families.
Another child was placed with his concurrent carers, along with his
sibling while the case was in care proceedings. The Concurrent Care
Programme was commended by the Ofsted Inspector.
6.4

The Adoption Support Fund

6.4.1 The Adoption Support Fund has been fully implemented since
May 2015.Lewisham adoptive families took appropriate advantages of
the adoption support fund and received the recommended therapeutic
support their children. Over the last 12 months, we have received a
total of over £100,000 through the fund, to provide therapeutic support
to our adoptive families.
6.5

Performance Indicators

6.5.1 Over the last 12 months, echoing the national trend, we have also
experienced a reduced number of children for whom the final care plan
was adoption. Nationally there was a continuous reduction in the
number of placement orders made by the Court (29% due to court not
making a placement order 2015-6 Q1 & 2, source: ALB Data return), in
contrast the number of Special Guardianship Orders (SGO) is on the
rise. This has had a direct impact on the decreased number of
placement orders made by Court. We recognise that the majority of
SGOs are made to carers who have an existing relationship with the
children and have the capacity to provide good enough care to the
children. However there have also been concerns re some of the
extended families and their ability to care for the children on a long
term basis. We welcome the Government’s action to review the use of
Special Guardianship Orders. The outcome of the December 2015
review found that there was a significant minority of cases where there
were concerns about the assessment. The Government has therefore
amended the regulations and statutory guidance to require that the

report to the court on potential special guardians, assess their capacity
to care for the children and meet their holistic needs now and until the
child is 18, and their ability to manage the complex relationship with the
birth parents.
6.5.2 It is too early to predict how the new guidance will impact on the
numbers of SGO’s and placement orders granted by the courts.
6.5.3 Adoption plans for the children are considered by two Agency Decision
Makers; the Director of Children’s Social Care and a Service Manager.
They make decisions on children’s permanency plans in rotation. The
meeting is held weekly in order to meet the requirement to complete
care proceedings within 26 weeks. They are able to consult with the
agency’s legal, medical and adoption agency adviser and to request
any further information deemed necessary. In year 2015-16, the
Agency Decision Makers have agreed an adoption plan for 25 children
and Special Guardianship for 21 children.

Number of adoption
plan
Number of SGO plan

Apr 14Mar 15
35

Apr 15Mar16
25

13

21

6.5.4 2015-16 figures show Lewisham consistently performs well though we
anticipate the number of adoption orders will reduce in the next
financial year due to the decreased number of placement orders made
by the Court as indicated above.
6.5.5 The table below shows the number of adoption orders achieved in
Lewisham in the last three financial years 2013-4; 2014-5 and 2015-6:

Number of adoption
orders
Adoption orders, child
placed with family
approved Lewisham
Adoption orders,
family approved by
Inter-agency
Number of single
adopters
Number adopted by
foster carer
Number adopted by
relative
Male / Female

Apr 13Mar 14
28

Apr 14Mar 15
33

Apr 15Mar 16
36

20

21

27

8

12

9

4

4

6

6

2

0

0

1

1

10/18

18/15

23/13

6.5.6 The decreased number of children adopted by their foster carers
indicates that we were more successful in finding families for children
with additional needs and moving them on in a timely manner. Foster
carer’s tend to adopt children with whom they have formed an
attachment and when no adoptive family has come forward for them.
6.5.7 During the last year between 1st April 2015 and 31st March 2016, 19
children were placed for adoption, that is, they were placed with
approved adoptive parents prior to an adoption order being granted.
6.5.8 The table below shows the details of the children placed for adoption
over the last year. It includes details of who the children were placed
with including their ethnicity and gender. In 2016/7 the Adoption
Service along with colleagues across the children’s directorate will
have an increased focus on children considered ‘harder to place’. We
have partnership arrangements with other Voluntary Adoption Agencies
and the London Consortia to identify families for those children. In the
last 12 months, we participated in 3 Exchange Days and one ‘Harder to
place’ event. We will continue to work closely with our partner agencies
to place older children, sibling groups; children from BME background
and children with complex needs.
Children placed for adoption
Number of children placed for
adoption
With families approved by Lewisham
With families through inter-agency
placements
Number of children placed with single
adopters
Number of children placed with
gay/lesbian adopters
Number of children placed with foster
carers
Male / Female
Ethnicity
White UK (including European)
Mixed heritage (incl mixed white
parentage)
Black African Caribbean
Black African
Black African Caribbean / Black
African
Asian

Apr 13Mar 14
27

Apr 14Mar 15
36

Apr 15Mar 16

20
7

23
13

12
7

3

5

1

3

3

2

1

1

2

14/13

20/16

13/6

18
7

15
13

8
7

2
0
0

3
3
0

1
3
0

0

2

0

19

6.5.9 Comparison of ages at time of placement for the last three years of
data.
Age of child at time of
placement for adoption
Children placed
Under 2 years
Age 2 to 3
Age 4
Age5
Age 6
Age 7-15

Apr
13Mar
14
27
20
3
3
0
0
1

Apr
14Mar
15
36
26
7
2
1
0
0

Apr
15Mar
16
19
15
2
1
1
0
0

6.5.10 Children’s individual needs are considered very carefully regardless of
their age, and if adoption is considered to be the suitable permanency
plan, we will do our best to identify families for older children.
6.5.11 The 2012-2015 Adoption Scorecard published by the Department for
Education confirmed that the Adoption Service in Lewisham
consistently performs in the top quartile. For example, between 2012
and 2015, the average time between a child entering care and moving
in with its adoptive family, Lewisham performs better than the national
average and is top within our statistical neighbours.
National performance
Statistical neighbouring boroughs
Lewisham

593 days
682 days
532days

6.5.12 Between 2012 and 2015, the average time between a child receiving
court authority to place a child and the local authority deciding on a
match to an adoptive family. Again Lewisham performs better than the
national average and at the top of our statistical neighbours.
National performance
statistical neighbouring boroughs
Lewisham

223 days
257 days
181days

6.5.13 The Adoption and Permanence Panel considers and makes clear
recommendations to the Agency Decision Maker who has the ultimate
decision making authority on behalf of the Council on a) whether a child
who is the subject of care proceedings, should be placed for adoption,
b) whether an applicant(s) should be approved to adopt; including the
consideration of Concurrent carers and Fostering for Adoption
applications c) whether a specific child/ren should be matched with an
identified adoptive parent(s). The guidance advises that adoption
agencies must not deny or delay a child an adoptive home on the
grounds that they do not share the same ethnic or cultural background.
Lewisham is clear that due consideration is given to the particular
characteristics and circumstances and the background of children

when matching to adoptive parents but this consideration will never
delay the placement.
6.6.

The Lewisham Adoption and Permanence Panel is fully compliant with
the Adoption Agency Regulations. The Lewisham Adoption and
Permanence Panel, which convenes on a fortnightly basis (more
frequently if required to avoid delay in a child’s placement), currently
consists of one elected member, six independent persons of whom two
are adoptees, two are adopters, one having personal and professional
experience of long term fostering and another having knowledge and
expertise on education. The Medical Adviser is a paediatrician with
NHS Lewisham and the chair is independent of the Council and has
extensive experience of chairing meetings and excellent understanding
of adoption work. The Panel is supported by a Solicitor and an
Adoption Team Manager who acts as Agency Adviser.

6.7.

Adoptive families have been informed of their rights in terms of
adoption leave entitlement and the new function of Adoption Register
and AdoptionLink from the onset of the adoption process; i.e. at the
Information Evening events.

6.8

Over the last 12 months, our priority was to assess families who were
willing to consider ‘harder to place’ children; i.e. children who are older,
with complex needs and sibling groups. We successfully increased the
number of adopters from BME background and families who were
willing to consider children with more complex needs.

6.8.1 Between 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2016 25 families were approved to
adopt.

Number of applicants approved to adopt
Of these applicants, number who were
heterosexual couples
Of these applicants, number who were single
female
Of these applicants, number who were single
male
Of these applicants, number who were same
sex couple
Of these applicants, number who were second
time adopters
Of these applicants, number who were kinship /
foster carers

Apr
13Mar
14

Apr
14Mar
15

Apr
15Mar
16

30
26

22
18

25
23

3

2

8

0

0

0

3

4

2

3

2

10

2

1

0

Ethnicity
White UK (including other European)
Mixed heritage (including White UK/Asian)
Black African Caribbean
Black African
Black African Caribbean / Black African
Asian
Other

Apr
13Mar
14

Apr
14Mar
15

Apr
15Mar
16

20
5
3
2
0
0
0

16
1
4
0
0
1
0

18
2
2
2
0
1
0

6.8.2 In responding to the decreased number of children needing adoptive
families and increased number of approved adoptive families waiting, in
the next financial year we will only accept applicants who are willing to
consider ‘harder to place’ children. However we will review our priority
regularly to ensure a right balance is achieved; i.e. we always have a
pool of approved families ready to adopt the children in our care.
7

Inter-country Adoption

7. 1

Adoption in the UK is principally a service for children in the UK. A
small number of applicants in the UK want to adopt a child from
overseas and Lewisham, as an adoption agency, has a statutory duty
to ensure these applicants are assessed and supported. As of 1st April
2016 PACT (Parents and Children Together), the voluntary agency that
Lewisham commissioned to provide this service since July 2011 has
closed their inter-country adoption service. From 1st April 2016, IACthe centre for adoption will provide this service on behalf of Lewisham.
IAC is a long standing inter-country adoption agency; providing intercountry adoption services for many local authorities; including all our
Consortium partners. IAC will manage all inter-country adoption cases
from enquires through to post adoption support; including provision of
post adoption report to the country of origin.

8

Adoption Support and Special Guardianship Support Services

8.1

Since May 2015, the Adoption Support Fund has been fully
implemented. The team undertakes adoption support assessments
and makes applications to the Adoption Support Fund. As of 31 March
2016, 22 adoptive families received therapeutic support via the fund.

8.2

The Adoption Support Team is available to adoptive families; birth
families and families with a Special Guardianship Order. The support
services provide a range of services to families and their children which
includes counseling, advice and information, workshops/support
groups, an annual funday, financial support and links with CAMHS. The
team also coordinates post adoption contact arrangements. Counseling
is also provided to birth relatives who are losing a child to adoption and
Lewisham provides an intermediary service between birth relatives and
adopted adults. We also commissioned the Post Adoption Centre

(PAC) to provide the support services should the families require
further or independent counselling. We offer advice to social workers in
other teams with regards to Special Guardianship Support Plans. We
work closely with our Referral & Assessment Team colleagues when
there are referrals or concerns about children subject to either an SGO
or an adoption order.
8.3

The Adoption Support Team and Adoption Team colleagues undertake
joint work to ensure families receive support pre the adoption order.

8.4

Over the last 12 months, the Adoption Support Team dealt with 694
existing cases providing a range of support services including letterbox
contact. We provided support to 146 families with Special Guardianship
Orders, 482 adopted children and 66 adoptive families. 44 new
referrals were received, of those, 7 from birth families; 4 from Special
Guardianship families and 29 from adoptive families.

8.5

We also work in partnership with our Consortium members; together
we organise and facilitate Support Groups for Adopted Adults and
Teenagers Group. We also jointly fund the ‘We are Family’ group;
which is a user-led adoption community that runs groups for adopters
across London. The Adoption Support Service runs an annual family
fun day, which is highly valued by adopters, many of whom have
attended for many years.

9

National Requirements

9.1

The National Minimum Standards require that a clear written statement
of purpose is available to all users of the service which sets out the
aims and objectives of the Adoption Agency and describes the facilities
and services that are provided and the principles to which the service
adheres. The Lewisham Statement of Purpose 2016-17 (Appendix 1)
has been updated and is presented to the Mayor & Cabinet for
approval. The Updated Statement of Purpose has included information
on staff and new development and information of Concurrent Care and
Fostering for Adoption programme.

9.2

The National Minimum Standards require that two Children’s Guides to
Adoption and Adoption Support are produced. The Guides (Appendix
2, 3 & 4) have been updated and are presented to Mayor and Cabinet
for approval.

9.3

Our rate of disrupted placements has consistently also been very low,
in the last 10 years. There were no disruptions in year 2015-6. The
recent research study on adoption disruption indicates that the national
figures were about 3%. Lewisham’s figure of less than 1% compares
very favourably.

9.4

Paragraphs 6 demonstrates that Lewisham has implemented the
planned changes and developed new services, such as the Family and
Friends Day. We have strengthened the role of the South London
Adoption Consortium in order to deliver a responsive service to ensure
there are no delays in the matching process; we have jointly worked
with three other members to run the Information Events and Stage 1

Learning Group. We have also expanded our partnership working with
other London Consortia to support families who are waiting for a
placement. The monthly list, a list of all approved adopters and children
waiting for adoptive placement continues to be circulated monthly to all
London Consortia. A similar approach is being arranged for adoption
support services and to ensure the service is able to meet the
requirements of the adoption support fund. We work very closely with
the ‘Regionalising Adoption’ consultant group.
10

Financial Implications

10.1

There are no financial implications arising directly from the agreement
of the recommendations of the report.

11

Legal Implications

11.1

Section 3(1) of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 places a duty on
the Local Authority to establish and maintain an adoption service in its
area designed to meet the needs of children who may be or who have
been adopted, adults who have been adopted, their parents or
guardians, including parents and former guardians, and both
prospective or actual adopters.

11.2

The Local Authority is required to maintain and operate its adoption
service in accordance with detailed statutory regulations, including The
Adoption Agency Regulations (AAR) 2005 and 2011 and The Adoption
Agencies (Panel and Consequential Amendments) Regulations 2012,
Adoption Agencies (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013
and it is subject to National Minimum Standards which accompany the
Regulations.

11.3

National Minimum Standards apply to how the Local Authority
discharges its duties. They do not have the force of law, but are used
by registration authorities when registering and inspecting adoption
agencies and adoption support agencies, to determine whether the
agencies meet their obligations under the mandatory regulations.

12

Equalities Legislation

12.1

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality
duty (the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine
protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment,
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion
or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

12.2

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:


eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.



foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

12.3

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be
attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of
relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or
foster good relations.

12.4

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued
Technical Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory
guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions &
Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have
regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and
attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the
equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as
failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value.
The statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/

12.5

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously
issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the
equality duty:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

12.6

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties
and who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to
meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more
detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further
information and resources are available at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/publicsector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

13

Crime and Disorder Implications

13.1

Research indicates that early adoption secures better outcomes for
looked after children and improves their life chances and thereby
reduces the likelihood of them becoming involved in crime or becoming
victims of crime.

14

Equalities Implications

14.1

Looked After Children are one of the most vulnerable groups of
children. They are more likely to have poorer education and health
outcomes that lead to social exclusion. Looked After Children are also
more likely to have special educational needs. Outcomes for adopted
children are better than for Looked After Children so adoption is
positive in terms of minimising inequalities.

15

Environmental Implications

15.1

There are no environmental implications arising from this report.

16.

Conclusion

16.1

The Mayor is asked to accept the report of the Adoption Service and to
approve the revised Statement of Purpose 2016-17 and the two
updated Children’s Guides.

17.

Background documents


Adoption Agency Regulations 2005 and 2011



The Adoption Agencies (Panel and Consequential Amendments)
Regulations 2012; Adoption Agencies (Miscellaneous Amendments)



Regulations 2013



National Minimum Standards (Adoption) 2003, 2011 and July 2014

Appendix 1-Adoption Service Statement of Purpose 2016-17
Appendix 2-Children’s Guides-Young Children
Appendix 3-Children’s Guides-Older Children
Appendix 4- Children’s Guides for Adoption Support

Lewisham Adoption Service
Statement of Purpose 2016 - 2017

V1 23.3.16

1

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose

Contents

Why does Lewisham have a Statement of Purpose? ...............................................................................3
Values, aims and objectives......................................................................................................................3
Policies and procedures............................................................................................................................ 5
Services provided by Lewisham Adoption Agency ...................................................................................5
Adoption Support Services........................................................................................................................6
Non-agency adoptions .............................................................................................................................. 6
Intercountry adoptions............................................................................................................................... 7
The Adoption and Permanence Panel and Decision-making....................................................................7
Safeguarding and promoting welfare ........................................................................................................8
Monitoring and evaluation of service provision .........................................................................................8
Management of the service.......................................................................................................................9
Where can we be found? ........................................................................................................................11
How to complain...................................................................................................................................... 11
Regulation and Inspection.......................................................................................................................11

2

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose
Why does Lewisham have a Statement of

reach

children

for

whom

support

and

Purpose?

intervention is needed in the most timely and

The National Minimum Standards for Adoption

effective way and aim to support birth families

set out the requirement for adoption agencies

to provide safe and appropriate care for their

to have a Statement of Purpose detailing the

children. Where this is not possible, adoption

aims and objectives of the Adoption service,

can be an option to enable children to have

and sets out service provision.

an enjoyable childhood, and benefit from

The statement of purpose is for:

excellent parenting and education, enjoying a



children and young people;

wide range of opportunities to develop their



birth relatives;

talents and skills leading to a successful adult



prospective and approved adoptive

life.

families;
The Adoption and Adoption Support teams are



special guardians and foster carers;



adopted adults;



social workers and staff working for the

committed to finding and supporting stable and
secure adoption placements for children where
the identified plan is adoption. The service is

purposes of Lewisham Adoption service;


Councillors;



Adoption and Permanence Panel

driven in its work by the ambition to achieve
permanence for as many children as possible
and as early as possible. To this end we are

members;


progressing a range of different ways to

Office for Standards in Education,

promote adoption and permanence for children

Children’s Services (Ofsted);


including concurrent placements, Fostering for

members of the public

Adoption and the ‘Foster to Adopt’ programme.
We strive to recruit adopters who can offer a

This statement of purpose is reviewed annually,

permanent family to children who are waiting.

and updated as required to incorporate any

We work in partnership with voluntary adoption

changes in policy and/or legislation. It is also

agencies

subject to review and approval by elected

Borough

A
of

London

Adoption

who are harder to place.

Values, aims and objectives
London

other

Consortia to find placements for those children

members of London Borough of Lewisham.

The

and

Lewisham

comprehensive

provided

to

meet

range
the

of

services

lifelong

needs

are
of

understands that for vulnerable children and

individuals

young people who become looked after that

adoption.

self

are

fairness and respect and to ensure that the

fundamental to ensuring they are able to

services provided meet the services users’

progress positively to lead fulfilling and happy

needs in relation to race, culture, ethnicity,

lives. We work together with our partners to

language, disability and sexuality.

development

and

security

3

whose

lives

are

affected

by

We aim to treat all parties with

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose
recruitment, matching, placement and
beyond, based on assessed need.

The Adoption and Children Act 2002 provides
the legal framework for the service. The values
that underpin the services include:










All staff are provided with a thorough induction

all children are entitled to grow up as part

and support from experienced and skilled

of a stable and loving family

managers to promote these values and to work

where possible it is best for children to be

within

brought up by their birth family

policies.

the welfare of the child is the paramount

whistleblowing policy as part of their induction

consideration throughout the adoption

and this makes clear the responsibility for all

process

staff to report areas of poor practice.

the

Council’s

equal

opportunities

Staff are also given the Council’s

the matching of children with prospective
adopters is given careful consideration in

The National context

relation to all the child’s identified needs

Since May 2015, the Adoption Support Fund is

with consideration of the special needs of

now fully implemented. The fund makes

each child in every case

adoption support accessible, timely and of high

Guidance sets out that adoption agencies

quality for those families that need it the most.

must not deny or delay a child an

Lewisham makes the full benefit of the fund

adoptive home on the grounds that they

and

do not share the same ethnic or cultural

therapeutic support to our adoptive families. In

background. Lewisham is clear that due

July 2015, the government introduced the plan

consideration is given to the particular

to regionalise adoption agencies. It encourages

characteristics and circumstances and the

councils to join forces and work together as

background of children when matching to

regional adoption agencies by end of this

adoptive parents but this consideration

parliament.

will never delay the placement

government that by joining forces, the regional

the teams work in close partnership with

adoption agencies will:

has

been

It

is

successfully

the

in

providing

expectation

of

the

colleagues across Children’s Social Care
and with key partner agencies to ensure

•

speed up matching for children,

that delays in achieving permanence are

•

improve adopter recruitment and
adoption support,

avoided




the lifelong implications of adoption

•

reduce costs,

require a range of services to meet the

•

improve the life chances of the

needs of individuals at different stages of

most vulnerable children and

the process

provide more opportunity for

adoptive parents will be supported and

these children to receive

valued through the process of

consistently excellent outcomes.
4

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose
Ofsted Inspection

and Exchange Days to identify adoptive
families for these children. We also

The Adoption Service was inspected as part of
the Single Inspection which took place from

prioritise assessing families who are

26th

able to consider these children.

October 2015 to 20th November 2015.


The judgment is good, in the full Ofsted report

Adoption Support Services – we

January 2016, it highlighted that ‘Adoption

work in partnership with other London

remains a strength and permanency planning is

Consortia, and jointly fund the ‘We are

progressed

and

family’ adopters support group. We

for

provide a full range of support services

adoption are well supported, as are prospective

and commission the Post Adoption

adopters and this promotes effective placement

Centre

matching.’

independent counselling to birth parents

For full report, please use the link below:

and adoptive families.

with

thoughtfulness.

appropriate
Children

urgency

with

a

plan

(PAC)

for

further

and

http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/lewisham

Policies and procedures
Lewisham has a strong track record of

The policies and procedures cover all of the

successfully placing children and is one of the

agency’s

highest

as

adopted adults, birth relatives, step-parent

evidenced in the adoption scorecards. We

adopters and intercountry adopters and their

welcome the Government drive to improve the

children and are updated as required to reflect

adoption system and we continually strive to

developments

develop our services and to deliver improved

regulation.

performing

local

authorities

activities

in

for

children,

practice,

adopters,

legislation

and

outcomes for our children and young people.
Services provided by Lewisham Adoption

We have developed new services; they are:


Agency
All services provided are within the legal

Families and Friends Day – The new

framework of the Adoption and Children Act

services enable the support network of

2002, Children Act 1989 and associated

the adopters to learn about adoption

guidance and regulations.

and the needs of children who are
placed for adoption, this will enable

Information for enquiries relating to adoption

them to provide better support to the

can be accessed through:

adopters.


Focus on ‘harder to place’ children –
together with other London Consortia,



a free phone line: 0800 587 7392;



email: adoptioninfo@lewisham.gov.uk;



a website providing written information on
services: www.lewisham.gov.uk/adoption

we participate in Activity Days; National
5

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose
Prospective adopters receive a prompt and

difficulties. The training programme is reviewed

professional response and written information

on an annual basis to ensure that comments

within the timescale set out in the new Stage 1

from attendees are taken into account to

& Stage 2 assessment process . This outlines

continuously improve the quality of the training.

the process from initial enquiry to the making of

In recognition that some prospective adopters

an adoption order. Working in partnership with

may require further learning, we also provide e-

two other consortium members, Information

learning courses to those who need them.

events are held every month for the recruitment
of adopters. We seek to identify adopters for

Once approved, adopters continue to receive

Lewisham

support from their social worker and information

children

but

we

also

assess

adopters who can provide placements for

about children needing adoption.

children from other parts of the country.

referred

to

the

South

London

Consortium,

the

Adoption

They are
Adoption

Register

and

Lewisham is part of the South London Adoption

AdoptionLink. They also go on the database of

Consortium

to

the Adoption Support Team so that they can

prospective applicants about the other local

receive invitations to relevant events and

authorities and agencies within the consortium.

further training.

Prospective adopters will be assessed following

Recruitment is continually kept under review

the new Stage 1 and Stage 2 process (from

and targeted to meet the needs of the children

receipt of the Registration of Interest form to

who are identified as in need of an adoptive

ratification by the Adoption Agency Decision

family.

and

will

provide

advice

Maker). Second time adopters and foster
carers who are applying to adopt a child placed

Adoption Support Services

with them will proceed straight to Stage 2

The Adoption Support Team has a range of

process and be assessed within four months.

services in place to support adoptive families
and their children including counselling, advice

A full preparation training programme is offered

and information, workshops/support groups, an

to prospective adopters which runs at both

annual family day, a newsletter, financial

stages and post approval. The groups cover a

support and links with CAMHS (Children and

range of issues to help adopters understand

and Adolescent Mental Health Service). The

the demands and rewards of adoption. The

team also supports Special Guardian families,

training programme focuses on the importance

post order.

of building secure attachments and how to
promote attachment with children who have

Lewisham Council supports ongoing contact

had negative life experiences and whose

arrangements

histories may include parental drug and alcohol

as

required.

The

Adoption

Support Service facilitates both direct and

misuse, mental health difficulties or learning

indirect contact (through our letterbox service)
6

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose
between birth families, children and significant

the

full

range

of

services

from

others. An allocated worker provides support to

information,

to

birth relatives and adopters to promote contact

assessment

and

as a positive experience for the child.

services. Further information can be found on

preparation
post

initial

groups

adoption

to

support

the websites of the Department for Education,
Independent counselling is provided to birth

the Home Office, the Border Agency and the

parents

IAC.

whose

child/ren

are

placed

for

There are charges associated with

adoption. Lewisham provides an intermediary

intercountry adoption.

service for birth relatives and adopted adults.

The Adoption and Permanence Panel and

Some group work is organised within the

Decision-making

consortium, e.g. for adopters (We are Family),

Lewisham’s Adoption and Permanence Panel

adopted adults and adopted teenagers. We

is held every two weeks and is conducted in

also commission the Post Adoption Centre

line with Government regulations and good

(PAC) to provide a further and independent

practice guidance.

counselling service.
The panel has an independent chair. It is also
The manager of the Adoption Support Team is

attended by a Lewisham Councillor and other

also the Adoption Support Services Advisor for

members

Lewisham.

who

have

varied

personal

or

professional experience of adoption. The panel
includes a medical adviser who is a Senior

Non-agency adoptions

Speciality Doctor in Community Paediatrics.

Lewisham provides a comprehensive service to

There is an Adoption Adviser, one of the

people pursuing a non-agency adoption (which

Adoption Team Managers, who provides advice

is an adoption not arranged through the

and information to the panel. The legal adviser

adoption

promptly

(Principal

Lawyer)

allocated to social workers experienced in this

employed

by

field and court reports are filed within required

consultation during the panel meetings.

agency).

Cases

are

to

the

Lewisham

panel
is

who

available

is
for

timescales. Adopters are made aware of their
The Director of Children’s Social Care meets

right to access Adoption Support services.

with the chair of the panel once every six
months and undertakes an appraisal of the

Inter-country adoptions

effectiveness

Lewisham commissions a voluntary agency

appraisal

called IAC - The Centre for Adoption, which

of

of

the

other

chair

annually.

The

panel

members

are

conducted by the Independent Chair and Panel

provides a service to those residents of

Adviser.

Lewisham wishing to adopt a child from
overseas. In some cases a child may be known

The panel makes recommendations on the

to the applicant or be a relative. IAC provides

following issues:
7

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose






the approval of adopters; including those

decision-makers (ADMs) in Lewisham. They

who wish to become concurrent carers

meet weekly to avoid any delay in making

and Fostering for Adoption carers.

decisions on children’s permanency plans.

whether adoption is the best plan for a

They are able to consult with the agency, legal,

child who is not the subject of care

medical and adoption advisors and to request

proceedings.

any further information which is deemed

whether a match between a child/ren and

necessary.

particular adopters is right for them.
Safeguarding and promoting welfare
The adoption panel makes recommendations to

The

the

provide

agency.

The

agency

decision-maker

London
the

Child

Protection

procedural

Procedures

framework

for

considers recommendations from the panel and

safeguarding children in Lewisham and the

then makes a decision within 7 working days

adoption

upon receiving the agreed minutes. The

managers attend child protection training and

Agency Decision Maker is able to seek the

comply with good practice and guidance.

advice of medical, legal and adoption advisors.

Safeguarding issues are also part of the
training

The panel also offers advice regarding adoption

agency

ensures

programme

that

for

staff

Adoption

and

and

Permanence Panel members.

support plans, contact arrangements or any
other issue of concern which it feels that the

Monitoring and evaluation of service

agency needs to address.

provision
The

Prospective adopters attend the panel when
their

approval

is

being

considered,

Department

for

Education

and

the

Adoption Leadership Board have in place

and

systems for assessing the effectiveness of

approved adopters attend the panel meeting

planning and permanency (including adoption)

when a match with a specific child is being

arrangements for children who are looked after

considered. The chair informs applicants of the

by the Local Authority.

recommendation immediately after the panel.

In addition, clear

priorities for improvement are set for the

All applicants who attend are asked to

Adoption Service on an annual basis through

complete a feedback form so that we can

discussion with the Director of Children’s Social

consider ways of improving the process and

Care.

ensuring that everyone involved can make the

These targets are set to ensure that

decisions regarding children’s futures are made

best contribution to this important area of

promptly with a view to children being placed

decision-making in children’s lives.

with their adoptive family as quickly as possible.
Systems are in place within Children’s Social

A decision as to whether a child who is the

Care so that children who may have adoption

subject of care proceedings should be placed

as their final care plan are tracked by the

for adoption is made by one of the two agency
8

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose
 The Director of Children’s Social Care

Adoption Team so that an adoptive family can
be identified as soon as possible.

observes the Panel once a year.
 Performance is monitored nationally via

A range of mechanisms are in place to monitor

Scorecards, annual returns to the

and improve the performance of the service.

Department for Education, and voluntary 3

For example:

monthly ‘snapshots’ of service progress.

 An Annual Report on the agency’s

 Ofsted inspections of the Adoption Service

performance is submitted to Councillors.

and Adoption Support Service.

 The Director of Children’s Social Care

 The Adoption Leadership Board quarterly

shares performance information with the

report

lead member for children and young
people.

We share our positive experience with our

 The Children and Young People’s Strategic

Consortium members and currently two of the

Partnership receives a performance

members are adapting the Lewisham model to

monitoring report at each meeting

improve their practice.

 The Adoption and Permanence Panel
Management of the service

receives a six monthly report on activity.
 Quality issues are addressed through

Overall responsibility for the Adoption Service

regular supervision and file audit.

is held by the Service Manager for Adoption,

 Feedback questionnaires are sent to

Looked After Children and Leaving Care, Tina

prospective adopters after attending

Benjamin.

The

Service

Information Evening, Learning and

Registered

Social

Preparation groups and the Adoption and

experience of safeguarding and all aspects of

Permanence Panel.

services for looked after children.

Worker

Manager
with

is

a

extensive

 Children’s Social Care undertakes
telephone surveys of Adopters to learn

In line with National Minimum Standards, the

from their experiences of the adoption

Agency Decision Maker is a senior person

journey in order to improve our processes

within the adoption agency, who is a social

and procedures.

worker with at least 3 years post-qualifying
experience and knowledge of permanency

 If an adoption placement breaks down, a
meeting is held and independently chaired.

planning for children, adoption and childcare

The learning from this is then taken forward

law and practice. Two Agency Decision Makers

within the service to improve our practice.

have been appointed on behalf of the Local

However, our adoptive placements very

Authority:

rarely break down and this is a key

Children’s Social Care and Paul King, Service

measure of our work.

Manager for Referral and Assessment.

 The Adoption and Permanence Panel
provides independent oversight of cases.
9

Stephen

Kitchman,

Director

of

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose
The Adoption Service employs qualified and

London Consortia to place children who are

experienced staff as follows:-

older, with siblings and have more complex



Two Adoption Team Managers, and one

needs. With the Adoption Support Fund, we will

part time Adoption Support Manger. Team

provide better support for adoptive families and

Managers are registered social workers

birth families.

and have extensive experience of child
care and the adoption services over many
years.


Ten social workers (2 full time, 8 parttime) who are all qualified and
experienced in adoption work.



Three full time adoption support workers
who are all qualified social workers who
have relevant experience.



Two business support staff provide
administrative support to the team.

All social workers are registered with the Health
and Care Professional Council. Three members
of the team hold post qualifying awards in
Childcare. Other staff have other post qualifying
awards. All social workers are trained to provide
‘Theraplay’, a therapeutic support to help
adoptive families to build up the attachment
with the child.

Future Plans for the Adoption Service
We are ambitious to perform even better than
we do at the moment and to give more children
the opportunity to be adopted in a timely way.
We have achieved in more children adopted
and placed in adoptive families in a timely
manner. We would like to continue to improve
our recruitment process and will continue to
prioritise assessing families who are able to
provide a home for harder to place children. We
continue to work in partnership with other
10

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose
Where can we be found?
The Adoption and Adoption Support Teams are

Independent Reviewing Officers chair Looked

located at:

After Children’s reviews prior to an Adoption
Order being made and ensure that children and

Children’s Social Care

their

adopters

are

fully

informed

of

the

1st Floor, Laurence House

complaints process. Details of the complaints

1 Catford Road

procedure are included in the information packs

London SE6 4RU

sent to all prospective adopters.

0208 314 6887
Regulation and Inspection
How to complain

Responsibility for the regulation and inspection

Any service user can complain if they are

of adoption agencies is undertaken by the

unhappy with the service the agency provides.

Office for Standards in Education (known as

In

Ofsted).

the

first

instance,

service

users

are

encouraged to talk about the problem with the
social worker to see if they can resolve the

Concerns, complaints and allegations about

problem. If the service user is not satisfied, the

registered services including adoption agencies

formal complaints process offers three stages.

can be directed to Ofsted particularly where it is
not possible for them to be resolved directly
with the agency.

Complaints Team
Lewisham Council
3rd Floor Laurence House

For advice and information on how Ofsted can

1 Catford Road

help, they can be contacted at:

London

Ofsted

SE6 4RU

Piccadilly Gate
Store Street

If the complaint relates to the Adoption and

Manchester

Permanence Panel’s decision not to approve an

M1 2WD

adoptive applicant, the applicant can ask for the
case to be reviewed by the Independent

Telephone: 0300 123 1231

Review Mechanism. Details of this process will
be provided on request from the Adoption Team

or via the website at www.ofsted.gov.uk

Managers.

11

Lewisham Adoption Agency – statement of purpose

Lewisham
Adoption Agency – Statement of Purpose
- 12 -

I’m going to be adopted
What does it mean?

Adoption means living with another
family forever when you can’t live with
the family where you were born.
Who adopts children?
Children are adopted by all sorts of families.
It may be a family with a mum and a dad
or two mums or two dads, or just one mum
or dad. It may be a family where there are
other children or a family where you are the
only child.

If everyone decides that you need a
new, forever family, your social worker
will find the right one for you.
You will see pictures of your new family
and then get to know them at your
foster home.
You will then move to your new home.

Why am I going to be adopted?
Some mums and dads grow beautiful children
but can’t look after them safely.
Social workers, independent reviewing
officers, people who know about adoption
and a judge and the court then have to
decide where children should live.
While this is being decided, children live with
foster carers.

Your social worker will still come to see
you to make sure that you are all right.
You will go to court and be adopted.
You are now a part of a new family.
If you want, you can still hear about
your old family.
Lots of children have been adopted

Here are some people who can help you:

© Published January 2012. Ref: 395-2a

♥ Independent Reviewing Officer
♥ Lewisham Council Complaints Officer
♥ Children’s Rights Director
♥ Ofsted
♥ Independent Advocate
♥ Adoption Support Team

© Published November 2012. Ref: 395-1b

?

Being adopted means you are
not ‘in care’ or ‘looked after’
any more but you are part of
your new family.

When you are adopted you will
belong to and grow up with a
new family.

Adoption means living with
another family forever when
you can’t live with the family
where you were born.

Sometimes a foster family will adopt
a child
they are looking after. However, foster
families do not usually look after chil
dren
until they have grown up. They sometim
es
keep in touch with their foster childre
n, even
when they move on to their new fam
ilies.

Foster families usually look after childre
n
until they can move back home or on
to a
new adoptive family. Sometimes a fost
er
family will look after a child until he or
she is
grown up.

adoption. You
This booklet will tell you more about
such as your social
might want to read it with an adult
m any questions
worker or your carer. You can ask the
you may have.

3

the only child.

be a family where there are other
children or a family where you are

mum and a dad or two mums or two
dads, or just one mum or dad. It may

Children are adopted by all sorts of
families. It may be a family with a

?

?
Being adopted is a really big thing because it will change
your life forever. We want to make sure that it is right for you.
Your social worker will talk to you about it. It is important that
you tell them what you are thinking and feeling. Your social
worker will also talk to your mum, dad and perhaps other
people in your life like your nan, granddad and your carer. At
special meetings called reviews we will also talk about whether
you should be adopted.
When social workers, the court and maybe your mum and
dad have decided that it isn’t possible for you to grow up
in the family where you were born, your social worker will
tell a decision-maker all about you and ask them whether
they think that adoption is right for you.
The decision-maker understands how important it is for
children to grow up in a family who loves them and where they
are safe and can belong.
4

Your social worker will get information on families
who want to adopt someone
like you. Sometimes they may put information abou
t you in special magazines
and papers that are sent to families thinking abou
t adoption. Your social worker
will go to meet different families to ﬁnd out abou
t them. After holding a
meeting, they will then choose one that they think
will be right for you.
Your social worker will tell the adoption panel abou
t this family. The adoption
panel is a group of people who know about adop
tion and children living in new
families. If they also think this family is right for you
then your social worker
will talk to you about them. You will be able to ask
any questions about the
adopters and they might also send you some infor
mation about themselves
such as a book or even a DVD.

There are families who want to adopt a child or youn
g person. Your social
worker will do their best to ﬁnd a family that is right
for you. They may be
looking for a family who speaks the same language
and who celebrates the
same special days. If your social worker cannot ﬁnd
a family like this they will
tell you.

5

If the judge decides that being
adopted is the best thing for you,
your adoptive parents will always
be your legal parents and have full
responsibility for you, just as if you
were born to them.

Once you have lived with your
family for a while they will ask the
court, which is where judges make
decisions, to make an adoption
order. An adoption order means that
you will legally belong in your new
family. During this time a children’s
guardian may come to talk to you
about how you are feeling.

6

Even if you don’t see your birth family there may be an
arrangement for them and your new family to send a letter to
each other. This would give your birth family your news and give
you news about them. Your birth family will not be told where you
live now, where you go to school, or your new family name.

If there are people from your birth family that you would like to
see or write to, talk to your social worker who will decide if this is
possible. The social worker will talk to your new family about this
and arrange for you to write from time to time or see your birth
family if everyone says it is ok.

Adoption means belonging to a new family, but it doesn’t mean
forgetting the people you know and love. For some children it may
be good to stay in touch with certain members of their birth family.
For others this might not be possible or might be too upsetting. If
you don’t want to stay in touch with your birth family that’s ok too.

☞

ve problems or worries
If you are not happy or ha
as your social worker,
you must say so. As well
u can talk to who can
there are lots of people yo
You can talk to another
help you sort things out.
ependent advocate. An
person who is called an ind
someone who can talk to
independent advocate is
problems and who will
you about your worries or
try to sort things out.
endent advocate, this
If you would like an indep
for you.
organisation can ﬁnd one

s Service (LCRS)

62
Email: lewishamchildrensri
ghts@barnardos.org.uk

Freephone: 0800 169 37

London SE8 5HG

Grinling Place

Akwaaba Centre

Lewisham Children’s Right

Independent Advocate

7

Roger Morgan OBE
Children’s Rights Director
Ofsted
Aviation House
125 Kingsway
London WC2B 6SE
Tel: 0800 528 0731
Email: theteam.rights4me@ofsted.gov.uk
Website: www.rights4me.org

The Children’s Rights Director is called
Roger Morgan. He will help to sort things
out and can also offer help and advice.

family would like
If you or your adoptive
you can contact:
some help or support,
Adoption Support Team
Lewisham Council
Tel: 020 8314 7506
isham.gov.uk
Email: adoption.info@lew

You can also contact Lewisham
Council’s Complaints Ofﬁce.
Complaints Manager
Children’s Complaints Team
Lewisham Council
3rd ﬂoor, Laurence House
Catford SE6 4RU
Tel: 020 8314 6930/7435
Fax: 020 8314 3039
Email: cypcasework@lewisham.gov.uk

8

:

Contact details
cer
Lewisham Council Complaints Offi
3rd ﬂoor Laurence House
1 Catford Road
Catford SE6 4RU
Tel: 020 8314 8276/8298
Fax: 020 8314 3151
k
Email: cyp.casework@lewisham.gov.u

Name:

p you
Here are some people who can hel
Independent reviewing officer.
My independent reviewing ofﬁcer is:

Ofsted
Ofsted National Business
Unit
Royal Exchange Building
s,
St Ann’s Square
Manchester M2 7LA
Tel: 0300 123 4666

Children’s Rights Direct
or
Ofﬁce of Children’s Right
s Director
Ofsted
Aviation House
125 Kingsway
London WC2B 6SE
Freephone: 0800 528 07
31

Adoption Support Team
Lewisham Council
1st ﬂoor Laurence House
1 Catford Road
Catford SE6 4RU
Freephone: 0800 587 73
92

9

The judge and the court listen
to everyone and to what I
want to happen and decide
what is best for me

The decision-maker
considers whether
I should be placed
for adoption

I can’t live at home

If the judge decides that I should
be adopted, my social worker will
talk to me about this and about
looking for the right family for me

My social worker, my independent
reviewing ofﬁcer and my guardian
think about and talk to me about
where I will go to live

I go to live with
foster carers

I may still hear from my birth family and I can
talk about adoption with my new family as they
will understand that I may have lots of questions

My social worker will now say goodbye to me as
I have a ‘forever family’

When my new family
and I feel comfortable
together, I move into
my new home

I meet my new family
and get to know them

When we all feel ready, I
will go with my new family
to see the judge and I will
be adopted

My social worker comes to
visit me to make sure that
I’m alright. My independent
reviewing ofﬁcer continues
to see me at reviews

When my social worker ﬁnds
the family, the adoption
panel will consider whether
this is right for me

If you live in Lewisham
you can contact
adoption support by:
Emailing
adoption.support
@lewisham.gov.uk
Calling
0800 587 7392
Writing to
Adoption Support
1st Floor Laurence House
Catford SE6 4RU

You could also contact:
TALKadoption
A free helpline and confidential
email site for anyone under the
age of 26 years. You do not have
to give your name to them.
Freephone 0808 808 1234
Email: actionline@talkadoption.org.uk
Office of Children’s Rights Director
They will listen to your views and
feelings. If you are unhappy
about our service they can help
you make a complaint with the
help of an advocate.
Freephone 0800 528 0731
www.rights4me.org
Childline
Childline offers a free helpline
to all children, adopted or not.
Freephone 0800 1111
www.childline.org.uk
Kidscape
A registered charity committed
to keeping children safe from
harm or abuse.
www.kidscape.org.uk

© Published January 2015. Ref: 395-3b

Adoption support for
children and families
A guide for children and young people

Why do families need adoption support?
Children and young people who have been
adopted have been separated from their birth
parents and from other people who have been
important in their lives. Some have worries and
other feelings about what happened to them in
the past and some have memories which can be
upsetting. Often these worries make adopted
people feel scared, sad or angry at different times.
It is often quite hard to talk about these feelings
and memories but bottling them up doesn’t make
them go away. Sometimes it feels like no one
understands how it is.
Adoption Support workers do understand what it’s
like and can help children and young people make
sense of their thoughts, feelings and experiences.

Children ask us questions such as:
Shall I tell people?
How much shall I tell and to who?
Why was I adopted?
Where is my birth family now? Are they OK?
Can I see or hear from my birth family?

What is Adoption Support?
It is:
Having someone who can help you
understand why you were adopted and
help you make sense of your life story.
Having someone you can talk to
without worrying you will upset them.
Having someone who will listen to you
and try to answer your questions.
Having someone who can get you more
information and give you advice.
Having someone who can talk to your
parents with you or for you.
Having someone who could put you in
touch with other adopted children or
young people.
Adoption support workers know about
adoption and try to find out why you are
having problems and what could be done to
make things less difficult for you. We help
parents too and we believe things can get
better for you and your family.

Why am I so angry or sad?
Why is it a struggle to make or keep friends?
A birth relative has tried to contact me on
Facebook, I feel upset and confused and I
don’t know what to do?

MAYOR AND CABINET

Key decision

Fostering Statement of Purpose 2016-2017 and Children’s Guides - My
Fostering Booklet and My Fostering Guide.
Yes
Item No.

Ward

All

Contributors

Executive Director for Children and Young People

Class

Part 1

Report Title

29 June 2016

1.

Summary of the Report

1.1

This report presents the Lewisham Fostering Statement of Purpose for
2016- 2017 as required by the Fostering Regulations 2011. The Lewisham
Fostering Statement of Purpose and the Children’s Guides are reviewed
on an annual basis, in line with statutory requirements. The Fostering
Statement of Purpose focuses on the desired outcomes for Looked After
Children.

2.

Purpose and Structure of the Report

2.1

The purpose of this report is to present for approval the updated Lewisham
Fostering Statement of Purpose for 2016 - 2017 and Children’s Guides –
My Fostering Booklet and My Fostering Guide.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

That the Mayor and Cabinet:
 note the report of the work of the Fostering Service
 approve the review of the Statement of Purpose for the Fostering
Service for 2016 – 2017 (Appendix 1)
 note the updated Children’s Guides – “My Fostering Booklet” and
“My Fostering Guide” (Appendix 2 and 3)

4.

Policy Context

4.1

The Fostering Services Regulations 2011 and National Minimum
Standards 2011 require all Fostering Services to provide and review
annually a written Statement of Purpose setting out the aims and
objectives of the service and facilities provided.

4.2

The Fostering Services Regulations and National Minimum Standards
2011 require Fostering Services to produce and regularly review a
Children’s Guide. In September 2015, in conjunction with the junior and
senior Children in Care Council we revised our age appropriate Children’s
Guides, one for children up to age of 11 and the other 11+.

1

4.3

The Lewisham Fostering Service Statement of Purpose is in line with the
Council’s corporate priorities and contributes particularly to: Community
leadership and empowerment, young people’s achievement and
involvement, safety, security and a visible presence, protection of children
and active, healthy citizens.

4.4

The Statement of Purpose continues to contribute to five of the key priority
outcomes of Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy 2008-2020:






Ambitious and achieving – where people are inspired and
supported to fulfil their potential.
Safer – where people feel safe and live free from crime, antisocial
behaviour and abuse.
Empowered and responsible – where people are actively involved
in their local area and contribute to supportive communities.
Healthy, active and enjoyable – where people can actively
participate in maintaining and improving their health and well-being.
Dynamic and prosperous – where people are part of vibrant
communities and town centres, well connected to London and
beyond.

This statement also contributes to the Council priorities specifically those
relating to:


4.5

5.

Young Peoples Achievement and Involvement – raising
educational attainment and improving facilities for young people
through partnership working
Protection of Children – better safeguarding and joined up services
for children at risk

The Statement of Purpose continues to contribute to the Children and
Young People Plan 2016-2018 and its 4 priorities:
 Build child and family resilience
 Be healthy and active
 Raise achievement and attainment
 Stay safe

Background and Recruitment of Foster Carers

5.1

The Fostering Service primarily provides a service for Looked After
Children. The service is committed to identifying and supporting stable
placements for children where foster care is the identified plan.

5.2

As at 31st March 2016 there were 467 Lewisham Looked After Children.
The Fostering Service has 247 individuals approved as Lewisham foster
carers, this comprises 162 Fostering Households. Just under 50% of
children placed in foster care are placed with Lewisham foster carers.
There are approximately 17 households currently going through the
assessment process. The recruitment and assessment of new foster
carers and supported lodgings carers is currently completed by an
2

independent fostering recruitment agency on behalf of Lewisham
Fostering Services. The strategic decision was taken to procure a
fostering agency to help develop our numbers of foster carers. This was
achieved initially, with an increase in the quantity of foster carers approved
but the approval rate of new foster carers has significantly reduced in
2015-16 and we are currently reviewing the business case for alternative
options for recruitment and assessment of foster carers as we are
determined to grow and sustain our foster care base over time.
5.3

Our foster carer population broadly reflects the ethnic diversity of
Lewisham’s community.

5.4

As of 31.03.16, 77.7% of Looked After Children were placed with foster
carers, of these 49.6 were placed with Lewisham foster carers. Our aim is
to increase this and to place 60% of fostered children with Lewisham
foster carers within the next year. To achieve this we are focussing on
increasing the number of foster carers with a target of a further 20
fostering placements within the year. We are now specifically aiming to
recruit foster carers for teenage placements, disabled children, sibling
groups and parent child placements.

5.5

In 2015/ 2016, we continued recruiting through an independent fostering
recruitment agency. 11 fostering households were approved, providing a
total of 20 placements. Of these 4 households provided one placement
each, 5 households provided 1 or 2 if siblings and 2 households provided 2
placements each.

5.6

Fostering Regulations and National Minimum Standards 2011 require that
Supervising Social Workers from the Fostering Service provide advice and
support to foster carers and work in partnership with the Looked After
3

Child’s Social Worker to deliver the best possible outcomes for the child in
placement. Lewisham Foster Carers are positive about the support they
receive from Supervising Social Workers and managers at every level of
the Council. The Fostering Service Manager meets bi-monthly with the
LFCA (Lewisham Foster Care Association) and the Director of Children’s
Social Care meets with them 3 times per year to ensure good dialogue,
communication and engagement and facilitates the foster carer
development day for all Lewisham Foster Carers 3 times per year.
5.7

The Lewisham Fostering Panel exercises its role fully as laid out in the
Fostering Services Regulations and National Minimum Standards, 2011.
The Fostering Panel is chaired by an independent person who is also a
qualified social worker, and is not employed by Lewisham Council. The
current chair is a highly regarded expert in fostering currently also working
in Sweden and Japan as well as throughout the UK in Children’s Social
Care. There are two vice-chairs, both independent, one is a senior health
professional who leads on several national health initiatives, the other is a
qualified social worker who has senior management experience in
Fostering and has worked for national charitable organisations.

5.8

The Fostering Panel Adviser holds a key role and this is fulfilled by a Team
Manager in the Fostering Service.

5.9

The Fostering Panel considers all new applications to foster and reviews
foster carers after their first year of fostering, then every third year
thereafter. Other cases presented to Panel include matching of children to
foster carers, where this is the child/young person’s care plan and where
allegations are made against a foster carer and this will not coincide with
the annual review timescales. The Panel then makes a recommendation to
the Agency Decision Maker, who is a senior manager in Children’s Social
Care, who makes the final decision on the respective matter that was
presented to panel.

5.10

The Lewisham Fostering Panel continues to meet fortnightly every other
Monday on dates agreed in advance. Throughout the year the meeting is a
half day to allow for a Panel development and training afternoons. There
has been successful recruitment of new Panel Members, this ensures we
have a wide range of panel expertise, covering health, education, those
with experience of the care system and mental health. We have now 18
panel members added to the central list from which the panel attendance
rota is drawn well in advance.

6.

De-Registrations & Resignations

6.1

There were no de-registrations during 2015 – 2016, this is a significant
improvement on the previous year where there were 6.

6.2

During 2015 – 2016, 9 foster carers resigned from the Service. Of these 8
were recruited by the aforementioned independent fostering recruitment
agency used for our recruitment.

4

6.3

Table of Allegations
Year
No of
allegations
2008- 09
8
2009 -10
6
2010-11
7
2011-12
4
Year
2012-13
2013-14
2014-15
2015-16

No of
allegations
7
14
6
10

No of
complaints
1
0
1
0

Serious Cause
for concern
0
0
5
3

No of
complaints
0
1
2
0

Serious Cause
for concern
5
6
6
10

6.4

In 2015-16 there were 10 allegations made against Lewisham foster
Carers. Seven of these allegations were unsubstantiated, two concluded
as No Further Action and one allegation was partly upheld.

6.5

There were no complaints against Lewisham foster carers.

6.6

There were 10 serious causes for concern against Lewisham foster
carers. Two were unsubstantiated, five were upheld, two were partly
upheld and there is one currently on-going.

6.7

Although the number of allegations and causes for concerns have
increased, these remain in line with the expected comparators for a
fostering service.

6.8

The Fostering Service Manager meets on a monthly basis with the LADO
(Local Authority Designated Officer) and Fostering Team Manager to
review and monitor allegations, complaints and cause for concerns to
ensure all matters are dealt with swiftly and to be reassured about any
safeguarding issues.

6.9

Independent Review Mechanism (IRM)
The IRM is an independent panel managed through BAAF (British
Association for Adoption and Fostering). Foster Carers have the right to
take their case to the IRM if their fostering approval through the Lewisham
Fostering Panel and ADM process was changed and they are not in
agreement with it. In 2015-16 we were not required to attend the IRM on
any new case.

6.10

The Fostering Service has continued to develop, with Foster Carers feeling
better supported and able to accept more children where their behaviour
may be challenging. We have reduced our placement vacancies
significantly which in return achieves better outcomes for children as they
5

are placed locally with access to local services and a decreased unit cost
for the service.
7

Consultation with Corporate Parenting Committee and Children in
Care Council

7.1

The Corporate Parenting Committee is updated on the work of the
Fostering Service on a termly basis. We have reviewed the Children’s
Guides and will continue to do this periodically and will take into account
feedback from the Children in Care Council and Care Leavers.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

There are no financial implications arising from agreement of the
recommendations of this report.

8.2

The pursuit of the objective to place 60% of children with Lewisham foster
carers supports the budget strategy to reduce the costs of placements and
to deliver a balanced budget.

9.

Legal Implications

9.1

Local Authorities exercise Social Services functions as required by the
Local Authority Social Services Act 1970. Local Authorities have a
statutory responsibility to provide appropriate services for children whom
they look after.

10.

Equalities Legislation

10.1

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality
duty (the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation.

10.2

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:
 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

10.3

The duty continues to be a “have regard to duty”, and the weight to be
attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of
relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or
foster good relations.

6

10.4

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical
Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance
entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations
Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have regard to the
statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn to
Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty.
This includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended
actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless
regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling reason
would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-andpolicy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/.

10.5

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously
issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the
equality duty:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

10.6

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and
who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the
duty including steps that are legally required, as well as recommended
actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and
resources are available at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/adviceand-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

11.

Crime and Disorder Implications

11.1

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

12.

Equalities Implications

12.1

The work of the Fostering Service contributes to the achievement of the
Council's priority relating to the 'protection of children.' Equality & Diversity
has been incorporated into the Statement of Purpose and is updated as
part of the regular review of the Statement of Purpose.

13.

Environmental Implications

13.1

There are no environmental implications arising from this report.

7

14.

Conclusion

14.1

The Statement of Purpose and Children’s Guides – My Guide to Foster
Care inform children, young people, Lewisham foster carers and
prospective foster carers of what they can expect from the Lewisham
Fostering Service. For adults, this supplements the Foster Carer
Handbook, which gives more detail of expectations, policies and
procedures governing the direct care of Looked After Children.

14.2

These documents ensure that Looked After Children, their parents, foster
carers and professionals are clear about the aims and objectives of the
Fostering Service and what services and facilities it provides. The
Fostering Service is required to meet the aims and objectives in the
Statement of Purpose.

14.3

The Lewisham Statement of Purpose and Children’s Guides are reviewed
and updated annually.

Background Papers
None.
Appendix 1 - Fostering Statement of Purpose
Appendix 2 - Children’s Guide for under 11 years old.
Appendix 3 - Lewisham Young People’s Guide for over 11 years old.
If there are any queries on this report, please contact Stephen Kitchman, Director
Children’s Social Care, 0208 314 8140

8

Lewisham Fostering Service
Statement of Purpose 2016 - 2017

1

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose
Contents
Introduction.................................................................................................................................. 3
Aims and Objectives....................................................................................................................3
Principles ..................................................................................................................................... 4
Management................................................................................................................................ 5
Procedures & Processes for Foster Carer Recruitment and Approval ........................................8
Services provided by Lewisham Fostering Service ....................................................................9
Foster Carer Training and Development ...................................................................................10
Supporting and Reviewing Foster Carers .................................................................................11
Guidance for Children & Young People ....................................................................................12
Complaints and Representations ..............................................................................................12
How to Contact Lewisham Fostering Service............................................................................13

2

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose
Introduction
The Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011 requires all Fostering Services to
provide a written Statement of Purpose setting out the aims and objectives of the service
and the facilities and services provided. The Statement also describes the services that are
provided and how we monitor these services and manage our performance.
This document is made available to Foster Carers, Fostering Panel Members, staff,
prospective Foster Carers and any child and their parent placed by the service. It is
reviewed and approved by the Mayor of Lewisham Council on an annual basis.

Aims and Objectives
The London Borough of Lewisham is committed to providing safe, caring and professional
foster carers for every child within the borough who needs a foster placement. All children
need love, security, stability and a strong sense of identity and belonging.
The Fostering Service ensures that equal opportunities are integrated into all aspects of
service delivery and that all foster carers are effectively assessed and supported, taking into
account the needs of the individual child. Lewisham is a diverse borough and the Fostering
Service celebrates the different cultures, faiths, ethnic origins, language, abilities, sexuality
and gender of the Borough’s vibrant communities. The Service believes that every child and
adult should be respected and valued.
The Fostering Service aims to offer placement choice where a foster placement is
necessary to ensure that children are matched to a Foster Carer who can promote their
culture, faith and linguistic needs and can care for them well. This is achieved through
recruiting, training and supporting carers who are representative of the diversity that exists
in the borough.
The Fostering Service works in partnership with relevant professionals/agencies to ensure
that any child in foster care is given a secure base, which provides them with a caring
experience that meets their needs, provides opportunities to succeed and promotes their
wellbeing. We support carers to provide care which improves the life chances of children
and young people, helping them to be healthy, to stay safe, enjoy and achieve, make a
positive contribution and facilitate them to achieve economic wellbeing.
Where appropriate, the Fostering Service will seek to identify placements that will enable
siblings to be placed together.
The Fostering Service will seek to avoid multiple placement moves for children.
We will always seek to identify placements that can accommodate contact with relatives and
significant others important to the child where this is in their best interest.

3

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose

Consideration will be given to the child’s educational needs when deciding upon a
placement. Every effort will be made to ensure that wherever possible the child can remain
in their current educational establishment. Children Looked After by Lewisham Council will
only be offered schools that are Ofsted graded as ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ when a child
changes school.

Principles
Each child is unique and their welfare paramount.
The child’s family is the preferred place for children to live wherever safe and possible.
Where a child needs to be looked after outside their family there is no compromise to the
provision of high quality individualised care.
Children have the right to feel safe, be protected and treated with respect and dignity. They
should be encouraged, nurtured, supported, helped, looked after and their heritage valued.
We will consult with them in order to develop a personal sense of worth, well-being and
independence.
The parents, relatives and carers of Looked After Children have a right to be kept informed,
involved and consulted as appropriate. They have the right to be treated as individuals with
respect and without being judged.
Individual planning is imperative from the outset of each placement followed by regular
reviews to ensure all the child’s needs are met.
Children are entitled to receive education which promotes their learning and development
that will enable them to develop their abilities, individual judgement and a sense of moral
and social responsibility to grow into mature and responsible members of society.
The best interests of the child is the guiding principle of those responsible for children’s
upbringing and that responsibility lies in the first place with the parents and/or with the Local
Authority as Corporate Parents.
Each Looked After Child is an active, informed participant in the process of their own health
care, incorporating confidentiality and choice appropriate to their age and understanding. A
full health assessment is carried out annually for Looked After Child over the age of 5 years
and twice a year for those under the age of 5. A health plan is drawn up in consultation with
health professionals and this is kept under review in light of the regular health assessment.
The Lewisham Children and Young People’s plan incorporates strategies to reduce health
inequalities and improve the health of Looked After Children.

4

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose
Children have the right to expect the very best professional care from Foster Carers.
Lewisham is committed to the provision of quality support, supervision, advice, consultation
and training to enable foster carers to meet the child’s needs.
Staff make a major contribution to the service and receive structured supervision, support
and training in order to facilitate best practice in all of their activities.
The Fostering Service is committed to working in partnership with everyone involved in
children’s lives.
The Fostering Service promotes the Council’s Equal Opportunities Policy and is antidiscriminatory in practice.
The Fostering Service ensures that celebrating diversity is integral in all aspects of service
delivery. All foster carers are effectively assessed and supported, taking into account the
needs of the individual child including specifically their culture, ethnicity, race, religion, class,
sexual orientation and disability.
The Fostering Service regularly audits its performance and maintains openness to on-going
critical evaluation. We welcome comments and ideas for improvement from the children,
young people, parents, carers, staff, independent workers, Fostering Panel Members and
any who have a contribution to make.
The Fostering Service is committed to implementing the Training Support and Development
Standards for Foster Carers and will support carers in achieving these.

Management
The Service Manager responsible for the fostering service (and is the Registered Fostering
Manager) reports to the Director of Children’s Social Care.
The Service Manager manages two Fostering Support and Development Team Managers,
(one of whom is also the Fostering Panel Advisor), the Assessment and Kinship Team
Manager and the Placement and Procurement Team Manager. All social work staff are
registered Social Workers.
The two Support and Development Managers supervise between them 10 Supervising
Social Workers. Each worker supervises between 18-20 fostering households. The
Managers take a lead responsibility and development of the following:
Annual foster carers training programme
Foster carers support groups
Staying Put
Fostering panel
Allegations and complaints
5

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose
Lewisham Carers Supporting Carers
Foster carers mentoring scheme
TSD standards
The Assessment and Kinship Manager supervises the Supervising Social Workers for
Family and Friends Foster Carers and Social Workers completing Special Guardianship
assessments. The manager also has overall responsibility of children who are subject to
Residence and Child Arrangement Orders
The Placement and Procurement Manager is responsible for the Placement Officers, a
Senior Social Worker who is responsible for identifying permanent foster families for children
where long term fostering is their care plan and the Supported Lodgings Coordinator. The
Placement Officer’s role is to identify appropriate placements for children internally and
where this is not possible externally. The Supported Lodgings Coordinator supervises
supported lodging carers and provides training and supervision to these carers.
The Business Support Team is managed corporately and comprises of four business
support officers who are responsible to their Team Leader. There is regular liaison and
monthly meetings between the Service Manager and Business Support Team Leader to
ensure effective smooth running of the Service.

6

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose
Interim Service Manager
Business Strategy, Fostering &
Placements

Support & Development
Team Manager 1

Support & Development
Team Manager 2 and Panel
Adviser

Assessment &
Kinship
Team Manager

Placements
Team Manager

Business Support
Team Manager

Supervising Social
Worker

Supervising Social
Worker

Senior Social Worker

Placements &
Procurement Officer

Business Support Officer

Supervising Social
Worker

Supervising Social
Worker

Senior Social Worker
P/T

Placements &
Procurement Officer

Business Support Officer

Supervising Social
Worker

Supervising Social
Worker

Supervising Social
Worker P/T

Placements &
Procurement Officer

Business Support Officer

Supervising Social
Worker

Supervising Social
Worker

Social Worker

Senior Social Worker
P/T

Business Support Officer

Supervising Social
Worker

Social Worker

Supervising Social
Worker

Social Worker

7
Senior Social Worker

Supported Lodging Coordinator

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose

Procedures & Processes for Foster Carer Recruitment & Approval
The recruitment and assessment of applicants to become Foster Carers is outsourced externally and
has been since 2009.
The recruitment and assessment process is contracted to NRS and regular contract management and
progress meetings are led by the fostering service manager in conjunction with the LAC Commissioner
of Lewisham council whilst the Foster Panel Advisor offers the final quality assurance of the foster
carer’s assessments.
Regular information sessions are held, potential applicants attend these to find out more about the
fostering task. Initial home visits are arranged where the potential carer and the Local Authority are in
agreement to continue with Stage 1 of the assessment. Applicants are invited to attend the “Skills to
Foster” training as part of their assessment and introduction to fostering. Statutory checks are started,
these include a full medical, a criminal record check with the Disclosure and Barring Service for all
members of the household over the age of 16, local authority checks and employer and personal
references are requested.
A qualified Social Worker will complete a full assessment using the British Association for Adoption and
Fostering (BAAF) Form F. This document requires detailed information and a wide range of evidence
in respect of the carer’s history, past and current relationships, family lifestyle, support networks and
parenting capacity. It will involve a series of home visits to collect information regarding household
members and their experience and skills relating to looked after children.
On completion of the assessment, the assessing Social Worker will prepare a report detailing the
applicant’s suitability and present this to the Lewisham’s Fostering Panel. The content of the Form F
report (excluding references) are shared with the applicant, who signs the report to acknowledge that
they have read the report. Applicants must attend the Fostering Panel.
Following the Fostering Panel recommendations, a decision is taken by Children’s Social Care as
Agency Decision Maker about the suitability of the applicant to become a Lewisham Foster Carer.
Decisions are formally communicated to the applicant in writing. The Decision Maker can make one of
the following decisions: to approve and define the terms of approval (if any) such as the number or
ages of the children to be placed, not to approve or to defer a decision and request further information.
If an applicant wishes to appeal a decision there are 2 routes that can be followed. An appeal can be
made using Lewisham’s own appeal process or through the Independent Review Mechanism, which is
an independent body who review the fostering agency’s determination not to approve foster carers or
to withdraw their approval.
All new foster carers are offered a Mentor who is an experienced Foster Carer who receives additional
support for this task. This has proven to be very beneficial to new Foster Carers, the feedback from
new carers has been positive in that it provides formal peer support in addition to attending support
groups.

-8-

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose

Assessment of Family and Friends foster carers
Where a child is to be placed in immediate circumstances with someone other than their parent or a
person who has parental responsibility, the carer, where the Local Authority considers it appropriate,
should be granted temporary fostering approval under Regulation 24 of the Care Planning, Placement
and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010.
The child’s Social Worker completes the temporary assessment, this must fulfil the requirements of
Schedule 4 of the 2010 regulations. The report is presented to the Fostering and Placements Service
Manager to consider granting temporary approval as a local authority Foster Carer.
If the child is to remain with the carers, a full fostering assessment must be completed and presented to
the Fostering Panel within 16 weeks (or at most within a further 8 weeks if an extension of temporary
approval is granted).
The assessment format to assess Family and Friend Foster Carers is different to that used for
mainstream Foster Carers, but the same checks and references are undertaken.

Services Provided
Mainstream Foster Carers - who provide emergency and short term placements for children and young
people where their care plan is to rehabilitation to their birth family or to move to a permanent
placement.
Mainstream Foster Carers - who provide permanent or long term foster care, making the commitment
to care for a child or young person until they reach independence.
Respite Foster Carers who support Foster Carers by offering respite placements
Family and Friends Foster Carers (Kinship) - who are approved to look after a specific child or children
known to them.
Staying Put
Lewisham has a Staying Put Policy which sets out the arrangements whereby the authority will
promote the extension of foster care placements beyond a young person’s eighteenth birthday. The
intention being to ensure young people can remain with their former Foster Carers until they are
prepared for adulthood and experience a transition akin to their peers, avoid social exclusion and are
better placed to avert a subsequent housing and tenancy breakdown.
This procedure sets out the conditions required to extend a former fostering arrangement beyond a
young person’s eighteenth birthday, the associated financial implications, the social care requirements
associated with extending former fostering arrangements and the consequential Income Tax, National
Insurance and Welfare Benefit issues.

-9-

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose
Young people are legally no longer in care from the age of eighteen and therefore, fostering
arrangements no longer apply. The legal basis on which they occupy the former foster care home
changes and they become an ‘excluded licensee’ who is effectively lodging in the Staying Put carer/s
home. However, this should not mean that the young person is treated differently than as if they were a
fostered child. The placement should be carefully planned to ensure that the young person and the
carer/s understand the nature of the arrangement and the positive aspects of being in foster care are
not diminished.
The Staying Put procedure is applicable to all young people Looked After by Lewisham who are living
with Foster Carers on their eighteenth birthday, whether they are with Lewisham carers or with
Independent Fostering Agency carers (IFA).
The policy also applies to Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) who reach the age of 18.
However, in circumstances where the young person is awaiting a ‘Removal Notice’ continued financial
support must be reviewed on a case by case basis.
Young people who are in residential placements are not covered by the Staying Put Procedure, but
early transition planning will be essential for these young people to help them achieve good outcomes
in the future.
Supported Lodgings
The Supported Lodgings Coordinator is managed by the Placements Manager. The Coordinator
supervises these providers and works closely with the young person’s Social Worker or Personal
Advisor to ensure that the transition for independent living is reached.

Foster Carer Training & Development
The comprehensive training programme for the year is currently being finalised and will be distributed
to all Foster Carers. The programme covers a good variety of subjects from basic to advanced level,
and meets the requirements of the Training Support Development Standards (TSDS), which is
statutory training for all Foster Carers. Training is an effective opportunity to meet other Foster Carers
and Social Workers and to develop skills and learning at the same time.
We encourage Foster Carers to participate in training courses alongside Social Workers and Fostering
Panel Members. The Service Manager for Fostering facilitates development days three times per year
specifically for Foster Carers.
Since April 2008, all new Foster Carers are required to achieve the Training, Support and Development
Standards (TSDS) for Foster Care within 12 months of their approval (18 months if they are a Family
and Friends Foster Carer). Every Foster Carer has a Personal Development Plan and is expected to
keep a portfolio where they record evidence of their learning against the TSDs. There is an on-going
programme of workshops for the completion of TSDs for new Foster Carers and attendance is
compulsory. Following approval, all new Foster Carers are expected to start work on the TSDs within 1
month of a Looked After Child being placed with them.
Once a Foster Carer has successfully

- 10 -

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose
achieved the TSDs they are required to continue their development and to keep the skills they have up
to date through the Lewisham Foster Carers rolling programme of training and development.
All new Foster Carers are required to complete the Foster Carer Core Training Programme, which aims
to provide the basic skills and information that new Foster Carers need to perform their fostering tasks.
Basic training is a requirement under the National Minimum Standards and the TSDS Framework.
Foster carers should complete the core training within 12 months of approval.
Lewisham involves Foster Carers in co-facilitating training events, to enable them to do this we also
offer a Training the Trainers Qualification. This is an important way of learning from each other,
promoting partnership working between Foster Carers and Social Workers.
In addition, specialist training is also provided, for example Fire Safety; Managing Childhood Illnesses;
First Aid; Positive Behaviour Management, De-Escalation Techniques, Stress Management for Foster
Carers, Caring with Vitality: a New Approach to Foster Care Support, Eating Well and Nurturing Others:
The Role Food Plays in Good Fostering.
Supporting and Reviewing Foster Carers.
Foster Carers are provided with a range of support to promote placement stability and improve the
outcomes of Looked After Children, for example:


An allocated Supervising Social Worker



Regular home visits, minimum 1 every 4-6 weeks



Manager and social work input available from Emergency Duty Team at all times outside usual
office hours



Access to Therapeutic Support via the Children and Adolescent Mental Heath Service
(CAMHS)



Application of the Secure Base Support Model for foster carers provided in partnership with the
LAC Service



Themed support groups: General, Male Carers, Under 5’s, Family and Friends, Single Carers
and Teenage Carers



Lewisham Mentoring Scheme: support and advice from an experienced carer. All newly
approved Foster Carers are required to work with a Foster Carer Mentor as part of their
induction for their first year



Lewisham Carers Supporting Carers Scheme (LCSC): practical support e.g. looking after
Looked After Children whilst carer attends training



Rolling programme of training



Financial support



Membership of the Fostering Network



Fostering Service Development Days for Foster Carers, Fostering Panel Members and staff.



Annual reward scheme for Foster Carers



Regular newsletter for Foster Carers, keeping them up to date with developments and events in
the Service and Department

- 11 -

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose
Foster Carer Annual Reviews
Foster Carers are reviewed annually to ensure Looked After Children are safeguarded and are
developing appropriately and Foster Carers remain supported to provide high-quality care. Additional
reviews can also be held if there has been a significant change in circumstances or if concerns arise.
The Foster Carer annual review considers the following:
The Foster Carer’s previous 12 months of fostering
Training attended and training needs
Progress and/or completion of TSDs
Looked After Children’s views and the views of the Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) and child’s
Social Worker
Foster Carer’s views regarding the Fostering Service
Statutory checks i.e. Disclosure, Barring & Service (DBS), Police, Health and Safety, medical, pet
Attendance of support groups
Annual reviews are generally carried out in the Foster Carer’s home by the Supervising Social Worker.
A competence-based model is used in relation to reviews, and Foster Carers are expected to evidence
how they have met the competencies in their practice and reflect on how the training they have
attended has helped to develop their skills, knowledge and experience. A reward scheme is linked to
the annual review process.
All initial annual reviews are presented to the Fostering Panel and the Foster Carer is required to
attend together with their Supervising Social Worker. Thereafter annual reviews are presented to the
Fostering Panel every third year. Situations where the Foster Carer can be taken back to Fostering
Panel earlier than this period include: a matching between the Foster Carer and Looked After Child in
placement, to agree long term care for that child; change of Foster Carer approval or when an
allegation has been made against the Foster Carer
All annual review reports are quality assured by the Fostering Team Manager and Fostering Panel
Advisor. Foster Carer Agreements, which not sure what you want here, are also considered and signed
off annually.

Guidance for Children & Young People.
Age appropriate children’s and young people’s guides have been produced for Looked After Children,
there are two guides one for under 11’s, the other for 11-17 years. In 2015 the Junior and Senior
Children in Care Council were consulted in the revision of these guides.

Complaints and Representations
A booklet titled Allegations, Complaints, Serious Cause for Concern - A Guide for Lewisham Foster
Carers is available and was specifically produced and designed to guide carers through the process of
the investigation of an allegation, complaint or serious cause for concern.

- 12 -

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose
This booklet ensures compliance with: London Child Protection Procedures, Fostering Services
Regulations and the National Minimum Standards 2011. Lewisham Council complaints procedure sets
out the processes in relation to Stage One, Stage Two and Stage Three complaints.
Allegations, Complaints & Serious Cause for Concern
Lewisham Council provides a range of support to Foster Carers in particular at times when they have
had an allegation, complaint or serious cause for concern made against them. The main support is
from the Supervising Social Worker and the Fostering Team Manager. The Lewisham Foster Care
Association, in particular the Chair and members of the Committee, are also available to Foster Carers
who find themselves in this situation. Lewisham Council pays for Fostering Network membership for
the Fostering Service. This means that every Foster Carer is entitled to advice and support from the
Fostering Network including unlimited Foster Line telephone support.
How to Contact Lewisham Fostering Service.
Lewisham Fostering Service
1st Floor
Laurence House
1 Catford Road
London
SE6 4RU
Email:
CSCP&PbusinessSup@lewisham.gov.uk
Telephone: 020 8314 3663
For other formats, including Braille, large print, audio tape or computer disc please contact us.
Visit www.lewisham.gov.uk for all the latest news and information about Council’s
Services.
Foster carers can also contact
Ofsted
Piccadilly Gate
Store Street
Manchester M1 2WD
125 Kingsway
London
WC2B 6SE
Telephone Number: 0300 123 1231

- 13 -

Lewisham Fostering Service – statement of purpose

- 14 -

How do I make a complaint?
Sometimes we make a mistake or things go wrong. If you are
unhappy about something, please speak to your own social worker,
your foster carer, teacher or your independent reviewing officer so
that they can try and put things right.
If you feel that you have not been listened to, or you are unhappy
with something that the Council has done or has not done, we want
to hear from you. If you want to, you can ask a friend or grown-up
that you know and trust to help you.

My fostering booklet
This booklet belongs to

All about me
A drawing of me

phone us on 020 8314 7435
text us on 07710 705611
email us on talk2us@lewisham.gov.uk

These organisations may also be able to help you
with any complaints, suggestions or opinions:
Children’s Commissioner
Children’s Commissioner for England,
Sanctuary Buildings, Great Smith Street, London SW1P 3BT
Phone number: 0800 528 0731
Email address: www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk
Local Government Ombudsman
The Local Government Ombudsman
PO Box 4771
Coventry CV4 0EH
Phone number: 0300 061 0614
Ofsted
Phone number: 0300 123 1231
Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk
Childline
Phone number: 0800 1111
Website: www.childline.org.uk
NSPCC
Phone number: 0800 800 5000
Website: ww.nspcc.org.uk
The Advocacy Service
For independent advice and to help children say
what they feel.
SFC Croham 0800 093 2012

My birthday is on

I am

The colour of my hair is

The colour of my eyes is

years old

How I’m feeling
Some things that make me happy are

My favourites
My favourite food is

My favourite TV programme is

My favourite book is

My favourite toy is
Some questions I have
My favourite colour is

Why do I have to live with a foster carer?

How will people look after me in my foster home?

When a child cannot live with their own family, they can move into a
foster home where they will be safe. Children live with foster carers for
all sorts of reasons, but it’s not because of anything they have done.

Your foster carer should listen to you, treat you fairly and keep you
safe. They will help you to be healthy, to go to school and to practice
your religion if you have one.

What is a foster carer?
Foster carers are people who have been specially chosen to look
after children who cannot live with their families.
Foster carers are there to look after you and keep you safe.
They will help you with things like going to school, making
sure you eat the right food and keeping you safe.

What about what I want?
You will have your own social worker who should talk to you
about what your wishes and feelings are.
Your wishes are things like what you want to do, what you want
to happen or what you want someone to do for you.
Feelings are about being happy, sad, OK, worried or scared even
if you don’t understand what is happening.

What does my social worker do?
Your social worker is someone who sees lots of children and they work
in a place called Children’s Services. Their job is to make sure that you
are OK and that you are safe.
Your social worker will come and see you and talk to you about what is
happening in your life. They care about you and you can talk
to them about anything that you are worried or scared about.

What does my foster carer’s social worker do?
Your foster carers have their own social worker who is called a
supervising social worker. They make sure that your foster carer
is looking after you properly and have all the help that they need.
Your foster carer’s social worker will come and see your foster carer
and you to make sure that you are well cared for.
You can write down the name and number of your own social worker
and your foster carer’s social worker at the end of this booklet.

Your foster carer should ask you about the things that you like, the
things that you don’t like and the people that are important to you.
You can speak to your foster carer or your social worker if there
is something that you need or if something is making you worried,
upset or scared.
Every foster home is different, some foster carers live on their own
while others live with their partner and own children. Some have other
foster children living with them.
When you move in, your foster carer will explain about things like how
to treat each other, about listening to each other and keeping safe.
Your foster carer will probably have ground rules and things might be
a little bit different from living with your own family.

This is a picture of my foster family

How long will I have to stay?
Your own social worker will make a plan for you called a care plan.
Your care plan will explain everything that is important to you like your
school, your health, when you see your family and friends and how
long you will stay with your foster carer.

Your teacher will know that you have move to live with a foster carer
but it is up to you if you want to tell other people.
If you have any problems or if people are not being kind to you, you
must tell your teacher, your social worker or your foster carer.

Tell your social worker if there is anything in the care plan that
you do not like as they may be able to change this. If they cannot
change it they can put your views down. If you feel worried or scared
about what is going to happen, talk to your foster carer or your social
worker and they will try to help you.

Raise Your Voice is Lewisham’s Children in Care Council for children and
young people in care to meet each other and talk about what matters
to them. Talk to your social worker if you would like to take part.

Who decides what will happen?

Have you seen the Lewisham Pledge for Looked After Children and
Young People that tells you what to expect from the Council? You can
ask your social worker for the pledge if you do not have one.

When you are living with your foster carer there will be meetings called
reviews. This is where all the important grown-ups in your life will get
together and make a plan for you.
Before the review happens you will be asked about what you think and
what you want to happen. You might be asked to write this down or
to tell your own social worker. If you are old enough, you will also be
asked to come to the review.

Who are the Children in Care Council?

Who can I talk to for help?
Write down their names, telephone numbers and email addresses
My social worker is

The person in charge of the reviews will be your own independent
reviewing officer. You can also talk to them about what you want
to happen.

When will I see my family?
When you move to live with your foster carer this does not mean
that you have to forget about your family.

My foster carer’s social worker is

Your social worker will speak to you about when you can see
or speak to your family and how often. You can tell your social worker
who you do and who you do not want to see or speak to.
Your foster carer understands how important your family is to you.
They are happy for you to talk about your family if you want to.

What about school?
School is very important because it is where you learn lots of things
and where you can make friends and do fun things after school.
When you move to live with your foster carer we will try to work out
whether it is best for you to move to a new school or stay at the school
you have been going to.

My independent reviewing officer is

My fostering guide

About fostering
The fostering service aims to provide foster carers to care for children and young
people who are not able to live with their own parents for any length of time.
Going to live with a foster family is sometimes called “going into care” or “being
looked after”. This booklet will give you some more information about what to
expect. We will always try to listen to your wishes and feelings and there are more
details at the back of this booklet about what to do if you are unhappy.

Why are children and
young people fostered?

What is a foster family?

There are lots of different reasons why children and
young people are fostered. Sometimes parents ask for help
because they feel they are struggling to look after their
children in the best way and sometimes a court decides that
a young person would be safer if they were not living at
home. Some young people travel to the UK from
abroad without their family and need to be
cared for until they are adults.

Children and young people who cannot live with
their own family for any reason may go and live
in a foster home. You may live with your foster
carer for a short time or it may become your
permanent home. Some children and young
people may move into their foster home with
their brothers and sisters and others may live
with relatives or friends of the family.

All foster homes are different. Some have one
adult and some have two. They may have their own
children or be looking after other children. Your foster
carer will look after you and take good care of you. Along
with your social worker, your foster carer will make sure you
are healthy and safe and will help you go to school.

Your foster carer has had special training so you receive the best possible care.

What is a social worker?
All children and young people living with a foster carer have their own social
worker. Your social worker works for Lewisham Council and is specially trained
to support you and your family.

How will you find the
right foster family for me?
Your social worker will do their best to find you a family
that’s right for you, where you will fit in and settle down
well. We may not be able to do that straight away and you
may be placed with one family for a few days who will look
after you until the most suitable home is found.
We understand that your culture and religion are important
and will always try and place you with a family that
understands your background and beliefs.

Going to live with a foster carer
Your social worker will take you to meet your new foster carer. You will be shown
around the home. It may feel all a bit strange and different to start with, but your
foster carer will help you settle in. Like any house there will be rules about things
such as doing your schoolwork, watching TV, staying up late, times for you to be
in by, what time dinner is and other things. It may take a little while to get used to
the rules but slowly you will adapt and become more comfortable. You will be able
to talk to your foster carer and share your day, they will make sure that you have
good food and clean clothes to wear.

You will always have:
A bedroom, either on your own or with your own brothers or sisters
Your own cosy bed
Space to put your things
Toiletries such as shampoo, creams, soap, body lotion and wash kit
Space to be able to meet your Social Worker, Children’s Right’s Officer or Solicitor
Pocket money
A chance to celebrate your birthday and religious festivals,
such as Christmas, Diwali or Eid.
Fair and respectful parenting
Your life story
Someone to listen to your feelings and
Your foster carer or social worker will encourage
hopes and be interested in you
you to understand your own life story. This could be
Support to stay in touch with friends
in a special book about you, your family, what has
and family
happened to you and all the important things about you.
Any help you need with your education
In this book you could put photographs and drawings
or training.
and write about anyone and anything that you want to
remember. The book would be yours to keep and treasure
because it would be about you and would help you
In your foster home you
understand why things happened.

will have personal belongings
You can bring your own clothes and
other personal belongings with you when
you come into care and your social worker
will make sure you have an appropriate bag
or suitcase to move things. If you’re not
sure about bringing something,
then please ask!

It is a good idea to let your foster carer know if
you have anything that is valuable or really special,
so they can help you look after it.

Remember that YOU are very important.

Who can I talk to
What you share with your social worker
will help to make the best plans for you.
Once your foster carer has been identified,
there will be plenty of time to get to
know each other.

You will be part of the decision making so you can
always ask your social worker if you feel your views are
not being listened to.
This might be a difficult time. You may feel scared,
upset or angry about everything that has happened.
Many children or young people will feel like this.
Just try to talk through your feelings. You can ask
questions about what’s happening as many times as
you need. Your foster carer, social worker or someone
else you trust will do their best to answer you.

If there are things that have happened to you in your family that you want to talk
to someone about, remember there are people that will listen to you. If you say
that someone has harmed you or hurt you, your foster carer or social worker will
want to make sure that this does not happen again.
At the end of this booklet, there is a list of telephone numbers that you can ring
to talk to and somebody who will listen to you and give you help over the
telephone. Sometimes the decision is made that you will not be able to go back to
your family, your social worker may start looking for a permanent family for you,
with whom you can stay until you are grown up.

What happens if you are not happy with the
foster family?
If you are unhappy living with your foster carer, you should tell your social worker
or another adult you can trust. It can take a while to feel settled in a new home,
particularly if you have a lot of other things going on. Your social worker is there to
help you sort out your feelings and help work out any difficulties. If you don’t want
to meet in your foster home, ask to meet somewhere else, like a café or park.

What is a care plan?
Your care plan is written information that says how you should be cared for and
describes your future plans. The plan may be that you will live with your family, or
it may be for you to live temporarily or permanently with a foster family. Your social
worker will give you a copy of your care plan.
You will have a placement meeting before you go to the placement, or within five
days of you going to live with your foster family. At the placement meeting, many
things about you will be shared, for example the food you like, any medicines you
have to take or information about your school. This information will all be included
in the care plan to try and make sure you are looked after as well as possible.
Your care plan is updated at review meetings. At review meetings, you, your
parents, foster carers and social workers all get together to look at the plans for
while you are living with your foster carers. It is important that you share how you
feel about all the plans being made for you.

The first review meeting will take place when you have been living in foster care
for four weeks. Three months later, there will be another meeting and if everything
is going well, they will then take place every six months. The person charing the
meeting is called the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) and they will make sure
that everyone, especially you, has a chance to say what you think. You can ask
someone else to give your views if you don’t want to.

What is an Independent Reviewing Officer?
An Independent Reviewing Officer is the person with responsibility for chairing
and being in charge of reviews. It is their job to make sure that your views are
heard, and that the Care Plan is in your best interest.
At the end of a review meeting, the Independent Reviewing Officer will make
a number of decisions, which are aimed at supporting you and planning for
your future.

What about school?

Will I see my family again?
If it’s the best thing for you, we
Living with a foster carer does not usually mean that you
will try and make sure you
won’t
see your family. Social workers call the times when children
can stay at the same school.
visit their family “contact”. You may have contact with your parents
Your social worker, foster
and also with grandparents, your extended family and friends. Visits,
carer and one teacher from
phone calls, emails and letters are all different ways you will be able
your school will work with
to keep in touch and your foster carer will help you do this.
you and develop a Personal
Education Plan (or PEP for
It may not always be the best thing for you to visit your family
short). Your PEP will show
frequently or you may not want to see certain people.
what you are doing well
Your social worker will discuss with you what is
at school and if there are
happening and will always listen to your
any areas where you need extra
wishes and feelings.
help. Your PEP also gives you a great
opportunity to say what sports, music and
drama or other after-school clubs you
would like to be involved in.
Staying healthy
When you move in with your foster carer, you will be offered a health assessment
with a doctor, to make sure you are healthy and well. You will then be offered a
health assessment once a year with a nurse or a doctor if you prefer. You will also
go to the dentist and optician regularly.

Going home
If your care plan says that you are going home, you will have the chance to talk
about how this makes you feel and work out any concerns you have. You will be
able to take home your things, including any new belongings you have been given
and your life-story book.
Your social worker will visit you at home to make sure everything
is going well and will be able to support you to resettle back in your family.

Complaints
and
representations

Making a complaint
Sometimes we make a mistake or things go wrong. Our aim is to discuss
any concerns or worries you may have and by working together, resolve
any problems. There may be times when this does not work and you remain
unhappy about a particular situation.
All carers, children and young people have the right to complain and parents
can also complain on behalf of children and young people.
If you would like to make a complaint ask your social worker to give you a leaflet
explaining the process.

Independent visitors and children’s rights
All children and young people who are not in regular contact with a parent,
or a person who has parental responsibility, should be given the opportunity to
obtain the support of an independent visitor.
An independent visitor is someone who does not work for the Council and will
get to know you by visiting you. It will give you an opportunity to spend time
with someone outside of the Council, who you can speak to and share
achievements, as well as concerns.

The Advocacy Service
Lewisham Council provides an advocacy service from Croham who can help
children and young people to say what they feel and provide advice independent
of the Council.
SFC Croham 0800 093 2012

They can:
Let you know your rights
Give you information
Help with complaints
Help you have your say
Come to meetings with you
Help you sort out what you want

Children’s Commissioner for England
Anne Longfield is the Children’s Commissioner for England.
The Children’s Commissioner promotes the rights of children
and young people in England.
General enquiries: 0844 800 9113
www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk
or write to:
Office of the Children’s Commissioner,
33 Greycoat Street,
London SW1P 2QF

Children in Care Council
Are you interested in learning more about the Children in Care Council where
children and young people in care talk about what matters to them?
Have you seen the Lewisham’s Pledge to Children in Care stating what you can
expect from the Council?
Denzil Bell, Participation Manager 020 8314 7215

Who Cares?
This is a special service that gives help and advice to any child or young person who
is being looked after or has been looked after.
You can call them free on 020 7251 3117 on Mondays, Wednesdays and Thursdays
(3.30–6pm).
Website: www.thewhocarestrust.org.uk

ChildLine
This is the free 24-hour helpline for children and young people in the UK.
You can call the Helpline on Tel: 0800 1111 about any problem, at any time – day
or night. ChildLine’s counsellors are there to help you find ways to sort things out.
ChildLine is confidential – which means they won’t tell anyone about your call
unless you want them to talk to somebody for you, or you are in danger.
Website: www.childline.org.uk

National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children (NSPCC)
If you are having a bad time at home, being bullied at school, or if you are worried
about something you can ring the NSPCC for free on 0800 800 5000
Website: www.nspcc.org.uk

Kooth
Online chat. Get real time help with friendly, qualified counsellors.
www.kooth.com

Metro Centre
email: youth@metrocentreonline.org
tel: 020 8305 5000 ext 138
website: www.metrocentreonline.org

My Notes
Social worker’s name:

Social worker telephone number:

Foster carer ‘sname:

Foster carer’s telephone number:

My Independent Reviewing Officer is:

IRO telephone number:

Other important people:

We hope you found this booklet helpful. If there is anything that you did not
understand or you want to find out more about, please talk to your social worker.
Produced in conjunction with the CICC

Executive Director for Children & Young People
Report Title

St Saviours Catholic Primary School Instrument of Government

Key Decision

Yes

Ward

Lewisham Central

Contributors

Service Manager School Services and
Head of Law
Part 1
Date: 29 June 2016

Class

Item No.

1.

Summary

1.1

A new Instrument of Government needs to be made for St. Saviours
Catholic Primary School, following the governing body’s decision to
decrease the size of the governing body from 16 to 14 members.

2.

Purpose

2.1

To seek agreement to the making of the new Instrument of Government
for the school listed below.

3.

Recommendation
The Mayor is recommended to:

3.1

Approve that the Instrument of Government for St. Saviours Catholic
Primary School be made by Local Authority order dated 13 July 2016 as
set out in Appendix 1.

4.

Policy Context

4.1

Each school has to have an Instrument of Government. The local
authority must satisfy itself that the Instrument of Government for schools
conform to the legislation. The local authority must also agree its content.

4.2

Lewisham’s Children & Young People’s Plan sets out our vision for
improving outcomes for all children. The main purpose of a governing
body is to account for the achievement of children and young people in
their schools.

4.3

The appointment of governors supports the broad priorities within
Lewisham’s Sustainable Community strategy, in particular those of being
“ambitious and achieving” and “empowered and responsible”. Governors
help inspire our young people to achieve their full potential and they also
promote volunteering which allows them to be involved in their local area.

4.4

Two specific corporate priorities that are relevant pertain to “community
leadership and empowerment” and “young people’s achievement and
involvement”.

5.

Background

5.1

On 5 March 2016 at St. Saviours Catholic Primary School’s governing
body meeting, governors agreed to decrease the size of the governing
body from 16 to 14 members.

5.2

The governing body must be constituted in accordance with regulations
made by virtue of section 19 of the Education Act 2002 namely The
School Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012, as
amended.

5.3

The total membership of the governing body of a maintained school must
be no fewer than seven governors.

5.4

The governing body of a maintained school must include the following:(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

at least two parent governors;
the headteacher unless the headteacher resigns the office of
governor in accordance with regulations;
one staff governor, and
one local authority governor

5.11

The governing body may in addition appoint such number of co-opted
governors as they consider necessary provided that the requirements in
regulations are met in respect of governing bodies of foundation and
voluntary schools.

5.12

The total number of co-opted governors who are also eligible to be
elected as staff governors under Schedule 2, when counted with the staff
governor and the head teacher, must not exceed one third of the total
membership of the governing body.

5.13

In addition, the governing body of a voluntary aided school must also
include such number of foundation governors as to outnumber all the
other governors by two.

5.14

Appendix 1 details the Instrument of Government the Local Authority is
proposing to make by order. The Instrument of Government has been
agreed by the Education Commission, Catholic Diocese of Southwark,
Trustees, Foundation Governors and the Local Authority.

6.

Financial implications

6.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.

7.

Legal implications

7.1

Section 20 of the Education Act 2002 requires all maintained schools to
have an Instrument of Government which determines the constitution of
the school and other matters relating to the school.

7.2

Each school must have an Instrument of Government detailing the name
of the school, the type of school and the membership of the Governing
Body. The category of governor and the number in each category is
specified in the Regulations.

7.3

The Instrument of Government proposed for the Governing Body of St.
Saviours Catholic Primary school conforms to The School Governance
(Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012 as amended.
Equalities Legislation

7.4

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty
(the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation.

7.5

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:




eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.
foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

7.6

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be
attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of
relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or
foster good relations.

7.7

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued
Technical Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory
guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions &
Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have regard
to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The
Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet
the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but
nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and
the technical guidance can be found at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/

7.8

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously
issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the
equality duty:

1
2
3.
4.
5.

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

7.9

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and
who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the
duty including steps that are legally required, as well as recommended
actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and
resources are available at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/adviceand-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

8.

Crime and Disorder Implications

8.1

There are no specific crime and disorder implications.

9.

Equalities Implications

9.1

Governors will have enough flexibility in their choice of constitutional
models to enable them to address issues of representation of stakeholder
groups and to ensure that Governing Bodies reflect the communities they
serve.

9.2

Lewisham Council’s policy is to encourage all sections of the community
to be represented as Local Authority governors. In particular, we would
encourage further representation from the black community and minority
groups including disabled people, who are currently under-represented
as governors. The numbers of governors in these groups is kept under
review

10.

Environmental Implications

10.1

There are no specific environmental implications.

Background Documents
Short Title of Document

Date

File Location

Contact
Officer

The School Governance
(Constitution) (England)
Regulations 2012

2012 http://www.legislation.gov.
uk/uksi/2012/1034/regulati
on/28/made

Suhaib Saeed

The School Governance
(Miscellaneous
Amendments)
(England) Regulations
2015

2015 http://www.legislation.gov. Suhaib Saeed
uk/uksi/2015/883/contents/
made

The School Governance
(Constitution and
Federations)
(England) (Amendment)
Regulations 2016

2016 http://www.legislation.gov. Suhaib Saeed
uk/uksi/2016/204/contents/
made

If there are any queries arising from this report, please contact Suhaib Saeed,
Service Manager School Services , 3rd Floor, Laurence House, telephone 020
8314 767

Appendix 1

ARCHDIOCESE OF SOUTHWARK

Local Authority: Lewisham

INSTRUMENT OF GOVERNMENT
FOR
VOLUNTARY AIDED SCHOOLS

1. The name of the school is: St Saviour’s Catholic Primary School
2. The school was founded by and is part of the Catholic Church. The
school is to be conducted as a Catholic School in accordance with the
canon law and teachings of the Roman Catholic Church and in
accordance with the Trust Deed of the Archdiocese of Southwark and in
particular:
a) religious education is to be in accordance with the teachings,
doctrines, discipline and general and particular norms of the Catholic
Church;
b) religious worship is to be in accordance with the rites, practices,
discipline and liturgical norms of the Catholic Church;
and at all times the school is to serve as a witness to the Catholic faith in
Our Lord Jesus Christ.
3. The school is a voluntary aided school.
4. The name of the governing body is “The governing body of St Saviour’s
Catholic Primary School.
5. The governing body shall consist of:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.

Two Parent Governors;
The Headteacher;
One Staff Governor;
One Local Authority Governor;
Eight Foundation Governors
One Co-Opted Governor

6. The total number of governors shall be 14.

7. Foundation governors are appointed by the Archbishop of Southwark (or
any other person exercising Ordinary jurisdiction on his behalf) through
the Director of Education of the Archdiocese of Southwark Education
Commission.
8. The Archbishop of Southwark (or any other person exercising Ordinary
jurisdiction on his behalf) through the Director of Education of the

Archdiocese of Southwark Education Commission, may
foundation governors at any time during their period of office.

remove

9. Date instrument drafted by the governing body: 3 March 2016
10. Date draft instrument approved by foundation governors: 3 March 2016
11.

Date draft instrument approved by Trustees

26th May 2016

12. This instrument of government comes into effect on 13 July 2016
13. This instrument was made by order of Lewisham Local Authority on 29
June 2016

The LA must supply a copy of the Instrument to every member of the
governing body (and the headteacher if not a governor), the Trustees of the
Archdiocese of Southwark and to the Archbishop through the office of the
Director of Education of the Education Commission.

MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title

Launcelot Primary School Instrument of Government

Key Decision

Yes

Ward

Downham

Contributors

Service Manager School Services and
Head of Law
Part 1
Date: 29 June 2016

Class

Item No.

1.

Summary

1.1

A new Instrument of Government needs to be made for Launcelot
Primary School, following the governing bodies decision to increase the
size of the governing body from 8 to 12 members.

2.

Purpose

2.1

To seek agreement to the making of the new Instrument of Government
for the school listed below.

3.

Recommendation
The Mayor is recommended to:

3.1

Approve that the Instrument of Government for Launcelot Primary School
be made by Local Authority order dated 1 September 2016 as set out in
Appendix 1.

4.

Policy Context

4.1

Each school has to have an Instrument of Government. The local
authority must satisfy itself that the Instrument of Government for schools
conform to the legislation. The local authority must also agree its content.

4.2

Lewisham’s Children & Young People’s Plan sets out our vision for
improving outcomes for all children. The main purpose of a governing
body is to account for the achievement of children and young people in
their schools.

4.3

The appointment of governors supports the broad priorities within
Lewisham’s Sustainable Community strategy, in particular those of being
“ambitious and achieving” and “empowered and responsible”. Governors
help inspire our young people to achieve their full potential and they also
promote volunteering which allows them to be involved in their local area.

4.4

Two specific corporate priorities that are relevant pertain to “community
leadership and empowerment” and “young people’s achievement and
involvement”.

5.

Background

5.1

On 10 March 2016 at Launcelot primary school’s governing body
meeting, governors discussed increasing the size of the governing body.
With now only eight members, it was felt that the governing body was too
small to provide all the capacity that the governing body needed. For this
reason it was agreed to increase the size of the governing body to 12
members and request an amendment to the Instrument of Government.

5.2

The governing body must be constituted in accordance with regulations
made by virtue of section 19 of the Education Act 2002 namely The
School Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012, as
amended.

5.3

The total membership of the governing body of a maintained school must
be no fewer than seven governors.

5.4

The governing body of a maintained school must include the following:(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

at least two parent governors;
the headteacher unless the headteacher resigns the office of
governor in accordance with regulations;
one staff governor, and
one local authority governor

5.11

The governing body may in addition appoint such number of co-opted
governors as they consider necessary provided that the requirements in
regulations are met in respect of governing bodies of foundation and
voluntary schools.

5.12

The total number of co-opted governors who are also eligible to be
elected as staff governors under Schedule 2, when counted with the staff
governor and the head teacher, must not exceed one third of the total
membership of the governing body.

5.13

Appendix 1 details the Instrument of Government the Local Authority is
proposing to make by order.

6.

Financial implications

6.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.

7.

Legal implications

7.1

Section 20 of the Education Act 2002 requires all maintained schools to
have an Instrument of Government which determines the constitution of
the school and other matters relating to the school.

7.2

Each school must have an Instrument of Government detailing the name
of the school, the type of school and the membership of the Governing
Body. The category of governor and the number in each category is
specified in the Regulations.

7.3

The Instrument of Government proposed for the Governing Body of
Launcelot Primary School conforms to The School Governance
(Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012 as amended.
Equalities Legislation

7.4

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty
(the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation.

7.5

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:




eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.
foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

7.6

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be
attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of
relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or
foster good relations.

7.7

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued
Technical Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory
guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions &
Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have regard
to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The
Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet
the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but
nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and
the technical guidance can be found at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/

7.8

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously
issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the
equality duty:
1
2

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making

3.
4.
5.

Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

7.9

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and
who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the
duty including steps that are legally required, as well as recommended
actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and
resources are available at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/adviceand-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

8.

Crime and Disorder Implications

8.1

There are no specific crime and disorder implications.

9.

Equalities Implications

9.1

Governors will have enough flexibility in their choice of constitutional
models to enable them to address issues of representation of stakeholder
groups and to ensure that Governing Bodies reflect the communities they
serve.

9.2

Lewisham Council’s policy is to encourage all sections of the community
to be represented as Local Authority governors. In particular, we would
encourage further representation from the black community and minority
groups including disabled people, who are currently under-represented
as governors. The numbers of governors in these groups is kept under
review

10.

Environmental Implications

10.1

There are no specific environmental implications.

Background Documents
Short Title of Document

Date

File Location

Contact
Officer
Suhaib Saeed

The School Governance
(Constitution) (England)
Regulations 2012

2012 http://www.legislation.gov.
uk/uksi/2012/1034/regulati
on/28/made

The School Governance
(Miscellaneous
Amendments)
(England) Regulations
2015

2015 http://www.legislation.gov. Suhaib Saeed
uk/uksi/2015/883/contents/
made

The School Governance
(Constitution and
Federations)
(England) (Amendment)
Regulations 2016

2016 http://www.legislation.gov. Suhaib Saeed
uk/uksi/2016/204/contents/
made

If there are any queries arising from this report, please contact Suhaib Saeed,
Service Manager School Services , 3rd Floor, Laurence House, telephone 020
8314 767

Appendix 1
INSTRUMENT OF GOVERNMENT: COMMUNITY SCHOOLS
1.

The name of the school is Launcelot Primary School

2.

The school is a community school

3.

The name of the governing body is The governing body of Launcelot
Primary School

4.

The governing body shall consist of:
a. 2 parent governors

b. 1 Headteacher
c. 1 staff governor
d. 1 Local Authority governor
e. 7 co-opted governors
5.

Total number of governors 12

6.

This instrument of government comes into effect on: 1st September 2016

7.

This instrument was made by order of Lewisham Local Authority on 29
June 2016

8.

A copy of the instrument must be supplied to every member of the
governing body (and the headteacher if not a governor)

MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title

Local Authority Governor Nominations

Key Decision

No

Ward

Evelyn, Brockley, Crofton Park, Perry Vale

Contributors

Executive Director for Children and Young People
Head of Law
Part 1
Date:
29 June 2016

Class

Item No.

1.

Summary

1.1

In May 2014, amendments to the School Governance (Constitution)
(England) Regulations 2012 (The Constitution Regulations 2012) were
made and laid before Parliament. The Department for Education (DfE)
also published statutory guidance on the constitution of maintained
schools which governing bodies and Local Authorities must have regard
to. The most recent version of this Guidance was issued in August 2015.

.
1.2

The Constitution Regulations 2012 determine the size and membership
of governing bodies. Previously the Local Authority was able to appoint
Local Authority governors to governing bodies, however amendments to
the Regulations now permit a Local Authority only to nominate such a
person, with it being a matter for the governing body to appoint. For the
Local Authority governor position, the Local Authority nominates a
governor for ”appointment” by the governing body.

1.3

This report is to request the nomination of Local Authority governors for
schools listed in paragraph 6 below.

2.

Purpose

2.1

To consider and approve the nomination of the Local Authority governors
detailed in paragraph 6 below.

3.

Recommendation/s
The Mayor is recommended to:

3.1

agree to nominate the persons set out in paragraph 6 as Local Authority
governors;

3.2

note the information concerning the recommended nominated governors
in Appendix 1.

4.

Policy Context

4.1

Lewisham’s Children & Young People’s Plan sets out our vision for
improving outcomes for all children. The main purpose of a governing
body is to account for the achievement of children and young people in
their schools.

4.2

The appointment of governors supports the broad priorities within
Lewisham’s Sustainable Community strategy, in particular those of being
“ambitious and achieving” and “empowered and responsible”. Governors
help inspire our young people to achieve their full potential and they also
promote volunteering which allows them to be involved in their local area.

4.3

Two specific corporate priorities that are relevant pertain to “community
leadership and empowerment” and “young people’s achievement and
involvement”.

5.

Background

5.1

Under Section 19 of the Education Act 2002 and School Governance
(Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012, every governing body is
required to have at least one representative of the Local Authority as part
of its membership. Governing bodies reconstituted under The School
Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012 only allows for
one Local Authority governor. Free schools and Academies are exempt
from this requirement.

5.2

The Constitution Regulations 2012 and associated Guidance highlight the
importance of governors having the appropriate skills to contribute to the
effective governance and success of the school.

5.3

The suggested nominees have the requisite skills and experience
required to be effective in their role as a Local Authority nominated
governor.

5.4

A Local Authority governor vacancy will arise on the governing body of
the schools listed in paragraph 6. Appointments to school governing
bodies are usually for a four-year term, unless stipulated otherwise in the
Instrument of Government. The individuals set out in paragraph 6 would
serve the normal 4 years if appointed. The governing body of the schools
would like to appoint them to the role of Local Authority governor at the
next governing body meeting and thus a nomination is required to enable
this to happen.

5.5

Appendix 1 highlights the skills and experience that the individuals
possess which will enable them to be an effective member of a
governing body.

6.

Candidates recommended for Nomination as Local Authority
governor for governing bodies constituted under the School
Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012 .
Name
Joyce Greene

School
Grinling Gibbons & Lucas Vale Federation

Heidi Watson

Stillness Infant

James Rene

Brent Knoll

7.

Financial implications

7.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.

8.

Legal implications

8.1

Section 19 of the Education Act 2002 and the School Governance
(Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012( as amended) requires every
governing body of a maintained school to have one representative of the
Local Authority as part of its membership.

8.2

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality
duty (the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation.

8.3

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:


eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.




advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.
foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

8.4

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be
attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of
relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or
foster good relations.

8.5

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued
Technical Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory
guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions &
Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must have regard
to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The
Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet
the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but
nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and
the technical guidance can be found at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/

8.6

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously
issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the
equality duty:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

8.7

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and
who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the
duty including steps that are legally required, as well as recommended
actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and
resources are available at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/adviceand-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

9

Crime and Disorder Implications

9.1

There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this
report.

10.

Equalities Implications

10.1

Lewisham Council’s policy is to encourage all sections of the community
to be represented as Local Authority governors. In particular, we would
encourage further representation from the black community and minority
groups including disabled people, who are currently under-represented
as governors. The numbers of governors in these groups is kept under
review

11.

Environmental Implications

11.1

There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report.

12.

Conclusion

12.1

The individuals detailed in Appendix 1 view being a governor as a way of
utilising their skills and experience to make a difference to the lives of
children and young people in Lewisham schools. Section 19 of the
Education Act 2002 and School Governance (Constitution) (England)
Regulations 2007 made under it require every governing body to have at
least one representative of the Local Authority as part of its membership.
Governing bodies reconstituting under The School Governance
(Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012 only require one Local
Authority governor. Academies are exempt from this requirement.

12.2

Appointments to school governing bodies are usually for a four-year term,
unless stipulated otherwise in the Instrument of Government. The
persons listed in paragraph 6 would serve the normal 4 years.

Background Documents
There are no background papers.
If there are any queries arising from this report, please contact Suhaib Saeed,
Service Manager – School Services, 3rd Floor, Laurence House, telephone 020
8314 767

LA Governor nominations

APPENDIX 1

Name

School

Occupation

Residential
Area

Précis of Suitability and Skills to be considered
as a school governor

Joyce Greene

Grinling
Gibbons &
Lucas Vale
Federation

Local
Government
Officer – SBM

SE6

Heidi Watson

Stillness Infant

Solicitor
(Partner)

SE23

Joyce’s term of office ends on 30 June 2016
and she has been a LA governor at Grinling
Gibbons and latterly within the Federation with
Lucas Vale for the past 19 years. She has
been Vice-Chair a few times over the years
and is currently Chair of the Resources
Committee, Health and Safety Representative,
a member of the Executive Head Performance
Review panel and plays an active role on the
governing body. Joyce also serves on
recruitment panels for Leadership roles within
the schools. She is committed to this role has
strong finance skills and the GB would like the
opportunity to have her continue her role as LA
governor and thus require a nomination be
made
Heidi has been on the Governing Body of
Stillness Infant for four years as a parent
governor. She is a valued member, who
provides an important contribution and brings
key skills, particularly on human resources and
employment law. Her term as a parent
governor is due to end, but the governing body
are keen to retain her skills and the experience
she has gained as a governor and wish to
appoint her as a LA governor.

Governor
Monitoring
Information

Female
Black British
AfroCaribbean

Female
White/British

LA Governor nominations

APPENDIX 1

Name

School

Occupation

Residential
Area

Précis of Suitability and Skills to be considered
as a school governor

James Rene

Brent Knoll

Chartered
Engineer

SE6

James is currently a co-opted governor at
Brent Knoll. The current LA governor in post,
term of office ends on 31 August 2016 and the
governing body wish for James to replace him
from 1 September 2016. This would also allow
the governing body to consider skills required
for a co-opted governor vacancy. James is a
chartered engineer and has many skills related
to his work in the construction industry and has
experience of volunteering for charities.

Governor
Monitoring
Information

Male
Any other
Black
Background

Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2
Key Decision

X

Date of Meeting

29th June 2016

Title of Report

Response to the referral by the Sustainable
Development Select Committee on the Biodiversity
Action Plan

Originator of Report

Sam Kirk

Ext.
42076

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

x
x
x
x
x
x

Signed:

____________________________ Executive Member

Date:

__20th June 2016___________

Signed:

____________________________ Director/Head of Service

Date

__20th June 2016___________

Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\8\4\ai00014484\$n1pko3en.doc

No

Date

Mayor and Cabinet
Report Title
Key Decision

Response to the referral by the Sustainable Development Select
Committee on the Biodiversity Action Plan
No
Item No.

Ward

All

Contributors

Executive Director Resources & Regeneration;
Executive Director Customer Services

Class

Part 1

Date: 29 June2016

1.

Summary

1.1

This report sets out the Executive Director’s response to the recommendations
arising from the Sustainable Development Select Committee’s consideration of
‘A Natural Renaissance for Lewisham’ Biodiversity Action Plan 2015-2020’,
which was presented at the Mayor and Cabinet meeting of 23rd March 2016.

2.

Purpose

2.1

On the 8th March the Sustainable Development Select Committee (SDSC)
considered ‘A Natural Renaissance for Lewisham’ Biodiversity Action Plan
2015-2020’ and recommended that:





That the Biodiversity Action Plan be approved
Section 106 or Community Infrastructure Levy money be allocated for a
borough-wide survey of potential sites for additional street trees and ecological
enhancements
That as part of the Digital Transformation Programme, consideration be given
to how best to support the biodiversity action plan with improved use of IT

2.2

The purpose of this report is to set out the Executive Director’s response to the
recommendations arising from the SDSC consideration of the Lewisham
Biodiversity Action Plan.

3.

Recommendations
The Mayor is recommended to:

3.1

Approve the response from the Executive Director for Resource and
Regeneration to the Sustainable Development Select Committee

3.2

Agree the content of this report and agree that the matters discussed in this
report be reported back to the Sustainable Development Select Committee.

1

4.

Policy Context

4.1

Shaping our future – the Council’s Sustainable Community Strategy includes
the following priority outcomes


Clean, green and liveable – where people live in high quality housing and
can care for and enjoy their environment
-Protect and enhance our parks, open spaces and local biodiversity.
4.2

The Council has outlined ten corporate priorities which enables the delivery of
the Sustainable Community strategy.


4.3

Priority number 3: Clean, green and liveable improving environmental
management. The council is committed to protect and manage the
environment and to aspire to a sustainable environment where people,
have access to green spaces and take responsibility for their impact on the
environment.

The decision to endorse ‘A Natural Renaissance for Lewisham’ is consistent
with the Local Development Framework (June 2011): Core Strategy Objective
7: Open Space and environmental assets.


This states that the important environmental, ecological and biodiversity
features of Lewisham will be protected and capitalised to promote health
and well-being by:

a. protecting all open space including Metropolitan Open Land
b. protecting Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation and supporting and
promoting local biodiversity
c. requiring green roofs and walls where appropriate
d. implementing the Street Tree Programme
e. improving the quality of, and safeguarding access to, all public open space
f. providing accessible and varied opportunities for health, leisure and
recreational activities including the South East London Green Chain Walk, the
Green Grid, the Waterlink Way and river and waterways network, and the
Thames Path.
5

Background

5.1

On 8th March 2016, the Sustainable Development Select Committee
considered ‘A Natural Renaissance for Lewisham’ Biodiversity Action Plan
2015-2020’. Their recommendations are set out below.

6

Recommendation made by the SDSC

6.1

Recommendation 1
The Committee resolved to note that they considered the Biodiversity Action
Plan to be excellent and recommended to Mayor and Cabinet “that the
Biodiversity Action Plan be approved.”

2

6.2
6.3

6.4

Response:
Noted and agreed
Recommendation 2
That Section 106 or Community Infrastructure Levy money be allocated for a
borough-wide survey of potential sites for additional street trees and ecological
enhancements.
Response:
Street trees play an important role in London’s environment, providing multiple
physical and aesthetic benefits. London's street trees principle value is
to reducing the impact of climate change on the capital. Trees increase
shading, and cooling, they improve street environments and reduce noise and
dust from road traffic. Crucially, they also mop up carbon emissions.

6.5

The Council recognises that Lewisham’s trees are part of what makes the
borough so green, compared to many other parts of London. Introducing new
street trees can be challenging. With limited space available, it is also
important to prioritise space for pedestrians and cyclists; visibility for drivers
must be maintained; underground utilities can often make new trees too
costly; and reducing revenue budgets can means that damaged trees aren't
always maintained. Despite these challenges, the Council seeks to maintain,
protect and increase the number and quality of trees in the borough through
various measures.

6.6

Lewisham adopts a five-point approach to planning decisions for biodiversity,
based on the five following principles – information, avoidance, mitigation,
compensation and new benefits.

6.7

Where mitigation is required as a result of a planning application, this is
routinely achieved by on site measures delivered as part of the scheme itself.
These can include the installation of bat and bird boxes, the implementation
of sympathetic landscaping and new tree planting and also other habitat
creation enhancements such as, living roofs to benefit biodiversity. The
majority of planning applications achieve a positive biodiversity enhancement
from on site interventions that exceed what existed prior to development.
Financial sums secured via a Section 106 agreement towards biodiversity
measures are therefore rare as mitigation is nearly always achieved through
on site measures.

6.8

In addition, as part of the Local Implementation Plan, all large transport
projects aim to introduce street trees where feasible. Similarly, as major
schemes and developments are brought forward officers continue to work with
developers to ensure the delivery of high quality urban realm as part of their
schemes, including the provision of new street trees in appropriate locations.

6.9

Funding received through s106 must be spent within the terms set out in the
specific legal agreement with each contribution secured having to be
necessary in relation to the impacts of the specific development. While the
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a non-ring fenced fund that has a wider
3

scope, the council must spend the revenue generated on “the provision,
improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure to
support the development of its area”. The Council can spend a small
proportion of CIL revenue on “anything else that is concerned with addressing
the demands that development places on an area” ; this ‘local proportion’ of
CIL however must be spent locally and in consultation with local communities
(this process of identifying local priorities for spend of the local proportion is
currently being developed).
6.10

6.11

6.12

At present the Council does not hold any s106 sums that could be spent on a
Borough wide general survey for ecological enhancements. The Council is in
receipt of s106 monies for ‘environmental improvements’. These sums are
generally tied to a specific improvement (or type of improvement) to mitigate
the impacts of a particular scheme and would not be able to be used for a
Borough wide study. However, the use of these funds for enhancement
works, including the provision of street trees will be investigated.
Recommendation 3
That as part of the Digital Transformation Programme, consideration be given
to how best to support the biodiversity action plan with improved use of IT.
Response:
As part of wider plans to upgrade our IT infrastructure and the Sharepoint
estate, officers will look at how to support better data management and
sharing in both this area and across the whole Council.

7

Legal Implications

7.1

The report sets out for approval the response from the Executive Director to
the Sustainability Development Select Committee on matters raised, there are
no legal implications on the responses.

8

Financial Implications

8.1

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report per se.

9

Equalities implications

9.1

Lewisham's Comprehensive Equalities Scheme (CES) 2012-16 describes the
Council's commitment to equality for citizens, service users and employees.
The CES is underpinned by a set of high level strategic objectives which
incorporate the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector
Equality Duty:





tackle victimisation, harassment and discrimination
to improve access to services
to close the gap in outcomes for citizens
to increase understanding and mutual respect between communities to
increase participation and engagement
4

9.2

All residents and visitors to the borough have a right to enjoy, learn about and
make use of Lewisham’s many and diverse wildlife habitats, species and
landscapes, especially where access to and use of these resources is free
throughout the year. Protecting Lewisham’s biodiversity through the BAP
process helps ensure this right of access and enjoyment is there for all
cultures, ages and abilities and that information and knowledge about
Lewisham’s natural assets is promoted to the widest audience possible
without preference, prejudice or prior assumption. There are no direct
equalities implications arising from this response.

10

Environmental implications

10.1

There are no specific environmental implications from this report.

11

Conclusion

11.1

The recommendation referred to the Mayor from the Sustainable
Development Select Committee has been answered in section 6 of this report
and it is proposed that this response is referred back to the committee

12

Background documents and report author



12.1

Biodiversity Plan
Report to M&C 23 March 2016

If you have any queries on this report, please contact Emma Talbot, Head of
Planning, 5th floor Laurence House, 1 Catford Road, Catford SE6 4RU –
telephone 020 8314 9051 or Nick Pond, Ecological Regeneration Manager,
020 8314 2007.

5

Mayor and Cabinet
Title

Matters referred by the Children and Young People Select
Committee – Information, Advice and Guidance in Schools.

Key Decision

No

Contributors

Children and Young People Select Committee

Class

Part 1

Item No.

Date

29 June 2016

1.

Purpose

1.1

This report presents the final report and recommendations arising from
the Children and Young People Select Committee’s Information, advice
and guidance in schools review, which is attached at Appendix A.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

The Mayor is recommended to:
(a) Note the views and recommendations of the Committee set out in
the main report at Appendix A.
(b) Agree that the Executive Director for Children and Young People be
asked to respond to the review’s recommendations.
(c) Ensure that a response is provided to the Children and Young
People Select Committee.

3.

Context

3.1

The review was scoped in October 2015 and evidence gathering
sessions were held between November 2015 and April 2016. The
Committee agreed the final report and recommendations at its meeting
held on the 8 June 2016.

4.

Financial Implications

4.1

There are no financial implications arising out of this report per se,
although the financial implications of the recommendations will need to
be considered in due course.

5.

Legal Implications

5.1

The Constitution provides for Select Committees to refer reports to the
Mayor and Cabinet, who are obliged to consider the report and the
proposed response from the relevant Executive Director; and report
back to the Committee within two months (not including recess).

6.

Equalities Implications

6.1

The Council works to eliminate unlawful discrimination and
harassment, promote equality of opportunity and good relations
between different groups in the community and recognise and take
account of people’s differences.

7.

Crime and Disorder/Environmental implications

7.1

There are no specific implications.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
If you have any queries on this report, please contact Katie Wood, Scrutiny
Manager (020 8314 9446).

__________________________________________________________________

Overview and Scrutiny
Information Advice and Guidance in Schools
Children and Young People Select Committee
June 2016
_______________________________________
Membership of the Children and Young People Select Committee in
2015/16 and 2016/17:
Councillor Hilary Moore (Chair)
Councillor Luke Sorba (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Chris Barnham
Councillor Andre Bourne
Councillor David Britton
Councillor Simon Hooks (2016/17)
Councillor Liz Johnston-Franklin
Councillor Helen Klier (2016/17)
Councillor Jacq Paschoud
Councillor John Paschoud (2015/16)
Councillor Jonathan Slater (2015/16)
Councillor Alan Till
Sharon Archibald (Parent Governor Representative)
Gail Exon (Church Representative)
Kevin Mantel (Parent Governor Representative)
Monsignor Nick Rothon (Church Representative)
Mark Saunders (Parent Governor Representative)
Additional in-put:
Young Advisors: Tyreese Hines, Liam Islam, Saffron Worrel
0

Contents
Chair’s introduction

page 2

1.

Executive summary

page 3

2.

Recommendations

page 4

3.

Purpose and structure of review

page 5

4.

Context and legislative background

page 6

The Findings
5. Lewisham context, peer review and Goldsmiths
conference
6. London Borough of Islington
7. London Councils
8. LB Lewisham Virtual Head Teacher
9. National Careers Service and Prospects
10. Youth Engagement Lewisham
11. View from young advisors
12. Survey

page 8
page 22
page 23
page 25
page 26
page 27
page 29
page 30

13. Conclusion

page 32

14. Monitoring and ongoing scrutiny

page 32

Sources

page 33

1

Chair’s Introduction
There should be a pivotal moment in a young person’s life
when through good career guidance, or by accessing well
signposted information, a potential route to a career goal and
options takes place. Unfortunately, such a ‘moment’ does not
occur for all our young people in Lewisham. As a result of
consulting the Young Mayor and his advisor team, it became
clear that not all our young people receive good career
information, guidance and support when making choices for
their futures. Without that targeted, timely and tailored support, young people can
become disaffected, disengaged with learning and their future, and ultimately
become a NEET statistic. As stated in the DfE March 2015 document, ‘Careers
Guidance and inspiration in schools’, “Young people want and need to be wellinformed when making subject and career decisions”.
With this in mind, the Children and Young People Select Committee focused its indepth review on “Information Advice and Guidance”, and in so doing addressed the
secondary school sector, post-16 and alternative education provision. We want to
make Lewisham the best place in London “to live work and learn” – and this goal
must include the provision of quality information, advice and guidance for those work
and learning opportunities. In addition to ensuring that the legal framework for this
provision and the Council’s statutory duty is being carried out, the Committee was
determined to place its prime focus on the young people themselves, by including
them in Committee evidence sessions and their own survey. In addition, the
Children and Young People Select Committee was keen to learn from and explore
not only best practice examples from within its boundaries, an example being the
Careers Guidance Peer Review carried out by the 14-19 Strategy team, but also
from partner organisation and other Boroughs. This report has at its heart the
Council’s corporate policy of “ambitious and achieving” (Sustainable Community
Strategy) by ensuring that young people are inspired and also supported to achieve
their potential.
Councillor Hilary Moore,
Chair Children and Young People Select Committee

2

1

Executive summary

1.1

The Children and Young People Select Committee consulted with Young Advisors
through the Lewisham Young Mayor programme and heard from young people about
their concerns on the quality and amount of guidance and support they and their
peers had received around careers and options at key stages 4 and 5 as well as for
further education. These concerns, and a number of recent legislative changes,
meant that reviewing careers information, advice and guidance was particularly
relevant at this time.

1.2

The Education and Skills Act 2008 introduced changes to the age at which young
people are required to participate in education or training. From summer 2015, this
has risen to the end of the academic year in which they turn 18. The Education Act
2011 requires schools to secure access to independent careers guidance for learners
in years 8 to 13. It also requires local authorities to continue to support the most
vulnerable and retain the statutory duty for this. Recent Ofsted guidance has also
highlighted the importance of quality careers provision in schools.

1.3

Curriculum reform and changes to examinations including the introduction of
Progress 8 and Attainment 8 as well as changes in higher education and
apprenticeships mean that there is an increasingly complex landscape for young
people, parents, advisors and schools to navigate. Providing the right guidance and
support to young people at the right moments in their education is essential for them
to reach their full potential.

1.4

In light of these changes and in response to the continued importance of the subject
and recognition that improvements were needed, a number of important studies and
reviews have taken place nationally. These include the Gatsby Review on Good
Career Guidance, the Education Parliamentary Select Committee Review into
Careers Guidance for Young People, and the London Ambitions Framework.

1.5

This review looks at the current situation in Lewisham including providing analysis of
the statistics around those young people not in education, employment or training
(NEET) and destination data of school leavers. It also has a strong emphasis on
good practice looking closely at the London Ambitions Framework and also drawing
on the evidence in the Gatsby report and from practitioners within Lewisham and
other local authorities. There is also a strong focus on those young people who are
most vulnerable such as looked after children and care leavers.

1.6

The review draws on experiences from young advisors who have been involved at all
stages from the initial review plan, to attending witness sessions and helping to
shape the recommendations. Questionnaires were also carried out to gauge opinion
from young people themselves about the quality of provision they received and the
results of these have been incorporated into the review.

1.7

The review focusses its recommendations on areas where the Council retains the
statutory responsibility and where the Council can provide support and guidance to
support improvements in schools and educational setting across Lewisham. It
concludes that there should be a holistic approach to advising students. Every young
person in Lewisham should receive one to one guidance and have as much
exposure to the world of work as possible and that there should be as
comprehensive as possible support to all vulnerable young people.

3

Recommendations
The Committee would like to make the following recommendations:
1.

That LB Lewisham supports schools and careers advisors across the borough to identify and
use up to date labour market information to ensure they are providing the best Careers
Information, Advice and Guidance (CIAG) to young people and that there is an emphasis on
one to one sessions wherever possible.

2.

That LB Lewisham ensure that governor training highlights the recommendation from the
Gatsby Report for each school to have one governor with oversight of CIAG and that this is
included in the annual governor training programme.

3.

That LB Lewisham ensure Looked After Children not educated in Lewisham get as good
CIAG offer as those that are, including 100 hours of experience of the world of work.
Further, that there is an increased focus on partnership working with other local authorities
and providers to enable this outcome.

4.

That the focus on tracking, supporting and monitoring NEETS (young people not in
education, employment, or training) is maintained and that tracking and monitoring of
‘unknowns’ is improved. LB Lewisham should continue to look at good practice to ensure the
numbers and percentage of both NEETS and unknowns are reduced.

5.

The Committee notes that apprenticeships and traineeships and are not uniform in quality
and recommends that support should be put in place to help young people assess the
quality and relevance of potential apprenticeships and traineeships. For example the use of
the National Apprenticeship Framework ‘kite mark’ system. Advisors should be receiving
training and guidance as to how to support young people to gauge the relevance and quality
of potential offers.

6.

That traineeships, apprenticeships and alternative education routes be understood and
promoted as equally valid progression routes as Higher Education and degrees.

7.

That the LB Lewisham Paritipation Team continue to support schools to improve their
careers offer and emulate good practice both through the peer review on careers provision
and through the careers guidance network and forum and the positive relationships these
have fostered.

8.

That the planning policy on targets for numbers of apprenticeships as part of large
developments should be monitored and the impact measured to ensure developers are
meeting their obligations.

9.

Taking into account concerns raised by the Young Advisors, the Committee recommends
that advisors, schools and other education settings should ensure they take into
consideration young peoples’ mental health and wellbeing when providing careers advice.

10. That LB Lewisham should put an increased focus on supporting young carers to access high
quality careers information, advice and guidance. Statistically this group of young people are
very much more likely to be not in education, employment or training or be “unknown”.
11. Support should be put in place to ensure young people are apprenticeship/work or college
ready. This should include skills such as time management, financial awareness, resilience,

4

emotional support and understanding their rights and requirements. Further, a children’s
rights officer should be appointed to work across the borough and support young people.

3.

Purpose and structure of review

3.1

Following consultation with the Young Advisors Panel and after discussion at
Committee, the Children and Young People Select Committee, resolved to
carry out a review into Information, Advice and Guidance (IAG) in secondary
schools including special schools, Pupil Referral Units and post-16 and
alternative education providers for children and young people in years 8 - 13.

3.2

At its meeting of 20 October 2015, the Committee received a scoping paper
that set out the background and key lines of enquiry for the review. The key
areas proposed to be considered were:
Analysis of legislation and statutory duties
 What is the legal framework for the provision of IAG?
Assessment of current situation in Lewisham including examples of
best practice and work of the peer review
 What are the purpose and aims of the Peer review?
 What is the NEET (not in education, employment or training)strategy
and how does the IAG strategy work with this?
 What is available for the most vulnerable young people? How are they
being supported and is the service they are getting tailored to their
needs?
 How does the Council’s apprenticeship and work experience
programmes support the IAG strategy?
 What does an analysis of destinations and NEET data tell us that can
help improve outcomes for young people?
 Are there any funding constraints and how do we ensure value for
money?
Working closely with young advisors to carry out focus groups
 How do we ensure that the experiences of young people in the borough
are drawn upon to help shape best practice and support offered?
 What are the disparities between service provided at different schools
or to those with different needs?
Good practice and experience from partner organisations and young
people
 What are the best schools/local authorities doing in this area?
 Are there examples of innovative ways of working?
 What are the concerns of stakeholders and partner organisations?
 Are there specific issues for vulnerable young people that are not being
addressed?
 Where are there examples from schools, colleges, educational
establishments or local authorities where the IAG strategy is successful
and working well and what can we learn from those?

5


3.3

What additional resources are available to IAG providers to help them
improve their offer?

The timeline for the review was as follows:
20 October 2015 – Review scope agreed and evidence received from Steve
Besley, Pearson Education.
18 November 2015 - First evidence-taking session to cover the analysis of
legislation and statutory duties and the assessment of the current situation in
Lewisham.
6 January 2016 – Visit to the London Borough of Islington, looking at
examples of good practice and different models of working.
12 January 2016 - Second evidence-taking session looking at best practice
and evidence from partner organisations. Evidence was received from
Pearson Education; London Councils; Lewisham Virtual School; National
Careers Service; Prospects; and Youth Engagement Lewisham
April 2016 – Young advisors’ questionnaire
27 April 2016 – Conference on “Championing a Careers Offer for Lewisham
Young People” at Goldsmiths University.
8 June 2016 – Meeting of the Committee to consider its final report presenting
all the evidence received and to agree recommendations for submission to
Mayor and Cabinet.

4

Policy Context and Legislative Background

4.1

The Council’s overarching vision is “Together we will make Lewisham the best
place in London to live, work and learn”. In addition to this, ten corporate
priorities and the overarching Sustainable Community Strategy drive decision
making in the Council. Lewisham’s corporate priorities were agreed by full
Council and they remain the principal mechanism through which the Council’s
performance is reported.

4.2

The Council’s corporate policy of “Young people’s achievement and
involvement” promotes raising educational attainment and improving facilities
for young people through working in partnership. The priority of “strengthening
the local economy” includes a focus on strengthening employment skills. The
Council’s Sustainable Community Strategy’s priority of “Ambitious and
Achieving” aims to create a borough where people are inspired and supported
to achieve their potential.

6

4.3

Youth unemployment remains high and nationally the youth unemployment
rate is 13.7% for young people (aged 16-24) compared to 5.1% for the overall
population.1

4.4

The Education Act 20112 requires schools to secure access to independent
careers guidance for learners in years 8-13. Careers guidance must be
presented in an impartial manner and promote the best interests of the
learners to whom it is given. According to the Department for Education3,
young people who are uncertain or unrealistic about career ambitions are
three times more likely to spend significant periods of time not in education,
employment or training (NEET). Providing improved careers information,
advice and guidance ensures young people select pathways that are most
suitable for their individual circumstances, aspirations and potential.

4.5

Destination measures for those in Year 11, 12 and 13 are published by the
Department for Education quarterly. Having a low number of NEET young
people can be used as one measure of a successful IAG strategy. In addition
to this, ensuring there are low numbers of young people whose destination is
“unknown” is important to ensure leavers are being accurately tracked.
Understanding the Lewisham NEET figures including those amongst
vulnerable young people such as Looked After Children, Care Leavers and
those with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities can help form a more
thorough assessment as to whether there are any gaps or discrepancies in
IAG provision to young people. Full analysis of destinations statistics could
also help to assess provision including university destinations, training
courses and employment.

4.6

The changes as a result of the Raising the Participation Age legislation
introduced in September 2013, mean that all young people are under a duty to
participate in education or training until the end of the academic year in which
they turn 17 years old. From September 2015, this has risen to the year in
which they turn 18. It is vitally important that these young people have the
right advice to help them secure their future employment, training and
education prospects.

4.7

Schools have three main points at which it is important to ensure young
people have the right information available to make the most appropriate
option choices:
Post-14: GCSEs - options offered by local university technical colleges and
studio schools and opportunities for 14-year-olds’ enrolment at local colleges.

ONS: UK Labour Market Survey (May 2016)
http://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bul
letins/uklabourmarket/may2016
1

Education Act 2011: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/pdfs/ukpga_20110021_en.pdf
Careers Guidance and Inspiration in Schools, DfE:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/440795/Careers_Guidance_Schools_Guidance.p
df
2
3

7

Post-16: A levels - advanced general qualifications, apprenticeships,
employment combined with training, supported internships, tech levels and
traineeships.
Post-18: Further education courses - higher apprenticeships, undergraduate
degrees, employment.
4.8

Schools are held to account for the destinations of their leavers through the
annual publication of destination measures. Success will be reflected in
higher numbers progressing to apprenticeships, universities (including
selective universities), traineeships, and other positive destinations such as
employment or a further education college as well as by lower dropout rates,
lower NEET figures and lower levels of those whose destination is unknown.

4.9

Ofsted has been giving careers guidance a higher priority in school
inspections since September 2013, taking into account how well the school
delivers advice and guidance to all learners in judging its leadership and
management. A report published in 2013 by Ofsted stated that 75% of schools
visited were not carrying out their statutory duty to deliver impartial careers
advice effectively.4

4.10

A number of recent studies have linked exposure to high quality careers talks
at secondary school with higher future earnings. For example, a recent study
by University of Bath has linked increased school mediated employer
engagement activities at age 14-15 to increased earnings. The study shows a
higher correlation particularly at the 14-15 age group than the same exposure
at the 15-16 age group.5 This is important in considering the stage at which
careers information, advice and guidance is considered at school. The Gatsby
Report on Good Career Guidance6 published in 2014 makes a number of
benchmarks for improving careers provisions in schools including: embedding
a stable careers programme; learning from labour market information;
addressing the needs of each pupil; linking curriculum learning to careers;
opportunities for encounters with employers and employees; experiences of
workplaces; encounters with further and higher education; and personal
guidance.

The Findings
5

Lewisham Context
Lewisham Careers Guidance Peer Review 2015-16

5.1

A Lewisham Careers Guidance Peer Review for 2015-16 has been set up and
implemented by the 14-19 Strategy Team in the Children and Young People

Going in the right direction? Careers Guidance in Schools from September 2012, Ofsted, September
2103. https://www.gov.uk/government/news/careers-guidance-in-schools-not-working-well-enough
5 Career Education that works: An economic analysis using the Cohort Study, Journal of Education
and Work, 2016, http://tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13639080.2016.1177636#.V1_ys_4UXcs
6 The Gatsby Report, Good Careers Guidance, April 2014,
http://www.gatsby.org.uk/uploads/education/reports/pdf/gatsby-sir-john-holman-good-careerguidance-2014.pdf
4

8

Directorate in partnership with the Lewisham IAG Forum7. The review
considered the careers guidance being offered at schools and other
educational settings throughout the borough and was undertaken to support
senior leaders, managers and governors in schools and colleges to meet their
statutory duty to secure careers advice for all those in years 8 -13. It was a
peer review in so far as it encouraged those involved in Careers Information
Advice and Guidance at schools in Lewisham to be part of the monitoring of
other schools so they could mutually learn from each other’s experiences.
5.2

The aims of the peer review were to help monitor and support schools in
delivering their IAG strategy and promote and highlight good practice. The
review was also intended to expand advice and guidance for young people so
they are inspired and motivated to fulfil their potential. Schools should help
every learner develop high aspirations and consider a broad and ambitious
range of careers. Inspiring every learner through more real-life contacts with
the world of work can help them understand where different choices can take
them in the future.

5.3

Local Authorities continues to support and monitor schools to deliver their
statutory duty and still retain the duty to support vulnerable young people
including Looked After Children, Care Leavers, Refugees, Asylum Seekers,
Youth Offenders, Teenage Pregnant and Teenage Parents, learners with
Learning Disabilities and/or Disabilities (LDD).8

5.4

Schools should have a strategy for the careers guidance they provide to
young people and this should be embedded within a clear framework linked to
outcomes for learners. The strategy should reflect the school’s ethos and
meet the needs of all learners.

5.5

From the Peer Review responses the 14-19 Team have highlighted a number
of areas that were cited by the schools as areas they were most proud of
relating to their Careers Information Advice and Guidance strategies. These
included:
 Low numbers of young people who were NEET or whose destination
was unknown and support for those who were;
 Positive relationships between school and the London Borough of
Lewisham;
 The programme of links with Goldsmiths and UCAS for Year 12
learners:
 Post-16 options evening with year 11 learners and their parents;

7 The Lewisham Schools and Colleges IAG Forum is open to representatives working with schools, colleges or other relevant
agencies in Lewisham with responsibility for Careers Education and IAG. It has been established since 2010. The Forum
meets periodically and run an annual Conference to share policy and good practice.
8Participation

of Young People in Education, Employment and Training – Statutory guidance for local
authorities, DfE, September 2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/349300/Participation_of
_Young_People_Statutory_Guidance.pdf

9







5.6

Raised profile of careers guidance in the school and more established
links;
Successful ‘in house’ work experience and increased preparedness of
young people for the world of work;
Assemblies on careers;
The Not Going to University Programme;
Increased departmental input at all Key Stages;
The school careers guidance website and Twitter account9.

The 14-19 team also provided an analysis of actions that they recommended
schools take following the review. These recommendations also draw on
some of the good practice evidence such as the Gatsby Report and London
Ambitions. The 14-19 team recommends that schools:














Have a clear and coherent strategy and an explicitly publicised careers
policy that provides a careers curriculum including learners’
experiences of the world of work, links with business, careers provision
and destination outcomes.
Consider a Matrix Standard, Investor in Careers or Career Mark as a
standard.
Ensure that a governor has oversight for ensuring the school supports
all learners to relate their learning to careers and the world of work and
independent living. This is also highlighted in the Gatsby Report.
Continue to work closely with the work experience manager and
Lewisham Education Business Partnership to improve the number of
‘own finds’ at Year 10.
Have one-to-one interviews for all learners.
Build a relationship with Jobcentre Plus and / or the National Careers
Service for up to date labour market intelligence and the needs of
employers and use labour market intelligence to give constructive IAG
to learners.
Evaluate their performance using feedback from their own learners’
experiences.
Identify and monitor performance against key impact measures such as
destination measures and learner satisfaction with careers work
provision.
Consider more careers activities for years 8 to 10.
Challenge the perception of apprenticeships to bring positive messages
about apprenticeships.
Work more closely with local further education providers, university
tech colleges and Sixth Form Colleges.

RECOMMENDATION: That LB Lewisham ensure that governor training highlights the
recommendation from the Gatsby Report for each school to have one governor with
oversight of CIAG and that this is included in the annual governor training programme.

9

Supplied by LB Lewisham 14-19 Team following Peer Review analysis of results.

10

The Lewisham NEET Tracking Team, the analysis of NEET data and how it can
improve outcomes for young people
5.7

The Lewisham NEET reduction strategy is central to the delivery of the
statutory duty and Lewisham strategy on raising of the participation age.
There is a participation and engagement strategy group in place to monitor
the Lewisham raising participation strategy. It is led by the Children and
Young People Directorate and comprises: Voluntary Action Lewisham;
Community Education Lewisham; Secondary Schools Lewisham incorporating
Southwark College and other post-16 providers; Lewisham Job Centre Plus;
alternative providers; government funded providers and initiatives; and
neighbouring local authorities. The Group engages with a variety of European
Social Funded projects, Job Centre Plus and the Youth Contract provider to
analyse NEET data with the aims of reducing the number of 16-19 year olds
who are NEET and get them back into education, employment or training
(EET).

5.8

The NEET tracking team tracks the participation of young people in education
and training, and ensure that young people who are not in education,
employment or training are supported to participate. In line with national
guidance, Lewisham has data sharing agreements with education providers,
other public bodies and with some neighbouring boroughs. It continues to
work with schools to identify those who are in need of targeted support or who
are at risk of not participating post-16.

5.9

In Lewisham the NEET tracking team collects:
 data about Lewisham residents aged 16-19 e.g. telephone number, email
addresses, EET/NEET status;
 data from intended destinations / September offer / activity survey (final
destinations);
 Online forms completed by young people e.g. intended destination. Data
collected this way is uploaded centrally on the NCCIS10 system;
 data collected by telephone tracking; where it has not been possible to
collect data from a young person via an online survey, calls will be made
to them;
 data collected by door knocking following up on those who it has otherwise
been impossible to contact;
 details of young people visiting Baseline11;
 Lists from other agencies such as Job Centre Plus, Youth Offending
Service, Looked After Children Team, Admissions Team and 15billion - a
data and careers advice and brokerage service.

5.8

The data from the organisation 15billion shows that the vast majority of
Lewisham young people continue in some form of education or training. In
March 2016, the participation rate for young people in year 12 and 13

National Client Caseload Information System (NCCIS) to send data on young people’s post-16
activities.
11 Baseline is a one-stop shop where young people from Lewisham can go for IAG. It is located at
Lewisham Library.
10

11

combined was 92.28%. The definition of participation includes those in full
time learning and training. The report includes a breakdown by ethnicity which
shows the highest participation rate by ethnic group as being 100% (Chinese)
and the lowest as being 95.1% (White British). The NEET figure as of March
2016 was 3.9% in LB Lewisham compared to a London average of 3.3% and
England average of 4.3%.12
5.9

The table below shows the percentage of Lewisham young people who are
NEET in target groups where the local authority retains the statutory provision
such as Looked After Children.

Table 1 – Lewisham Year 12/13 combined NEET and unknown for target groups

Total % of
resident cohort
(total number
of Young
People)

% of NEET
cohort
(No. of
Young
People)

% of
target
group
who are
NEET

Looked after/in care

1.6% (138)

8.6% (27)

19.6%

% of target
group
“Unknown”
(number of
young
people
6.5%

Care leaver

0.1% (8)

0.6% (2)

25%

12.5%

Pregnant

0.1% (12)

2.6% (8)

66.7%

0%

Teen mother

0.4% (33)

8.6% (27)

81.8%

3%

Refugee/asylum
seeker
Supervised by YOT

0.1% (13)

0.3% (1)

7.7%

15.4%

1.6% (135)

9.6% (30)

22.2%

10.4%

Learning Disabilities
or Difficulties
Substance misuse

3.9% (339)

6.7% (21)

6.2%

6.2%

0.2% (16)

1.9% (6)

37.5%

6.3%

Young carer

0.3% (23)

2.2% (7)

30.4%

13%

Source: Lewisham MI report March 2016, 15billion (note one young person may count under more than one
target group and total resident cohort = 8678 young people)

5.10

The numbers of young people whose destination is unknown is also important
to consider as it could show a failure to successfully track student destinations
and mask true NEET figures for any cohort. In March 2016 the number of
unknowns for the combined year 12 and 13 cohort in Lewisham was 7.1%, a

Lewisham MI Report, March 2016, 15billion http://www.15billionebp.org/wpcontent/uploads/monthlyReports/2015%20-%2016/LEW_2016-03_MAR_-_web.pdf
12

1.

RECOMMENDATION: That LB Lewisham should put an increased focus on supporting12
young carers to access high quality careers information, advice and guidance.
Statistically this group of young people are very much more likely to be not in education,
employment or training or be “unknown”.

reduction of -0.84% compared to the March 2015 figure. This figure is exactly
the same as the London average of 7.1% but higher than the England
average of 6%.13 Table 1 also lists the percentage of Lewisham young people
whose destinations are unknown amongst target groups.
How the Lewisham IAG Strategy works
5.11

The Lewisham IAG forum was established in 2009 and is open to careers
guidance representatives working with schools or colleges or other relevant
agencies in Lewisham. The forum meets once a term and offers peer support,
policy updates, information sharing and best practice as well as offering
development opportunities in the sphere of careers, information, advice and
guidance and an annual conference. The forum contributes to the Lewisham
raising of the participation age strategy, the Lewisham IAG, employability and
skills framework and the IAG Peer Review.
The Lewisham IAG, Employability and Skills Framework

5.12 The Lewisham IAG, Employability and Skills Framework is a centrally
coordinated and brokered information, advice and guidance programme,
including the coordination of post-16 pathways such as traineeship and
apprenticeship awareness for all Lewisham secondary schools. For the first
time it is being offered to a small number of schools, commencing September
2015, and extending to the remaining schools in Lewisham in September
2016.
5.13

The aim of the framework is to:
 support schools to address the gaps in provision highlighted through the
Lewisham Careers Guidance Peer Review;
 complement the existing Lewisham apprenticeship programme and
established practice in Lewisham;
 develop a real alternative to university and increase the participation of
Lewisham young people including in traineeships and apprenticeships;
 improve borough wide awareness of post-16 employment pathways
including traineeships and apprenticeships;
 provide access to traineeship and apprenticeship ambassadors for
Lewisham schools; and
 offer post-16 events, assemblies, one-to-one advice and guidance,
parents’ evenings and employer talks.

5.14

The programme engages trained careers guidance practitioners to deliver the
Lewisham provision, working towards the guidelines and specification set at
all times. The programme offers:
 one-to-one interviews and small group advice and guidance sessions;
 attendance at option evenings and parents evenings;
 action plans and on-going programme of support targeted at young people
identified at risk of NEET, or not making a post-16 transition;
 support with post-16 applications;

Lewisham MI Report, March 2016, 15billion http://www.15billionebp.org/wpcontent/uploads/monthlyReports/2015%20-%2016/LEW_2016-03_MAR_-_web.pdf
13

13








in-school support on GCSE results days;
support schools in their broader careers education activities;
facilitate school and borough wide careers events, industry days,
progression; apprenticeships or higher education events;
employer talks, careers fairs, motivational speakers, college and university
visits, coaches and mentors;
a centrally organised borough wide post-16 opportunities event, with all
local schools and colleges available to promote their post-16 provision at a
neutral venue; and
continuous professional development for school staff.

5.15

The 14-19 team and Lewisham education business partnership aim to report
annually to both the school and school governors to demonstrate and
evaluate the quality of the programme delivered to the schools. The report
aims to collect learners’ views regularly through a range of mechanisms and
would include results from various observations and on-going discussion with
the school careers department and associated staff.

5.16

The 14-19 team and Lewisham education business partnership are
developing and implementing an employer forum comprising local / national
employers and local employer focused representatives for example: Job
Centre Plus, National Apprenticeship Service, the National Careers Service
and the Council’s economic development team. The aim of this forum would
be to ensure employers, schools and other partners work together to inspire
young people about the world of work; opening their eyes to the range of
learning and career opportunities.
Support for NEETs including the most vulnerable young people tailored
to their needs

5.17

As listed in paragraph 5.8, the overall NEET figure in Lewisham in March
2016 was 3.9%; a reduction from 4.2% in March 2015.14 Table 1 lists the
figures for vulnerable groups in Lewisham in March 2016. The table below
shows the last 3 years of NEET figures for vulnerable groups as of March in
each respective year. This highlights where the percentage of those target
groups who are NEET in March 2016 has risen or fallen compared to previous
years.
Table 2 – Lewisham NEETs Vulnerable Groups - last 3 years

Group

LAC / in care
Care Leavers

March
2014 (%
of
NEET
cohort)
4.9%
(17)
0.6% (2)

March
2014
(%of
target
group)
15.9%

March
2015
(% of
NEET
cohort)
6.7% (23)

March
2015
(%of
target
group)
18.9%

March
2016
(% of
NEET
cohort)
8.6% (27)

March
2016
(% of
target
group)
19.6%

33.3%

0.9% (3)

42.9%

0.6% (2)

25%

15billion MI report March 2016. http://www.15billionebp.org/wpcontent/uploads/monthlyReports/2015%20-%2016/LEW_2016-03_MAR_-_web.pdf
14

14

Pregnant

2.3% (8) 72.7%

0.6% (2)

50%

2.6% (8)

Teen mother

6.9%
(24)
0% (0)

66.7%

8.1% (28)

75.7%

8.6% (27) 81.8%

0.0%

0.6% (2)

33.3%

0.3% (1)

3.8%
(13)

17.8%

8.7% (30)

28.8%

9.6% (30) 22.2%

5.2%
(18)

4.8%

5.5 % (19)

5.3%

6.7% (21) 6.2%

1.2% (4) 44.4%

0.6% (2)

28.6%

1.9% (6)

37.5%

1.7% (6) 60.0%

1.5% (5)

22.7%

2.2% (7)

30.4%

Refugee/
Asylum
Youth
Offending
Service
Learning
Difficulties or
Disabilites
Sub misuse
Young
Carers

66.7%

7.7%

5.18

In Lewisham, the Local Authority retains the duty to support vulnerable young
people which includes Looked After Children, Care Leavers, Teenage
Pregnant, Teenage Parent, Refugee / Asylum seekers, Youth Offenders,
those with learning difficulties or disabilities, Substance Misuse and Young
Carers.

5.19

Through a collaborative approach, there is the infrastructure in place to deliver
the statutory duties for raising the participation age, including targeted support
with:
 support from Lewisham schools and post-16 providers;
 effective engagement with the Department for Work and Pensions and Job
Centre Plus re-engagement keywork programme;
 14-19 team resource to track and monitor NEET young people and their
outcomes and destinations;
 Youth support service keyworker support (Baseline);
 the Lewisham NEET Traineeship;
 Working with LAC and YOS teams; and
 a range of private and voluntary sector organisation programmes e.g.
Youth AID, Prince’s Trust programmes and Building Lives Academy which
is offering traineeships in painting and decorating.

5.20 The referral path is the route for young people, schools or colleges to access
youth support services or other support programmes. This includes possible
routes directly to employment, education and training opportunities. The
diagram below depicts these data flows for supporting NEET prevention and
reduction:
NEET or risk of
NEET young
people through
schools /
colleges

NEET Tracking
Team

Youth Support
Service key
work / other
support

Programmes
and support
for NEET
young people
15

Record on
IYSS Database
(EET) Employment, Education and Training

5.21 The Youth Service provides this support through Baseline, which is a drop-in
service for targeted Lewisham young people staffed by Youth Support
Services one-to-one key workers. The day-time services at Baseline are
primarily aimed at young people aged 16-18 and up to 25 years for those with
additional needs.The service consists of nine specialist one-to-one youth
workers, each holding a maximum caseload of 15 cases at any one time, with
an annual service reach of approximately 270 young people.
5.22 All of these activities and support systems take place at Council-run youth
centres and adventure playgrounds, via street based work, at Baseline and at
a variety of non-council run venues across the Borough. Services include:
 initial assessment of a young person's needs
 one-to-one key worker support in emergency situations
 48-hour referral service for one-to-one key work support
 signposting to other services, e.g. sexual health advice, Job Centre Plus
 computer access for information, advice and guidance
5.23 In addition to this, the NEET Traineeship is offering support programmes for
young people who are not in education, employment or training. The
Traineeship is a 12 week, Government recognised programme in partnership
with Bromley College. The programme runs three times a year in line with
school terms. It works with vulnerable young people enabling them to achieve
more robust qualifications and offers accredited numeracy and literacy support
and stronger pathways post completion. The traineeship enables participants
to continue to receive out of work benefits whilst on the scheme.
The Councils’ apprenticeship and work experience programmes and how
they support the IAG strategy
5.24 The London Borough of Lewisham apprenticeship programme has been
running since April 2009 and aims to create real and valuable training
opportunities for 16 to 24 year olds that will enable them to build a career. To
date the programme has placed 387 people into opportunities across the
borough. The local authority works closely with partner organisations across
both the private and voluntary sector to develop apprenticeships that match
employers’ needs and to facilitate the apprenticeship from end to end.
Apprenticeship opportunities have included: construction; caretaking; digital
media; childcare and surveying.
5.25 Currently all apprentices must be aged 16 years or older on the first day of
their training and must hold a full British passport, have indefinite leave to
remain or have lived in the EU continuously for three years or more.
Apprentices cannot be in full time education, have a qualification higher than a
16

level 3 and must live within the borough of Lewisham. Apprentices are paid at
the national minimum wage for 21 and over currently at £6.50 an hour. The
apprenticeships must last for at least 12 months and can be as long as four
years. Many apprenticeships also offer the chance to achieve level 2 – 4
qualifications (level 4 is equivalent to a foundation degree).
5.26

The local authority continue to provide support to the apprentices during their
programme. Every apprentice has access to a mentor in addition to their
college tutors and line managers. The local authority facilitates a monthly
apprenticeship forum to allow apprentices to meet and discuss matters of
interest, as well as find out what is happening across the programme.

5.27

The Lewisham Apprenticeship Programme supports the Lewisham IAG,
Employability and Skills Framework. Lewisham apprentices are very
proactive in helping to improve borough-wide awareness of post-16
employment pathways including traineeships and apprenticeships as
ambassadors in apprenticeship talks in Lewisham schools.

5.28

The Lewisham education business partnership provides the work experience
programme to Lewisham secondary schools on a traded basis:
 13 mainstream secondary schools.
 Six special schools.
 Five sixth forms and one FE college.

5.29

The work experience programme can provide one or two week placements at
Key Stage 4 (KS4) and post-16 as well as block and extended work
experience placements. The programme also offers: talks at assemblies;
parent/carer evenings; employer engagement with a vast range of industries
and sectors; on-line placement selection and management; health & safety
checks: job descriptions for placements; a placement recovery service;
confirmation of placement service; tracking of placements; work experience
diaries; and student certificates. The Lewisham education business
partnership ensures that all work experience placements conform to national
health and safety guidelines and quality standards.

5.30

Participation in the programme has increased over the last 10 years. Since
2007 the programme has grown from eight secondary schools sending out
just over 1000 learners to over 2,800 positive placements in 2014/15. In 2007
26% of the students managed to find their own placement. This has increased
year on year and in 2015 this figure is 58%. The Lewisham education
business partnership maintain a vast database with over 5,000 employers
from all employment sectors across London (1,486 of these employers are in
Lewisham alone). The team have completed over 1,000 health & safety visits
to ensure learner safety on work experience in the last two years.

5.31

The 14-19 team stressed that the peer reviews demonstrated that a strong
feature of the careers guidance programme was the introduction to the world
of work through the Lewisham work experience programme. Schools use the
Lewisham work experience team to deliver this service. The preparation for
work experience is thorough. There is learner feedback on their experience
17

and schools are in the main confident that the whole experience is a positive
one for their learners. There is also extensive employer feedback on learners’
placement experiences which is a very thorough process.
5.32

The next target for the Lewisham Work Experience Programme is to enable
successful access to world of work experiences for Lewisham’s most
vulnerable young people including children looked after and KS4 and post-16
learners at the pupil referral unit.
Analysis of destinations and how it can improve outcomes for young
people

5.32

National destinations measures provide statistics on educational or
employment destinations of KS4 and KS5 learners15. The tables below show
the percentage of young people in KS4 and KS5 progressing to specified
destinations in 2013/14. The KS4 measure is based on activity the year after
the young person finished compulsory schooling. The KS5 measure is based
on activity in the year after the young person took their A Level or other level 3
qualifications. The statistics are derived mainly from DfE administrative data,
but this is also matched to NCCIS to look for employment and NEET
destinations after KS5. Schools are expected to be able to account for what
happens to their young people post-16. These measures will help schools to
be held to account locally as well as feeding into judgements by Ofsted.

5.33

Destinations for KS4 learners in 2012/13 cohort
Destinations
Stay in education
Further Education
Other FE
State funded school Sixth Form
Sixth Form College
Apprenticeship

Lewisham

Inner London

England (state
funded)

91%
22%
2%
49%
19%
2%

91%
24%
3%
48%
15%
5%

90%
34%
4%
39%
13%
5%

5.34

At KS4 Lewisham schools are comparable with national and inner London
benchmarks. More young people progress to school sixth forms than across
inner London boroughs and nationally. The take up of Apprenticeship
opportunities at aged 16 compares lower than inner London and national
benchmarks.

5.35

Destinations for KS5 learners level 3 in 2012/13 cohort
Destinations
Stay in education
Further Education
State funded school Sixth Form
Sixth Form College
Apprenticeship

15

Lewisham

Inner London

England (state
funded)

69%
12%
6%
2%
3%

75%
8%
4%

72%
10%
3%

3%

5%

published onGov.UK@ https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-destinations

18

UK HE
HE top third
Russell Group
Oxbridge
Destination not sustained
Sustained employment and / or
training

49%
19%
11%
1%
6%
5%

62%
25%
15%
1%
6%
2%

58%
26%
17%
1%
7%
7%

5.36

At KS5 Lewisham schools perform lower than national and inner London
benchmarks for those who stay in education and progress to Higher
Education. However, more young people progress to Further Education than
across inner London boroughs and nationally. The take up of Apprenticeship
opportunities at the end of KS5 compares better than inner London but below
national benchmarks. The numbers of students who go on to Russell Group
Universities is below London and England averages.

5.37

Since 2013 the student tracker tool has been devised by the 14-19 Team to
support Lewisham schools in the analysis of their destination data. The
tracker uses NCISS data and provides basic information on annual post-16
progression, drop out, HE progression etc. between Y11 to Y14. Each
secondary school is provided with access to the tracker tool together with a
school and local authority report that summarise the key findings. The
student tracker enables the local authority and schools to consider and
address issues that will in turn impact on published performance measures.
The information may also be of value to parents selecting a secondary school.
Schools without sixth forms ought to be able to see how well their Y11
learners do once they have left their school. Not only is this important
information for them to provide to Ofsted, it can also help inform them about
how well they have prepared their young people for post-16 and about the
quality and impact of the IAG provided to their learners.

2.

RECOMMENDATION: That the focus on tracking, supporting and monitoring
NEETS is maintained and that tracking and monitoring of ‘unknowns’ is improved.
LB Lewisham should continue to look at good practice to ensure the numbers and
percentage of both NEETS and unknowns are reduced.

Funding constraints and value for money
5.38

The ongoing responsibilities for RPA, including Career Guidance that resides
with the 14-19 team, Lewisham education business partnership, NEET
tracking team and the youth support service, are not without challenges which
are further increased by RPA being raised to 18. Like the Lewisham work
experience programme, the Lewisham IAG, Employability and Skills
Framework is a traded service.

5.39

The Youth Service contribution to RPA and targeted support is currently under
review and subject to the reshaping of youth re-engagement programmes.
This would include the re-specification and commissioning of specialist oneto-one service to become part of a broader targeted family support service.
19

The service as part of cost savings proposals is likely to involve reduced
management, be run differently and funded through the Government’s
troubled families grant.
5.40

The NEET traineeship programme is also the subject of savings proposals,
and although this will not impact on the proposed changes detailed above,
alternative funding is also being sought through schools, colleges, the City
Bridge Trust, the EFA and European Structural Fund bids.

5.41

For activities related to RPA and targeted support the Youth Service will
continue to have the ability to meet the statutory duties.

5.42

Individual schools have to budget for their careers and IAG responsibilities.
The Gatsby Report recommends 1% of schools budgets to be spent on
careers information advice and guidance, but in an increasingly tight financial
environment for schools, budgets are stretched and money is not always
prioritised for CIAG activities.

Goldsmiths Conference
5.43

Members of the Children and Young People Select Committee were invited to
attend a conference at Goldsmiths College on 27 April 2016, entitled
“Championing a careers offer for Lewisham young people.” This was
organised by the Lewisham 14-19 team in conjunction with the IAG forum to
support schools in Lewisham and share good practice and experiences.
Attendees heard from a wide range of speakers around good practice and
also discussed experiences. This section provides a brief summary and
interpretation of the information presented at the conference.

5.44

The huge level of changes and uncertainty in the education sector was felt to
be a challenge for people working within it and for young people. Education
and exam reform including the introduction of Progress 8 and Attainment 8 as
well as curriculum changes puts additional pressures on schools, teachers
and young people. Academisation and changes in accountability structures
such as the introduction of the Regional Schools Commissioner, changes in
further education sector and to apprenticeships means teachers and careers
advisors have a challenge to keep up to date with the breadth of options for
individual learners. The importance of using modern technologies to improve
the careers offer for learners and give them as much information as possible
about pathways that were available was highjlighted as essential but also
posed a challenge in ensuring these were up to date and of most use to the
students.

5.45

Understanding and using up to date labour market Information was a
challenge. If statistics were showing that there would be increasing demand
for a higher skilled workforce, were young people being advised to reflect
this?

5.46

Using good quality data sources and web tools was also seen as key to
improving the offer to young people. LB Lewisham recently purchased UCAS
20

Progress which is an admission service for students looking for post-16 study.
Other applications such as “Skills Route” also provided lots of support and
guidance.
5.47

During the conference, a workshop was carried out where advisors and
practitioners considered what they were proud of and had worked well as well
as where there had been areas that could be improved. High quality careers
talks and presentations, organised events with employers and high quality
one-to-one support were cited as of being the most successful. Practitioners
cited occasions where there was a lack of individualised approach or lack
available time for one-to-one support and sufficient follow-up as areas where
they were least happy about quality.

IAG –Sharing Good Practice Workshop – Championing a careers offer for Lewisham
Young People, Goldsmiths University – 27 April 2016.

21

6

London Borough of Islington

6.1

Members of the Children and Young People Select Committee met with Holly
Toft, Head of Play, Youth and Post-16 and Lorraine Blyth, Post-16
Participation Manager in January 2016 to discuss Islington’s approach to
delivering quality outcomes for young people in relation to career planning and
employability. This section summarises the information discussed.

6.2

From 1974 – 1994 there was a Universal Careers Service under the
Employment and Training Act 197316. In 2000 the newly elected Government
introduced Connexions following the Learning and Skills Act 2000. In April
2012, the National Careers Service was launched and Connexions Service
was wound up. Schools and colleges now have responsibility for delivering
independent, impartial IAG to learners in years 8 to 13 with local authorities
responsible for working with schools and partners to ensure the needs of the
most vulnerable are met.

6.3

The skills of Job Centre + Advisors tended to be around placing and
brokerage. These were important skills but not necessarily the skills needed
for independent advice and guidance. There had been concerns that there
may be a lack of knowledge around education and progression routes.

6.4

Understanding what quality looked like was key. The Gatsby report17 and
London Ambitions both provide information on good practice. The new
Careers and Enterprise Company has recently been launched with a budget
of £5 million for scaling up examples of good practice.

6.5

Data management skills and resources are increasingly important and
managing and tracking destinations measures as well as Unknowns and
NEETS is very important. It is important to have an officer in place with the
relevant database skills to ensure accuracy of the database and keeping it as
up to date as possible. Islington has been very successful in reducing its
number of NEETs and unknown figures.

6.6

There have been a number of governmental changes to apprenticeships since
2010. These include reducing the minimum length to 1 year from 2 years and
local authorities having no responsibilities for monitoring apprenticeships other
than their own. National apprenticeships are monitored by the Skills Funding
Agency. Apprenticeships vary in quality with the best offering very strong
offers to young people however some are not of sufficient quality. A
commitment to long-term careers prospects should form a basis of any
apprenticeship.

6.7

The approach of the London Borough of Islington has been to ensure that
schools deliver their responsibilities and create a “core offer” of progression
support focused purely on the most vulnerable and on NEET prevention and
NEET intervention. Their core offer is delivered by Children’s Services in-

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1973/50
http://www.gatsby.org.uk/uploads/education/reports/pdf/gatsby-sir-john-holman-good-careerguidance-2014.pdf
16
17

22

house staff comprising one advisor working in the YOS and two working with
those who are NEET or unknown. In addition to this, short-term funding (some
via New Homes Bonus) provides 1.5 posts for staff to work with those in
alternative provisions, one advisor for the Pupil Referral Unit, a CEIAG
specialist, an advisor to support young people wishing to pursue vocational
pathways and a manager. The support for those with SEND has been moved
to the SEND team within Pupil Services in order to support the provision of
EHC plans.
7

London Councils

7.1

At its meeting of the 12 January 2016, the Committee looked at examples of
innovative practice and experiences of experts in the fields of the Careers
Information, Advice and Guidance. The aim was to understand the key issues
faced by schools, local authorities, careers advisors and young people
themselves and assess the evidence to draw out good practice and guidance
that could be replicated in a Lewisham context.

7.2

Yolande Burgess, Strategy Director at London Councils, gave a presentation
to the Committee on the work they had undertaken, their report “London
Ambitions” and the challenges faced by young Londoners.

7.3

London Council’s, the Mayor of London’s Office and the London Enterprise
Panel had worked with London Boroughs and Doctor Deirdre Hughes OBE to
produce the report “London Ambitions – Shaping a successful careers offer
for all young Londoners”. The report made seven key recommendations:
1) That every young Londoner should have impartial independent
and personalised careers advice including face to face
guidance;
2) That every young Londoner should have 100 hours experience
of the world of work;
3) That every secondary school and college should have in place
an explicit publicised careers policy and curriculum;
4) That schools and colleges have a governor with oversight for
ensuring the organisation supports all students to relate their
learning to careers and the world of work from an early age.
5) All schools and colleges have up to date labour market
intelligence and information available for students and parents.
6) “Careers Clusters” should be developed to share resources and
intelligence.
7) The development of the London Ambitions portal for schools
and colleges to easily find high-quality careers provision.

7.2

The report suggested that it was essential that employers were involved in
careers guidance and in intelligence gathering on labour market trends. There
were examples of good practice across London but the aim was that every
young person in London got a good careers offer irrespective of location or
any other factor. The Committee heard that the Information, Advice and
Guidance network in Lewisham was strong and robust.
23

7.3

The London Ambitions report stated that 100 hours of experience of the world
of work could include a range of experiences and was not limited to work
experience placements. These experiences could start from the age of seven
years old. Yolande Burgess highlighted that there was evidence that some
young people were closing off options to themselves from a very young age
and in particular many girls were closing off STEM subjects (Science,
Technology, Engineering and Maths) from as young as 5 years old due to
perceptions of gender appropriateness.

7.4

In terms of involvement of employers in careers offers to young people, it was
important to consider all types of employers including sole traders and micro
businesses as well as larger employers. It was important to uncomplicate the
requests to Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs) to reduce barriers to
their involvement.

7.5

London Councils was consistently lobbying for schools to have funding for
careers guidance. Once processes were embedded the resources needed to
maintain them would reduce but it could be more resource intensive to embed
a successful careers offer in the first instance. The Gatsby report
recommended that less than 1% of a schools’ budget was needed to support
a successful careers offer embedded into the school culture and curriculum.

7.6

London Councils “London Ambitions Portal” has recently been launched as of
June 2016. The aim is that it would help local authorities and schools to
navigate the information and offers available around information and careers
guidance.

7.7

When listening to the evidence, members of the CYP Select Committee
stressed the importance of ensuring there was a good offer for young people
with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). This group was
statistically more likely to be NEET than other young people and the offer to
those with SEND needed to be tailored to their particular needs. Some
employers were closing off a talent pool by not adapting to support young
people with SEND.

7.8

Up to date labour market intelligence (LMI) is a particular challenge for
schools, career advisors and young people. Data is difficult to find and
interpret and to fully understand the predicted trends. SkillsMatch London lists
a number of factors in interpreting LMI including considering: The quality of
the raw data used where predicted job demand data is based on a number of
assumptions including around economic growth, regional and national
migration and many other variables. In addition to this forecasting errors in
industry trends are easily possible with changes in government and policy,
geopolitics and rapid changes in technology being challenging to forecast.

24

3.

RECOMMENDATION: That LB Lewisham supports schools and careers advisors across
the borough to identify and use up to date labour market information to ensure they are
providing the best Careers Information, Advice and Guidance (CIAG) to young people
and that there is an emphasis on one to one sessions wherever possible.

4.

8

Patrick Ward, Virtual Head teacher, London Borough of Lewisham

8.1

Looked After Children and Care Leavers are two of the groups that the
Councils retains a statutory responsibility for in terms of providing careers
advice and guidance. These groups also have higher NEET figures – in
Lewisham 19.6% of LAC and 25% of care leavers in year 12 and 13 were
NEET compared with the borough average of 3.9%18. Patrick Ward, Virtual
Headteacher, addressed the Committee highlighting key areas in terms of the
experiences for and offer to looked after children in Lewisham.

8.2

Looked After Children in Lewisham all had a Personal Education Plan (PEP)
and a named professional so interests and talents could be understood and
noted. Support for this group started from KS2 (Key Stage 2) as research
indicated more success if young people had support from a younger age.
From KS2 every child in care in Lewisham receives careers advice and by 18
years old every child in care had had 100 hours experience of the world of
work.

8.3

The LAC team agree targets with the young people to ensure support is
appropriate and targeted to their interests, talents and abilities. Only 50% of
Lewisham looked after children attend mainstream schools in Lewisham – of
those that do, 100% have received two weeks work experience by the age of
18 years. Young people in care were arguably more engaged about thinking
about adulthood due to their backgrounds. A priority of the team was ensuring
that those young people educated outside the borough or outside of
mainstream schools also received the same offer. An additional challenge
was for those young people with SEND. Currently the team had not seen the
same level of uptake of work experience and employer engagement for those
with SEND and this was a priority for improvement.

8.4

Reasons for LAC young people being educated outside mainstream schools
or outside the borough are complex and include a number of factors. Reasons
included the need for a specific educational offer that was not available within
Lewisham or if a young person was at risk in a particular locality and therefore
needed to be educated outside the borough. For the Looked After Children
Team and Virtual School to improve the amount of oversight of these young
people, increased focus could be made on strengthening partnership working
with neighbouring boroughs.

18

See figure 1 – MI report March 2016 15billion

25

5.

RECOMMENDATION: That LB Lewisham ensure Looked After Children not educated in
Lewisham get as good CIAG offer as those that are, including 100 hours of experience of
the world of work. Further, that there is an increased focus on partnership working with
other local authorities and providers to enable this outcome.
9

Janice Pigott, National Careers Service, Prospects

9.1

The National Careers Service provides careers information, advice and
guidance and is funded by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills.
The service is contracted out and in London provided by Prospects. The
National Careers Service supports the principal of young people having a
minimum of 100 hours of experience of the world of work.

9.2

There is a national contact number that people can access to receive advice
and guidance. Between April to December 2015, 2,500 Lewisham residents
contacted the National Careers Service, of those 400 were aged 18-24 years
old. This provides an indication of usage levels by those just outside the age
range for the statutory offer.

9.3

The National Careers Service website contains information to support people
of all ages. Priorities included: brokering deals with employers to provide
information on the world of work; and focussing resources on schools that
didn’t have employer links already.

9.4

In 2015, Prospects on behalf of the National Careers Service, worked with
3000 young people across London. Work included mock interviews,
inspirational talks and providing information on labour market trends.

9.5

It could be challenging to get information to young people. Working with lots of
partners was stressed as being key. The Careers Service had used marketing
approaches such as giving out Oyster card holders with QR codes on to
generate interest and awareness of the website. In addition to this, working
with partner organisations such as the London Enterprise Panel, London
Councils and the Institute of Education post-14 network was noted as being
important.

9.6

On hearing the evidence, some members of the Committee raised concerns
that some organisations such as the Skills Funding Agency and the New
Careers Enterprise Company were not sufficiently focussed on those groups
who currently had a higher statistical probability of having poor outcomes in
terms of their likelihood of becoming NEET.

Judith Denyer, Operations Director, Prospects
9.7

Prospects works across ten local authorities in London.

9.8

Examples of good practice of careers information, advice and guidance
included the following examples from a policy point of view: The Gatsby

26

Report; London Ambitions; and the Parliamentary Education Select
Committee Review on Careers Guidance for Young People.
9.9

There were consistent themes across the guidance including: the importance
of ensuring guidance was personalised for the individual young person and
their specific circumstances; that there should be an opportunity for one-toone consultations; the strategy adopted by the school or educational
establishment should include sufficient knowledge about and access to
employers and higher education establishments; that the importance of
drawing on the expertise and networking opportunities from alumni networks
should be recognised; and that there was access to mentors.

9.10

Prospects run a mentoring programme called “Youth Contract” which was
supporting 16-17 year olds with no or few GCSEs. Experience from working
with young people and listening to their feedback had showed that persistence
was very important in terms of contact from the mentor and that this was
particularly the case with the most vulnerable young people. Prospects also
worked with young people from Pupil Referral Units, Youth Offending
Services, and Looked After Children. They also employ eight young people
per year through their own apprenticeship scheme who had previously been
NEET and reported a high success rate and very low dropout rate.

9.11

Prospects believe that mentoring needed to include resilience mentoring –
helping young people understand and learn from set-backs and rejections and
to see this as part of the process and think about how to learn from it and not
as a failure.

9.12

Prospects agreed that in terms of quantifying the success of Careers
Information Advice and Guidance, analysing NEET figures and “Unknown”
figures was important. Some boroughs had low NEET levels but very high
levels of “unknown” young people and it was important to focus on improving
tracking in these instances.

10 Tony Cisse Youth Engagement Lewisham
10.1

Youth Engagement Lewisham provides information, advice and guidance to
young people who were: Looked After or Care Leavers; in the Youth
Offending System; Young Carers; Homeless; Teenage Parents; and those
who were NEET or at risk of becoming NEET. The programme had two years
of funding which has been extended by an additional six months to support
those young people into positive employment, education or training outcomes.
There was also the Lewisham Young Women’s Resource Project provided
support for young mothers in Lewisham.

10.2

In terms of good practice, their experience was that it was important to have
open ended support for vulnerable young people and those with complex
needs. One session would not be enough and it was important to be available
for young people when the timing was right for them through drop-in sessions
and following up with them.

27

6.

10.3

Youth Engagement Lewisham provided a weekly jobs and opportunities
bulletin for young people in Lewisham which had 500 subscribers and
included apprenticeships, volunteering opportunities, part-time work and
details of how to access information.

10.4

The experience of Youth Engagement Lewisham was that it was very
important to liaise with parents and carers. Some had limited understanding of
the UK systems with language barriers and lack of experience themselves
often limiting the support they could offer and their understanding of what
decisions the young person needed to make. Many of the young people
supported had problematic schooling, some with no GCSEs. Youth
Engagement Lewisham provided intensive surgeries for those most at risk.

10.5

The organisation highlighted that there were a lot of different variables and
factors to consider when supporting young people to make the most
appropriate choices for their future. They highlighted that when considering
apprenticeships and traineeships it was important for advisors and young
people to be aware that these were not always uniform in quality. Some
offered excellent development and career experience whereas others were of
very poor quality. This had to be addressed to ensure that young people were
getting the right guidance for them to make the right decisions for their future.
It was important to take time to talk to young people about their experiences
and interests to help them understand how to choose a career or progression
path with the greatest relevance to their skills and interests.

10.6

Monitoring of apprenticeships was done on a national level and the London
Borough of Lewisham was only able to monitor its own apprenticeships. Some
positions being advertised as apprenticeships appeared to not meet quality
standards and were likely to offer poor opportunities for young people. It was
important to educate young people and advisors to look for the signs to
indicate whether the opportunities were as good as they first appeared. The
NEET and EET statistics masked the fact that some of those in employment
were in poor apprenticeships.

RECOMMENDATION: The Committee notes that apprenticeships and
traineeships and are not uniform in quality and recommends that support should
be put in place to help young people assess the quality and relevance of potential
apprenticeships and traineeships. For example the use of the National
Apprenticeship Framework ‘kite mark’ system.
Advisors should be receiving
training and guidance as to how to support young people to gauge the relevance
and quality of potential offers.
10.7

One of the problems faced by Youth Engagement Lewisham was a lack of
robust labour market information both currently and predicting future trends. It
was difficult for advisors to obtain this information and also difficult to interpret
some of the data when it was available.

10.8

Another experience cited by Youth Engagement Lewisham was that there
were still perceptions about how to get a job that were not always reflective of
the reality for young people. Many employers now use questionnaires rather
28

than interviews to select candidates and young people had to understand how
to read applications to understand how to tailor CVs accordingly. It was also
felt to be important to consider volunteering as a possible route for some
young people and this could be very beneficial to improving job prospects and
motivation.
10.9

Youth Engagement Lewisham supported the principal of 100 hours of
experience of the world of work and believed this to be a positive step and
stated that evidence had shown that young people who had visited three or
more work places were less likely to become NEET.

10.10 Planning policy in Lewisham encouraged contractors to use apprenticeships
where possible yet the experience of Youth Engagement Lewisham was that
there were not many opportunities coming forward. This could be further
looked into to see if there were any more possibilities to encourage
apprenticeships in the construction industry for Lewisham young people.
7. RECOMMENDATION: That the planning policy on targets for numbers of
apprenticeships as part of large developments should be monitored and the
impact measured to ensure developers are meeting their obligations.
11

View from Young Advisors

11.1

As part of the review, members of the Young Advisors Panel were involved in
different stages including listening to and scrutinising the evidence. Tyreese
Hines, Liam Islam and Saffron Worrell helped to shape the review and
highlight issues and experiences from their peers. This section highlights
some of those comments.

11.2

Young people’s mental health was an important issue that was relevant in the
IAG context and often appeared to be left out of the discussions. There was
very little support and preparation for the stresses of work and how to deal
with them and what to do if something did go wrong. An example of this
included panic attacks which many young people suffer from. Starting a new
job was very scary and having no awareness or guidance on how to act if you
should have a panic attack meant there was an extra stress.

8. RECOMMENDATION: Taking into account concerns raised by the Young
Advisors, the Committee recommends that advisors, schools and other education
settings should ensure they take into consideration young peoples’ mental health
and wellbeing when providing careers advice.

11.3

Another issue which was felt to have been neglected was on budgeting and
finance. This couldn’t be seen in isolation and young people needed to have a
clear understanding of the link between money and career and how to
manage their money once they were working. If young people failed to

29

manage their money successfully they often experienced stress and drop-out
rates would be likely to increase.
11.4

Volunteering was very important but many schools did not support this and
were often unhappy if students were spending too much time volunteering or
doing paid work. The skills learnt through volunteering were often essential for
securing further education or jobs and it was important that schools and
education establishments understood this.

11.5

The London Ambitions framework was felt by the Young Advisors present to
be a positive step and outside organisations coming into school was a definite
advantage. However, currently, the young advisors present felt that too many
young people were only getting one week of work experience and not always
of a high quality. Students had to do further work experience themselves in
school holidays. This was easier for some students than others and meant
that many missed out – often those who had the least strong support networks
and were more vulnerable.

9. RECOMMENDATION: Support should be put in place to ensure young people
are apprenticeship/work or college ready. This should include skills such as time
management, financial awareness, resilience, emotional support and
understanding their rights and requirements. Further, a children’s rights officer
should be appointed to work across the borough and support young people.
12 SURVEY

12.1

As part of the consultation process, the CYP Select Committee and the Young
Advisors were keen to get information from young people in Lewisham and
produced a survey which was asked to 60 young people in Lewisham
secondary schools to get a snapshot of their experiences. The aim was that
this would sit alongside the comments from the Young Advisors Panel and
provide a greater understanding of the issues young people faced.

12.2

Questionnaires were completed by 55 young people in years 8 to 13 in April
2016. Overall the majority of young people questioned said they had received
some form of careers information, advice or guidance at school (76%) and of
those that said they had not, most were in the year 8 and 9. The size of the
survey is relatively small but it was designed to sit alongside the evidence
from the Young Advisors themselves to get a broader sense of some of the
experiences of young people in the borough.

How good do you feel the
advice/information and experiences
have been/

12.2 The comments on the
quality were mixed but a
large number did rate it as
have being good or
excellent, however the main
concern was the number of
respondees that felt that the
information was not tailored
to them individually (67%)
30

Not answered
good/excellent

poor

basic

okay

which was also reflected in the comments from the Young Advisors about
experiences of them and their peers. This could be related to the numbers
that said they had had a one to one interview with a careers advisors which
was just 11% of respondents.

Type of advice/experience

What form of IAG have you had?
work placement
One to One with
advisor
Visits from
employers
Class discussion
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Number of Students
Series 2

Series 1

12.3

When asked about what would improve the provision, responses included:
external speakers; a wider variety of information and more tailored support;
and ensuring information or links to relevant organisations was accessible on
a website. This reflects the evidence the committee received from
practitioners around good practice. Students also gave examples of where
they felt the careers advice had worked well. This included: employability
days, good quality work experience placements, UCAS information sessions
and “Skills London”.

12.4

The experiences of these young people questioned and from the evidence of
the young advisors who contributed to discussions shows that more could be
done to ensure that one-to-one interviews with students always take place
and their in a greater emphasis on tailoring advice to individual students’
circumstances. Those questioned did rate employer talks and whole year
activities highly but stressed the need for those to take place in conjunction
with an individualised approach to each learner as well.

13

Conclusion

13.1

The review summarises the evidence the committee have received around
good practice in careers information, advice and guidance looking at the
national, London and Lewisham context. It draws on evidence from ational
studies and the experiences of Lewisham schools and students.

13.2

There is a lot of good work in Lewisham in providing quality advice and
guidance to students and in the support network from the IAG foums and Peer
Reviews. The Committee beleive however, that there should be a continued
31

push to develop this further. LB Lewisham should help to guide schools to
ensure a holistic approach to support for young people, ensuring every
student between year 8-13 receives a one to one interview and as much
exposure to the world of woak as possible. There is excellent work being done
supporting the needs of the most vulnerable for example through the Virtual
School but this also should be further developed and emulated to ensure as
good as possible outcomes for young people.
13.3

In order to ensure a holistic approach to the diverse range of issues affecting
young people in this field the Committee conclude that the Council should
introduce a new post of a “Childrens’ Rights Officer” who would work across
sectors supporting young people and advisors, liaising with employment
bodies and guiding on employment rights. This would help young people to
achieve their full potential.

14

Monitoring and ongoing scrutiny

14.1

The recommendations from the review will be referred for consideration by the
Mayor and Cabinet at their meeting on 29th June 2016 and their response
reported back to the Children and Young People Select Committee within two
months of the meeting. The Committee will receive a progress update in six
months’ time in order to monitor the implementation of the review’s
recommendations.

Sources
Career Education that works: An economic analysis using the Cohort Study, Journal of
Education and Work, 2016
http://tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13639080.2016.1177636#.V1_ys_4UXcs
Careers Guidance and Inspiration in Schools, Department for Education, March 2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/440795/Careers_Guida
nce_Schools_Guidance.pdf
The Gatsby Report, Good Careers Guidance, April 2014,
http://www.gatsby.org.uk/uploads/education/reports/pdf/gatsby-sir-john-holman-good-careerguidance-2014.pdf

32

Education Act 2011 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/contents/enacted
Education Select Committee Report on Careers Guidance for Young People: The
impact of the new duty on Schools, House of Commons, January 2013

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmeduc/632/63202.htm
Going in the right direction? Careers Guidance in Schools from September 2012,
Ofsted, September 2013.
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/careers-guidance-in-schools-not-working-well-enough

Helping Young Londoners Grow, Mayor’s fund for London – Impact Report 2014

https://issuu.com/mayorsfundforlondon/docs/mfl_report_2014_web_singles_small_70bcc447
f065f4
Lewisham MI reports March 2016, 15billion, March 2016
http://www.15billionebp.org/wp-content/uploads/monthlyReports/2015%20-%2016/LEW_201603_MAR_-_web.pdf

London Ambitions – Shaping a Successful Careers Offer for all Young Londoners,
London Councils, 2015
https://lep.london/sites/default/files/documents/publication/London%20Ambitions%20Careers%20Offe
r.pdf

Participation of Young People in Education, Employment and Training – Statutory
guidance for local authorities, DfE, September 2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/349300/Participation_of
_Young_People_Statutory_Guidance.pdf

Promoting the Educational Acheivemnt of Looked After Children – Staturoty Guidance
for Local Authrorities, Department for Children, Schools and Families, 2010
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/276468/educational_ac
hievement_of_looked_after_children.pdf

Raising the Participation Age (RPA) Regulations, Department for Education, July 2012
https://www.education.gov.uk/consultations/downloadableDocs/RPA%20Consultation%20Report%20(
FINAL).pdf

UK Labour Market Survey (May 2016), Office of National Statistics, May 2016
http://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bul
letins/uklabourmarket/may2016

33

MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title
Key Decision

DISPOSAL OF LAND AT CORNER OF DEPTFORD CHURCH STREET
AND CREEKSIDE
Yes
Item No.

Ward

New Cross

Contributors

Executive Director for Resources & Regeneration & Head of Legal

Class

Part 1

Date: 29 June 2016

1.

Introduction

1.1

This report sets out a proposal and recommendation to dispose of Council
owned land on Deptford Church Street/Creekside to Bluecroft Creekside Ltd
(Bluecroft) in return for new commercial space, to be owned by the Council.

1.2

The report seeks authority from the Mayor to dispose of the land on the basis
of the terms set out in Part 2 of this report.

1.3

This report is divided into two parts. Part 1 sets out the summary and
background to what is proposed. The Part 2 section of the report looks at the
commercially sensitive issues around the terms the disposal.

2.

Summary

2.1

The subject site comprises a development plot on the corner of Deptford
Church Street and Creekside (shown on the plan at Appendix 1).

2.2

The site immediately adjacent to the east is effectively owned by Bluecroft.

2.3

The Council’s site has long been identified by for disposal. However rather
than take a capital receipt, officers have negotiated a deal whereby the
Council will receive commercial floor space within the finished development
from which it can generate a long term income stream.

3.

Purpose

3.1

The purpose of this report is to seek authority to declare the site surplus and
dispose of the site to Bluecroft Creekside Ltd in order to both bring forward
Council owned land for mixed use development and to generate a long term
income stream.

4.

Recommendations
It is recommended that Mayor and Cabinet:

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\9\4\ai00014490\$wh44t3b4.doc

4.1

Declare this Council land surplus to requirements;

4.2

Approves the disposal of the Council land in question to Bluecroft Creekside
Ltd, subject to planning, in accordance with the terms set out in Part 2 of this
report and Heads of Terms contained therein.

4.3

Agrees to delegate authority to the Executive Director for Resources and
Regeneration, in consultation with the Head of Law, to negotiate and agree
the final terms of the land transactions in line with recommendations above;

5.

Policy Context

5.1

The content of this report are consistent with Lewisham’s sustainable
community strategy 2008-2020:



5.2

Clean Green liveable – where people live in high quality housing and
can care for and enjoy the environment
Dynamic and prosperous – where people are part of vibrant
communities and town centres, well connected to London and beyond

The contents of this report are also consistent with the Council’s Community
Strategy:
 Strengthening the local economy – gaining resources to regenerate
key localities, strengthen employment skills and promote public
transport.
 Clean, green and liveable – improving environmental management, the
cleanliness and care for roads and pavements and promoting a
sustainable environment.

5.3

Lewisham’s Housing Strategy was approved at Full Council in May 2015. This
strategy sets out the Council’s ambition to address the challenges in the
borough through the following objectives:
 Helping residents at times of severe and urgent housing need
 Building the homes our residents need

5.4

Lewisham’s Core Strategy has the objective to make provision for the
completion of an additional 18,165 net new dwellings from all sources
between 2009/10 and 2025/26, to meet local housing need and accommodate
the borough’s share of London’s housing needs. This aims to exceed the
London Plan target for the borough.

6.

Background

6.1

The Council land at the corner of Deptford Church Street and Creekside is
vacant. It borders the Crossfield Estate in Deptford. The site and the estate do
not form part of the current housing regeneration program.

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\9\4\ai00014490\$wh44t3b4.doc

6.2

The Council were approached in 2014 by Bluecroft who had acquired an
interest in the neighbouring land at Creekside (see blue line plan in Appendix
2 for details).

6.3

Bluecroft Creekside Ltd. proposed to the Council that they purchased the
Council land at the corner of Deptford Church Street and in parallel brought
forward a comprehensive, mixed-use development proposal for the combined
site.

6.4

Bluecroft has been working with the Council’s officers to develop a planning
and design approach that can achieve a suitable planning consent for the
sites in question, thus supporting investment in the area and the Council’s
wider corporate objectives.
LBL and Bluecroft Ltd. Land Interests

6.5

The Bluecroft Land is highlighted blue on the plan attached in Appendix 2 and
is immediately adjacent to the Council land. The plot measures approximately
0.289 acres. The land currently has three old, low-rise, commercial buildings
on it, showing a significant lack of investment over recent decades. Two of the
buildings are disused; the third building is an MOT Station.
LBL Land Interest: (corner of Deptford Church Street & Creekside)

6.6

The Council Land is highlighted red on the plan attached in Appendix 1 and is
immediately adjacent to the Bluecroft land. The land is bounded by the
Crossfields Estate to the north, 1 Creekside to the east and south and
Deptford Church Street to the west. The plot measures approximately 0.204
acres. The land currently is overgrown and is in a prominent position. The
land is held in the HRA.

7.

Proposal

7.1

Terms have been agreed in principle to dispose of the land to Bluecroft
Creekside Ltd for them to deliver a consented scheme. On practical
completion the Council will receive commercial floor space on a long
leasehold basis. The overall structure of the agreement is set out below and
the financial details in Part 2 of this report.

8.2

Overall Structure

8.3

Bluecroft have yet to secure planning permission and this is likely to take
some time to achieve. So to safeguard the Council’s financial position during
this time it has been agreed that Bluecroft will enter into an occupational
lease. The lease is to be for a term of 3 years and is to be excluded from the
security of tenure provisions of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. Upon the
grant of planning permission (including an executed s.106 agreement), the
lease will be determined and a building lease entered into (subject to a
viability assessment by Bluecroft to confirm that they wish to proceed with the
development).

8.4

The purpose of the building lease is to again secure the Council’s financial
position during the construction period. The lease will be for a term of three

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\9\4\ai00014490\$wh44t3b4.doc

years. In the event that Bluecroft do not deliver practical completion of the
commercial accommodation within the three year window, the Council are
able to determine the lease.
8.5

Planning

8.6

The terms of this disposal are subject to Bluecroft obtaining a planning
consent. They are currently working with LBL Planning Department under a
planning performance agreement.

9.

Other Options

9.1

Do Nothing

9.2

The Council could do nothing and continue to leave the land vacant,
potentially with a view to bringing it forward for development in the future. The
land presents the Council no ongoing revenue cost, ad is unlikely to do so in
the near future. However Council has an opportunity here to use its land to
bring forward a wider development which will provide new homes and
workspace.

9.3

Acquire Bluecroft Site and Council Develop

9.4

The Council could seek to acquire the Bluecroft site and take control over the
design, planning and development process itself, either on its own or with a
partner. A development of this size would require internal resource with the
right skills and capacity, which at present the Council does not have in
enough quantity to do on its own.

9.5

Take a Capital Receipt

9.6

The Council could sell its site to Bluecroft and take a capital receipt rather
than “end product”. This would remove an element of market risk that the
Council is taking on in having commercial space to let, however given the
benefits to the Council of deriving an income stream rather than capital
receipt, this would be a missed opportunity. The structure of the transaction
set out here also gives the Council the opportunity to take a capital receipt at
a later date if it should so wish.

10.

Planning Considerations

10.1

As already mentioned, the terms of this disposal are subject to planning
approval being granted. Whilst it is recognised there is still a considerable
amount of work to be undertaken in this respect, Bluecroft and LBL Planners
are operating under the terms of a planning performance agreement. It is felt
this work is moving in a positive direction, however this report fully reflects the
fact the proposed terms are based upon a scheme obtaining planning
consent.

11.

Financial Implications

11.1

The financial implications of the recommendation to dispose of the site to
Bluecroft Creekside Ltd are considered in part 2 of this report.

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\9\4\ai00014490\$wh44t3b4.doc

12.

Legal Implications

12.1

Legal implications are contained in Part 2 of this report.

13.

Crime and Disorder Implications

13.1

There are no implications.

14.

Equalities Implications

14.1

There are no implications.

15.

Environmental Implications

15.1

There are no environmental implications arising directly from the
recommendations set out in this report. The design stages will address
environmental issues through the planning process.

16.

Conclusion

16.1

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to proceed with the proposal as set out
in these reports.

Appendices
Appendix 1 - Site plan of LBL land
Appendix 2 – Site plan of Bluecroft Creekside Ltd land
Contact details for the report author
Freddie Murray
Regeneration & Asset Management
020 8314 3914

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\9\4\ai00014490\$wh44t3b4.doc

MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title

Exclusion of the Press and Public

Key Decision

No

Item No.

Ward
Contributors

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee)

Class

Part 1

Date: June 29 2016

Recommendation
It is recommended that in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)(England)
Regulations 2012 and under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
paragraphs [3, 4 and 5] of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Act, and the public interest
in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information
17.

Disposal of Land at Creekside Part 2

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\3\4\ai00014436\$o1525uuq.doc

